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PREFACE

Ix an earlier volume of this series (Akbar and the Feswits)
I gave an account of the Jesuit Missions to the court
of Akbar, translated from the Hiffoire of Father Pierre
du Jarric. It was my intention to let the same author
tell the Story of the Jesuits at the court of Jahangir;
but as the third Part of the Hiffoire, in which the period
in quetion is dealt with, is based almost exclusively
on the Relations of Father Fernio Guerreiro, it seemed
better to translate the latter work, and thereby get
a $lep nearer to the original letters. 1 made the
choice with some regret; for though du Jarric did not
hesitate to abridge his authorities, at times somewhat
drastically, he is a more polished and, on the whole,
i more engaging writer than Guerreiro,

Parts I and III contain Guerreira's accounts of the
travels of Benedict Goes, and of the Portuguese occu-
pation of Pegu. All three Parts belong to the firdt
decade of the seventeenth century, and each adds
something of value to our knowledge of that period.
As | have said elsewhere, the Jesuit Fathers did not
profess to write history. But though their letters tell
us little of the political happenings of the time, they
light up the picure as a whole, and we see detail where
before only outline was visible.

In the text I have allowed Guerreiro to have his own
way with the spelling of proper names. In thisrespeét

xi



PREFACE

he was nothing if not inconsiétent; or perhaps he had
a passion for variety. Father Ricci's name is spelt
in four different ways in a single chapter.

The portrait of Jahangir, which forms the frontis-
piece, is from a miniature in the possession of the
British Museum. The portrait, which is unsigned,
was probably painted in the early part of the seven-
teenth century, and is a particularly fine example of the
Mogul art of the period.

My grateful acknowledgments are due to Sir
E. D. Maclagan for the help he has given me in the
prcpmtinn of this volume, which owes much to his
expert knowledge of the Mogul period and of the
Jesuit writings, 1 am also indebted for valuable
information and suggestions to Mr. J, P. Hardiman,
formerly Commissioner of Tenasserim, wha has been
kind enough to read through the proofs of Part I1l.
Of the numerous authorities quoted or referred to
in the notes, 1 have specially to acknowledge the
assiftance | have received from the writings of the
Rev. H. Hoéten, S.J., and the works of Col. Sir Henry
Yule, Lagtly I have to express my gratitude to my
wife, who has drawn the sketch maps for Parts II and
[11, and whose advice throughout has been of great

value.
C. H. P.
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INTRODUCTION

Tue Relations of Father Fernio Guerreiro, from
which the three narratives in this volume have been
taken, condtitute a complete history of the missionary
undertakings of the Society of Jesus in the Eadt
Indies, China, Japan, and Africa, during the firét
nine years of the seventeenth century. The work
was compiled from the annual letters and reports
sent to Europe from the various missionary centres.
It was published in five Parts, or inftalments, each
covering a period of about two years, as follows:
Part I (1600-1601) published at Evora by Manoel de Lyra in 1603
w 1l lﬁaz—lﬁnﬂ " Lisbon by lorge Rodriguss in 1605
w HI l&lﬁﬂ? e w by Pedro Crasbeeck in 1607
n IV(1 1607 v w B w " in 1609
n ¥ (1607-1608) " w B w w inI6i1
The title of Part | is: Relagam anwval das covias qve
fizeram os Padres da Companhia de JIESFS na India,
& Japdo mos anmos de 600, & bo1, & do precesio da
conversdo, &5 Chriffandade daguellas partes: tirada das
cartas geraes guve de ki vierdo pello Padre Ferndo Guer-
reiro da Campanka de JESVS. The work, which has
never been reprinted, is extremely scarce. All five
Parts are in the library of the British Museum; but
I know of no other complete set. A copy of Part g
occasionally finds its way into the market; but the
xiii



INTRODUCTION

earlier volumes are to all intents and purposes unpro-
curable. A Spanish translation of Part 1, by Father
Antonio Colago, was published at Valladolid in 1604,
and in 1614 a translation into the same language of
Part V, by Suarez de Figueroa, was published at
Madrid: Figueroa's work appears hitherto to have
escaped notice, due no doubt to the falt that he does
not disclose the name of the author whose work he
is translating. Its title is, Historia y Anal Relagion
de las cosas que hizieron los Padres de la Compasia de
Fesus, por las partes de Oriente y ofras, en la propagagion
del Santo Evangelio, los aiios passades de 1607 3 1608.
It is a good translation, but is almost as scarce as the
original work. The same remark applies to Father
Colago’s Spanish version of Part I.

Of Guerreiro himself little is known. De Backer,
in his Biblisthigue des Ecrivains de la Compagnie de
Fesus, fates that he was born at Almodovar in 1567,
and that he died in 1617, having held many honour-
able pots. Father Pierre du Jarric, who had some
correspondence with him in conneétion with the pre-

aration of his Hifleire, in which he made extensive
use of the Relarions, says, in the preface to his work,
that he was at that time (i.e. about the year 1608)
Superior of the House of Profes at Lisbon, and refers
to him as 2 man * of ripe and solid judgment, and very
learned in these hiftories, who every two years has
colleéted, and compiled into a single volume, the
letters from the Indies, to the great edification of those
who desire to §tudy the progress of the Christian
faith in foreign lands.”
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INTRODUCTION

Owing to its inaccessibility Guerreiro’s work has
received little notice. The chief contribution to the
subject is an account of the fifth Relation, written by
the Rev. H. Hodten, S.]., whose researches have added
so largely to our knowledge of the Jesuit publications.
This account, which appeared in the Fowrnal of the
Panjab Hiflorical Society for 1918, contains an abétrack
of the chapters relating to * Mogor,” with translations
of the more important passages, and many valuable
notes. A translation by the same writer of a chapter
relating to the mission to Pegu (see p. 263, note §) ap-
peared in the Catholic Herald of India (November 11th,
1908), and in 1926 an English version of the account
of the revolt of Khusru, by I. A. d'Silva, was published
in the Yournal of Indian Hiffory. It is possible that
other portions of the work have been translated, but
the above are all that 1 have seen,

Fakangir and the Fesuits.

The passages which make up the text account are
taken from Part IV (fols. 1484-1514) and Part V
(fols. 6a-228) of the Relations, Chapters I to IV being
from the former, and Chapters V to IX from the latter.
In these chapters (with the exception of the last, which
is taken from another source) Guerreiro has reproduced
the substance of three letters written by Father Jerome
Xavier to the Provincial of Goa, and dated respeétively
September 2 sth, 1606, Auguét Bth, 1607, and Sep-
tember 24th, 1608. The firét two were written from
Lahore, and the laét from Agra. The portions re-
lating to each letter are indicated in the numj
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INTRODUCTION

When Jahangir ascended the throne, Father Kavier
had already been ten years at the Mogul court, whither
he had been sent in 1595 as leader of the third Mission
to the court of Akbar. The other original members
of this Mission were Father Emanuel Pinheiro and
Brother Benoiét de Goes. In 1602 Brother Goes
gtarted on his travels to Cathay, and his place was
taken by Father Francis Corsi; and the same year the
Mission was further ftrengthened by the arrival from
Goa of Father Anthony Machado. At the time of
Akbar's death Fathers Xavier and Machado resided
at Agra, and Pinheiro and Corsi at Lahore.

I have fortunately been able to consult the originals
of Father Xavier's letters, which I came upon amongst
the Marsden MSS. in the British Museum Library. 1
have, therefore, been able to amplify, and occasionally
to elucidate, Guerreiro’s narrative. As the letters
have never been published, and because of the value
and intereét attaching to them as contemporary records,
1 have not hesitated to quote from them freely. The
manuscripts are, considering their age; in a good
state of preservation; but they are naturally time-worn,
and have not altogether escaped the ravages of insedts.
Fortunately the damage is moétly to the margins of
the pages; but here and there a word, or even a whole
line of the text has been obliterated. The letters are
closely written, and on both sides of the paper. As [
found Xavier's writing very difficult to read, I cannot
guarantee that my transcriptions are free from mistakes.

1 have been unable to trace the original documents
used by Guerreiro in Chapter IX, in which he gives
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INTRODUCTION

an account of Jahangir's embassy to Goa. From certain
Statements contained in the laét chapter (see note 20,
p. 114)itis clear that the documents in question muét
have been written immediately after the negotiations
at Goa had terminated. In all probability Guerreiro
derived his information from a letter, or letters, written
by Father Pinheiro, and forwarded with, or incor-
porated in, the Provincial’s report for the year 160g.
As I endeavoured to show in my introduétion to
Akbar and the Feswits, the Missions to the court of Akbar
had both a religious and a political purpose, though
some time elapsed before the latter became prominent.
As religious enterprises they aimed at two things: the
conversion of the Emperor, and the spread of Chrigtian-
ity in his dominions. So far as the firét of these aims
was concerned, the Missions were failures; for Akbar,
despite his genuine admiration for the Founder and
the teachings of the Christian religion, refused to be
bound by its dogmas, and died in his own faith—
whatever that may have been. As far as the second
aim was concerned, a certain measure of success was
achieved. The converts made each year were few in
number, but they were carcfully seleéted; and at the
time our story opens a small but staunch Chrigtian
community had grown up both in Agra and in Lahore.
Apart from any political considerations, the exiét-
ence of these Christian communities necessitated the
continued residence of Fathers of the Society at the
Mogul court. Marecover, strong hopes were enter-
tained of the conversion of Jahangir, who, while his
father was alive, had never loét an opportunity of in-
xvil



INTRODUCTION

gratiating himself with the Fathers, and had frequently
made public profession of his attachment to the
faith they preached. Such hopes, however, were
soon shown to be groundless. The Fathers had, in
fa&, been completely taken in by these early out-
buréts of religious zeal, the sincerity of which they
apparently never doubted. But Jahangir, or Prince
Salim, as he then was, had his own reasons for the
attitude he assumed at this period. He knew that his
succession to the throne was by no means a foregone
conclusion; and he also knew that, in the event of his
having to fight for his kingdom, the Portuguese had
it in their power to render him very valuable assist-
ance. In these circumétances, he was naturally
anxious to ftand well with the authorities at Goa.
The attitude of the latter would be largely determined
by the reports received from the Mission; and it was
to make sure of being presented in a favourable light,
that he cultivated the friendship of the Fathers, and
posed as a prospeétive convert to Christianity.

Unlike his father, Jahangir had no fecling for
religion. Though he was interedted in, and took
some pains to underftand, the dotrines of Christianity
" and other faiths, he was in no real sense a seeker after
the truth. The ftudy of religious problems was with
him nothing more than a hobby. It amused him to
liften to disputes between his Mullas and the Fathers,
just as it amused him to watch a fencing match or a
cock-fight. When either side scored a point, he clapped
his hands with delight, particularly if the point was
scored against his Mullas, whose discomfiture always
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INTRODUCTION

afforded him intense amusement. He frequently
joined in these disputes; and as he usually took the
side of the Fathers, and made no effort to conceal his
contempt for his own faith, new hopes began to be
entertained of his conversion. These were strength-
ened by the fondness and reverence he displayed for
pi¢tures of 'Christ and the Virgin and the Chridtian
saints, of which he possessed a large number. But
once more the Fathers were too sanguine.  If Jahangir
sided with them in their disputes, it was mainly for
the pleasure of shocking his Mullas, and showing
his own knowledge and skill in debate; while he prized
the sacred pitures which the Fathers gave him, not,
as they fondly imagined, out of veneration for the
subjects represented, but because he had a passion
for works of art and curios of all kinds, and especially
for pictures, of which he was not only an enthusiatic
collector, but a very competent judge. He respeéted
Islam as little as, or even less than, Akbar: but
though he, too, appears to have had & genuine admira-
tion for Chriétianity, he was never, like his father,
drawn towards it. Akbar felt the want of a religion;
and Christianity made so §trong an appezl to him that,
1fhe could have accepted its dogmas, he would probably
have been baptised. * Explain the Incarnation to
me,” he once said, *and [ will become a Chriftian,
though it cost me my kingdom.” Jahangir would
have subscribed to one set of doétrines as readily as
to another; but he had very little use for any religion,
and none at all for one that would not permit him as
many wives as he wanted.
xix
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Until the lat two years of Akbar's reign, the politi-
cal aspeét of the Mission was very little in evidence;
though we may suppose that, from the firét, the Fathers
had been expeted to keep a watchful eye on what
was going on around them, and to forward to Goa
any information likely to be of value to the Portuguese
authorities. But after the accession of Jahangir, the
Mission began gradually to assume the charaéter and
funétions of an embassy, and, pari pastu, the cause
of evangelisation loét ground. The Fathers, as we
shall see, succeeded in outplaying the English traveller,
Hawkins, and Guerreiro ends his narrative on a note
of viftory. But the knell of Portuguese supremacy
in the Eaét had already sounded. The employment
of the Fathers as political agents, while it did much to
impair their spiritual influence, did little to retard the
impending ruin, the cause of which was not only the
a ce on the scene of such powerful rivals as the
English and the Dutch, but the faét that for years past
Portugal had been unable to afford her eastern enter-
prises the support in men and money which they so
urgently needed; for, since her union with Spain in
1 580, Portugal had ceased to be mistress of her own
resources; and the means which might have been
expended in rendering her overseas possessions
secure, were diverted into other channels: There
was another circumétance which contributed to the
completeness of the collapse. From the days of Vasco
da Gama onwirds, the Portuguese had never laid
themselves out to win the affetions of the eastern
races with whom their commercial ventures brought
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INTRODUCTION

them into contaét. Their courage inspired respect
wherever they went, and their skill in battle, by land
or sea, led many to court their alliance. But they were
proud and intolerant; and their general attitude
towards Oriental peoples and Oriental beliefs and
cudtoms was one of arrogant contempt. Added to
this, their control of the seas, which they exercised
with relentless severity, was regarded with deep and
widespread resentment. Thus the Portuguese were
admired, feared, and hated. But they were feared
and hated more than they were admired; and when
their position was challenged, they found themselves
without a friend in the Eat.

The Travels of Bemedidd Goes

Apart from a few brief references in the letters of
Father Jerome Xavier, all that we know for certain
of the journey of Benediét Goes to Cathay is contained
in the writings of Father Matteo Ricci and Father
Ferndo Guerreiro, Father Pierre du Jarric has fre-
quently been cited as an authority; but the account of
Goes' travels contained in his Hiftoire is taken entirely
from the Relations of Guerreiro, and has, therefore,
no independent value. It is important only because
of the extreme rarity of the latter work. We are,
however, indebted to du Jarric for the preservation of
a curious and intereéting account, taken from & letter
written by Father Xavier on the 26th July, 1598,
of the circumstances which led to the dispatch of a
Mission to Cathay. This occurs in Part II of the
Higtoire; and as it explains to some extent the dtrange
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INTRODUCTION

beliefs regarding Cathay that were current in Brother
Benediét's day, and enables us to underétand the nature
of the problems he was sent to investigate, I have
incorporated its translation with the text, as an intro-
dutory chapter to Guerreiro’s narrative.

Father Ricci’s account of the Cathay Mission,
derived from the fragments of Goes' diary, and the
information supplied by his servant [saac, has, until
quite recently, been known only through the Latin
version of Father Nicolas Trigault, which was first
published in 1615, and of which we have an English
translation in Sir Henry Yule's well-known work,
Cathay and the Way Thither (IV., pp. 198-254). In
1911, however, Ricci’s aftual memoirs were published
at Macerata, under the editorship of Father Tacchi
Venturi, S.J., to whom we owe the discovery of the
original manuscript. Father Venturi’s work 15 en-
titled, Opere Storriche del P. Matteo Ricdi, S.F. It
considts of two volumes, the fir§t (Commentarj della
Cina) containing a general history of the Chinese
Mission, and the second (Le Lettere dalla Cina), Father
Ricci's letters. The account of the Mission to Cathay
occurs in the Commentarf (pp. 526-558), and additional
details are furnished by several of the letters in the
second volume, The discovery and publication of
Ricci's own work naturally displaces Trigault's Latin
version, which, though in the main reliable, is very
far from being a literal translation. M. Henri Cordier
was fortunately able to make use of Father Venturi’s
two volumes in his revision of Cathay and the }ay
Thithers so that the account of Benediét Goes con-
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tnined in that work tll remains the moét complete
and authoritative that we possess.

Like Ricci’s memoirs, the Relations of Guerreiro
are &ill known, except to a very few, only through a
translation, and that a very incomplete one. For
though du Jarric drew the materials for the third
part of his Hiffoire almost exclusively from the Rela-
tions, considerable portions of which he literally
translated, there are many passages of the Portuguese
work which he either abridged, or briefly summarised,
ot even omitted altogether, On the whole it may be
said that du Jarric abridged wisely; but there are not
4 few inftances, and this applies particularly to his
account of the mission to Cathay, in which he has
deprived his readers of matter that is both important
and interesting.

Guerreiro's account of Goes' Mission is to be found
in Part 11 (fols. 615-65a), Part IV (fols. 162a-1688),
and Part V (fols. 23-28) of his Relatons. The first
two inftalments are of special value, being based on
the letters which Goes sent back to India whilst on
his way to, and during his sojourn at, Yarkand. They
thus shed light where it is most needed; for Ricci, who
never saw these letters, knew very little about the earlier
§tages of Goes' journey, of which his account is not
only meagre, but manifestly inaccurate, or perhaps
*incorre® ' would be the better word; for Ricci, no
doubt, did the beft he could with the scanty and
fragmentary data he had to work upon. The chrono-
logical confusion which faces us in his account of the
journey from Lahore to Yarkand suggests that the
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first part of Goes® diary reached him in a worse &tate
of mutilation than the laét part; while for filling up
blanks in the record, the memory of the Armenian
Isaac was doubtless of less and less assistance, the
further it had to travel back. It mugt also be borne
in mind that Goes did not keep a diary in order that
someone else might describe his travels, but that he
might describe them himself. And not anly were his
notes and figures intended for his own information
only; they must often have been written under the
most trying circumétances, when the cold alone was
sufficient to make the a& of writing almoét a physical
impossibility. It is not surprising, therefore, that
Ricci found a difficulty in reconstruéting his pilgrim-
age. His task would have been no easy one if Goes’
diary had reached him inta&.

After his departuré from Yarkand, Goes sent no
more letters to his friends in India, and from this point
Guerreiro followed Father Ricei, reproducing even
his blunders, though he contradicted his own narrative
in doing so. He could not, of course, have seen
Ricei’s memoirs, since Part V of his Relations was
published in 16115 it was, in fact, completed in 1610,
as we know from the feempar for printing it, the firdt
of which is dated * em Lisboa 23 de Dezembro 1610 ;
whereas Ricci did not complete the composition of
his memoirs till March or April, 1616, and another
five years elapsed before the publication of Trigault’s
Latin version gave them to the world. That being
the case, it is, I think, evident that Guerreiro made
use of the earlier account of Goes' travels, which we

Xxiv



INTRODUCTION

know that Ricci sent, at the end of 1607, to the
Provincial of India, for transmission, via Portugal, to
the General at Rome. This account Ricci refers to
in two letters written from Peking in 1608 to the
General of the Socicty, one dated March Bth, and the
other August 2and. In the latter he says: " Nel
tempo che qui Stette Isaac, con quello che ritrovai fra
gli scritti del fratello Benedetto, aguitandomi di quello
che Isaac aveva anco visto, feci una relatione di tutto
il viaggio, arrivata, ftata in Succeo ¢ morte del detto
fratello Benedetto ¢, di quello che poi successe al
fratello Giovanni, e la mandaj al p. provinciale dell'
India, per portersi mandares V,P. per via di Portogallo:
e I" istesso feci al p. viceprovinciale del Giappone,
pregandolo mandasse a V.P. per via della Nova
Spagna. E se bene fu scritta in lingua portoghese,
con tutto li la potranno voltare in italiano; e cosi non
volsi tornarlo a ripetere in questa, per tenere per cosa
certa che o per I' Oriente o per I' Occidente sapra V.P,
tutto quello che sopra di ci6 mi occorse scrivere "
(Op. Stor., 11 356). Unfortunately no copy of this
carlier narrative exi€ts; but Guerreiro, by preserving
the subtance of it in this chapter, has to a large extent
compensated us for the loss. It was evidently much
less detailed than that which Ricci subsequently wrote;
for of the journey from Yarkand to Su-chow Guetreiro
gives us little more than the bare outline.

Even of the journey from Lahore to Yarkand the
Commentarj contains numerous details which are not
to be found in the Relations; for apart from the letters
of Goes, Guerreiro can have had little information at
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his disposal. His account of the Mission to Cathay
muét, therefore, be regarded as a supplement, though
a very valuable supplement, to Ricci's narrative. The
notes to my translation are also intended to be of
4 purely supplementary charafter. The difficulties
which beset the Student of Goes’ travels are legion;
but they are for the most part exhaustively dealt with
in the revised edition of Colonel Yule’s work. Only
in one or two inftances are the conclusions there given
affected by the evidence of Goes' letters. As those
who desire to make a special Study of the subjeét will
necessarily take Yule's work as their chief guide, I
have attempted to give only such additional explana-
tions as Guerreiro’s narrative seemed to me to call
for. As Father Ricci's letters are almoét unknown in
this country, I hope the reader will regard the quota-
tions I have made from them as an interesting feature
of my notes. I shall not resent it if he regards them
as the redeeming feature.

The Mission to Pegu

I have called this extrac “ The Mission to Pegu ”
because Guerreira himself uses this expression. But
the missionary element enters very little into the
story, for which a more appropriate title would be
“ The Portuguese at Syriam,” or perhaps * The Rise
and Fall of Philip de Brito ™; for de Brito has
claim to be regarded as the hero, or villain (according
to the reader’s choice) of the piece, since it was to him
that the Portuguese owed their temporary possession
of the Syriam fortress.
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Our chief authorities for the events of Philip de
Brito’s brief ‘reign ' at Syriam are the Relatiows of
Guerreiro, the Decada of Antonio Bocarro, and Faria
y Sousa's Asa Portuguesa. Of these the lagt named
is the beét known, and is the only one of the three
that has been translated into English. The original
work, in three volumes, was published at Lisbon
between the years 1666 and 1675, and an English
translation by Captain J. Stevens appeared in 1695.
Bocarro's Decada (usually known as Decada 13) was
completed in 1635; but it remained practically un-
known until the year 1876, when it was printed for
the first time by the Royal Academy of Sciences at
Lisbon (Collecgao de Monumentos Ineditos; Vol. VI).

The Portuguese occupation of Syriam covered a
period of thirteen years, namely from 1600 to 1613.
Unfortunately the Refanions of Guerreiro take us down
only to the year 1609. It has been necessary, there-
fore, to complete the §tory from another source, and
this has been done by the addition of a chapter from
the Decada of Bocarro. 1 have chosen Bocarro in
preference to Faria y Sousa, partly because his work
is &till unknown in this country, and also because his
account is more detailed and more authoritative than
that contained in Faria y Sousa’s later work. Antonio
Bocarro was for some years (1631 to 1649) official
hiStorian at Goa, and Keeper of the Records (Guarda
mér da Torre do Tombo da India). His Decada
was intended as a continuation of the Decadas da Afid,
written by his predecessor Diogo do Couto, which
was itself a continuation of the Decadas of Jodo de
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Barros. The latter writer composed four Decadas,
his account ending with the year 1539. Do Couto
continued the history down to the end of the sixteenth
century, his last volume being Decada 12.  Bocarro's
work has consequently been known as Decads 13,
though the title he gave to it himself was Decada
primeira. Its detailed charater may be judged from
the faét that it covers 756 quarto pages, while the period
dealt with is only five years (1612-1617). Sr.de Lima
Felner, the editor of the sixth volume of the Docu-
mentos Inediros, refers to Bocarro as a highly conscien-
tious writer, and a severe, though impartial judge of
men and affairs: “Nio occulta, levado por vio
patriotismo, as ulceras que lavraram até 4 medula nos
principaes personagens d'aquelle tempo, nem esconde
o edtado de decadencia & que havia chegado o nosso
poderio € 0 nosso commercio, n'uma época em que a
gente da India parecia haver completamente esquecido
a sombra d'aquelles vultos gigantes que sobresafam
entre tantos heroes, como D. Francisco de Almeida e
Affonso de Albuquerque.”

Although at the commencement of the sixteenth
century the power of Portugal was already on the
wane, her maritime supremacy in the Faét had not
yet been seriously threatened or shaken. Her eatern
settlements were more numerous, and were scattered
over a wider arca, than ever before. The places
occupied were in nearly all cases seaports, which
served the double purpose of trading centres and naval
bases; for she had, from the firt, no desire to burden
herself with extensive territorial possessions, The
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only ‘territory' over which she sought to reign
supreme, and through which a right of way was
denied to all who refused to pay her price, was the
sea. In fadl, it may be said that Portugal's eastern
possessions consifted of a large tract of sea with
numerous settlements and fortresses on its boundaries.
Of this watery realm, the city of Goa was the metro-
polis and the G.H.Q. of the admini&tration. Outside
India and the Bay of Bengal, the principal $trong-
holds were Mozambique, Mombasa, Muscat, Ormuz,
Colombo, Malaca, and Macao. It was the attempt
to eftablish yet another °frontier podt,’ or, as
Guerreiro would have put it, ‘to add another jewel
to the crown of this realm,’ that forms the subjeét of
the present extraét.

The faét that more than three hundred years ago
one Philip de Brito built a fort on the Pegu river, held
it for a dozen years, and then loét it, is not in i
of outstanding importance. Nevertheless, the at-
tendant circumétances are worth our attention, because
of the insight they afford into the maritime policy of
the Portuguese at this period, the methods by which
it was pursued, and the causes which contributed to
its failure. The ftory of Philip de Brito’s short-lived
triumph and its tragic conclusion is the history in
miniature of the rise and collapse of Portuguese power
in the Eagt.






PART 1
JAHANGIR AND THE JESUITS






CHAPTER 1

Twue Reserrion of THe Priyce acarsst uts Fatuer,
axD e CONSEQUENCES THEREOF

IGHT days after the death of King Aquebar,®the

E new King went to the palace to take possession

of the realm. By his orders a dals, very splen-

didly adorned, had been ereted,and he came forth and

took his seat thereon. The people brought gifts to

him, and all shouted Pad Jawsalamar, *Hail King.”®

Then he entered the fortress, which he made his roysl
Ebﬂdﬂ-

All men hoped much from the new King, and especi-
ally the Fathers, who believed that his accession would
lead many to embrace the Christian faith. For up to
that time he had been looked upon almoét as & Christian,
and had been openly spoken of as such by his adherents.
But these hopes were disappointed; for he had sworn
an oath to the Moors to uphold the law of Mafamede
[Muhammad], and being anxious at the commence-
ment of his reign to secure their good will, he gave
orders for the cleansing of the mosques, restored the
fasts [ramesas)' and prayers of the Moors, and took
the name Nurdim mohamad Iahanuir,” which signifies,
“The Splendour of the Law of Mafamede, Conqueror
of the World." Of the Fathers he took no more
notice than if he had never seen them before.’

Not long after the death of the old King, and the
accession of the new, the Prince, the son of the latter,
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revolted againét his father, just as the new King when
Prince had himself revolted againt his father
Aquebar. On account of certain grievances and
suspicions, the Prince, en the night of Saturday, the
15th of Aprily? left the fortress with a number of his
friends and adherents, without letting it be known
whither he was going. Those who accompanied him
gave out that it was his purpose to visit the tomb of
his grandfather, and with this excuse he was able to
pass safely by the Merinho Mor® and all the King's
guards. His followers now commenced to call him
Soltam Ia,” that is, King Soltam, and they colleéted as
many horses as they could find, and whatever else they
needed for defending themselves.

On being informed of these things, the King, after
li€tening to various counsels, determined to go himself
in pursuit of his son, and as soon as duy broke he set
forth.® It happened that the Prince fell in with a
great Captain™ who was on his way to Lahor to see
the King, and succeeded in persuading him to join
his side. Soon afterwards, he met another Captain
who had with him a hundred thousand rupees (equal
to forty thousand erusades, more or less), which he was
taking to the King. The Prince seized the moncy,
and persuaded this Captain also to join him. He then
made a liberal distribution of his plunder amongst
his soldiers, the report of which, being noised abroad,
soon brought twelve thousand more men to his side,
so that by the time he reached Lahor (which is a
hundred leagues from Agra whence he had fled) he
was at the head of a considerable force.

4



REBELLION OF THE PRINCE

But the people of Lahor, who had been informed
of his flight, closed the gates of the city and refused
him entrance. For eight days the Prince closely
besieged the city; but he was unable to take it. On
learning that his father was coming, and was already
near at hand, he gave up the siege and turned to
encounter his pursuers, hoping to prevent them from
crossing the river. But he was too late; for already
a portion of the King's army had made the passage;
while to add to the dificultics of the unforfunate
Prince, rain fell so violently that it rendered the bows
of his men useless and their horses unmanageable.
Nevertheless, putting all to the hazard, he threw
himself upon the King's troops. During this onset
many of those who had crossed the river were slain,
and all this portion of the imperial army might have

. been put to flight, had not onc of the King’s Captains,
sceing that the resistance of his men was weakening,
made use of the following étratagem. Having dis-
guised a number of foot-soldiers as messengers, he
bade them go and mingle with the troops of the
Prince, and spread the report that the King had
crossed the river, and was rapidly approaching with
 great army. As messenger followed messenger,
each bringing the same news, all the Prince's soldiers
believed it to be true. After a short while, the same
Captain suddenly ordered trumpets to be sounded
and drums to be beaten, as is always done when the
King marches™

The Prince was for continuing the attack, and had
he done so he would have completely routed the
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troops on that side of the river, which might have
caused those who were with the King to lose heart,
and so his enterprise might have succeeded. But his
followers, overcome by their dread of the King, whom
they wrongly believed to be close at hand, lost heart
and counselled inftant flight; and when the Prince
would not liften to their words, his General, seizing
the bridle of his horse, forced him to turn back,
telling him that he was going to his destrution. But
this sealed the Prince’s fate; for his troops, seeing
that he had set his back to the enemy, étraightway
turned and fled in disorder. They were pursued by
the King's troops, and many of them were slain.*
The King now crossed the river, while the Prince
fled towards the Kingdom of Cabul, which also be-
longed to his father. Messengers had already been
sent to every place where it was possible for the Prince
to cross the intervening river, with orders that every
passage was to be held againdt him; and by the time
he reached one of these passages,’ the King's message
had already been received, and the Captain who
governed in those parts was waiting to intercept him.
He had given orders that all boats were to be removed
except one, and that when the Price had embarked,
the boatmen were, as if by mischance, to éteer the boat
on to a sandbank which was in the middle of the
stream, and then, on the pretext of fetching others to
their assiStance, were to come and report to him.
All this the boatmen did, whereon the Governor,
entering another boat, made his way to the Prince,
with whom were his General and one or two others,
6
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The Governor treated him with due ceremony, and
conducted him, all unsuspefting, to his fortress, As
soon as he had his captives safely lodged, he excused
himself on the ground that he was going to give orders
for their refreshment, and left them, locking the gates
behind him. The Prince's followers, having no means
of crossing the river, could do nothing to help their
master; and learning that he was a prisoner, they
dispersed and hid themselves.

Meanwhile the King, in great anxiety as to the
whereabouts of his son, continued his march to Lahor.
As he neared the city, the two Fathers in charge of
the church there came out to pay their respefls to
him. They had been in great peril from the Gentiles,
who had threatened to deétroy them as soon as the
Prince entered the gates.® After proceeding about
two leagues, they met the King at the head of his
army. He was riding betwéen two lines of troops in
fine array, and was attended by many great lords,
He was preceded by an advance guard, who cleared
the way before him, allowing none to remain on the
road. The Fathers, however, were permitted to pass
on until they came to the King, who, on seeing them,
drew rein, and the whole army came to a halt. They
approached and embraced his feet; and His Majesty,
with a very amiable countenance, enquired after their
welfare, and took into his hands the small present
which they offered to him; then signing to them to
withdraw, he continued his march.

Towards evening he received news that his son
was a prisoner, and a Captain, with a guard, was at
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once dispatched to bring him to Lahor. Having
entered the fortress where the Prince was, the Captain,
without any display of courtesy or respet, produced
fetters, covered with velvet, and said that he was
commanded by the King to put them on his feet.
Having thus secured him, he brought him away,
together with his fellow-captives, under a &rong
guard. On their return, the King sent an elephant,
meanly harnessed, to carry the Prince across the river,
and ordered him to be brought to the pleasure-house
where he then was, for he had not yet made his entry
into the city. On being informed of his arrival, he
withdrew into the house, perchance to give way, like
Joseph, to the natural feelings of a father. But in 1
little while he came out, and ordered him to approach.

The whole court awaited in suspense the sentence
of the King. The speftacle of the poor Prince,
chained hand and foot, being led into his father's
presence, moved all who witnessed it to compassion.
As soon as he saw the King he made signs of suh-
mission and reverence. His Majesty ordered him to
approach and place himself amongét his Captains.
Then turning on him a countenance full of wrath, he
upbraided him in the mogt bitter terms. The two
chief Captains of the Prince were also made to come
before him. One of these had been 1 great Captain
under this, as well as under the late King, whom he
had served in many important offices, The other hud
held the post of Treasurer, and had been Governor of
Lahor. As these two $tood before him, heavily
manacled, His Majesty spoke mockingly to them of

8 i
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the King they had chosen to follow, and of the fine
Captains their King had chosen to aid him in his
exploit. Finally he made over the Prince to one of
his Captains with orders that he was to be kept in
chains and closely guarded. As to the two Captains,
the foremodt, having been $tripped naked, was en-
veloped in the skin of a newly slaughtered ox, and the
other, the Chief Steward, was similarly arrayed in the
skin of an ass, also newly slain for the purpose. The
skins were sewn tightly over them so that they were
put to. extreme torture as they dried and shrank.
They were left thus throughout the night, and in the
morning they were paraded through the city, clad in
the manner described, and each riding upon an ass,
with his face turned towards the tail.

The sight of these two great nobles, the one having
the horns of an ox fixed to his head, and the other the
cars of an ass, caused the greatedt astonishment
amongst the people, who were accuftomed to see
them so differently arrayed. When they returned to
the pleasure-house where the King was, the Captain
was 50 overcome by the ignominy to which he had been
exposed in the Greets, where he had formerly gone
in tate with his elephants and horses and retainers,
that he had no strength left in him, and fell to the
ground as one dead. The King ordered his head to

be cut off and sent to Agra to be fixed to the gate of

the city. His body was cut up into quarters which
were hung up on the roadside.
The Treasurer was left sewn up in his case; but the
King, as a great favour, gave permission that his servant
9
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might moisten the skin so that it should grip him less
severely. But this relief had its drawbacks, for the
moiéture engendered fleas and other vermin, so that
he was tormented worse than before, and he counted
himself happy whenever he could crush some of them
in his fingers and get rid of them. At the same time,
owing to the heat of the sun, the skin began to putrefy,
and gave forth such an evil smell that none would go
near him. In the end, however, he was set free;
for a courtier who was desirous of marrying his
daughter interceded for him to such good purpose
that he obtained his pardon; but for this he had to
pay His Majesty something over a hundred thousand
crowns. On the same evening that he paid this sum,
he was unsewn, and condufted to the city. After
a few days, he began to go about as usual, and the
King reftored him to his office as though nothing
had happened.’*

Many of the Prince’s followers had also been
captured; and on the day that the King made his entry
into the city, two hundred of these captives decorated
his route, on cither side of which they had, by his
orders, been impaled or hanged. Amongst them
were many who were related to his chief favourites;
but none dared to interfere in their behalf, lest he
should be accounted a partisan of the Prince.!” The
King, mounted on a magnificently caparisoned ele-
phant, entered the city in triumph. As he passed
along the route, he turned his head from side to side
to regard his wictims, listening to what was told him
of each. A little behind, the fetters still on his feet,
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and mounted on a small elephant devoid of harness
or truppings, came the Prince, a spefator by com-
pulsion of this tragic sequel to his ill-judged adventure.

After entering Lahor the King confined the Prince
in his palace. He &till kept him in chains, but of a
somewhat lighter description than before, To make
his degradation complete, he deprived him of his
titles and his right to succeed to the throne, transferring
these to his second son. A hundred thousand crowns
came to the King through the Captain whose head
he had cut off, and other large sums through the other
offenders.'*  All this he kept for himself; but the
horses and other things that he took from his son,
he conferred on those whom the unfortunate Prince
looked upon as his greatest enemies, thereby rendering
his vexation the more acute,

While the Prince was flying from Agra, he passed
the spot where there dwelt one whom the Gentiles
call Goru,™ a title equivalent to that of Pope amongét
the Christians. This person was looked upon as a
saint, and was greatly venerated. On account of his
reputation for holiness, the Prince went to see him,
hoping apparently that this would bring him good
fortune. The Goru congratulated him on his new
royalty, and placed his tiara™ on his head. Although
the Prince was a Moor; the Goru deemed it lawful
to bestow on him this mark of dignity, proper only
to a Gentile, since he was the son of a Pagan woman;
and the Prince accepted it, believing the Goru to be
a saint.

When, after his son's capture, the King heard of
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this circumétance, he ordered the Goru to be appre-
hended, and for some time kept him a priscner.
However, certain Gentiles interceded on behalf of
their holy man, and in the end he was allowed to
purchase his freedom for a hundred thousand erusades,
for which sum a wealthy Gentile became his surety.
Now this man thought that either the King would
remit the fine or that the Goru would himself provide,
or at any rate find some means of raising, the sum
required. But in these hopes he was disappointed,
and in consequence he proceeded to take from the
wretched pontiff all his worldly possessions, including
the furniture of his house, and even the clothes of his
wife and children; for these Gentiles regard neither
Pope nor Father where money is concerned. And
when this did not suffice to pay the fine, he subjected
him to every kind of ill-usage, causing him to be
beaten with slippers, and preventing food from being
given to him, in the hope that his viftim, to escape
from his sufferings, would produce the money which
he still believed him to possess. But neither the Goru
nor those about him could meet the demands of his
tormentor; and at lagt the poor man died, overcome
by the miseries heaped upon him by those who had
formerly paid him reverence® The Gentile sought
to escape his obligations by flight, but he was taken,
and having been deprived of everything that he
possessed, was thrown into prison, where he died,
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CHAPTER Il

How 1ite Kixg sroaw wis Reox. He compiis Two
Curistiay CHiLorexy To secome Moors!

Havine put an end to these disorders, the King
occupied himself with the government of his kingdom.
He displayed so great a love for justice thag calling
to mind what one of the ancient kings of Persia had
done, he gave orders that a silver bell with a chain
rwenty cubits long should be suspended close to his
own apartments, so that all who felt that they had
grievances and were unable o obtain redress at the
hands of the law or the officers of the State, might
pull this chain, when the King would immediately
come forth and deliver juétice verbally? He also
gave orders that merchants were no longer to pay the
tolls demanded from them by his Captains in various
places through which they passed; and he restored to
their heirs the goods which, according to the orders
of his father, came into the King's possession when
the owners died. OQut of this arose rrouble for the
Fathers, For the late King had during his lifetime
given to them some houses which had belonged to a
certain Gentile, in which they had eétablished their
church and taken up their abode. The leirs now
demanded the reétitution of these houses, as well as
of some others in which Chriétians were living. The
matter was brought before the King, and the claimants,
thinking to achieve their objeét the more easily, said
13
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many evil things about the Fathers.® But the King
paid no heed to them, telling them that if their allega-
tions had been true, complaints would have reached
him long before; and in the end he confirmed the gift
of the houses, and said that he would liften to no
more complaints regarding grants made by his father
to the Christians. The Fathers gladly endured the
difficultics and dangers to which this dispute exposed
them, and which, for love of their church, they faced
so resolutely. They have made their church very
beautiful, so that every day Moors and Gentiles newly
arrived in the city ask to be allowed to see it, and are
greatly astonished at its perfeétion. The buildings
have theappearance of a college. Thereare verandahs,
and fine upper rooms for winter use, and lower ones
for the summer. There is a separate apartment for
every office, very conveniently arranged, and there is
ulso a porter’s lodge with a bell for the use of those
who pass in and out. Thus, in the heart of this
Moorish kingdom, there is a Company eétablished as
though it were in a Christian land, exercising all its
funétions, and regarded with such respeét that when-
ever the Fathers go abroad the children in the ftreers
cry * Padrigi Salamat,’ that is, *God keep you, Sefior
Padre,” which rejoices the hearts of the Fathers,
leading them to hope that God will one day give these
children grace to know Him, since they show such
affection for His servants.

After the difficulty about the houses, another cir-
cumstance occurred which caused the Fathers no less
anxiety. It came about in this manner. The new

14



THE NEW KING

King, having taken the sceptre into his hands, be-
thought himself of the oath which he had sworn
to the Moors. Now there was in his household a
young Gentile, the son of a great Captain who had
been much favoured by the late King. Some years
previously this young man had for certain reasons
been circumcised; and one evening, when he was in
the royal presence, the King referred to this circum-
stance, and said that since he had been circumcised he
was no longer a Gentile, and that he ought to take
another law. This he at fir declined to do; but the
King insiéted, and finally said, “ If you wish to become
a Moor, here are the Mullas, who will teach you their
law. Or if you would rather become a Chridtian, 1
will send for the Fathers, who will baptise you”
Finding himself forced to make a choice, and worked
upon by those who were present, he elefted to take
the law of the Moors, which he did, and was paraded
through the city on an clephant with great state, and
amid much rejoicing, to the great contentment of the
Moors and the mortification of the Gentiles,

Secing how he had pleased the Moors, the King
determined to try a similar experiment with a Christian,
choosing for his purpose a young Armenian of a very
honourable charaéter. This young man had likewise
been made much of by the late King, who had his
two sons brought up with his own grandsons, showing
them great affeétion, which they well merited, for there
were no children so well behaved in the royal palace,
Some years ago this Armenian had, under pressure
from one of the King's wives, and by order of the King
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himself, married the siéter of his deceased wife who
was the mother of his two children,* From that time
the Moors maintained that the Armenian had made
himself one of them, since he had followed a Moorish
ctistom and married two sifters, though in truth he
was not, and had never admitted himself to be, a
follower of their faith. It chanced that about this
time he came from the province which he governed®
to pay his respeéls to the new King, and to submit
his accounts to the controller of the royal treasury.
Now the King, having made up his mind to make this
man a Moor, took counsel with the Treasurer with
whom he had business, and the latter, aided by his
friends, did all in his power, partly by threats and
partly by promise of favours, to bend the Armenian
to the King's will. But the young man's constancy
to his faith remained unshaken, to the great joy of
the Chriétians, and especially of the Fathers, to whom
he recounted his difficulties and trials, saying, “ There
is nothing I desire more than to die for the faith which
1 follow, as an atonement for the sins of which | have
been guilty, and the scandal which I have occasioned.”

It was at this jun&ture that the King was overtaken
by the storm of troubles occasioned by the flight of
the Prince from Agra; and on his departure in pursuit
of his son, the Armenian seized the opportunity to
return to his province, taking his two sons with him.
After the defeat of the Prince, the King, having taken
up his quarters at Lahor, enquired for the children,
and when in course of time they arrived at the palace,
he received them very kindly. He enquired after their
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father, and told them they were to remain with him as
before. In the evening of the same day, they were
spoken of in the presence of the King; and when
many things had been said in their praise, a certain
Moor who was present remarked to the King, “ It is
a pity that children of such excellent parts are not
Moors" This set the match to the fire. The King
asked them what law they followed, and they answered
that they were Christians like their father. * Their
father is not a Moor," said the King. * But he is,
Sire,” said one of those present, " because after the
manner of a Moor he has married the sister of his firft
wife." But the children insifted that they were and
always had been Chriftians. * Then,” said the King,
“since you are Christians you shall ecat hog's flesh.”
When the King said this, both the children shuddered,
for they had been brought up by one of the Queens,
from whom they had imbibed various Moorish notions,
and they loathed hog's flesh like the Moors them-
selves, so that their father had never been able to
induce the elder child even to taste it. They told the
King that though their law did not forbid them to
eat hog's flesh, it did not ablige them to do so.
Nothing more was said on the subjeét that night,
and the next day the children went to the Fathers and
told them what had taken place. The Fathers fortified
them with advice and encouragement, for they knew
the King's nature, and that he would never allow the
matter to drop; and the next evening the children had
to withdtand a fresh assault. Again one of those
present insisted that they were Moors, “ They have
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been brought up as Moors,” he said, “ and it is only
reasonable that they should be Moors." These words
were greeted with cries of * Hear, hear!” while the
King forbade the children to leave the palace, and
ordered them to be confined to a certain place as
though they were prisoners, thinking that with no
one to encourage them they would be the more easily
overcome. News of this was carried to the Fathers
by same of their relatives, one of whom, declaring
that he was ready to give his life for Chriét, drew his
dagger from his belt and entruéting it with what
money he had to the Fathers, entered the palace and
made his way to the children’s side, When they
again came before the King, the battle about their
faith and the eating of hog's flesh began anew. The
younger lad said they would eat as the King ordered
if the Fathers told them it was their duty. The King
would have summoned the Fathers to put them to the
test; but one of his courtiers, enraged at the lad’s
reply, gave him two severe blows, saying, “ Do you
answer thus? How dare you refer to the Fathers
when His Majeéty gives you an order!” Upon this,
the King, putting aside the queStion of the hog's
flesh, went to the root of the matter, * Lidten to
me!” he said. * You are to become Moors. Repeat
the Calima," which is the confession of the law of
Mafamede. But the two lads remained silent; where-
on the King sent for the whip used for scourging
criminals, and ordered them to be flogged. Terrified
into submission by the prospeét of this torture, the
children repeated through their clenched teeth the
18
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words demanded by the Moors. After this they were
allowed to go, and they returned downcaét and miser-
able to their apartment. In the morning, the King
sent & barber to circumcise them. But to this they
refused to submit, and they made so loud an outery
that the barber left them and went to tell the King,
who at once sent for them and asked them the meaning
of their refusal. They replied that they were Chris-
tians and that they would remain Chriftians, and
would not be circumcised. The Fathers, who had
been each day to the palace to see the lads, had pre-
pared them for this last ftruggle with counsel and
exhortations. They had also tried to gain access to
the King that they might speak to him on the children's
behalf; but the Moors were so watchful that they had
no opportunity of doing so.

The King, on hearing what the children said, tried
to make them yield by promises of countless favours
to come, and when these proved unavailing, by threats
of punishment. Thus sorely pressed, and seeing that
their answers and their resiftance were unheeded, one
of them cried: “Sire, we implore you, for the love of
Alazaraht Ieam (i.e. the Lord Jesus),” do not compel
us to be circumcised!” To this the King, who before
his accession was greatly devoted to our Lord, and wore
on his breast a richly enamelled crucifix, replied: “ It
is for love of Him that I do so." * But that will never
please Him," said the child. Then the cruel King,
to put an end to further words, ordered them to be
held hand and foot, and despite their protestations
and cries, had them circumcised then and there, in
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his presence. *Now," he said, “you are Moors.
Repeat the Calima!” The Struggle recommenced
with even greater fierceness on the King's part, for
the sight of the innocent blood seemed to make him
all the more determined to carry out his purpose, and
satisfy those who were instigating him. The more
the children resisted, the more determined he became.
At laét the whips were brought, and the two lads were
beaten without mercy. Many of those present were
moved to compassion to see them, £hill bleeding from
the circumcision, suffer these cruel stripes, which,
because of the presence and rage of the King, exceeded
in severity those ordinarily inflited on criminals,
The elder; who was fourteen years of age, yiclded
after the fourteenth §tripe and said what was required
of him, though by no means in the manner the Moors
desired. The younger, who had not yet completed
his eleventh year, continued to hold out even when
he saw his brother give way. He was therefore
beaten with increased severity, At each Stroke of
the whip he cried out, * Ah, Hazaraht [efo, Sefor
Iesu |" for he had this holy name always on his lips,
and his hands clasped the reliquary he wore about
his neck. All were filled with adtonishment at his
constancy, and even the King showed signs of com-
passion and became silent. One of the courtiers,
however, continued to urge on those who were beating
him, crying, * Smite him|  Smite him!" so that they
gave him thirty tripes severe enough to overcome the
strongest man. The cruelty of this lat onslaught
deprived the poor child of strength and spirit, and to
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escape further torture he repeated the words of the
Calima, after which he was given three or four more
Stripes for not having yielded sooner. Perchance if
he could have held out a little longer, he would not
have had to suffer worse. But it was much that so
young a child had endured so long, with no one near
to encourage him, but only ravening wolves who
thirsted for the blood and soul of this innocent lamb,
and the maddened King. Had the wrath of the latter
been directed against those who instigated him, it
would have needed many fewer étripes to make them
abandon the law of Mafamede and accept that of
Christ which they hold in such abhorrence, so greatly
do they éland in awe of and fear their King.

Caontent with his fictitious victory, the King ordered
the children to be taken to their quarters and carefully
tended. The same evening the Fathers, ignorant of
what had taken place, went to see them. They found
them lying on the ground silent and miserable. As
soon as the Fathers entered the younger cried out:
* Padrigi, I am a Christian! [ am a Christian! Let
them cut me how they like, it makes no difference.
It was all againét our will. If they had not beaten
us, do you think we would have given way 7 We have
borne these blows willingly;' and they showed on their
bodies the marks of the whip, which were pitiful to
behold. The Fathers could not find 1t in their hearts
to admonish them for their fall, but comforted them
and praised them for the conftancy they had shown,
that they might not think of themselves as vanquished
or as Moors. And indeed, from that time, the children
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openly declared that they were Chrigtians as they had
always been, and that what they had done was by
compulsion and because of the torture that had been
inflited on them. The King sent 2 Mulla to dress
their wounds and teach them their prayers. But they
said whatever they liked of Mafamede before him.
After their recovery they were taken to the King, who
gave them each a dress and permission to leave their
lodging; but he forbade them to see or converse with
the Fathers. The children paid little heed to this
order, and went about publicly proclaiming themselves
Christians, and saying so many things againét the
Moors and their law that they had more need of the
rein than the spur. The elder lad, who had shown
himself the weaker of the two, of his own accord took
a dagger and cut the figure of a cross, the length of
a span, on his left arm. He muét have endured much
pain, for the flesh was permanently marked. The top
of the figure was at the wridt, so that each time he
raises his arm the cross was uplifted. ‘Thus day by
day were these lads filled with new zeal. For the reét,
the King treated them in private as he had formerly
done; whilst the Moors continued to wonder at their
constancy, admitting that all the force they had used
had been wadted, for the lads’ hearts had never been
conquered.  When the father of the children heard
these things, he refused food for three days, and sent
one of his personal attendants to find out the meaning
of all that had happened. The Fathers wrote to him
bidding him beware of a continuance of the attack on
himself which the King had commenced before he set
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out from Agra. The Armenian bravely replied that
he was ready to behave in such 1 manner as would
cause the Moors to respe@ the Chriétian faith. But
the King, as if nothing unusual had taken place,
resumed his former friendly attitude towards the
Armenian and his children and the other Christians,
and even dispatched some business on behalf of the
Fathers with every sign of good will. But he never
gave them an opportunity of speaking about the
Armenian children.
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CHAPTER 111
Some CosveErTs 10 THE Farmu

Toucuing the fruits of this Mission, the number of
new Christians made was small. This was partly
because few persons asked to be baptised, and partly
because the Fathers could place so little reliance on
the people of this Moor-ridden land that to convert
them was like building with worm-eaten timber.

In Agra about twenty persons were baptised.
These included the family of a highly respected
Armenian, who had lived many years amongdt the
Moors, far from all Chriftian intercourse, [When
a Father happened to pass through his neighbourhood,
the Armenian, though he went to see him with his
present, entreated him not to visit him; and he told
other Armenians that if the Father came there, he
would pretend not to know him.}' This was ap-
parently on account of his relatives and neighbours,
amongét whom he did not wish to be known as a
friend of the Chriétians. Some years later, by the
help of God, the Fathers prevailed on him to bring
his family to Agra, where they could live amongét
Christian people. He came with his wife and sons
and daughters, who, together with moét of his house-
hold, were baptised. He himself made confession
and was married to his wife according to the rites of
the Church, after living eighteen years as a Moor:
so that we may count him amongét the converts as
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well as his wife and children. One of the latter, &
little innocent girl, was called to our Lord soon after
receiving baptism, Another case was that of a man
who had for many years lived a Christian life, con-
fessing and receiving communion with the Christians,
but who, the Fathers discovered, had never been
baptised. The rite was administered to him in secret,
to his great consolation.

In the city of Lahor an aged Moor, a native of
Bagora, became & Chrigtian. He had been a man of
importance in his own country;: but after the Turks
took Bagora he wandered from place to place seeking
a livelihood. He went to Veneza and other Christian
places, and at length found his way to Lahor, and
meeting with the Fathers, begged them to make him
4 Chriftian. He importuned them much on account
of his age; but the Fathers would not baptise him at
once, and he left them, full of hope, to go to the lands
which the late King had given him. It was not long
before he returned, insiSting more than ever that he
should be baptised, for he was too old to wait longer.
So the Fathers acceded to his requedt, though few
were aware of his conversion, as he did not wish this
to be made public, But he made another old man,
who was his companion, promise that on his death he
would not permit the Moors to touch his body, but
that only the Fathers and the Christians should prepare
it for the grave, and bury it with Chrigtian rites. He
would have done better had he publicly acknowledged
his conversion. But so evil-minded are the Moors
that he would have been unable to live with those of
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his house, had they known that he was a Chrigtian,
It is the fear of similar ill-usages that deters many
from embracing our faith.

There lived near the Fathers a Brahman Gentile
whose son, ss has already been told,® had endured
much through becoming a Chriétian. Now it hap-
pened that a daughter of the same Brahman fell sick,
and her sister, seeing that she was near to die, began
to mourn for her. The Father heard her cries, and
not knowing what the matter might be, sent for her
brother who was a Christian and told him to go to
her. On learning the cause of his sifter’s lamenta-
tions, he persuaded his mother to allow the sick
child to be made a Chriftian. She was accordingly
brought to the church, and the Father baptised
her. She died as she was being taken away, and
her soul entered the abode of eternal bliss, of
which her sister was the occasion, and her brother
the inftrument.

Many received help in their temporal as well as
their spiritual necessities. Thus, five or six dtrangers
who had come from Chrigtian countries, and had been
seized and held as captives by the Moors, were suc-
coured by the Fathers, who obtained their liberation
and sent them back to their homes. On another
occasion, a young lad, who was in the service of a
respectable Italian, ran away from his madter in Sind,
and became a Moor.  Having come to Agra, where he
failed to find the assistance he had hoped for, he was
reduced to beggary. The Fathers came to know of
him and gave him shelter in their house, where he
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remained quietly until an opportunity came for sending
him on his way.

A certain Moor, a captain of high rank, had in his
service two Cafres® who had come from a Chritian
land. He treated them well; but in spite of his
indulgence they were not content to live amongét
Moars. To induce them to settle with him, the Moor
arranged marriages for them; but the day before these
were to take place they made their escape and took
refuge with the Fathers, who sent them from Agra
to Lahor, from whence they travelled to Sind, and
finally to Goa. On their way to Lahor they were
recognised by some of the Moor’s people; but they
managed to defend themselves and put to flight those
sent to apprehend them. At Lahor they lived like
good Chrigtians in the house of the Fathers; but they
were again recognised by someone belonging to the
Moor; so the Fathers concealed them in the house
of a certain Portuguese Chridtian, until the time
should arrive for them to depart. There was in the
same house a certain man, a native of Goa, who,
thinking he saw an opportunity of gaining the favour
of the King, went to one of his Caprains and told him
about the two Cafres, saying that they were very clever
fellows, and that one of them could play the organ
and sing Portuguese music; and he offered to deliver
them into his hands, which he aétually did, luring
them from the house by saying that the Fathers had
called them. He led them, all unsuspe@ing, to a
spot where a number of persons, some on foot and some
on horseback, awaited them. By these they were
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taken under ftrong guard to the Captain, who in turn
took them to the King. His Majedty at once took
them into his service on very good terms. Nothing
wiis said about their becoming Moors, so they remained
in the Church, and lived with the Fathers. But the
affair did not end here; for the Portuguese, in whose
house the youths had been lodged, determined to
punish him who had tricked thems and this they did,
taking into account another of his misdeeds, which
alone merited the good blows which they gave him,
having tied him up securely to render his chagtisement
the more effective. One of his servants escaped
through a window crying out that they were killing his
master, His cries reached the ears of the Merinho
Mor, who sent some of his men to the house, where
they found the man ill tied up. As soon as they
had liberated him he vociferated loudly that his
assailants meant ro kill him and bury him secretly.
He made them take the two who had beaten him into
custody, and told them that it was the Fathers who had
incited them to attack him. The Fathers were with
the King on other business when the two men and their
accuser were brought to the palace. The latter, on
coming before the King, tore open his clothes from
his belt upwards to show the marks of the blows he
had received, while he poured forth with many tears,
a long tale of his wrongs, and ended by saying that
the whole affair had been a plot of the Fathers, who
had come to the house at midnight disguised in turban
and cabays, and that they had aéted againét him thus
because of the two Cafres he had taken away and
28
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delivered to His Majesty, The King signed to the
Fathers to speak. * Sire," they said, “ask these men
if we have ever, up to this day, been to their house.”
But the other ceased to press his charge apainét the
Fathers, secing that the King paid little heed to what
he said againét them, and turning his attention to the
two unfortunate captives, he said, to obtain the sentence
he desired, “ Sire, do justice to me in this matter, and
I will become a Moor.” On this, the King said, *1
deliver them to you.  You may do what you will with
them, and I will make you a Captain.” It would take
long to describe the injuries and insults which the two
Portuguese had to suffer in the $treets at the hands of
this mad fellow.

When the King retired, the Fathers were admitted
to his presence. He laughingly asked them what it
was the Feringhes were quarrelling about, and they
told him all the circumétances. He expressed great
surprise and said, “ I did not underétand the matter.
Enquire into it well, and bring the man to me, and
you shall see what 1 will do with him, Nevertheless
they did wrong to beat him. They should have
brought him to you for punishment, or to me. It
was for this reason I handed them over to him, so
that he in his turn might beat them.” For such is
the justice of this King and this land. The Fathers
said that the two men had already been well punished,
and begged the King to order their release, which,
after some further enquiries, he did. They also
requested that if this man brought any charges againét
them, he should be made to prove the truth of his
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words; and they added that, if proof were forthcoming,
they would submit to whatever His Majesty should
order. " Oh, you are in a different class,” was the
King’s reply, * There ig no need even to speak of it."
Such is this King's opinion of the Fathers. As to
that unholy man, the devil seemed to be in him; for
in his determination to discredit and defame the
Fathers, he circulated a thousand false $tories about
them; but these served only to enhance the good
reputation of those againft whom they were direéted;
for no one believed his words, and he became an
objeét of general contempt, even the Moors declaring
they would not have such a man in their seét. He
heard nothing more of the promotion which had been
promised him by the King,

The next day the King sent for the Fathers, and
received them in an inner apartment to which very
few are admitted, He enquired how many Chrigtians
there were, and whether there was much didtress
amongst them, and said that he would be very glad
to contribute something towards the assistance of those
who were in need. He also asked about the church,
saying that he would like to come and see it, and that
the Fathers must let him know when there was to be
a festival; and when they told him that the church
needed white-washing, and more piftures for its
adornment, he promised to provide funds for both
these purposes. Before taking leave of him, they
showed him a version of the Gospels in Arabic in
which he showed great interedt, saying, however, that
he would like Still more to see & Persian translation
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of the same. The Fathers said that they had a
copy of the Gospels in Persian, and that they
would bring it to him. At this the King expressed
much pleasure, so they revised the translation and
presented it to him. This took place in the month
of September, 1606,
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Some Evenrts of tHE Yrar 1607

Tue King set out for Cabul,® taking with him his son,
whom he $till kept as a prisoner, though with less
striftness than at firét. When the Fathers went to
take leave of him, he begged them to commend him
to God. They presented him with a copy of the Holy
Gospels in Persian, which he accepted very graciously.
He would allow no one to hold it for him, but kept
itin his hand until he withdrew. The Fathers passed
their days as peacefully as though they lived in some
secluded college, devoting themselves to their spiritual
Studies and the performance of their religious exer-
cises, and celebrating with the other Chritians the
times and feasts of the Church.

This year, their commemoration of our Lord’s
Passion included, for the firét time, a public procession
of disciplinants, which took place on Maundy Thurs-
day. One of the Christians, who had no suitable
vestment, fashioned himself one out of his own gar-
ments, and joined the procession. Another, who had
never been in a Christian country, nor was it known
who had taught him, came forth with his arms bound
to & large beam, as though it were a cross, The
procession was headed by a crucifix, after which came
a band of children singing litanies. The $trects were
crowded with Gentiles who gazed in aftonishment on
this new spe€tacle. They shuddered at the sight of
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the blood so willingly spilled, and, eager to see what
the end would be; they continued to follow the pro-
cession while it made its circuit of the city and returned
to the church. The Fathers and the Chriftians,
greatly comforted by this aét of penance, determined
to repeat it with increased devotion year by year, in
despite of the devil who could ill endure to see such
a spectacle in a land which he looked upon as his own,
and where he was so Strongly entrenched. On the
evening of Easter Day, the Fathers illuminated the
roof of their church, where there is a terrace, with
lamps and candles, and let off many kinds of fireworks,
which they make very well in this country, and of
great brilliancy, In the early morning there was
another grand procession, headed by a cross adorned
with roses and other flowers, and accompanied by
musicians with hautboys, which they had learnt to
play in Goa, having been sent there for that purpose;
and as these instruments had never been heard or
seen in the country before they attraéled many people
and caused much aétonishment. The Christians fol-
lowed the musicians, clad in festal garments and hold-
ing candles in their hands. The Fathers accompanied
them wearing their surplices and singing their best as
they marched along. One of them carried a very
beautiful pi€ture of the infant Jesus, which had come
from Portugal. These novel scenes were watched by
countless crowds of people, through which the small
band of Christians moved as serenely and devoutly as
though they were commemorating the triumph of
Chriét in the land of the most catholic of kings, instead
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of being surrounded by Moors and Gentiles, who
would have rejoiced at their deétruction.

These feasts were followed by that of Corpus
Chrifti, on which occasion one of the Fathers carried
through the streets the holy Sacrament enclosed in
a glazed tabernacle under a canopy. A band of
Chriétians surrounded him bearing torches and candles,
while others followed, some playing on pipes and
some singing, as they went in procession to the church,
At one spot where the priest stopped, a little child,
neatly clad, approached and kneeling down worshipped
the holy Sacrament, declaring in a voice that all could
hear his faith in the real presence of Chriét the Saviour
and Redeemer of the world; then standing up he
recited a Story about the Sacrament which took the
place of a sermon, and gave great joy to the Chrigtians.®

As to the two lads who had been forcibly circum-
cised, the King, seeing them one day at play with
other children, called them to him and asked them
whether they wished to be Moors, or to follow the
law of their father. They answered that they would
remain Christians; upon which the King, turning to
his courtiers, said: “It is a bad thing not to follow
the law of one’s father. These lads through fear said
that they were Moors; but they were really Chritians.”
Then turning to the children he said: “ Continue to
follow your own lawl™ The lads made their salaams
to the King, and ran eagerly to tell the Fathers, shouting
as they went that they were Christians. Those who
had been foremost in inciting the King againét them
did not escape punishment. One of them soon after-
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wards incurred His Majeéty’s displeasure and was
deprived of all his revenues; and though a few months
later he was restored to favour, he lived in a ftate of
perpetual fear. Another, who was the greatest noble
in the kingdom, and was for that reason called the
King’s brother, fell into a lingering illness and became
paralysed in both legs. After a short time, the disease
mounted to his head, and his memory became so bad
that he forgot his own words, and repeated whatever
he said again and again, as though he had never said
it. On this account, the King's affeétion for him
cooled, and at laét he took from him the royal seal,
together with his edtates, revenues, and dignities,
which he conferred on another, leaving him only a
few lands for his maintenance, and he is now recover-
ing with expeftations very different from those which
he once entertained.*

When the King was in Lahor, one of his courtiers
told him that the King, his father, had given orders
that & portion of the pension which he had granted
to the Fathers who lived at Lahor should be withdrawn.
His Majeéty at once replied that the Fathers were to
continue to receive the whole amount, which was fifty
rupees & month. On another occasion, the Fathers
reminded him of the alms he had promised for the
Christians, whereon he ordered them to be given each
month another ffty rupees, and, in addition, thirty
rupees for the church.  This enabled the Fathers to
give assiftance to many poor Christinns.

The King at this time began to show himself much
less of a Moor than at firft, He declared it was his
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intention to follow in his father's footéteps; and his
aétions confirmed his words. God grant that his end
may be better. He allowed the two young Cafres,
who, as already mentioned, had been delivered to
him, to remain with the Fathers and the Church, and
also four pipers who had been sent from Goa. The
latter had likewise been delivered over to him, the
Venetian who was conduting them from Goa having
died on the journey. Nevertheless, though he desired
to keep them in his service, he contented himself with
making them play before him; and even when some
of his courtiers told him that these negroes had
belonged to the late King, who had sent them to the
Fathers for inftruétion, he did not compel them to
étay with him, but only asked them if they were willing
to do so, at the same time offering them good pay.
When he saw that they preferred to go to the Fathers,
and that they showed great conftancy to their faith,
answering well the questions he put to them, he ordered
them to be handed over to the Fathers, who decided
that, on His Majesty’s return from his journey [to
Cabul], they would present them to him for his service,
so that they might carn their livelihoods, and at the
same time serve the Church.

His Majedty continued to show himself worthy of
the name, “ The Just King,” which he had taken at
the commencement of his reign; so that there were no
aggrieved parties throughout his dominions; and woe
to that Governor or Captain who was found to have
taken tolls or other things from the merchants who
passed through the lands in his charge. At Lahor,
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one of the King's officers was $tationed on the far side
of the river, in order that he might condutt any
merchants coming from Caxemir or Cabul to the royal
palace, so that His Majesty might purchase from him
whatever he wished, and enquire what things he
desired to take from his country. When, on one
occasion, this officer was found to have exaéted some
trifling toll, the King gave orders that his head was to
be shaved, and that he was to be dragged, thus dis-
graced, through the ftreets of the city. The poor
fellow has never shown his face since.

On another occasion it was found that the Governor
of Ahmadabad, the royal city of Cambaya, who was
a great Captain with an income of five hundred
thousand rupees a month,® which is equal to two
hundred thousand erwsadss, had, with his two sons,
been guilty of many adts of tyranny. They were
therefore, summoned to appear before the King at
Lahor. The two sons arrived firét, their father, they
said, having been delayed by sickness. So, for a
time, the King dissembled; but, as soon as the father
appeared, he placed them all under arrest. He had
the sons frequently beaten, sometimes in his own
presence; and he kept the father in confinement until
he had paid two hundred thousand rupces which he
owed to the Crown, and had compensated all those
whom it was proved that he had despoiled. Having
thus punished him, he appointed him Governor of
Lahor, where he lives in much reduced circumstances.
The sans he continued to keep as prisoners.

To show that in the things of the law he was fol-
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lowing in his father's footéteps, he issued, as the latter
had done, a decree forbidding the eating of flesh on
certain fixed days. During one of these periods of
prohibition, he and his two sons, disguised as poor
men, went by night into the city, where they saw in
a certain quarter that meat was being sold. Knowing
that this could only be with the connivance of the
Merinho Mor, the King, early the next morning, sent
for that officer and, after secing him soundly Hogged,
caused him to be led with much dishonour through
the étreets of the city riding on an ass. A day or
two later he again sent for him, and presented him
with a horse and a dress as a sign of his restoration
to favour, and reinstated him in his office.

He similarly pardoned and restored to favour the
great Agiscoa [Aziz Khan Koka], the foSter-brother
of King Achebar, and a member of a very diftin-
guished family, This noble had a very great revenue
amounting to at least a million rupees, and his daughter
was wedded to the eldedt son of the King, who used
to call him his uncle. It happened that one of His
Majesty’s Captains, whilét serving in the Deccan,
found a letter which had been written by Agiscoa
during the reign of the late King,” in which he reviled
that monarch for forsaking the law of the Moors;
which they call the law of salvation, and becoming
a heretic, The Captain put this letter into the hands
of the King, who one night asked his uncle if he had
written it.  On his confessing that the letter was his,
the King flew into a violent rage, heaping a thousand
curses on him and calling him a thousand bad names,
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while his courtiers, following his example, reviled him
in like fashion; so that he, before whom all had been
wont to tremble, was Stunned by the indignities he
was made to suffer. He was placed under a guard
and brought twice each day to the palace, that he
might hear the reproaches which the great lords, in
their desire to please the King, heaped upon him.
And this he felt the more, because, as is the way with
those who have been accustomed to, or rather enslaved
by worldly honours, he had never in his life dreamt
that such misfortune could befall him. He now began
to diftribute huge sums in alms amongst the poor of
his faith; indeed, it is generally believed that at this
time he gave away more than a hundred thousand
crusados. On account of these good works, God
succoured him and caused the King to look on him
with kindness, After some marks of indulgence, His
Majedty restored to favour him whom he had so
bitterly mortified, and they commenced to live on
good terms as before, This étory reminds us that
even those who cross the waters of life on the highest
bridges do not always remain dryshod.

And now, leaving the King, let us speak of the
slender harveét which the Fathers gathered on the land
of their sowing. A Hungarian Chrigtian, more than
a hundred years old, who in his youth had been made
captive by the Moors amongét whom he had lived in
various places with his sons and grandsons, secing
that his end was approaching, had all his houschold
baptised, except one son who had not yet made up
his mind to become a Chriétian. After receiving the

39



JAHANGIR AND THE JESUITS

sacraments, this good old man passed away with the
Fathers at his bedside. At his burial there was a
very imposing service in the church, which was a
great consolation to the Chriftians, all of whom
attended with candles in their hands. The service
was also witnessed by many Moors and Gentiles,
who were much impressed by the solemnity of the
Christian rites, which, they confessed, far surpassed
their own.

A certain Chriétian lady, belonging to a Moorish
family of high rank, fell sick during the absence of
her husband, and fearing she was about to die, sent
for the Fathers. When they came to her, she showed
them the shroud which she had made for herself before
she fell sick, and the cloth which was to be placed on
her bier, and which was afterwards to be given to the
poor, together with whatever else she should leave
them for that purpose. She then showed them the
best of her clothes and orpaments, which she had set
aside for her daughter; and having sent for the child,
and also for her little sons, all of whom she had care-
fully instruéted in the Chridtian faith, she said to the
Fathers, “ Look upon them not as mine, but as yours |
I leave them in your hands; to do with them what you
will. T do not entrust them to my brothers or siéters
or other relations, because all of them are Moors. |
know only the Fathers; and to them [ entrut my
soul, my children, and all that [ possess.” After the
children had been dismissed, she made confession, and
said that it was her intention to go to the church the
next day to communicate. When the palanquin in
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which she was carried to the church was opened, she
was discovered speechless and unconscious, with her
lips closed. Seeing her in such a condition, the
Fathers were preparing to adminifter extreme unction
when, by God’s will, she came to herself. As soon
as the service began, she insisted on being taken from
the palanquin; and when those who &tood around
hesitated to move her, she attempted to raise herself;
so they lifted her out of the palanquin and placed her
on the ground with a pillow to support her head. At
the time of the elevation of the Lord, she threw aside
the pillow; and when they brought the Lord for her
to communicate she received it with the same faith
and reverence as the other communicants. From that
moment she began to regain Strength. As she left
the church she said: * I thank God for the grace He
has beftowed on me, and the Fathers for their trouble.”
And she returned to her house and was cured.
Sickness also overtook the infant son of a certain
Chriftian, who, finding his remedies unavailing,
brought the child, whom he dearly loved, to the
church. One of the Fathers, who had in his posses-
sion a relic of the blessed widow Margarilla de Chaves,
placed this in a little water which he gave to the child
to drink, at the same time commending him to the
Saint. In a few moments the little sufferer showed
signs of recovery, his fever abated, and the happy

father, giving thanks to God, took him back to his
home.

Amongét those who were baptised during this year
was the son of a certain Moor of high position. This
#1
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young man also fell ill, and when it became evident
that he was dying, a Christian, who was a friend of
his father, came to see him, under the pretext of giving
him some remedy, which, indeed, he did, but it was
the remedy which bestows eternal life, for, having
taken with him a little holy water, he étraightway, and
without the father being aware of what he did, baptised
the young man, who, two or three days later, died and
went to heaven, where he joined his two brothers, who
some years previously had been baptised under similar
circumétances by the same Chriftian. About this
time, some other children, who had been sold by their
parents for trifling sums, were also baptised, One of
these coft but a quarter of a Jarin,® which is equivalent
to a reflas,

The Fathers often went on Fridays to the mosques
of the Moors, where they discoursed to the Moorish
dottors on the teaching and life of Christ our Lord.
The Moors heard them attentively until they began to
confute the law of Mafamede, when they lodt all
patience, refusing either to listen, or to be drawn into
a disputation.



CHAPTER V
Tue Faruecps Accompany THE Kixo ro Acral

Tue Mission to Mogor was £till in the hands of the
four Fathers of our Company who had gone there
some years previously,® and who continued to labour
and to bear their life of exile with patience and hope:
with patience, because the fruit of their labours was
as yet small in comparison with their desires, so
dense is this Moorish forest that it seems impossible
to penetrate, or even to enter it: and with hope,
because of the good-will of the King; for they felt
that, with the benevolent proteftion of so powerful a
monarch, they need not despair of a rich harvedt in
the future,

The King remained for some months in Cabul.
The Fathers did not accompany him on this expedition,
but remained all four of them at Lahor, where during
his absence they enjoyed much spiritual peace, per-
forming the services of the Church and ministering
to the Chrigtians with as much security as if they had
been in some catholic city of Europe. On the King’s
return,® they went forth two leagues from the city to
welcome him. His Majeéty received them with
marked kindness, stopping his horse for some moments,
as did also his sons and all the others. He greeted
them after his usual manner by placing his hands on
their shoulders, and enquired very kindly after their
welfire. The Fathers presented him with a book
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which thqr had composed, containing the lives of the
Apostles in Persian, with numerous pictures of their
labours [regiffros de sews passos],* a gift which he
greatly appreciated.

After his arrival at Lahor, the King decided to send
an ambassador to the Viceroy of India, and seletted
as his representative an officer of very high authority.
He also summoned the Fathers, and having told
them of his decision, said that he would be very glad
if one of their number, to be seleéted by themselves,
could accompany his ambassador. The Fathers could
not refuse to comply with this request. Moreover,
it was to the advantage of the Mission that one of its
members should proceed to Goas® so they made
arrangements accordingly, their choice falling on
Father Manoel Pinheiro.® They set forth without
delay, and were already in India, but had not arrived
at Goa.

The embassy had for its objeét nothing more than
the maintenance of friendly relations with the State,
while the ambassador was inftruéted to bring back
with him any rare and curious objeéts he could procure
in India from the Portuguese.” The King entrusted
Father Pinheiro with numerous presents to be given
in his name to the Fathers in India; and he also pro-
vided the Fathers at Lahor with gifts to send to their
friends at Goa.

It was juét before Chridtmas that the embassy left
Lahor.* The Fathers who remained behind cele-
brated the festival with all the devotion possible.
They decorated their church so splendidly that even
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the Moors could not help saying how different it was
from their own mosques. On the altar there was a
small manger so beautifully made that it attracted large
numbers of people to the church. ‘The King did not
come to sece it himself, but he sent some choice candles
of white wax to be burnt before it, and some of his
own beautiful pictures to add to its adornment. This
was highly appreciated by the Christians, though it
gave offence to many of the Moors. All the Christians
made confession at this festival, and attended the
midnight mass [missa do Gallo],” which was celebrated
with singing and the playing of futes and shawms
[¢haramelas].® Before the service commenced, amidst
the din of tambourines and drums [com grande eftrondo
de atambores & atabales]," there was a display of
fireworks in the ‘ compound ' of the church, which
was seen from a long distance. These things could
not have been done more openly in a Christian country;
and that they took place in an infidel city in the heart
of this Moorish land, muét be accounted a thing
greatly to the glory of our Lord, and the exaltation
of our holy faith.

Amongét the many respetable Moors who came
to see the fireworks was one who refused to go away
until he had attended the service of matins, which
on this occasion was choral, one verse being sung, and
the next accompanied by the music of flutes. After
he had been present throughout the service, and the
sermon which followed it, he was politely asked to
withdraw, as mass was about to be celebrated. He
very courteously complied, but 2 moment or two later
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returned, and, without the Fathers knowing it, was
present throughout the celebration. He was so much
impressed by what he saw that he went to the Fathers
and said that he was at heart a Chrigtian, and that they
must therefore permit him to attend their prayers and
divine services. Since then, though he has not yet
been baptised, he has displayed great affetion and
respelt for the Chrigtians.

After Chriftmas, the King announced his intention
of going to Agra, which is the second royal seat of
his empire, and he informed the Fathers that it was
his desire that one of them should remain in Lahor,
and that the other two should accompany him on
his journey, and he gave orders that they were to be
supplied with a horse and four camels to carry their
effefts. The King set out first,’® accompanied, ac-
cording to cuftom, by his army. On his way he
devoted himself to hawking, and hunting with cheetas
and other animals, as well as shooting with bow and
arrow. His progress was consequently very slow, so
that the Fathers, who set out some time later, overtook
him in a few days. On one occasion, to make a
feast for them, he sent to their tent on an elephant
two large boars which he had killed himself. As it
was Shrove-tide, this gift was very welcome to them
and those with them. Eight or ten days later, he
called them to his tent where they found him sur-
rounded by his Captains. He showed them fifteen
boars and a number of deer which he had slain that
day, and told them that they might take as much
meat as they pleased. They thanked him for his
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kindness, and told him that what he had sent them
before had come at a very opportune time; but pow
they could not make themselves a feast as they had
entered upon the season of Lenat, during which
Christians do not eat flesh. He then asked many
quedtions about Lent, and the manner of fasting
amongst Chritians, showing great intereét in all thar
they told him about these things. During the re-
mainder of their journey the Fathers observed the
season of penitence in a very real manner; for as they
could not eat flesh, their fare consisted solely of lentils
and rice, which they were obliged to take at night
after reaching their encampment, for the whole day
was spent in travelling, so that they had no opportunity
to prepare their scanty meal. But more than all, they
suffered from lack of water; for the King's army
fouled every pool, tank, or §tream to which they came,
so that throughout their journey they only drank
when necessity or sheer thirt compelled them. It
was only by God's mercy that they obtained even such
water as this. Nevertheless, in spite of these diffi-
culties, they reached Agra safely, a month and a half
after their departure from Lahor.

After the King had captured the Prince, his son,
as we have narrated in a previous chapter, he tock him
on all his journeys as a prisoner, with chains on his
feet, and carried in a cage on the back of an elephant.
It was thus that he now took him from Lahor to Agra;
and on reaching the spot where the battle between
them had taken place, to punish his son for his dis-
obedience, he caused him to be blinded by the appli-
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cation to his eyes of the juice of certain herbs, which
had the appearance of milk.'* He did the same to
a great Captain who had formerly been his close
favourite, but who had joined in a conspiracy against
his life. This Captain, whom he took about with him
heavily manacled, and riding on a meanly harnessed
mule or ass, he caused to be blinded on the same
spot, and in the same manner as the Prince.

On arriving at Agra, the Fathers installed them-
selves in the house and church which they had there,
which was the same church that the King, when Prince,
had ordered them to build,’* and occupied themselves
in minitering to the small Christian community
which had grown up in that place. But of more
importance were the discussions which here took
p!ac: before the King, and of these an account will be
given in the following chapters.
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CHAPTER VI

Tue Farmers Disrure witu e Moors srrore
THE Kixe

Tux Fathers had long been anxious for an opportunity
of disputing with the Moors before the King, that they
might demondtrate the truth of our faith, and the
falseness of the law of Mafamede, This opportunity
they found soon after the King had settled down at
Agra, and it extended over more than a month, during
which many notable disputes took place. In these the
Moors were completely defeated by the Fathers;
and though they were not converted, for their obdtinacy
and perversity would not allow them to admit the truth
of our faith, nevertheless the same was made manifest,
to the great glory of Christ our Lord.

The occasion arose out of the pleasure which the
King took in looking at the coloured pictures of sacred
subjefts which the Fathers, knowing his interest in
these things, had presented to him. It happened one
evening that he called for a number of these, and
finding he did not underftand them, sent for the
Fathers that they might explain them to him. It
happened that the firét piGture which he showed them
was one of David on his knees before the prophet
Nathan, who had juét uttered the words, Dominus
tranfiulit peccatum tuum a te. ‘The Father had scarcely
begun his explanation of the piéture when a Moorish
Captain who was present interrupted him, and began to
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relate the version of the étory which is found in the
Alkoran. Seeing that this contained many untruths,
the Father begged the King to allow him to repeat
the &tory as it is written in the holy Scriptures, which,
on receiving His Majesty’s permission, he proceeded
to do. The Moors listened to him until he began to
speak of David’s adultery with Bathsheba, when they
cried out, * It is a lie! Itisa liel The prophets
never sinned, and could not sin” * What I" said
the Father. “Do you not admit that David wept i
M Yes I" they replied. *But it was not because he
had been guilty of adultery, but of homicide.” “Then,”
said the Father, *if you admit that he was guilty of
homicide, it is manifest that he sinned, which is
contrary to what you have just said, that the prophets
did not, and could not sin. You cannot deny that he
who commits one kind of sin may commit another.
Moreover, David, you say, had the desire to sin,
which means that in the cyes of God he did sin; for
the desires of the heart are as manifeét to Him as the
works of the hand are to us. Again, if the angels,
whose natures are perfect, and who are endowed with
so many natural and supernatural gifts, are not without
sin, how much less were the prophets without sin,
who were but men. And more than all, how can
you deny of David what he so many times confessed
of himself in his psalms, never ceasing to lament the
sins he had committed against God #* The Moors
were put to compléte confusion by the Father's words,
and were unable to make any reply.

Amongét those in attendance on the King was &
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very grave and learned man whose duty was to read
to His Majedty before he retired to reft at night, or
when he took his ease during the day-time; an office
very similar to that of the person referred to in the
Book of Edther, whose business it was to read aloud
to King Ahasuerus the chronicles of his kingdom.
The old King, the father of him who is now reigning,
had held this man (who had served him in the same
capacity) in great efteem, partly on account of his
learning, and partly because he was of the lineage of
the Prophet. He was also well versed in all branches
of hiftory." When the Father had concluded his
arguments, the Reader, who was present on the
occasion, said, * Sire, the versions of the Gospels, the
Psalms, and the Books of Moses which the Christians
possess are all corrupt.™ * That is not so, Sire,” said
the Father, “for the Chriftians would give up their
lives a hundred thousand times rather than allow a
single word of their holy Scriptures to be altered.”
Another Moor then said, * 1 can well believe, Father,
that such a thing has never been done by you, or your
predecessors, or by the people; but your Kings do it.”
Again the Father said, “That is not true! Our
Kings" he added, “do not interfere either with our
law or our Scriptures, which they respeét and obey like
all others.”

The King spoke next, asking the Fathers to en-
lighten him on various points. Though it cannot
be said that he spoke with kingly gravity, his questions
deserve to be recorded, seeing that they were asked
by so great a monarch, and were evidently meant to
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put our faith in a favourable light. Morcover, they
serve to show his genuine interest in religious matters,
and also the good which resulted from these disputes.

« What do the Christians say of Mafamede " was
his firét question.

“They say," was the reply, “ that he was a man who
took upon himself the réle of a prophet.”

“ Then he was not a prophet "

% That is true, Sire."

% In other words, he was a false prophet £”

“Yes, Sire.”

At this the King laughed.

% Tell me," he said once again, " was Mafamede

a false prophet "
“Yes, Sire,” said the Father, “he was a false

prophet.”

Now all this the King did to bring ridicule on
Mafamede, and on his Moorish courtiers, who, during
this conversation, §tood grinding their teeth with
rage againét the Fathers, At laét the King's Reader,
unable any longer to restrain himself, came forward
and said, * The Fathers speak falsely. For Mafamede
is mentioned in their own Gospel, where it is stated
that he will come a second time into the world."

“ls that so?" asked the King, turning to the
Fathers.

“No, Sire,” was the reply. * The Gospel tells us
that no true prophet will come into the world with &
new law until the day of judgment.”

The King expressed great astonishment at thesc
words, and made the Father repeat them several times,
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after which he again asked him if he regarded
Mafamede as a prophet.

“ No, Sire, I do not," replied the Father, repeating
these words also over and over again.

Upen this, the King's Reader altered his demeanour,

He said that it was wrong to liften to such things, and
that he who did so was an unbeliever; and so saying,
he withdrew in anger, and was not seen again that
night.
The following evening the King reopened the dis-
cussion by again asking the Father in loud tones
what he thought of Mafamede, adding that his Reader
was very angry with him on account of what he had
heard him say, though there was much truth in his
words. The Father replicd as on the previous cven-
ing; whereon the King, who seemed to delight in
hearing evil spoken of their prophet, beckoned to his
Reader, who had kept himself at a diftance, saying,
# Come here, Nagibuscao” (for such was his name).
“ Do you hear what the Fathers say, that Mafamede
is a false prophet 7"

% Such men," said the Moor, *ought to be put to
death rather than listened to.” And with that he
§topped his cars and hastened away.

This greatly diverted the King, who laughed and
slapped his thighs with merriment, at the same time
calling to his Reader to come back.

“ Sire," said the Father, “ this quedtion is one to be
settled by discussion and sound reasoning, not by
the threats and calumnies of Nagibuscao™

“The Father speaks truly," said the King. “So
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now, Nagibuscao, prove to us that Mafamede was a
prophet.”

Thus called upon, the Reader proceeded to narrate
a number of $tories and other nonsense from the
Alkoran; and after he had spoken for some time, the
King §topped him, and told the Father to answer him.
‘The latter replied thar all these stories were false; and
he was proceeding to suppart his words by argument,
when a Moorish Captain interposed and said, * We
cannot prove anything by these Stories, because the
Chriétians do not hold our $tories to be true.” Then,
in support of his own faith, he narrated a miracle which
they ascribe to Mafamede, which is; that the moon
once fell to the earth and was broken to picces, and
that Mafamede put it together again, and passed it
through his sleeve® The Moor seemed to think
that this was the lat word, and that no further vindi-
cation of his prophet could possibly be required.
The King asked the Father what he had to say to it.
The Father answered that it was a prodigious lie.
“ For Your Majesty knows well,” he said, “that the
moon is so great that, if it had fallen from the sky, it
would have overwhelmed not only the kingdoms of
Indotan and India in the Eat, but many parts and
kingdoms of Europe, where there would undoubtedly
be some record of the occurrence, had it ever taken
place in the manner described; for it would have been
the greatest marvel in the hiftory of the world, and
even the enemies of Mafamede would have to describe
it as an amazing miracle. But as the Moors are the
only people in the world who have heard tell of
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it, it is manifedt that it is a §tory of their invention.
The moon, you say, was small when it reached the
carth. To this we reply that whatever it may have
been that gave rise to this étory, it was not the real
moon, which could not dislodge itself and fall from
the heavens, but that it was a delusion and a trick by
means of which Mafamede sought to imposc on the
world.”

This reasoning strongly appealed to the King, who
turned to those present and repeated what the Father
had said. Many opinions were then expressed, now
on this side, now on that. The King liftened to all
who spoke, and the Father answered their arguments,
His Majesty always appearing satisfied with his words.
At laét, one of the Captains said, * Our difficulty is
that the Fathers are not to believe in our books, but
we are to believe in theirs. How is it possible for
us to dispute with them " Another was about to
speak when a third Captain stopped him, saying, “ Do
not join issue with these, who are very clever and
possess much knowledge.” There was also a Gentile
Captain present, to whom the King now turned,
asking him if he regarded Mafamede as a prophet.
“ Sire," was the reply, * how can I know anything of

Mafamede 2"

“ Do you regard him as a false prophet i asked
the King.

The Gentile, perceiving that it pleased His Majesty
to ridicule Mafamede, replied, * Yes, Sire | Heis a
false prophet,” at which the King laughed exceedingly.

Whilét these things were taking place; & young
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noble was carrying on a conversation with one of the
Fathers who ftood near him, asking him various
quedtions about Chriét, and also speaking against the
King for mocking at Mafamede. His Majesty
looked at him, and, bidding him approach, asked
him what he was saying to the Father. Trembling
with fear, the young man replied that he was speaking
of the Lord Jesus. Distrusting his reply, the King
turned to the Father and asked him what the youth
had said. The Father made the best of it, and said
that he was speaking of Christ our Saviour.

“ Very well," said the King, “ let us hear you dispute
with the Father."

The poor young man, not knnwing what to do,
said, * Sire, I am only a youth, and he is a learned
man. How can [ dispute with him " He asked
the Father if Chrit was the Son of God, and then
Stopped, unable to proceed any further. However, a
short time afterwards he went to the Father and thanked
him for not telling the King he had spoken ill of him,
begging him never to let this be known, as it would
surely lead to his dedtruftion. After this he took
every opportunity of showing his gratitude. Indeed,
he was so frequently in conversation with the Father
that one of his relations, who was the chief of the
King's nobles, rebuked him, saying, * Why do you,
who scarcely know your A.B.C., converse and dispute
with those who are a very sea of learning 7" None
the less, the young man, though he spoke little to the
Fathers in public, continued to visit them in secret,
enquiring often about the myfteries of our law, which,
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being a youth of much intelligence, he learnt to under-

étand very well.
These disputes about Mafamede were soon talked

of throughout the city, and the Moors began to regard
the Fathers with intense hatred, following them with
evil looks wheresoever they went, Sridebant dentitus
i e0s, 5o that each time they returned by night from the
King's palace to their own house, they prepared them-
selves for what they so earncitly desired, namely,
death for confessing Chrit. But God did not permit
the sons of darkness to work their will; for it seemed
to be His purpose &ill to use the Fathers for the greater
manifeftation of the light of the world, and the glory
of His only Son. It is very remarkable, the good
Fathers write, how these Moors close their ears to
whatever is said againt Mafamede. They will listen
to all that is told them of our faith; but this is the one
thing they cannot endure; and if it were not for their
fear of the King, we should have died a thousand
times. To have a further opportunity of speaking
of these things, they went one Friday to large mosque.
"The Moors at first liétened, but when it was said of
Mafamede that he was not a prophet, they would not
hear another word, but arose and departed, saying
that it was wrong to lidten to such men.
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CHAPTER VII
A Disrure ox e Divisiry oF Cunist

Oxe evening, the King was looking through a port-
folio containing the pictures of which we have already
made mention, while the Fathers étood by him ex-
plaining their meaning. Presently he came upon one
representing Jesus Christ crucified, which the Fathers,
when he handed it to them, adored with great reve-
rence, removing their caps and placing it on their
heads. After they had explained the picture, a Moor
who was present asked them why, if they and the
Chriétians loved Chriét so much, they permitted him
to be represented thus dishonoured. One of the
Fathers replied, * By keeping Him before our eyes in
this form, we do Him the highest pnssihl: honour,
because He suffered thus not for His fault, but for
our sake, of His own free will giving up His life
to expiate our sins, and to teach us to give up our lives
for Him. Whenever we think of this, our hearts
are filled with gratitude to Him, and we are never
weary of gazing upon Him thus upon the cross.
For if," the Father continued, “ one of your Majesty's
vassals, in order to preserve your life, voluntarily
submitted to torture and ignominy, you would con-
sider that you were showing him the highest respect
by recounting the sufferings he endured for your
protection; and the contemplation of them would
&ir you to gratitude and to honour him and his children.
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How much more then ought we to be grateful to our
God and Lord who created us, that being God, He
became man and suffered persecution and shame to
save us who so little merit salvation. Are we not
bound to love Him with all our hearts, and to be ready
to lay down our lives for Him ? That such is our
duty there can be no queétion; and hence it is that the
moét beloved representation which we have of our
Lord in life 1s that which shows Him, as here, on the
cross; and so highly do we esteem it, that if we were
to see, side by side, our Lady the Virgin Mary and the
image of Chrift crucified, we should do reverence
to the latter before doing reverence to the Virgin”

“ Do you mean,” said a Moorish Captain, * before
doing reverence to an image of the Virgin, or before
doing reverence to the Virgin herself 2"

“ Before doing reverence to the Virgin hersclf”
replied the Father.

That is not reasonable,” said the Moor.

“Do not be adtonished,” said the Father, * for we
do not venerate these piftures because of the materials
of which they are made, which we know are nothing
more than paper or cloth and some colours, but
because of that which they represent, which is the
person of our Lord Jesus Chrift. In the same way
you do not place the firmans of His Majeéty the King
on your head because they are sheets of paper with
ink on them; but because they represent the com-
mands of His Majety and what it is his will that you
should do.”

The King heard the Father quietly and with approval,
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observing, when he had finished, that he had reasoned
very jutly. But the Moorish Captain said, * If Jesus
Chriét died on a cross with so much ignominy, how
can you say that he was God 7" This led to a dis-
cussion on the divinity of Christ, a subjeét which
always provokes the Moors to anger. As the King
was as yet unable to comprehend such matters, lacking
the light of the true faith, and being anxious, as it
seemed, to explain or qualify the Chriftian doctrine,
said by way of defending it, “ The Fathers, in calling
Chriét God, use, as it were, a figure of speech, meaning
thereby to show their great love for him, In just
the same way 1 may call any one of whom I am very
fond my brother, or my soul, though, in fact, the person
is nothing of the kind. In the same way the Christians
call Christ God because they love him, though he
is not so in reality.” This was his answer to all the
inftances and proofs which the Fathers brought
forward. He held forth with so much impetuosity
that the latter could not get a word in, though they
repeatedly begged to be allowed to speak. At length,
to pacify them, he said, * Leave it to me, Fathers |
I am on your side.™ And continuing he said, “As
to their calling Christ the Son of God, that is because
he had neither father nor country, and was miraculously
born of the Virgin Mary.” Here one of his courtiers
interrupted him by saying, “In the same way, Sirg;
we might call the worms that are engendered in the
flesh the sons of God, for they have no country.”
“That is unreasonable,” said His Majeéty, “ for these
are creatures which live only four days, and bave no
6o



THE DEBATE CONTINUED

qualities for which they can be called sons of God."
Then, evidently very proud of his oration, he asked
the Fathers if his explanation of their doctrine was not
corre@t. They told him that it was not, at which he
was a good deal annoyed, as he had been endeavouring
to speak in their defence. But the subject was a grave
one, and the Fathers could not dissimulate. He asked
them if they had underftood what he had said. They
replied that they had, and repeated the words he
had used.

“Then what do you say to it " he asked.

“We say,” replied one of the Fathers, “ that Jesus
Chriét was the actusl Son of God, and that He is in
very truth God."

“ Is that in the Gospels £

“Yes, Sire."

At this point, one of the Moors said, * If Jesus
Chrift had done miracles which no other ever did,
one might say that he was God. But all the miracles
which he performed were also performed by others;
s0 you have no reason to call him God.” The Fathers
disposed of this argument by inétancing many miracles
which were performed by our Lord and by no others.

The King asked if; in the Gospels, Chriét said of
himself that he was God.

“ Many times," was the reply; whereon the King
repeated his favourite argument, that the Fathers
said this because of their great love for him.

“ Sire, said a courtier, “what you say is very
reasonable; but these people will never confess as
much. They do nothing but say that Chriét is actually
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God. Ask the Father, and Your Majesty will sce
what he says.”

“There is no need to ask them,” said the King.
“ They cannot help speaking of Christ in this manner
because of their love for him. If they were threatened
with death they would till say the same, because they
have consecrated their lives to him.”

“ Sire, not only these who are consecrated to him,
but all the Chriftians say the same. How do you
explain this 7"

“ It is,” said the King, “ because they are all, from
their infancy, brought up to love the Lord Jesus
Chriét, and to believe that he is God. Nor is this
very strange. Here in our own mountains there are,
as you know, certain Darures (a class of devotees who
profess to serve God) who, after drinking two cups of
Bange,* which is a kind of beverage that gives pleasure
while it deftroys the senses), begin to perform such
feats and antics that all the people run after them and
acclaim them saints, [f we were to see anyone raise
the dead as easily as did Jesus Christ, there is no doubt
that we should call him a god. And if I who have
not seen the miracles which Chriét did, love him
much only because I have heard of them, and commend
all my affairs to him,® why is it surprising that those
who with their own eyes saw him raise the dead,
called him God 7"

All his nobles applauded these words, saying that
the King had spoken truly, and that they were heathens
[sem ley] who did not believe in Jesus Christ [gue nio
criam a Jesu Chriflo]!
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CHAPTER VIII
Tue Kinc's Reverence ror Jesus Curist

Turovcnout the discussions of which we have spoken,
the King always showed his deep regard for Christ
our Lord. He also spoke very étrongly in favour of
the use of piftures, which, amongét the Moors, are
regarded with abhorrence; and on coming from
Lahor, and finding his palaces at Agra very beautifully
decorated and adorned both inside and outside with
many pi€tures which had already been completed, and
others that were being painted, in a balcony [varanda]
where he sits daily to be seen by the people—s!
nearly all these pictures were of a sacred charatter,
for in the middle of the ceiling there was & paint-
ing of Chrit our Lord, very perfeétly finished,
with an aureols, and surrounded by angels; and on
the walls were some small pictures of the Saints,
including John the Baptiét, St. Antony, St. Bernadine
of Sena, and some female Saints. In another part
were some Portuguese figures of large size, also very
beautifully painted. On the outside of the wall,
where is the window at which the King sits when he
shows himself to the people, there had been painted
life-size portraits of some of his fayourites; but these
he ordered ro be obliterated, and in place of them he
had painted a number of Portuguese figures, very well
arranged, and of huge ftature, so that they could be
seen from all parts of the maidan [por fode ¢ terreirs).
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There were three figures on each side of the window,
Above those on the right was a representation of
Christ our Lord with the globe of the world in His
hand, and on the left of our Lady the Virgin,
copied from a painting by St. Luke; and to the right
and left of these were various Saints in a posture of
prayer. The window where the King sits, being in
the form of an oriel [¢charola], every part of which is
coloured, he had painted on the flanks of the same
wall life-size portraits of his two sons very splendidly
attired. Above one of them is a representation, on
a smaller scale, of our Lord and a Father of the Com-
pany with a book in his hand, and above the other,
of our Lady the Virgin. On the vault of the charola
are pictures of St. Paul, St. Gregory, and St. Ambrose.®

It is a great consolation to the Fathers, when they
come here to wait upon the King, to tell their beads
before the picture of our Lady, and to commend
themselyes to Chrit our Lord; and they give contant
thanks to God that these sacred piftures, which fill
the Moors with astonishment every time they look
upon them, are thus publicly displayed in this infidel
King’s chamber, which resembles the balcony [varanda]
of a devout Catholic King rather than of 2 Moor.,

In the interior of the palace the walls and the
ceilings of the various halls are adorned with pictures
Hlustrating the life of Chridt, scenes from the Aéts
of the Apoétles, copied from the Lives of the Apostles
which the Fathers had given him, and the &orics of
SS. Ana and Susana and many ocher Saints. All
this the King did of his own accord, without a sug-
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gestion from anyone. He himself scledted, from his
own colle€tion of pitures, the figures to be painted;
and he ordered his artifs to consult the Fathers as
to the colours to be used for the costumes, and to
follow their inStructions in every detail.

The King's way of decorating his palace was very
offensive to the Moors, who regard pictures of all
kinds with such disfavour that they will not tolerate
portraits of their own saints, much less those of the
Christian faith, which they hate so bitrerly. As they
deny altogether the passion of our Lord, they greatly
resented a large picture, & copy of a painting of Chriét
@ coluna, which the King had made at this time. It
was his intention that this should serve as a pattern
for a curtain [pawe] which he had ordered to be made
of pure silk, and on which were to be woven, z= on
arras, the same figure of Chrift « coluna, with the
inscription, worked in a like manner, in Persian
charaters.® On a wall of one of the halls he had -
painted figures of the Pope, the Emperor, King Philip,
and the Duke of Savoy, whose portraits he possessed,
all on their knees adoring the holy cross, which was
in their midst, as in a piure which he had.

The Father Iodo Aluares, Assitant of Portugal, sent
His Majesty from Rome a picture of our Lady and the
Adoration of the Magi. It would be difficult to say
how greatly he prized this pifture. As it reached
him direct, without passing through the hands of the
Fathers, he sent for them as soon as he received it,
and having shown it to them in the presence of his
courtiers, asked them to explain its meaning. When
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they had done so, he repeated what they had said to
those present, telling the story of the birth of our
Lord and the Adoration of the Magi just as though he
were a preacher in a pulpit, holding up the piture
the while that all might see it. Afterwards he sent it
to the Fathers to be suitably adorned and mounted on
a board [sodre hua tawea),* that it might not become
damaged by being constantly unrolled. The Fathers
decorated the border which surrounded the piéture
with ornamental designs in black and white, copied
from some of our books and paintings. The King
was delighted with their work, and had his own
portrait inscrted in the design, himself choosing the
place for it.

By means of these pictures, and what the Fathers
have told him about them, the King is well versed in
most of the mysteries of Chriét our Lord and our Lady
the Virgin, and openly prides himself on his know-
ledge. One evening when the Fathers were with him,
he took up a picture of the Circumcision of our Lord,
and making a sign to them not to speak, asked some
of his nobles if they knew what it meant; and when
they said that they did not, he explained it to them,
and then asked the Father if what he had said was
corre€t.  On being told that it was, he was greatly
pleased, and said: “1 underftand these things very
well™ In brief, so high is his eSteem for Chriét and
our Lady, that all the orders and letters which he sends,
whether to Moors, Gentiles, or Chrigtians, though
bearing on the inside the royal signet, are sealed on
the outside with their effigies. For he has an inétru-
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ment like a small forceps made of gold, on the points
of which are set two emeralds, square in shape and as
large as the nail of the thumb, on which are engraved
the figures of our Lord and the Virgin, and these are
impressed on the wax with which the letters are
fastened.®

By these and other signs one cannot but recognise
the sincere devotion of this King to Chriét and our
Lady, for whom he himself confesses his great love.
And though the fruit the Fathers so earnedtly desire
to gather has not yet matured, he daily gives them
new grounds for hoping that the good Jesus and his
most holy Mother will look with compassion upon
him, and beétow on him that which he lacks. Mare-
over, he is a man who, having once formed = resolution,
does not shrink from carrying it out before the whole
world; so that his determination to join our Fiith
would be a splendid consummation, for it would doubt-
less lead to the establishment of a great Chridtian
stronghold in these parts.

But while he has so high a regard for Chrigt and
" the holy Virgin, and for all that appertains to the
Christian faith, he is held back by the severe discipline
which our law imposes, and more than aught else
because it forbids a man to take more than ene wife,
which is a stumbling-block not only to the Moars,
but to all the Gentiles of the Eaft; indeed it is, as
they themselves say, on account of this prohibition
. that they find our faith 3o hard to accept. The King,
who often discussed the subjeft with the Fathers,
. mentioned it on one of those evenings when they were
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disputing with the Moors. [In reply to his remarks,
one of the Fathers said that to overcome the difficulty
of which he spoke, all that a man had to do was to
embrace the law of Chriét; for God would thereupon
endow him with such grace that what before seemed
difficult to him would be made easy.

“Sire,” interposed one of the Moors, * the Father
speaks thus now; but a short while ago he proved the
contrary with the example of David, who though a
great prophet, and possessing so many wives, never-
theless sinned.”

“The sin of David," said the Father, ® is an example
of human frailty, Moreover, in David's day, the law
of Christ had not been established, and men had not
experienced the great §trength of the divine grace.
But since Chriét came into the world, and pave us
His holy law, the efficacy.of that grace has been proved
by the number of Chritian kings, and the millions
of other Christians scattered over the whole world, who
have lived, or are &ill living, content with ohe wife"

“What you say is very well,” said the King; “ but
allowing that this thing is difficult, and that if it were
not so we should all be ready to embrace your law, I
ask you—IFf a King like me, who has many wives,
should desire to become a Chrigtian, what would you
have him do "

“ His Majesty means, Father,” interposed a Moorish
Captain, “any king whatsoever."

“ I do not mean,” His Majesty said, “ such a king +
as | am; but one who like myself is a king. 'What
would you say to him %
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*The first thing I should say, Sire," replied the
Father, * would be that out of his many wives he must
select one, and leave the redt.”

* That would not be an easy matter,” said the King.
* But supposing he is left with only one wife, what, |
ask you, is he to do if she is blind "

“Let him not marry the one who is blind; but
choose another.”

“ But suppose she becomes blind after marriage!"

“ That presents no difficulty; for blindness does not
prevent the aét of marriage.”

“That is true enough,” said the King, *but the
heart would not be drawn to her.”

“ And suppose,” said one of the Moors, “ that after
marriage she becomes a leper!"

* Then," replied the Father, it would be necessary
to have patience.”

“ Oh, that would be impossible!™ said the King.

“ It would be possible, Sire, with the aid of God's
grace, which makes all things easy.”

“1 do not doubt,” the King said, * that to you, who
have been accustomed from childhood to abdtain from
women, it would be easy; but those who are not like
you—what are they to do?”

“ Sire, even with cuftom such things are not without
difficulty; and amongét Christians, too, sins are com-
mitted. But for this, the law of Christ our Lord
provides the remedy of penitence."

“And what penitence,” asked the King, “is re-
quired of those who sin against the law of chastity ™

This gave the Father the opportunity of discoursing
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on the doétrines of penitence and grace, and the means
which Chriftians use to overcome the temptations of
the flesh. The Moors, being a carnal-minded race,
disputed with him at great length, but the Father
answered them in such a manner that though they
did not admit defear, they were convinced and put to
shame by his words.

Amongét the Christians who are here, many things
have been done in the service, and to the great glory,
of our Lord. This is what befell a young Cafre
Christian who was in the King's service, and who, by
His Majesty’s orders, lived in the house of an Abexim
[Abyssinian] Moor, who was one of the royal favourites.
One day the Moor sent for him and tried to make
him abandon his faith, and pay homage to Mafamede,
But the young man said he was a Chriétian, and that
he would never do such a thing. The Moor first
tempted him with soft words and fair promises, and
then, finding these unavailing, sought to overcome
him by blows, which were adminiftered with such
fierceness that the Cafre's cabaia was rent in pieces.
He then attempted to seize the string of beads which
he saw about his victim’s neck; but the latter gripped
them so tightly with his hands that he was unable to
succeed. He next ordered fire to be brought, saying
that he would burn the beads on his neck. * Do not
make too sure,” said the Cafre; * you shall burn me
before you burn these,” and when the Moor threatened
to throw him on the fire, which had already been
kindled, he answered: “ You may do with me what
you will; but I will never become a Moor.” All who
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were §tanding by marvelled at his conftancy, while his
sufferings excited so much compassion that a water-
carrier, indignant at what he saw, threw the water he
was carrying on the fire and extinguished it. As the
young man &ill showed no signs of yielding, the
Moor put iron chains on him, and shut him up in
his house like a prisoner.

When this came to the ears of the Fathers, one of
them went étraightway to the house. On entering the
courtyard he encountered a Gentile who had witnessed
all that had taken place, and who, on seeing the Father,
exclaimed: “ How bravely your Cafre bore himself,
and what blows he endured in defence of his law |
I swear that if they had done as much, or even less,
to any Moor or Gentile, they could have made him
submit to anything. What courage, what constancy
he showed !” The Father then spoke to the Moor,
with the result that the latter handed over to him his
prisoner, who was in so weak and exhauSted a state
that he had great difficulty in walking to the Father's
house. His tattered cebaia, and the marks of the
dtripes on his flesh, gave him comeliness in the sight
of God, and in the eyes of the Fathers, who envied
him not & little his triumph: One of them went at
once to the palace to give an account of the affair to
the King. At the entrance, he encountered the Moor,
who, guessing the purpose that had brought him
thither, begged his forgiveness, making a thousand
excuses and apologies for his behaviour, and vowing
that he would never do such s thing agsin. He
pleaded so hard, while other nobles came up and
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pleaded for him, knowing that it would go hard with
him if the affair came to the knowledge of the King,
that the Father could not help yielding to their en-
treaties. He refrained from speaking to the King,
and ecarned thereby the lagting gratitude of the Moor.

An Armenian belonging to a certain village had
caused the death of a little Gentile girl. The father
of the girl took him before the officers of justice and
l:hnrgcd him with murder, and as soon as he had been
put in prison, went his way. While he was in prison;
a Moorish Captain came to see him, and sent others
many times to him, promising him, in the King's
name, his life and many rewards and favours, if he
would abandon the Christian faith and accept the law
of Mafamede. But this good Chriftian paid no heed
to their allurements and remained true to his faith.
At length he, and four others who were prisoners with
him, were sentenced by the King himself to have their
right hands cut off. The Merinho Mor sent for him,
and he too promised to obtain his pardon if he would
become a Moor. But then was fulfilled the promise
of the Saviour of the world to those who, for His sake,
are arraigned before the tribunes of princes and kings,
“ Dabo wobis o5, & sapientia, F¢"; for by no means
could the Merinho Mor persuade him. When the
hand of this brave soldier of Chrigt was placed on the
block, and the executioner was ready to sever it at a
blow, the Caciz even then offered to save him if he
would accept his law. But the Armenian answered
him angrily, and turning to the executioner, said:
“ Do your office. My choice is made: though I lose
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my life, I will not give up the faith which I profess”
Seeing that he was wadting his time, the Caciz ordered
the sentence to be carried out; and the Armenian's
right hand, and the right hands of the four others, were
cut off, after which they were taken back to prison,

As the Fathers were not allowed to enter the prison
themselves, they sent one of their servants to minister
to the brave Armenian. Such was the inhumanity of
the Moors, that they showed no kind of pity for these
mutilated viétims of the law. No surgeon was called
to Stanch the blood which was flowing from their
veins, and two of them bled to death. The Armenian
was carefully tended by the servant of the Fathers,
who made him plunge his arm in boiling oil, which
Stopped the flow of blood, after which he dressed it
as well as he could. A day or two later, Father
Xauier with great difficulty obtained his release from
prison, and took him to his house where he was well
looked after. The Father paid a surgeon to attend
him, and provided suftenance for his wife and children
as well as a house for them to live in; for when the
Armenian was sent to prison, his property was con-
fiscated by the State. But at this time he received
news that his brother had died at Chaul in the house
of the Santa Misericordia," and had left him five
thousand Jarins® (a Jarin is worth four feffons of Por-
tugal), with which sum he was able to repair his
fortunes, Thus, by the death of his brother, our
Lord recompensed him for rejeéting pardon, freedom,
and worldly honours, for His sake.

Another case was that of a Frenchman, a man of
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many parts, who held an important poét in the gun-
foundry. Some years previously he had been cap-
tured by the Turcs in the Mediterranean Sea, not far
from Marseilles, and had been taken to Argel [Algiers],
where he was forced to become a Moor. Subse-
quently, while serving in the galleys of Argel, he was
made = prisoner by the Chriétians and was confined
in the convent of St. Francisco of Valenca, in Aragao.
From here he contrived to escape; and after traversing
Spain, Italy, Egypt, Ethiopia, and parts of India,
found his way with his wife and children to Lahor
and Agra, and the King took him into his service and
made him a Captain of two hundred horse. He was
very fond of telling the Moors about the Christians,
and especially about the miracles of our Lady of
Monseratte.* He spoke with such affeétion of the
Christian faith that the Moors, amongét whom he
had acquired considerable influence, were greatly im-
pressed by his words. At Agra he fell sick; and as
he had already become acquainted with Father Xauier,
he sent for him and told him that he waé a Christian,
and that he had never found any satisfation in the
law of Mafamede. The Father exhorted him to make
a general confession, telling him how this should be
done, at the same time giving him a book in which
he might $tudy the Chridtian doftrines. He spent
several days miniétering to the spiritual needs of his
patient, who was thus brought back to the holy
Mother Church. He received the sacraments with
devotion and tears of penitence, and passed from this
life with every hope of salvation.
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Our Lord was greatly glorified in this heathen
capital, where all the peaple are His enemies and the
King is an infidel, when on Maundy Thursday He was
raised upon the cross and carried in procession through
the étreets of the city, before the very eyes of His
enemies. The procession §tarted from the church and
was preceded by an officer of justice who had charge
of those parts of the city through which it passed.
He had others with him who cleared theway, and kept
back all who attempted any interference. There was
also a certain Captain who assifted in the same way.
He came on an elephant, which he ftopped as the
procession approached, and watched the whole com-
pany file past him, marvelling to see the good order
which the Christians kept, and the multitude of lights
which they carried. One of the Fathers held aloft the
holy crucifix, and anothér wearing the cope of the
asperges,” chanted litanies to which the children of
the doutrina responded. Amongst those who followed
were twelve disciplinants, who scourged themselves
until the blood ran down their bodies, a speftacle
which greatly aftonished the Moors, who had never
seen the like before, After the procession was over,
they were heard to say amongst themselves: * Are these
the people we call heathens 7 We have nothing to
compare with this."

On one occasion, Father Xauier brought to the
King a rosary of walrus ivory [cevalle marinke]" with
a cross attached to it. This the King presented, as.
a mark of his favour, to one of his great Captains,
who, being a Moor, removed the cross. Presently,
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the King, seeing the beads without the cross, asked
the Captain what had become of it.  * I removed it,
Sire," he said, * because it is heavy, and because the
Christians say that it is a representation of that on
which Jesus Christ suffered, in whom we do not
believe.” This roused the King to such anger that he
then and there deprived the Captain of his office,
disgracing him in the eyes of all who were present.
He afterwards banished him to Mecha.
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Tuz Kinc Sexps ax Emsassy 1o Goa

Tue Great Mogul had determined to send an am-
bassador to Portugal,® who was to take with him a
present for His Majesty worth, it was said, two
hundred thousand erusades, and another for the Pope.
But certain reasons of state, combined with the advice
of his councillors, led him to abandon his intention.
He resolved, however, to send an embassy to the
Viceroy of India, choosing &g his representative
great Captain from Cambaya, named Mocarebecam
[Mugarrab Khan],* whose advice he took in all im-
portant matters. This powerful lord had an income
of fifty thousand pardacs, besides 5 hundred and fifty
thousand which he received from the King. His
Majesty asked Father leronimo Xauier, Superior of
the Mission, to allow Father Manoel Pinheiro, who
resided at Lahor, to accompany the Mission, to which
he readily assented; and the Father set forth with the
ambassador on the 13th September,* 1607.

They reached Cambaya in April, 1608; but as the
Count de Feira, who had been newly appointed
Viceroy, had not yet reached India,® the ambassador
decided not to proceed at once to Goa, but to wwait
in Cambaya the news of his arrival, that his embassy
might receive a more distinguished reception.

During these days there came into the hands of the
Futher a piéture of the Wise Kings,® which had been
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sent from Rome, and was on its way to the King. As
it was a work of unusual excellence, the Father dis-
played it publicly in the church, placing it on the altar,
which was beautifully decorated for the occasion. The
fame of the pifture soon spread through the city, and
Moors and Gentiles alike flocked to see it, so that it
was eftimated that in the thirteen days during which
it was on view no less than thirteen thousand persons
visited the church. Many seemed unable to take
their eyes off the pifture, and had to be sent away to
make room for others. To avoid a mixed crowd, it
was arranged that men should enter at one time and
women at another. The Nuabo, who is the Chief
Judge, was amongét those who came; and he, too,
gazed on the picture as though spell-bound by such
perfeftion. The ambassador begged that it might
be sent to him, that he might show it to the ladies of
his household, who greatly desired to see it. The
Father replied that he could not allow the picture to
go out of his keeping; but that his Lordship could
come and see it as often as he wished. So he came,
with all his family. On being shown the piture, he
saluted very reverently the Infant Jesus and his holy
Mother; and so deeply was he impressed with the
majeéty visible in their figures, that he said that it
would be better not to have lived at all than to have
lived without secing so marvellous a work.

It happened at this time that the son of the am-
bassador was attacked by a severe illness. As the
doftors were unable to give him any relief, recourse
was had to enchanters, who endeavoured to drive the
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disease away with their charms and superdtitious
remedies. When their efforts also proved unavailing,
the ambassador begged the Father to come and treat
his son, whose condition was growing daily worse.
The Father read the Gospel of St. Mark over the
patient; then, taking a cross containing some relics,
he placed it on his eyes and forchead, whereon it
pleased our Saviour to deliver him from his fever, and
in a short time he was completely reftored to health.
Not long afterwards, the ambassador himself fell sick,
and the Father was able, by God's help, to cure him
also. When the King heard of this, he sent the
Father his thanks, and the ambassador, too, was filled
with gratitude for all that had been done for him.

There were in Cambaya some Armenians who were
living sinfully with some Moorish women whom they
kept in their house. The Father pointed out to them
the depravity of their conduét, and remonstrated with
them to such good purpose that the women became
Chriétians, and were married to the Armenians accord-
ing to the law of the Church, These and many
other things the Father did there in the service of
God, until he was summoned to Goa, where he spent
a great part of the winter. He had, however, to return
to Cambaya to transaét certain business with the
Mogor ambassador, the nature of which we shall now
explain,

For the better underétanding of the Father's Mission,
some reference muft be made to the circumstances
which led to it.  These were briefly as follows.  After
the ambassador and Father Pinheiro had set out for
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India, an Englishman, the captain of two ships which
a year or two previously had arrived at Surrate, came
to Agra where the King was holding his court.” He
carried letters of recommendation from the Captains
of Surrate, and arrived at court in great state, very
richly clad, and styling himself the ambassador of his
King, from whom he brought a letter written in the
Spanish language.® He conversed with the King in
Turki, for he could both speak and understand this
language. Religion was one of the firét subjects they
discussed, the King enquiring specially about the most
holy Sacrament. In reply, the Englishman, like the
heretic he was, told him much that was contrary to
the truth and to the Catholic doétrine of this mystery,
which the Fathers had fully explained to him during
one of their disputes with him and the Moors. The
King next asked him why he had come to his kingdom.
The Englishman presented the letter he had brought,
and said that he had come as the ambassador of his
King to ask permission for English ships to trade at
his ports. The King at once granted this request,
being influenced to a large extent by the presents
which the ambassador brought him. These must
have been worth as much as twenty-five thousand
crusados, for a single precious stone that he brought
was valued at twenty thousand. As an additional
mark of his favour, the King made him a captain of
four hundred horse with the pay of thirty thousand
rupees,” which are equal to fifteen thousand ausados,
He thus became bound to the imperial service, so that
he could not return to his own country without per-
8o
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mission. To please the King he dressed himself
after the fashion of the Moors,' but he made it known
that though he had adopted their codtume, he had not
accepted their law.

After this, the heretic grew insolent in his behaviour.
He treated the Fathers with contempt, deeming him-
self to be higher than they were in the favour of the
King. He brought with him to Agra two servants,*
both heretics like himself. One of these was his
miniéter. The other died whilst at Agra, and us the
Fathers refused him burial amongét the Christinns,
the heretic was much offended. He was afterwards
§till more offended with them because they refused to
marry him to the daughter of an Armenian. When
he requefted them to perform the ceremony, they
excused themselves by saying that they could have no
dealings with him in divine matters, since he was
a heretic. Bur the other, for the sake of his own
honour, as well to please his father-in-law in this matter,
continued to urge his request that one of them should
be his priest. At ladt, in order to be rid of him, the
Fathers said that it should be as he wished, provided
that he would publicly acknowledge the Pope to be
the head of the universal Church. This condition the
heretic refused to accept, and in the end he was
married to the daughter of the Armenian by the
miniéter whom he had brought with him.™

One day, whilét the Englishman was still basking
in the royal favour, the King asked him by what
means the fortress of Diu could be captured from the
Portuguese. He answered that with fourteen English
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ships on the sea, and a land army of twenty thousand
men, the Portuguese would be forced to capitulate
through sheer hunger. Just at this time, some other
Englishmen arrived at Cambaya. They had left
London in March of the year 1607 with two ships,™
and a crazy pinnace which they fitted out in the bay
of Saldanha [Table Bay], where they wintered. Off
the Cape of Good Hope they encountered a severe
&torm which lagted twenty days, in the course of which
the admiral’s ship, a very large vessel, became separated
from the others and was not seen again. The re-
maining ship and the pinnace, after rounding the Cape,
sailed to the island of Socotra, and thence to Aden
where they anchored. The Turks made them land
their merchandise; and having taken the bedt part of
it at their own price, ordered them to re-embark the
remainder, making them pay a duty of fifteen per cent.
for landing it, and the same for being permitted to
take it away. From Aden they went to Moca; but
the Xarifi would not allow them to land, saying that
they were Corsairs; so they returned thence, and sailed
for Cambaya. In making for the port of Surrate in
Cambaya they étruck upon a sandbank which extends
from before Medafaual to Danu,'* where they were
wrecked. They managed to save their lives and some
money in two boats; but they left at the bottom of
the sea seventeen chests of rea/s and much merchandise.
The two boats, containing about seventy persons,
reached Surrate, and the Captain of the place, looking
to make some profit out of the étrangers, gave them

a friendly reception.
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News of this event, and of the reception which the
English had met with at Surrate, reached the Governor
of India, Andre Furtado de Mendoga, soon after
he had assumed charge of his post. Conneéting the
coming of these people with what he had heard zbout
the English ambassador, who, as we have said above,
had been very honourably received at the Mogul
court, and had obtained from the King permission to
set up a fattory at Surrate, he held that the treaty of
peace between the Portuguese and the King had been
broken; and though at the commencement of his
governorship, and before knowing these things, he had
written to the Mogul ambassador saying that he antici-
pated his visit with great pleasure, he now wrote to
cancel what he had written, telling the ambassador that
as the treaty of peace with his King had been broken, it
was not desirable that he should come to Goa. At
the same time he issued orders both at Goa and in
the fortresses of the North, prohibiting all persons
from entering Cambaya. This caused much discon-
tent, especially amongét the traders, both Moots and
Gentiles, and even amongét the Portuguese. There
was an immediate outhreak of hodtilities in the lands
of Damao, and seizures were made on both sides.
But there were soon signs that the breaking of the
peace and the ftoppage of trade were very unwelcome
to the Moors. On this account, and because there
were on our side many reasons for not entering vpon
a4 war before seeking every means of avoiding ir, the
Governor and his Council decided that, before the
rupture became more serious, 1 messenger should be
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sent to the Mogul ambassador to arrange with him
for the dispatch of a complimentary letter which it
was their desire to send to his King, pointing out to
him the reasons why he should preserve the peace and
friendly relations which he had etablished with the
King of Portugal, and cancel anything he had done to
disturb them.

To negotiate an affair of such importance the
Governor and his Council judged that there was no
one better fitted than Father Pinheiro, who was then
at Goa; so having obtained the Provincial's consent
to his employment, the Governor gave him letters to
the ambassador and authority to decide either for peace
or war, sanctioning whatever he should do. At the
same time he authorised him to notify in all the fort-
resses of the North that merchants were free to proceed
to Cambaya as before.

The Father had to endure many hardships on his
journey, for it was the winter season, which is very
unfavourable for travelling. After being twice forced
by storms to return to India, he managed to get as far
as Tarapor’ some twenty-three leagues from Goa,
where he entered the river to await more favourable
weather, In the meantime, sand closed up the entrance
to the river, so that it became impossible for him to
put to sea. As the business on which he had been
dispatched was very urgent, he continued his journey
by land through the country of the Moors, travelling
sometimes in a litter and sometimes on foot, and
encountering many difficulties owing to the rivers which
had to be crossed, and the mountains over which he
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had to pass, The Moors, knowing that he was of the
Company, showed him much courtesy and kindness;
but the Captain of Dands,'” in the country of Daquini,
detained him, saying that his embassy would be preju-
dicial to his King who was at war with the Mogor,
at whose court he, the Father, had so long resided; and
it was only his tact and his knowledge of the Persian
language which enabled him to extricate himself from
this predicament. As he passed through the fortresses
of the North he announced, on behalf of the Governor,
that merchants could go to Cambaya as before. The
Father was warmly welcomed not only in the domains
of the Portuguese, but in all parts of Cambaya, both
Moors and Gentiles expressing their gratitude to him
for coming to restore peace.  The ambassador received
him with every sign of pleasure, for they had long been
on friendly terms. The Father negotiated with him
in such a way that everything was arranged to their
mutual satisfaction, and to the advantage of the State
of India and the kingdom of Mogor.'* As a étate of
war had aflually exigted in Damao, and reprisals had
been made, orders were issued that everything that
had been seized by either side should be restored.
Both the ambassador and the Father wrote reports to
the King, urging the necessity of peace with the
Portuguese, and the removal of all obstacles to its
continuance,

The King agreed to everything, and revoked the
permission he had given to the English to establish
a factory at Surrate. This was to the great discom-
fiture of the unfortunate English ambassador, who
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was, as we have said, at the Mogul court, for he at once
fell from the favour of the King, who sent him to the
country of Bengala, far away from Cambaya, where he
had no opportunity of communicating with his country-
men.'*  The Mogul ambassador, as Governor of this
kingdom [Cambaya], sent immediate orders to the
Captain of Surrate that he should no longer give shelter
to the English in that city. The latter asked per-
mission to build, or hire, a ship to take them to their
own country; but they were told to apply to the Viceroy
of India, Finding themselves reduced to such étraits,
these poor people endeavoured to make their way to
the King of Mogor; but on the road they were attacked
by a band of horsemen, for there are many robbers in
this country, who plundered them and slew the greater
part of them, including their Captain® Those who
were left at Surrate went to Goa with Father Pinheiro,
from whom and from others of the Company in that city
they received the charitable treatment which these of
the Society are always ready to extend to their fellow=
men,*

The ambassador was awaited ar Goa by the Viceroy,
Ruy Lourengo de Tauora, who had also arrived, and
had written to say that he might now come to Goa with
all security. At the same time orders were given for
one of our ships to bring him, But as he was at this
time recalled by the King, he was unable to come.
His duties as the Mogul's ambassador were therefore
carried out by Father Pinheiro, who shared his office.
The Father arrived at Goa on St. Catherine’s day, and
on the following Sunday the Viceroy received the
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letter of the King, upon which guns were fired and
other public demonstrations took place to celebrate
the peace which had been confirmed with so many
testimonies of good-will. On behalf of the ambassador
the Father presented to the Viceroy the present which
he had brought; and the Viceroy thanked the Father
for having conduéted the negotiations so greatly to the
honour and advantage of the State.
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NOTES
NOTES TO CHAPTER I

Tiur Reserrion of Tee Pumce acamset nu Farnes, anp vae
CosurgUENCER THELEDY

' This chapter belongs to Part [V of the Relatizns (fols. 14Ba-151b).
Guerreiro’s anthority was Father Xavier's letter to the Provincial at
Goa, dated 25th September, 1606,

My references to the Mewodrs of Jubungir are throughout to the
tramslation by Mr. Alemander Rogers (Twzwh-i-Fadangiri, Royal
Asiatic Society, 1909),

2 CF. Meresirs, !,'11:\. 1: "By the boundiess favour of Allah when
ume sidereal hour of Thursday, Jumads-s-sani, a.i. 1014 (Odober 24th,
1603), had passed, I sscended the royal throne in the capital of Agra,
in the 38th year of my age.” Akbar died on O&ober r7th (old ﬂr.‘r.
The Pathers, who reckoned by the new fiple, which is ten in ad-
vance of the old, give Oftober 27th as the date of Akbar’s death. The
tﬂfaﬂﬂ? calendar came into use in Roman Catholic countries in the
yenr 1582,

* e, Pedidak selamat, the Persian equivalent of *Hail, Kingl'
of * God seve the King I

' The note on this word in my Scewer ond Cheraders from Indian
Hidory s wrong. | was misled by du Jarric, who incorre@ly renden
Guerreiro's words, ai ramecas & orupees dos mosrvs, by the phrase,
lenrs Rametas, &f soms [er priives doy Barscexr, The reference is evi-
dently to the fafl of remazan; and the pasage means that Jahangic
reinftituted the fait, and the prayen of the Muhammadans in the royal
pﬁ?hrhne their observance had been discontinued by the orders
o +

“The people of Spain and Portugal gave the name Mearss, or * Moors,”
to Muhmmndmnﬁ parts of the woeld, the name haying come inte
use when the Mubammadans of Mauritaniz overran the Peninsula in
the middle uges. Their emmple was followed by the Dutch and the
English, though in other countries of Europe the older name * Saracen *
was mare generally em . Tothe Porm the people of India
were either Moar or Gentiles (Gentios), the term being applicd
to 1[1 Hindus, irrespedtive of tice or cadle.

¥ je. Nur-ud-din (Lig%l;f’the Faith), Muhammad, Jahangir (Con-
queror of the Warld), maﬁﬂt words do not contitute & single
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hrase, as the text impli phangir explains his mume a8 follows :
'Fﬁnimpiuﬁm fram hld:llcumrl:l brought it inte my mind thae,
in a5 much as the business of kings is the controlling of the world,
1 should give myself the name Jahangir and make my tithe of bonour
Nuru-d-din, inasmuch as my sitting on the throne coincided with the
rising and shining on the earth of the great light (the sun). 1 had also

s in the days when 1 was 4 prince, from Indian sages, that afier
the ration of the reign of King Jalalu-d-din Akbar ene named
Nuru-d-din would be adminifirator of the affains of the fiate. There-
fore I gave myself the sppellstion of Nuru-d-din Jahangir Padshah "
O Nererthaom

* Ne : , suys Father Xavier in his letter of September, 1606,
the Gentilea continoed to show respeét to the Fathers, ing
the favourable trestment they bad received from the lare King, “de
mode que viniames do credito passado que com o Rey morto tivemes,
e com elle [Juhangir] antes que fora Rey.”

: Pyhuﬂmlmin&hl?dl 4ith.

" i.e. the Koteral, or Condtable.

* The Persian word jak signifie; * mighty.'

0 1t is interedling to turn to Xavier's account.  Many suggeftions,
he siys, were made 21 to who should be sent to captore the Prince.  But
the King, knowing the courageous spirit of his son, and having lirtle
confidence in his advisers, whom be suspeled of being privy to his
designs, decided to take the matter into his own hands; and before
dawn, and without giving his escort time to get resdy, hie dashed off,
pradtically unattended, In pursuit of the fugitive. All was confusion in
the palace, Tﬁugglnobhhlﬂﬂ;mﬂdtbmehumdpﬂnpd
after the Kimng, while all were dismayed at his ipitancy, sod re-
roachcd those who hed permitted him mmmmmﬂfm
evertholes, observes Father Xavier, if the King had not gone himaelf,
the Prince would siever have been taken, for be was & genenl favourite
with the who would gladly have espoused his cause, and many
were ready to follow him; while Jahangir, whose liberality had fallén
short of the ises made at his accession, was fr from popular, The
pmlg:f letter runs ax follows : * Duvio warios conselhos sobre o
que fari :mmhrhlpualk.mrﬁmqmmmnhhu
espiritos do y & 0 ponc que tinha dos seus que temeo
que erio sabedores da fugida se eo de ir elle mesmo spow elle, €
m:anmmhnmdu :hﬂﬂ“mmmhwmﬂﬂn
aApod que i 80'0 s gus & com oa que em poucal
hﬂhnﬁhwﬂnlwm,mmtmﬂmrrdhdﬂ
tal press quasi todos notauss el Rey de mancebo ¢ e
mipouomqwmd:ﬂcpﬂlhhnpdiuu]-ﬁ mias na
verdade soo o o certo que 5& 0 mesmo Rey mo fora apos weu
ﬂhnnumuwmumiu:;mgunﬂ:uudlkruulquﬂhpwnlu
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m;ﬁmﬂwumdnmﬂqm.:mmmﬂa
o filho com esss tinha de sui mio of coragdes de muitas ¢ folgauio muito
de o acompanbar,”
# The name of this Captain was Husin Beg Badikshi, who, says
ahasigir, * was of those who had received favours from my revered
ther, und was coming from Kabul to wait on me, As it is the tem-
perament of the his 1o be seditious and turbulent, Khusrao re-
garded this meeting =4 a godsend, and made Homin Beg the captain
and guide of 200 or joo Badakshan Aimags who were with him"
{Messirs, 1, 55), Husain Beg lud rendered Akbar very valuable
service in Afghaniftan, in return for which he had been placed in
charge of Kabul, and had been given Fort Rohtas in the Panjab as a
Jagir. According te the dis-i-dkbari, it was he who persaaded
Khusru to scek refuge at Kabul, which, he said, had always been the
ftarting-place of the conqueron of India.  Healo said that he had four
ladht of rupees in Rohtas which were ar the Prince’s disposals
The second captain who joined Khusrs was Abdur Rabim, after-

wards dignified with the title Khar (As). He was Diwan of Lahore.
Jl.hl.n{:‘mﬂp that Khusru gave him the title of Malik Anwar, and
mude him his Vigier.

1% |y his Memsirs Jahangir says that, at the critical moment of the
battle, ** the men of the right wing raised the cry of Padidad Salamat
(* Long live the King ") and chatged, and the rebels, hearing the words,
gave up and scattered abroad to various hiding-places,”

13 The battle was fought at Bhairswal (Bhaironwal, Bhyrowal) en
Friday, Zi--hijja 27th (Apeil 34th). The dates in the Memeirs are
not always corred ; und it is frequently difficult to tell whether }lhl.nﬁ
is referring to a Hijri or an lahi month. Fortunately, however,
generally mentions theday of the week, so that it is possible to recondtrut
the coume of events with tolerable accurscy. Jahangir reached
f:uimelgr. on the southern bank of the Beas, the day before the battle,
i.e.on Thorsday, Zi--hijja 26th, In the Mesairs this diite 16 wrongly
given as Thursday, iﬁl.g. On the previous evening he had received
news that Khasru was marching from Lahate with the intention of
making & night attack on his vanguard. " Although,” he says, ! |
rained heavily in the night, 1 beat the drums of march and mounted,
By chance ar this plw:%i.t. while he was at this Elﬁl] end hoyr the
viftorious army encountered that ill-fated band.”  Khusru, he says, was
captured on Sunday, Zi-bhijjs 24th. This is again clearly & midtake
for Sunday, Zi--hijja 2gih (April 26th). The pews of his capture
reached Lahore " on Mondsy, the laft diy of the month,™ that 1 on
Zi-l-kijja 3oth {April 27th), and be was brought hefore phungir
% on Thonday, Muhwrram 3rd (April goth), m Mirza s

en,”” Jubangir tells us that he took p his abode in the garden
% on the ladt day of Zi-l-hijja," and waited there for nine days * because
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the time was unpropitious.” He entered Labore “on W -

Muharram Bth"—d.r.0n the sth May. (The dates are * old diyle.
Thus in kess than » month Khusra's rebellion was mmpigj-ftm,pud
out. 1donot think Jahangir has been given sufficient credit for the
energy he displayed in this crisis: - And & crisis it was; for Khusru vss
popolar with all clases of the be; and bad [ahangir allowed the
grass fo prow under his feet, the 1ebellion would soon liave assumed
ﬁ:rmu[uti' dimensions, and the positions of purmer and pursued might
easily have been reversed. anmiliﬂrdnldm his pursuit
of Khugru was & notable performance ; t speaks well for the or-
ganisation of his troops that they were ready, at a moment’s notice, in
set out on what promised to be an arduots, if not 2 prolonged campaign.
What force Jahangir took with him from Agra we do not know ; but
it inudl have heen a dirong one, mnce the mngrand slone was sufficient
to avercame the rebel troops. ﬁmmbi‘v this considerable army,
Jahangir marched from Agra to the of the Beas, z diftance of
nearly 4oo miles, in 17 days,  On the moming of the 18th day, before
they had had time to draw beedth, his sdvanced mict and defeated
the rebels in o desperate and bloody encounter,  Vidtory was followed
by pursuit ; and within 24 hours modt of Khusru's followen had been
rounded up or shin, Effeffive messures for intercepting the flight of
Ehusru had been taken some days before the battle was fought (pide
Memairy, p. 66), and two days after his defeat the Prince was & prisoaer,
In point of sfusl speed Ehusru's movements were much more
aftonishing than his fther's. Nine duys before the battle of Bhaira-
wal, he invedted Lahore. He muil, therefore, have srrived before that
city on April 16th at the latet, having covered the diffance from Agra,
i.c. about 450 miles, in 12 da It is true that he set out with only
a few followers ; but Hosin with his Badskshi contingent, met
him at Muttzs, and many others fell in by the way § so that during the
lutter part of his march he mudt have had with him a force of several
thousand men. In such circumdftances the mainrenance of an averige
speed of clise on 40 miles & day was & performance that cennot ofien
have boen murpassed. Akbar ance traversed 6o miles in 11 days ; but
fresh horses awaited him at every fage of his journcy, and the few who
ied him were mounted on swift camels (eide V. A, Smith"s

dbbar, p. 118).

. sru was captuned whilit ing to cross the Chenab by
the ferry at Sedre, not far from the town of Gujrat.

% Xavier's letter makes this pliner. Some Armenian merchant
had, we are told, dftored their goods in the Fathen® house; and the
Gentiles had determined to kill the Fathers during the confimion of the
Prince’s entry, and themselves of the merchandise : “ Effauio
mhbnrmﬂuu;h'tmnd?h}du'nehn‘&rﬁquwmm
do cerco tinklo gorado da efireiteza do tempo no camer ¢ prouislo,
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o cada dis eftaniio temendo a morte porque os gentos lhes tinhlo to bos
vontade que sinhio feito conselho de mamlos como entrase na cidade
Ihes tomar o fato que tinhio vifto recolber & noss casa

dos Armeni
10 The fistement that Abdur Rahim resumed his office a fow days
after his punishment s hardly consiflent with what Jahungir wrote
four years later in his Memoirs : * On the. ryth Zithijjn 1017 am.
Mareh rath, 1610], having pardoned all the faults of Abdu-r-Rahim
e, | promoted him to the tank of yuzdardi (Centurion) and 20
horse, lﬂlfbl"dtfﬁd hins to go to Kashmir & Inx note on this passage
M. Beveridge says,  On being refeased he became ane of the
servants, snd served His Majedly tll by degrees the latter became
jous to him (Note of Sayyid Ahmad).” Guerreiro’s statement
however, taken from Father Xavier's lotter, where it s
even m:ﬁ definitely :&“ Aquelly meim:dl;mdc foi Jeitade a ailldl:.c;
solto, e daly & poucas dias passeaus por , € totrmon A seruir
nummuuﬁcﬂmmeﬁuhnmiﬂunn tempo del Rey maorto,
€ RgOra serUE COMO s2 NUNG cuners passado nada.”
i Nayier describes the scene as follows: “ Determinon el Rey
entrar 4 4 F* [quarto feira, i.e. Wednesday] seguinte na cidade ¢ quis
ue Ihe armassem o exminho da horta ate a cidade de sentengeados a
triy € & sinidtris, manda pois a espetar ¢ enforcar alguns duzentos por
ambas las partes do caminho, certe era hum horrendo espeftaculo via
homem aly enforcsdo folio Capitao, espetado fuliio irmido de fulio,
filho de que quasi todos ero principois ¢ conhecidos, vimes
slgans maito tes de muitos prusdos del Rey que afimalmente
o seruem, nio hsvia respeitar a ninguem, nem havia quem ousesse Fogar
por ninguem temenda que nio tiuessem a elle por da parte do Prin-

% Ar this thme, says Father Xavier, the utsof} terror prevailed in
the city. Many were srredted, others were deprived of their goods,
and others were put to death, None could trust even his own friends,
and ill betided all who attempted to conceal the wealth of the King's
viftims. Of the of the Captain who was put to death, more
than 2 hundred ¢ crutadar were discovered ; and it is afirmed
that the tota] amount seized from him and from others amounted to
millions of crazader. Some endured personal suffering as well as los
of property ; others loss of property only, and in every case the punish-
ment was very heavy. It is amazing, the Father adds, what vaft
quantities of money were discovered at this time ; and all for the i
The passage in the letter runs : * Nefte tempo andauio todes cheos
medo, s huns thdiln, a outrod confiscandio as fazendas, & outros matio,
amigos de amigos nko se fanio quem sbia do fato dalguns deftes senten-
ceados cuitado s¢ o ndo descobris.  Daguelle Capitao que dize descobrio
hum 200 cento & mnto mil cruzados ¢ delle e outros se affirms que ouue
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alguns contos de cruzados que humy erio cafligados na pesson e na
fazends, outrot som'™ na fazenda e todos com penss grauissimus he
marauilha a quantidide do dinheiro que s descobriu nefler rempot
e tudo 'IPI“ el Rey.”

* This was Guru Arjun, the ffth of the Sikh gerus, and the com-
poser of the Grased Sadis,

® Guerreiro has blundered here, and his miftake is repeated by du
Jarric. It was not a tinra which the gwrw placed on Khusra's liead, but
the sika, the mark made on the forchead of Hindus either as 2 sign of
sovereignty of to bring success in same great undertaking.  As Khusro
was the son of a Hindn princess (his mother was the daughter of Raja

Das of Jaipur), the pers considered him entitled to this
ditinftion, Jahangir refers to the circumétance s follaws (Memairy,
l.&n?: 1* He [the behaved to Khusras in cermin special ways,
an on his a finger-mark in saffron, which the Hindus
nllﬁ:mkﬁ. und i considered itious.”  As Mr. Beveridge points
out in his note oo lhilpl-;e.pm%'iuankhhwmd:lhl:de
use amongit Hindus is £ika ; and this w the word which Xavier himeelf
uses in his letter + *“ elle lhe deo o parabem do nove reynado e lhe pos
o tiqe na pedha.”

2 For the Sikh account of Guru Arjun*l death, which differs con-
siderably from Guerreiro's, the reader is referred to Macauliffie's The
8ikk Religiow, 111, pp. 7o-101.  The Miesoirs t us with another
veriion of the ftory, which is probably the relizble of the thres.
Jahangir had lmi_bnm s of Gurn Arjon, who * in the gar-
muuu].l;mmnzn sandity " had captivated so many of his Hinda, and even of
his M subjeds. times it had occurred to him * to
put = ftop to this vain afir " ; a2 toon a3 he was informed of the
mieeting with Khusru, he caused the holy man to be arrefted. " When
this came to my ear,” he says, * and | clearly underftood his folly,
I ardered them to produce him xnd handed over his houses, dwelling-
places, and children to Murtaza Khan, and havin confiscated his
property commanded that he should be put to death.” Xavier fiates
that Jahangir afterwards sent for the brother of the Garn, and gave

him o poft in his service.
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NOTES TO CHAPTER 11

How Tar Kisc Breax ntr Reraw. He Comrets two Cunperas
Curitonen 7o necome Mooxs

* In this chapter (from Part TV of the Relations, fols. lg_:b-:;gﬂ:},
as well ay In ter Il (idid., fols 1558-157h), Guerrsiro ia shill
Following Father Xavier's letter of 25th September, 1606.

* This is a very imadequate description of the famouns chain of
justice, if we may tralt Jahangits own sccount of his contrivance.
¥ After my sccession,” be says, * the Arft order | pave was for fadiening
up of the chain of judtice, so that if those engaged in the sdminiltration
of juftice should delsy or praftise hypocrisy in the matter of thos seeck-
Irig judtice, the oppressed might come to this chain and shake it so that
its noise might attradt attention. It fashion was this: 1 ordered them
to make a chain of pure gold, 3o 2= in lenpth and containing 6o bells,
Its weight wan 4 Indisn maunds, equal to 42 Iragi maunds. One end
of it they made fat to the battlements of the Shah Burj of the fort at
Agrs and the other 10 & ftone poit fixed on the bank of the river "

(Memoiry, 1, pe 7}
! We learn from Xavier's letter that the Fathers were accused of

making converts by force, and of kidnapping and selling little children :
*' Foi o negotio a ¢} Rey € chamados nos ¢ diante de nos dixerio de nos

ue fazismos X¥™ por forcs, ¢ que mandanames meninos & terra de

("= g vender.” similar attempt on the part of the * Gentiles’
to deprive the Fathers of their houses had been made shortly before
the death of Akbar, and it was largely through the itervention of
Juhangir, then Prince Salim, that their designs were fruftrated. [See
Abbar and the Temins, pp. 197-100.)

* This sccount of the Armenian and his marriage 4 very different
from Ihlt";i“m. by Father Xavier in his letter of the year :m(u
Abbar and thi Femiss, p. S‘;}. I that letter we are told the
Armenian did his utmed to force the Fathers, and to induce Akbur to
force them to consent to his incefluous union, and that when they
refised to countenance so great 4 &in, he basely deserted his fith, and
became a follower of the Dis Jlzbi.

The eider of the two children whose ordeal is described in this
chapter eventually sttained a position of some importence in the service
of the dtate, In the fifteenth pear of his reign (1 6oo _]-hmx:mndl
him & fisjdar, and the circumétance is thus re to in T
diary “éuwl* in obmined leave 1o to the fuj “5
of Sumbhar. He ia the son of Iskandar (Si )y the Armenisn,
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his fther had the fortune to be In the service of

Eﬁihr}, who gave him in marringe the daughter of Abdu-l-Hayy, the
; who was o service in the ropal harem. By ber he had two
sons. One was Zo-kQarnain, who was intelligent and fond of work,
and ta him, during my reign, the chief diwans had entrudted the charge
af the povernment salt works 21 Sambhar, 2 duty which he performed
efficiently. He was now appointed to the Euéda.n&ip of that reglon.
Hefsan ished composer of Hindi sangs ™ (Memgir, [1, p. 194).
The Either, * likandar," died it 1613 at Agra, whither he had gone
nhortly before Chriftmus, r612. Father Xmvier, in his sonua] letter
dated 23rd Scprember, 1613, =y that * likandar® had contrafted a
lingering disease, and being unable to find a remedy, * had decided to
come and live, or die, here in where there are Fathors and &
choreh.'  After his death, his was taken to Lakore, ™ where 8
his sepulchre”  The letter gives a detailed wccount of the Armcnian’s
many dmtubll:ldng’n, which inchrded Re. 3006 for the * Holy Home '
at Jeruslem, und other lurge sums for the church and poor Chrifli
at :
As Sir William Fofter ha rutntn& But | Travels in India,
. 267) Zo-L-Ournain was in all probabifity the * noble and pennrots
iltan of the Armenian race ™ who entertxined and astifted Thormas
Coryar during his sojourn at Ajmir in 1616, Detiled reference is
made ta htmrl:ly Botelho, and be i1 mentioned by Manueci, Edward
Terry, Peter Mundy, and ather writcrs of the times. A fall account
of him and his family, written by the Rev. H. Hollen, cin be read in
the Memorrr of tér Ariesic Seciery of Bexgef, voliv, pp. 115-191.
¥ Doubtless the diftridf of Sambhar, to which his son wes afterwards

inted.
W"ﬂm Kafimak (lit. " the word *) v the Mubsmmsdan confesion
of faith, namely, /o Vaks i/lulake Mudsmmad-arrase] slak, " There
Eynagﬁjnmptthcmrﬁdmd Muhammad & the prophet sent
¥ Mubstnnadens genenilly refer to Cheifl & Hatrar Tir, ol A/
dozras fra. The Arabic word dezrsr, meaning lirerally * the presence
inimuch used a3 & title of resped, and, whea applicd 2o s apoltle or

prophet, signifies the sacredness of his office.
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NOTES TO CHAPTER I1I
Somz Cowvezmi 1o THE Fatta

! The words in the ariginal are - * Acertando hum padre de passar
ande elle eftaua, pofto que o veo ver coin 3eU pre-TOgar que o nam
visitar, & disse a ontros, que s¢ o padre la hia, mhdsﬁnfrrqm:
onam conhecis”  This sentence i manifedtly corrupt, wordi
having been omitted. 1 have therefore followed the corresponding
passage in Father Xavier’s letter, which runs :  Acertando cu 2
por onde elle eftaus, poftoque me veo a ver com seu presente i
me mandou rogar nao no fosse visitar e dixe & outros enios que se
la hiz suin de fngir que me nao conhecin ete.”  Xavier, it will be
noticed, was the Father in queftion,

* The conversion of this young Brahman iz described in Part 1
{ch. viii) of the Relatisns. For du Jarric's version of the flary, see
Abbar end the Terwin, p. 134 _

* The word Cafre, or Kafir, was in common me amongdt writers
of the period to dennte & negro who was neither & Chriftiun nor a
Muhammadan, rior s ' Gentile.” The word was also nsed by Muham-
madans &2 & term of contempt for & Chrlfiian, or & Jew, or for anyone
who was not of their own fith, There were many * Kafins* in Gos,
“ blacke people,” Linschoten calli them, * of the land of Mommbigue,
and all the cost of Ethiopia, and within the land to the Cape de Bona

g Gmtuumtaﬂ of ‘tham, the same writer adds, were
brought o India from Mosambique, * and many times they sell 2 man
or woman that is growne to their full &rength, for two or threeduockets.
When the Portygals ships put in there, then they are dearer . . . and
because the Portugals have trafique in all places it is the canse why 5o
many are brought out of all countries to be sold, for the Portugals dee
make 1 living by buying and selling of them, = they doe with other
wiares,”
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NOTES TO CHAFTER IV
Some Everrs or tne Yran 1607

! This chapter, belonging to Part IV of the Refation: fols. 157b-
I&u,i;huﬂ!mhlh;&wh’llﬂumﬁthhEMn og,

dated 8th Avguft, 1607,
: uhtngErEhnuin his Memoirs that he set out for Kabul an the 25th
of » 1607 (7th Zi-L-hijja, ro15 am.). He returned to Lahore

in December of the same year.

3 In catholic countries the ion of the Blewed Sacrament an
Corpus Chridti Day (the Tho {lrl‘ll.' the feftival of the Holy Trinity)
is Joaked upon as the modt joyful solemnity of the year. The proces-
sion usually travenes the whole town in which it takes place, setting
.out from, and returning to the principal church. The entire route Iy
‘ftrewn with fowers, and at intervals halting-places are arranged, with
altars on which the * san&isimum® can be refted. A full account of
the feftival can be read in Adrian Fortewcuc™s Ceremenier of the Roman
Rine deseribed, pp. 152-4.

& The Fathers seem 1o have taken a special pleasure in recounting
sny misfortunes which overtook those who were againit them. Such
misfortunes are invaniably held up to us as manifeltations of the divine
wrath. and not infmqmtzlj’. an in the present case, the * punishment”
in consideribly exaggerated. The person here referred to is Sharif

Khan, on whom the King had, a short time previ , conferred the
wan one of

id title Awiralemars, * Lord of Lords.
shangir's oldest friends. “ He had lived with me," we read in the
(I, 14), " from his early yean. When 1 was prince 1 had
ven him the title of bhax, and when | left Alishabad to wait on my

onoured Father | ted him with & drom and the ames-dapt
(#tandard of yat tails). I had ablo promoted him to the rank of 2,500
iven him the government of the ince of Bikar, 1 gave hi

t& control of the province, and sent him off there. On the

!.d\nl' Rajab, being fifteen duays after my accemsion, he waited on me.
ingly pleased at his coming, for his conneftion with me is

b

was excesd
e g B by L Ay o S g
. con 1] Ll
o . having made, hith Greod

: g aond acquaintance with affaic, havin

Vizler, 1 him to the rank of §,000 with §,000 horse and the
lofty tithe of Amiru-l-umars, to which no title of my servants irm.mim."
There is no evidence to show that Sharif Khan ever forfeited pir's
favour and regard, or that he loft his office through any other cause
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than his illness, by which he was for & time letely incapacitated.
Ins his Memirs (p. 103), Jahangir ays: “As 1 handed over the
adminiitration of all civil affairs to the Amiru-l-umars, and his iliness
increased greatly, and forgetfulnes came over his facalties to such an
extent that what was sertled in one hour he forgot in the pext, and his
forgetfulness was increming day by day, on Wednesday, the 3rd Safar,
1 entrufted the duties of the viziernhip to Asaf Khan." That Jahangir
hesrd of Sharif Khan's recovery with genuine smtisfaition in evident
from his own words : * On the day when | mounted my elephant for
the pu of leaving Kabul, the news arrived of the rec of the
ﬁmm:-rlp-::ln and Shah Beg Khan. The news of the lealth
of these two chicf servants of minc | took a2 an saspicious amen for
myself ™ (i4id., p. 121) jand again, ** On the 6th Shaban, at the
place of Chandalah, the Amire-Fumars came mgx n;;;t;]c m{: me.
was greatly ar obuining his socicty agein, phyrsicians,
Hindy and Mussalman, had made up their minds that he would die "
({éid., p. 130). In the following year {1609), Sharif Khan was made
joint commander i the Deceans with Prince Parwiz; but his sickness
returned, and he died three years later. In recording his death,
shanpir luments the fa& that he left no son on whom he could beftow

patronage. -

® Father Xavier sys that Jahangic was called * Adel Pasizh, iie.
adif padsbat. The Amabic word adé/, meaning * juit,' ' upright,’ is
in common use smongdt [ndian M

* Thia was Shaikh Farid, who commanded the force which defeated
Khusru at the battle of Bhaironwal. In recognition of his services on
this w:ulnulgarumd the title h}m : h:HHh‘ ﬁn
a1 governor of Gujarat are briefly re to in the Memvoirs as tollows :
“ As it was sgain represented to me that oppression was being committed
by the brethren and sttendants of Murteza Khan on the ryoty and
people of Ahmadabad in Gujarar, and that he was unable properly to
redftrain his relations and peopls about him, I transferred the Subak
from him and gave it to Azam Khan." This took place towards the
end of the year 1608. In 1610 he was given charge of the Panj
Juhangir gives the 218t of the lakhi month Midr (sbout the 2nd mg
o the date of Lis appointment, on which disy, he says, © 1 prome
Murtaza Khan to the subshdanship of the Panjab, which is one of the
largedt charges in my dominions, end gave him a special shawl.” His
death, which took it 1616, is recorded in the Mentoirs aa follows :
* On the srd of this month{ Khurdad) the news of the desth of Murtaza
Khan came. He was one of the ancients of this State. My revered
fiither had brought him up and ruised him to a pesition of confidence
and truét. In my reign alio he obtained the grace of notewarthy
service, namely the overthrow of Khusmu, His manub had besn
raised to 6,000 personal and 5,000 horse, . < . I was much grieved
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inmiudluhhnm:Int:mh.p'.nl'luhcduthot'mhllnylﬂhl-
lower is only reasonable. As he had died after spending his days in
beﬂ%!l prayed to God for pardon for him."

y uhm&mutb:ﬂfﬂdrr(l.p.; that this was a letter which
Amﬂnhhdnnmm'iu:nhﬂllﬁli!? of Khindedh, It will be
remembered that in 1597 Rajs Al Khan was killed at the battle of
Sapa, whlh:mﬁ}htingonﬁi:hﬂ tide, and that, when he fell, his cmp
mshmd by the imparial troops. The letter was subsequently
found in Burhanpur, amongét the Raje's effedls, by Khwaja Abul
Hasan, who was agting a5 Diwan to prince Daniyal, when the latter
was sent o adminifter the conquered lands of the Deccan,  Jahangir
had no cause to love Aziz Kok, who hail done his bedt 1o secure the
Mogul throne for Khusry, who was his son-in-law. When, therefore,

Hasan the letter in his hands, Jshangic gave way 0 m-
controllable fury. *“In reading it,” he says, * the buir on my head
dtood on end. :fwlhtmﬁﬁnzﬁmmjzumngni&mnﬁhn&&
that his mother had given her milk to my father, | could have killed
him with my own hand. Having procured his sttendance 1 gave the
letter into his hands and told him to read it in a Joud voice to those
present. When he saw the letter 1 thought his body would have
parted from his sonl, but with shamelessness and impudence he resd it
as thaugh he had not written it and was reading it by order. Those

tin that paradise-likc assembly of the servants of Akbar and
Fﬂungir and heard the letter read, loosened the tongue of
and of curses and shuse”  Jahangir himself upbraided the Khan in
the modt bitter terms, after which he says, ** his lips closed, and he was
unable to make any reply. What could he have said in the presence
of such disgrace ? I gave an arder 1o deprive him of his jagir, Al
though what this ingrate had done was unpardonable, yet in the end,
from certain considerationd, 1 passed it over."

A few years later, after holding various impormnt offices, Aziz Koks
;ftinin-:nmd the royal displeasure and was confined in the fortres

Gwaliof. On this occasion he was pardoned at the inflance of none
other than Akbar himself, who appeared to Jahangir in & dream, and
said : ** Babe, forgive for my sake the fault of Axiz Khan, who is the
Khan Azam. * Though he had been guilty of many offences,” says
LI:::JIEJ. “and in all that I had done I was right, yet when they

ght him into my presence and my ere &ll upon him, | perceived
more shame in myself than in him. Having ed all his offences,
I gave him the shawl [ had round my waiit," .

* A Jari, named from the difiri@ of Lar, bordering on the Persian
Gulf, was & coin much used in Wedtern India. It was worth about a
shilling. Yule (Hobrew-Fobom, p, 506) quotes the fol from
P. delle Valle : * The Jer? is a piece of money that | will exhibit in
haly, moét cccentric in form, for it is nothing but a litte rod of silver
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ofa fized weight, and bent double unequally.  On the bend ir is marked
ﬂmmﬂﬂ;mpw;tﬁ e In value every ¢ lari are equal
toa or o o in, or * piece of cight” =3 we
choose to call it." The tefas; or '?;:Em' mm about 6d ; 5o
Jari (according to Guerteiro) was equal to 2 shillings.  Fitch valued it
it one-sixth u!;:dum,l.imchntm at * halfea gildeme,” and Whithing-
ton ata rluilmﬁl:

Regarding the practice of selling children in India, see Abkar and
the Fenuiti, p. 2144
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NOTES TO CHAFTER V
Tue Faruess Accosrany the Kive 10 Acra

'Tllil.l.nﬂr.thEningduqu, to Part V of the Re-

Jations (fols. Ga-22b). Guerreiro's authority for V to VIII
v-;;{ er Xavier's letter to the Provineial st Goa, 14 September,
1 .
* These were the Fathers Jerome Xavier, Emanuel Pinheiro,
Francis Corsi,and Anthony Machado.  The first two came to* Mogor *
withthe_;rd!'diuimin:;g]s;ﬂﬂanijdmnd lhnmiuiauin:m.
and Machado in 1602, The laft named was sent to take the place of
Benoift de Goes, who, in 1603, sct out on his mission to Cathay.

""Lahhu;& gives the date of kis entry into Lahore as the t3th of
8dabar, equivalent to the 18 or 20d December,

’ ﬁilﬂ H. Hoften translates these words “ piftures of his
Akbar's] palaces ™ (Fenrnal of the Punjeb Hifterical Seciesy, 1918,

I, ps E] The word page, 'a palice,’ was frequently written
‘pasio’; but it seems improbable that the Fathers would have illus
trated the lives of the Apodtles with piGures of Akbar’s palsces. The

word here wied | mke 1o be the ordi qu;uuewmdmuniuq
fadte ”lpntt.'w.mﬂle-hwiuﬂ.'g:&n;hckwnﬂ: and forwards,
* trouble,” ! pains,” * laboar,” etc. lilmbaoqucntw{ff&p,ﬁ}}

Guerreiro, in describing the mural paintings at Agra, sayy thar some of
these conilfted of scenes from the of the Apoitles, * taken from the
Lives of the Apodtles which the Fathers had given him.” This seems
to put the meaning of parres beyond queltion.

Xavier wrote : “ paraceo nos boa occasiio efis ir Is hum de
nos que de palaurs podesse enformar & V. R. do eftado defts Missio
que ate dgora em tantos annns toda a enformagiio foi por cirtas”

* Xavier says that Jahangir was much pleased at their cholee for ;
hchdngrm‘;g:ﬂinnﬁfgl :hdu:rPiuhciquhnmhehldinuhi;ng
many yesrs. Father's lure was plyniﬂmﬂ
ﬂ?ﬂrﬁmdhhm.myurmwmhdhmhmgtupbyhh
** Foi eleito o Padre Manoel Pinheiro, ¢ dando lhe conto dino folgon
muito porque ha annos que o conhecs ¢ uma. Ja nefte tempo eftaus

partir o dito Capitio e assi foi necess® aprezar o P a el
E?odnpnhondodmihcﬂ;mpmqukmu € & nos
alguss que mundssmemos & alguny amigos. Muito sentimo o8 X'
2 partida do P* por ser elle em Lahor o mais conhecedo ¢ que crisna
es mais que aly eftauso. De nes que diremos ! Miss como kia por
noso 57 ¢ para bem dedta resid riot consalumamon, foi despedido
tle todos com muito amor.”
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Partuguese name for plants of the 3 family (Euplordiices
nmlyluvﬁ:ﬁudviichmm-grgzugwlmdqmpdnmmk
The Captain who wus blinded at the same time, and who was, we are
tald, the chief of those who had inftigated the King to persccute the
two children of the Armenian Sikandsr, socceeded in saving his sight
by conftantly bathing his eyes with some healing lotion. We are glio
told that after the blinding Khusru was taken nbout with & bandsge
over his eyes, from which Xavier inferred that he was not totally berelt
of sight.  As 30 many diferent versions of the dtory have come down to
us, it is 23 well that Xavier's account, which Guerreiro has considerahly
ubridged, should be quoted in full. Tt rund as follows : ** No caminho
pamou hua couws notauel & ha que comeo tinka ¢l Rey ainds preso com
ferros aseu filho morgado Seltdo Xhocero (que he o que nos chamamos
Codraca !) g=i o truxe com ferros no caminho ¢ muito bem recado, e
quandoc aolugar onde pelejarn o ditto Principe com a gente de sen
mdm de tal desobedicncia aly mesmo [he fex cegar o olhos remol-
o 1hos com Jeite de leiteiras ¢ o mesmo fez 2 hum mouro seu prinado
de quem ja escrivi o anno tjue fora consentidor dos que conjurs-
tilo para matar el Rey o o fez trazer de Cabul a Labor em ferroa sobre
hum burro on muleta bem mal concertado € o teue preso em Lahor,
¢ nefte mesmo lugar fex cepar da mesma maneira, mas elle lausndoss
muito o olhios com certas cousas diertio a pegonha da quella leite hum
pouca & fiqgon com algus villa € agom o mandon preso a fortalezs que
chamiio de Goalier [Gwalior] & ande nio o8 grauamente culpados, efte
he o principal que mouia & ¢l Rey a fazer mouros os filhos de Alexandre
A:mminbnmpaplgudpmdn,egheﬁlnmu&n firmes en seu ley.
Assi que digo que a0 Sultio em aquella lugar o mandou gegar.  Algum
affirmilo eftar de tudo gego, outros que nlio, © certe he que ainda depo:
que dizem que o gepou sempre vinha no exminho sobre hum te
em hua charols coberta por todas 43 partes e com muito gente de caualo
de b e ouir, € o que majs he que tem bandados os albos, e no
noo da bands edla pofla chapa del Rey por sua milo, deflas cousas colli-
gem nio eftur de todo gege.  Nullo modo se falla dells disnte del Rey
nem na terrd como se n3o ouvesse 2] homem,"™
M Thu was in 1602, when Prince Salim, after his reconciliation
with Akbar, took op his abode in Agra. Secing that there was no
place at Agra where the Padres coald hold their services, he obtined
Akbar'y permission for the bailding of a church, and gave s thousand
crowns towards the cofl of its conflra@ion (see Abbar and the Tewits,

p- 191).

Father Xavier says that on reaching Agra they went 1o ke poses-
sion of the house which Jahangir, thinking the awner to be desd, had
given them. On their arrival, hawever, they found that the owner

had rea , and had reoovated the housss, which wefe now
mﬁnfﬂmbmafﬁsﬁmﬂ;. 5o they had to take up their
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abode in a place near by, which had been intended for their servants.
They to put their church in order ; but they were able to
use anly the chapel, as the body of it extended to the aforesaid houses.
They made what shift they could with the chapel; but as it did not
afford sufficient accommodation for all the Chriftians, they determined
if the King remaived in Agra, 1o ask him to pass an order that the
houses were to be sald to them,

104
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Tue Farurss omreure wits tue Mooss serone tie Kive

! The name of Jahangir's reader war Ghiyas-ud-din Ali; bot he
was penerally known by his title, Nagib Khan, He was the son of
Abdul Lm!'whu il-l.d been tutor to Akbar.  He was one of those who

-hlggl.l‘tmm We read in the .Irfr-n'n
tﬂ) "l Naogib Khan, who is one of the gentine Sayyi
ol' wm.rnthtmtnrt.soo. My father had distinguished hi

mththnﬁthufﬂ %K.hm,mdmhumh:hdmp&mh&
Itﬂ‘lur &hmw Hﬁhn“ﬂmﬂmr;—“t?hmdm“g
an hiet, ore 11 in no chronologidt b
him in the inhabited world, From the beginning of Creation il the
gﬁm:ﬂm.hﬁhhﬂﬂﬂd&ufa;rmn;iﬁnwﬁ‘
Alleh gran to any o FUC. MEm
qulb Khan died in 1614. i ' "
m to be an elaborate variation of the tradition that
WhmtbtmmmdmmdtdlngnnﬁhtP her, the moon was
cleft'in two. 'I”hctﬂvmnfth:ﬁﬁrfwrlhﬂrmcflhrﬁumh
supposed by some to refer 1o this miraclke ; * The hmrnl'judgm
a § and the moon hath been split in sunder: but if the

Immm:ngn.thcytumude,urmg.ThlnupomfuI:hrm"
maintsin that the words

n:ind this verse @

hath been spli Pﬂ'alﬂyu ify “will be split™; the

$ﬂ?gufth=mm bungannnfth:ugmwhl:hmmprmm
of judgment.
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NOTES TO CHAPTER VII
A Durure ox e Divikery o Cunnsr

' To this, says Xavier, the Father replied, “ God preserve your
Majeity ! | could not have a better advocate.”

4"+ Bhang, said to be derived from the Sanskrit $fanga (sec Hebsar-
ll.dmr. p. 59) is the name given to the sceds and dried lesves of the

dian hemp, which when eaten or uuoked, produce intoxication.

* In Part 11 of his Relatizns Guerreiro relates that Jahangir, before
he ascended the throne, once asked @ number of his Captains to whom
they would appeal for help in time of danger ; and when some answered
in one way and some in another, he said,  As for myself, 1 thould call
an none other but the Lord Jens ™ (see alo Shdar and she Femit,

P 187).
. G)wrumwnﬂ have done better had he kept to his ‘ copy.’

Father Xavier wrote “ que ndo queriio & Jesus X*," i.e. “ who do not
dooe Jesus Chridt,"
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NOTES TO CHAPTER Vi1
Tur Kivc's Ravereyce vor Jesos Cunter

b Abridgment hay here resulted in confinion.. Guerreire's sentence
Is incomplete ; and he leads un to that the words * in the middle
of the ceiling ™ refer to the ve where the King showed himsell
to his people ; wheress Father Xavier's letter makes it plain that these
wwd:u&rmanhmhwmﬁ:pﬁwm-pwp
ing in the outer The passage in the lotter runs : ** Quando
clle véo de Lahor achou o pigo muito bem concertado ¢ pintado com
v@ﬁmqujlﬂlnﬁtheﬁmiuplnu.ﬁnrlﬁdmm
como fora em hua varands viude s= assents cada dis 2 pepedue, no meio
della efts soo amentado, nay doas bandas on seus filhos, e despoia delle
algums crisdos de seraigo; que todos o8 capitoer € es ostlo em
baizo, & quando chams algun em cima, vai ¢ Joge s Da bunds
de dentro onde s2¢ de noite, ¢ s& sssents antes quando quera sir & eita
janela ou varanda de fors, tem hua varsnda larga, ne alto do foro dells,
et Or in English ; * When he came to Lahor be found his palsce

beautifally decorated, and adorned with many paintings which
wam@-mm leted, and others which were yet to be com-
pleted both en the inside and the ontside of the verandah where he sits
to be seen of the .~ In this verandah he caly s seated. His
sons §tanid on either side of him, and hehind them some of his personal
attendants. The Captaing and nobles stand below; and if one of them
is ordered to go up, be goes and descends quickly. Within, and to
one side, where ke goes at night and where he sits before he wishes to
:Eﬁthummvmn&:h.h:hu[muher]hm verandah, on the

ing of which, etc."

£ As Xavicr's own description of the balcony, or fewe/s de fors, con-
tains some sdditional details, it is as well that the reader should have it
in full: " Da janels de fors que direi ] Nas elharpas do Jugas onde el
Rey se sssents quindo sae of popules eftaulio pintados muito bem
alguns dos privados del Rey no natural, poucas diss depois todes o8
mandou borrar e mandou pintar em logar delles huns soldados Porto-
gueses muito bizaros armados grandes de eftatnra de homem de maneirs
ie se vem por todo o terreiro, citlio tres de cada parte, € em cima

. da nido dereits fte pintade X™ N. §% com o globo do
mundo na mio csquerda, e da outra bands N* §* muito bem pintads,
mas despois que vio hua 5 de 8. Lucas que muun—#ugu
fex borrar aquells ¢ pintar efla; & ilhargss de X™ N, 8% ¢ N, 3"
edtio humt 5°* como em ordglo. Na charols da varands como janels
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pide elle se assenta by ilhargas na mesma parede &itdo pintados seus
dos filhos muito ricamente so natural, em cima de hum delles esta
X= N, 5" em figura piquenz e aly junto hum P= com hum livre na
miy, e sobre o ouiro E«I §" ; no mesmo vao da charols eftio 5. Paolo
8. Gregorio S. Ambrosio, eftes por setem piquenas e dentro da charola
pauga se vem dos que &ftio em baivo, mus 29 outras de todon se podem
ver.”!  The Egures of Chrift and the Virgin here mentioned appear to
be the same that are referred to by William Finch in his description of
a * small court * nesr the King's durbar, * Where aloft in a gallery the
King sits in his chair of fate; sccompanied with his children and chiefe
Vizier (who goeth up by a short ladder forth of the court), no ether
withoat calling daring to goe up to him, save anly two punkaws to
gather wind ; and right before him below on a scaffold is a third, who
with & horse raile makes havocke of poore flies. On the right hand of
the King, on the wall behind him, is the picture of our Saviour ; and
an the left, of the Virgin ' (Fodter's Early Travels in India, p. 182).
This reference of Finche's to the piftures of Chrift and the Virgin
appears to have been overlooked by the Rev, H. Hoften, who in his
account of Guerreiro's fifth Refation ( Fowrnal of the Panjab Hiderical
Saciery, Vol. VI1), remarks on the complete absence of allusion to the
mural paintings at Agra by the various European travellers who visited
the ety in 1609 and the following year of Jahangir's reign.

3 In Naviers Jetter the passage rune: “ E o que mais he, & imagem
de X™ N. 8 a colunna fez trar de hum regittro pequeno em hum
ﬂdgmd:mmmummuimbcm por q fosse por modtra por

bum pano de seda fezido com aquellas figuras como pano de ras,
¢ukﬂmdﬂhgﬂp¢] mandou fxzer em Parsio por tecer no pana
como mesme feitio.”

 Xavier says they were to dtretch it on 2 wooden frame : * pals
em hum quadro de pao eftirade.” The pifture was evidently worked
on silk, and appears to be the same that is referred to on p. 77, fa/re.
It s pmhlhé&:hil pilture which Jahangir mentions in i)t Meeoiri
('I:J. ). sy that on the roth Satir, 1oo7 (18 June, tﬁoﬂE:
* Mugarrab Khan sent from the port of Cambsy 2 European
(tapestry), the like of which in beauty no other work of the Frank
painters had ever been seen,”

® Count Von Noer, who appears to have seen fragments of Guer-
reira’s work, wrongly uttributes this method of sealing letters to Akbar
{see hi.l}j‘.‘iin'r Abbar, ch. v, and also my Shbar and phe Tewin,
F.. IXXIV).

* The Casa da Santa Misericordia, the Holy Hoose of Mercy, was
eftablished in Goa soon after the conqueft of the city by Albuguerque.
It was maintained by a pious astociation of lsymen who sdminiftered
various charitable indlitutions in Gow

T See note 8, p. g9,

108



NOTES TO CHAPTER VIII

* The reference 4 to be to the black imuge of the Virgin,
ftandin hltheﬁcudrgi::&hhcymthtﬂwpnofhimmium
lona, which attrady many pllgrims,

¥ The capa de aiperges is the cope, or pluvial, worn by the prick
when performing the asperges, that is, the rite of sprinkling the con-
gregation with holy water before the celebration of mas.
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Tue Kive smwoe an Eaxmasy 1o Goa

! This chapter appears to be based on a letter, or letters, written by
Fither Pinheiro immediately after his retarn to Goa at the end of
November, 1609. That Guerreiro possessed no information of a
Iater date is proved by the incorred ftatements he mukes regarding
Hawkins and the survivors from the Aicensiow (sec note 30, infra),
Mureaver, letters written at @ later date could hardly have come into
his hands in time to be included in his book, which was completed
before the end of the year 1610.

3 This was in 1606, for Father Xavier refers to the circumstance in
his letter of that year. It was, be tells us, just after his persecution of
the two children of Sikandar the Armenian, that Jahangir declared his
intention to send an ambassidor, accompanied 2 Padre, o the
King of Portugal. He selefted as his representative & Moor who was
diftinguished as s man of Jetters, and who had the podt of Chronicler
(nomeou o embazador que he hum muito bom letrado des Mouros,
¢ seu cronidls, e niio mal feito aos Portugeses).  He told Xavier that he
was to accompany the ambassador ; but Father Pinheiro submitted that
Xavier was too old to support the fatigues of the journey, and asked
thit he might be sent in his ftead, to which the Ring readily agreed
[dmh-}:lcﬁmeuepiaol"}. A few days later be asked Xavier to

ive in writing o L& of articles, unobtainable in Portugal, which
¢ could scnd as presents.  “1 sent it to him,"” says the Father,
“ written in Pensian, and he ordered the asticles to be collefted.”
But after all, Jahangir’s plan, like the similar plan formed by his father
(see Akber and the Tesmits, pp. vig, :59-:& , came to nothing. It
miy be doubted whether either Akbar or Jahungir ever seriowly con-
templated sending an embassy to Europe.  Very ibly the pro-
wuinuchu:nmhin;mm:thmtprieuof:;m.dﬁignd to
impress the Portuguese authorities, i
His real name was Shaikh Hasan.  Jahangir thus refers to him in
his Memiry (1, p. 13) ¢ * From the days of his childhood to this day he
has always been in my service and in sttendance on me, and when I was
Prinice was distinguished by the title of Mugarrab Khan. He was
very aftive and alert in my service, and in hunting would often travel
long distances by my side. He is skilful with the arrow and the gun,
and in surgery he i the modt skilful of his time." In g later passage
Jahangir tells how Mugarrab Khan once bled him. The diseme of
Khun-para, he says, hud affeted his health. * By the advice of the
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yaicians, 1 drew about a i of Blood from my left arm, Asa great
ightness resulted, it occurred to me that if they were to call blood-letting

* hightening * it would be well. N this expression s made we
of. Ta Pgu errab Khan, who had bled me, 1  jewelled Elapma
{dn;gcg.“ n 1616 Mugerrab was made Governor of Gujarat,
lm]r:m.m.u of 5,000, Subsequently he became Governor of Agri.
Heren in the public service throughout the life-time of Jahangir,
and was pensioned off soon afier the accession of Bhah Jahan, Hewa
ninety years of age when he died. Whatever his faults, and from all
accounts they were plentiful enough, he soems to have played his cards
skilfully, and to have served Jahangir well

* Bee note B, p. 102,

5 The Count de Feyra died on his way o Indis. - He ser on, Faria
Fhﬂtﬂlbnl,"ﬂli&iqthofﬂlr:h. 1659, and died on the 15th
May. His body was sent back, and hrotght to Liskon the 24th
July ® {Aiia Portugueia, tr, Stevens, 111, p. 153): "

Since the desth of Dom Affonso de Cadlro in 1606, the adminifkra-
tion of the Portuguese settlements had been in the hands of Dom
Alexius de Menezes, Archbishop of Goa, who econtinued to hold office
till the 28th of May, 16og, when he was succesded by Andrea Furtado
de Mendoga, who had formerly been Governor of Malacct,  Mendoca
was Governor {neither he nor the Archbithop ssamed the title of
Viceroy) for a little over three months, and was succesded on Septem-
‘I;:r sth by Ruy Lorengo de Tavora, who arrived from Portugal on that

e,

% Bee note 4, p. 108. )
* William Hawkins, the Englishman referred to, salled from London

in March, 1607, and reached Surat on the 24th Augudl, 1608, He
'Ec‘: uuﬁ:iu:fhp_mthe:;m}'tbmur. 1608, end reached that city on

1

" It i difficult to underfand why the King's letter wan written
in Spanish. ~ But this was evidently the case; for Hawkine says that
when he ?-:::ﬂmi the letter, Jahangic " alled for an old Jesuite
doubtless Father Xavier] that was there present to reade it." And

add that the Jesuit “ told him [the Kmg] the effe® of the letter,
htdi:mmmdiﬂg[urﬁhuﬁn;mltxtmbudyﬁnnd,mm;
Fedira without Majefled. My answere was unto the King : And if it
shall your Majeftie, these people are our enemics : how can this
Letter be ill written, when my King demandeth favour of your Majellie !
HE%jtwm;H kins's rwn fla The King, he sy,

§a wi awking's own siatement.
EmH"ﬁmHﬂhwuZﬂﬂcrmththmﬂ two
undred pounds dterling for my fint, and %o yearly hee promised mes
to augment my living till | came to & thousnd home.  So my firlk
should be four hundred hiorse” ‘The value of the rupee in Jahangis"
Tin
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reign was conftantly fudtuating. Roe gave itas 20, 2d,  [tr average
value was about 28, 3d.

10 This is borne out by Jourdain, who says that Hawking, in his
house, ** used altogether the custome of the Moores and Mahometans,
bath in his meate and drinke and other cuftomes, and would seem to
be discontent if all men did not the like.”

LS Thmwuuhil'hay,’ﬁttpbmﬁnm.wﬁudiﬁdiﬂﬁgu.mﬂ
his *man, Nicholss Ufflet, who returned to England with him,
Uller appears to have been a persan of some education, end is szid to
have written an account of the city of Agra.  See Fodter's Early Trasels
in India, pp. 84 and 185,

i3 Hawkins does not say that be asked the Jesuits to perform the
ceremony, though it is very likely that he did so. His own account
i as follows : ** 1 tooke her and, for want of & minister, before Chriftian
witnesses 1 her. The pricit was my man Nicholas Utflet,
which | thought had been lawfull, till I met witha preacher that came
with Sir Henry Middleton and hee, shewing me the ervor, 1 was new

marryed sgaine.” i X :

18" These were the Arcension and the Umion, which left England in
March, 1608, under the command of Alexander Sharpeigh. Others
on board the former ship were John Jonrdain, William Rivert, and
Robert Covert. A full account of the voyage can be read in ourdain's

aurnal. ‘The ships reached the bay of Saldanha, or Ta Bay, in
uly, snd remained there until the following Scptember, " our time,”
says Jourdain, * being long at Saldamia by reason of setting upp oot
pinnace.” Off the Cape of Good Hope  violent dlorm was encoun-
tered, and the ships became separated. The Ascension reached Aden
in April, 1609, where a week or two later she was joined by the pinnace.
The d:’ﬂi::l!m ﬂr_;muutmd at Mr.n.r and later at M}t‘il.. mm’ =
exs, in the text account (sce The Fournaf of Fohe Fourdain,
I-hﬁn:;: Society, 1905, pp- 127 ¢f #09.). The Asceniion arrived in
Indian waters at the end of the month of Auguft, and was wrecked off
Surat on the 4th September. Sixty-two persons foand their way to
IIL:_:d. nkj:g with them about (3,000 out of the £15,000 which the

4 Medafaual, or aa it id ﬁ:m Levanhs's map of Gujarat, Madre
fanat, was a small pott on wedtern shore of the Gulf of Cambay,
to the north of Diu.  Danvers identifies it with Mahava (Permgwéic
in India, 11, p. 533). Dann, now :ﬁ: Dahanu, is on the opposite
side of the gulf, near to, and south of . Barbosa calls t
Dinvy. It was, he syy, inhabited * by both Moors and H
and had & great trade in goods of many kinds.™

15 This is a miftake on Guerreiro’s pars, another example, probably,
of careless abridgment. Furtado de Mendogs became Governor of
Goa on the 28th May, and laid down his office on the 5th September.
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T Ascension was wrecked on the 4th September ¢ so that the news of
this circum{tance, and of the reception of the English at Surar, could
not have reached Goa whilit he wis Governor.  The modt that he
could have known of the English ships at the commencement of his
term of office was that they had arrived st Aden, with the intention of
E:md.‘mg to Indis. Mendoga muit, however, have known all aboat

wking's journey to Agra and of the favours granted to him by
Jahangir, even before he became Governor.  He was a man of very
prompt adion, and we shall probably be right if we asign his order
placing Cambay out of bounds, and his refusal to receive the ”f'
ambasador, to the early part of the month of June.. Seeing the effeét
of his virtua] declamtion of war, Mendog po time in tehing
an emissary to Cambay to make a final bid for peace. The subsequent
course of events, and such dates as we indicate that Father
Pinheiro, the emissary chosen, set out from Goa about the end of
July Q:é_whﬂ:& time he would be likely to encounter the ficll force of
the 5, W. monsoon). As he was obliged to travel medl of the wsy to
Cambay by land, his journey, which by sea would have been a matter
of four or five days, must have taken as many weeks.  'We donot know
the date of his arrival at Cambay ; but we know that the report of his
negotintions with M Khati was not received st Goa until after
Lorenco de Tavors had mssumed the office of Viceroy, that is, until
after the sth September. We :;I astutne, therefore, that Pinheiro’s
mecting with Mugarrab Ehan place towards the end of Anguit.
The result of their conference muft have been communicated to the
Viceroy and to Jahangir with as little delay a3 possible. With his
repart Mugarrab doubtless forwarded to Jahangir the Viceroy's lester,
and st the same time sent his order to the Captain of Surat that the
newly arrived English were no longer to receive shelter, The Viceroy's
scknowledgment of the report, together with his invitation to Mugar-
rab Khan to visit Goa, muét have resched Cambay before the end
of September ; for we know that, on the 7th O&ober, Father Pinhciro,
who had taken Mugurmb Khen's plice as ambassador, had
arrived at Surat on his way to Goa (see note 21, p. 115).  The Father
reached the latter place on the 25th November, o that he muft hawve
made this j mey also h’ land,

Altheugh Mu K han was recalled in September, he does not
appear to have left for Agra till the following January ¢ for Jourdain
siys that in that month one of the merchants who came on the Afcension
miet him in Cambay. ]-.I;mfr-pthth:wh&hhmﬂmth
and April {see note 7, p. 103},

19 Thisisevidentlya miftake. 1fthe place where Pinheiro took shelter
wasonly 23 leagued from Goa, it cannot have been Trrapur. The Tarapur
creek ismoret oo hundred miles from Gos; and had Pinheiro begun
his land journey here, he would not have passed through Danda.
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1t Dands, or Danda Rajputi, Is a part of the Janjira State which
s, for centuries been in the possession of an Abywinian family, The
Chilef is #ill known as the Siddi of Janjire. In spite of the repeated
efforts of the Mbguls, and aft s of the Marathas, to expel the
Siddis and gain posession of Danda Rajpuri, the little flate contrived
o its exiftence until it came under British proteétion,

% According to Hawkins, Mugarrab Khan had heavily bribed
by the Portugucse Vic:nz. who had sent him a great present, together
with * many toys " for the King. * These presents,” he says, “ and
many mere promises wrought so much with Maocrebchan that he
writeth his petition unto the King, sending it together with the )
advertising the King that the suffring of the English in his | would
be the cause of the losse of his owne countries neere the sea-coadls, as
Suratt, Cambaya, and such like, and that in any case he entertaine me
not, for that his ancient friends the Portugalls murmured highly at ity
and that the fame is spresd abroad amongst the Portugalls t I was
generall of ten thaysand horsemen, readie to give the ssault upon Diu
when our shipping exme. The Vice-royes letter was likewise in this
kind. The Kings answere was that he had but one Englishman in
his court, and him they needed not to feare, for hee hath not pretended
any such matter, for I would have given him living neere the sea parn
but he refased it, taking it neere me heere " (Foller’s Early Traeels
iw Jadis, p. B4),

% This is pore fiction, Hawkins remained for another two years
at the Mogn! court, snd even then Jahangir was unwilling that he should
dzg:m left Agra on the 11th of November, 1611, At the end
of ber he arrived at Cambay, where be joined Sir Harry Middle-
ton's fleet, and sailed from India in February, 1612,

38 This also #s Gfion. An sccount of the journey of these men
from Surat to Agra it given by Jourdain, and alio by Robert Covert,
who was himself one of the company ; but neither says anything about
on attack by armed brigands. ¢ march commenced on the 216t of
September, under the Jesdership of Willism Rivett, a merchant whe
came on the Airemsion. The men were a modt disorderly lot, and oo
sort of discipline was maintained. Rivett died of sickness on the way,
and there were numerom other casunlties. Nevertheless, the bulk of
rh-irpmy reached Agra safely on or about the 8th December.

hie ftory in the text, snd IhEGPmiuu: statement about Hawkins,
are not dificult to sccount for.  Guetreiro, s [ have altesdy ftated, is
here using a letter written immediately after Father Pinheiro’s return
to Goa, probably by the Father himself. At this time all kinds of
ramours are likely to kave been in circulation regarding the fite of
Hawkins and the crew of the Arornsien. These would find ready
eredence at Goa, and Pinheiro, without waiting to verify his informa-
tion, at once pased them on to Portugal. [ have been unable to
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dhnmumyhc:?y.wﬂh:rnfmmthkhm,hnﬂtmﬂhn
been written before the end of the year ; for by that time it would have
been known at Goa that Hawkins was étill at the Mogul court.

# This is corroborated by the marmative of Thomas Janer, who
came to Indiz on the Arcession, and was one of those Father
Pinheiro condufted to Goa. His reference to his journey with the
Father, in which he gives us 2 very uieful date, is as follows : * Whilft
1 was in determinations, it pleased God of his Goodness to send
2 Father of the Order of Saint Paul being a Portugal, who came from
Cambaya to Surat by land, with whom 1 ceme i he promiting
me, that if T would commit my selfe into hiz han #, hee would send mee
home into my country, or at leastwise into Portugal, which promise he
did sccomplish modt faithfully. In company of this Father, my nclfe
and three more of our com - from Surat the seventh day
of Oftober " (Parchar, ﬁﬂ’;‘#ﬁnﬂ, Vol. I, p. 231).  Similarly
%::;d:in,in m:ﬁnuwhumntluﬁu.up.“lhdktm

them of there kind usage by the Jesuits which carried them
theather ™ ( Fowrnal, p. 136).

(8 §1






PART 1I
THE TRAVELS OF BENEDICT GOES






CHAPTER 1
I sTrRobUCTORY

N.B.—This chapter is tuken from the Hifsire of Father P. dul{mic
(Part 11, pp, 494-498). Guerreiro’s narrative commences with the
next chapter,

Oneday, before the King [Akbar] left the city of Lahor
to go to Agra,' the Father Hicrosme Xauier was with
the Prince, his eldest son, when there came to the
palace a rich merchant, about sixty years of age, and
of the Muhammadan set, who having done reverence
to the Prince, and being asked whence he had come,
replied that he was just returned from the kingdom of
Xetay [Khitai],* which is the same, according to
Irather Xauier, as that which is called Catay, of which
Marc Paul the Venetian makes mention in his account
of his travels, and Ayton the Armenian® in his history.
It is also mentioned by certain of our modern authors,
who place it in Tartarie, or thereabouts.

In reply to the Prince’s enquiries about this kingdom,
and how long he had resided there, the merchant said
that he had been there for thirteen years, living in the
capital city, which he called Xambalu, being the same
that is called Cambalu by the writers above referred to,
some of whom say that it is twenty-four, and others
as much as thirty-two miles in circuit. It is also, the
Merchant said, the usual residence of the King, whom
he had seen many times, and who, according to his
account, is a very mighty monarch; for he has in his
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kingdom as many as fifteen hundred towns, and all
very populous, He said that no one ever addressed
the King except in writing, submitting a memorial
of whatever it was desired to communicate to, or ask
of him, to which he responded through the medium
of one of his eunuchs, who are his courtiers. Being
asked how he had been able to enter the country, he
replied that he had gone there in the character of an
ambassador of the King of Caygarem [Kashgar], but
that, notwithftanding this, he was detained by the
governor of the firét frontier town to which he came,
until the king had been informed of his arrival. This
was not done until the seals of the letters which he
carried had been examined, when 2 message was sent
to the King by a courier, who returned within a month
bringing permission for him to proceed to court.
The journey, he said, was easily accomplished, though
the distance was very great; for they changed horses
at each post, as in Europe, and were thus able to cover
each day ninety or a hundred cos, which would repre-
sent 28 many Italian miles, or from twenty-five to thirty
of our ordinary leagues. Throughout the journcy they
were free from molestation, for justice is very Strictly
adminiétered in those parts, and robbers are never
pardoned.

Questioned further as to the appearance and manners
of the inhabitants of the country, he said that he had
never seen handsomer people, preferring them to the
Rumes, that is to say to the Europeans (for thus the
people of the East designate the European Turks of
Constantinople and Greece, because of the Romans
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who once ruled over the whole world, and particularly
over Europe), that the men usually wore long beards,
and that all of them, both men and women, were of a
white complexion. As to their religion, he said that
they were for the most part Isauites, or lesautes,
meaning Christians, who are so called by these people
from the name Jesus, just as we say Jesuites, or just as,
at the commencement of the Church, men were called
Chrigtians from the name Chriét. Asked if all the
people were Chridtians, he replied that this was by no
means the case; for many of them were Mussauites,
that is to say, Jews (the people of this nation being so
named because Mussau, in the language of these
people, means Moses). There were also, he added,
others who were Muhammadans, ** And their King,"
asked the Prince, " is he a Muhammadan /" * Not
yet,” answered the merchant, * but it is hoped that he
will become one soon.”

At this point the conversation was interrupted; but to
please the Father, who had been much interested in
hearing about these things, the Prince told the mer-
chant that he must come again and tell him more about
this kingdom, and he fixed a day for the interview.
But the Father, being anxious to enquire more par-
ticularly about the religion of the people of Catay,
went before the day appointed to see the merchant in
his lodging, who again suid that the people were for the
most part lesavites, adding that he had been intimately
acquainted with many of them. He told the Father
that they had many churches, some of them very
large, in which were to be seen pictures both printed
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and coloured. Amongét these he had seen one of the
crucifix, to which the people paid great reverence.
Belonging to each church there was a priest much
respetted by his parishioners, from whom he received
many presents.  Father Xauier then asked if they had
any bishops. The merchant did not clearly under-
stand this question; but after it had been explained to
him, he said that there was certainly one of the priefts
who was the superior of the others. Continence and
chastity were striftly pratised by the priests; and there
were schools in which children who were to be ad-
vanced to the priesthood were taught. All such
children were maintained and fed by the King, who
also built the churches and kept them in repair.

The merchant said that the Fathers (meaning the
priests) wear black robes, and a bonnet on the head
“very like yours, but a little larger." When they
salute anyone, they do not remove their bonnets, but
join their hands in front of them, and raise them, with
the fingers interlaced, to their heads. They also wear
cloaks, and on feast-days clothe themselves in red.
As to those Christians who are not prieéts, they, too,
for the modt part dress in black, exchanging it for red
on feast-days. He had often seen the King go to
church, for he wasa Chriftian. Amongst the Chrigtians
there are many, both men and women, who withdraw
altogether from the world, and eake up their abode in
secluded houses where they lead solitary and auétere
lives, and never marry; while there are others who
practise the same austerities in their own homes.

The merchant said that the people of Catay were,
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as a general rule, well off, and that the country con-
tained many silver mines which were a source of great
wealth. The King maintained an eftsblishment of
four hundred elephants trained for war. These were
brought to him from Malaca. Merchants also came
there to trade from Pegu, which was diftant a six
months” journey.

All the above has been taken from a letter written
by Father Xauier from the city of Lahor on the 26th
July, 1598, to the Father Provincial of India. After
reaching Agra, whither he followed the King, the
Father obtained information from others who had been
to this same country, and finding that their reports con-
firmed the information he had received from the mer-
chant, he wrote further on the subje to the Father
Provincial, in a letter dated the 18t Auguét, 1399.
In this he said that Catay could be reached by travelling
through Bengala and the kingdom of Garagate [Ghora-
ghat],* where the empire of the Great Mogul terminates; -
but that the easiest route, and the one usually followed
by merchants, was that which commenced at Lahor,
and led through Caximir and Rebat [Tibet], whose
King was on very good terms with the Great Mogul,
$traight to Caygarem [Kashgar], whence it was but a
short diftance to the first town of Catay, which the
merchants say is inhabited by Chridtians.

In these letters the Father refers to a conversation
he had had with the King, to whom he said: * Sire,
our Superior has been told how in the kingdom of
Catay, there are many who profess the Christian faith,
of whom no sure tidings have been received in Europe
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for more than three hundred years, partly because they
are so far separated from other Chritians, and partly
because of the wars that have taken place in the
countries through which it is necessary to pass in order
to reach them. It is now the desire of our Superior
to send three or four Fathers® to see in what $tate these
Chriétians are, and aid them to attain salvation; for it is
our mission in life to travel the world, taking no account
of dangers, in order to show men the way to eternal
life” The King said in his own language, “ Rahat
met xoda " [Rakmat-i-Khuda], that is, ** God’s blessing
be upon you!" and added other words in praise of the
Company. Father Xauier then said that the Father
Provincial, knowing that there was no good road to
Catay except by passing through his territories, desired
to know if His Majesty was agreeable to his sending
some Fathers to Lahor, that they might journey thence
under his proteftion. In reply the King said they
would be welcome, and that he would send an am-
bassador with them, with whom they could travel in
safety. *“This,” wrote the same Father, “ will be a great
advantage, since all that lies between Cambaya and
Lahor belongs to the Great Mogul, and from there
one enters the kingdom of Bradaxa [Badakshan],
the ruler of which is a vassal of the Great Mogul, and
three of his children have been brought up at Lahor.”
Moreover, when the Fathers who firft came to Lahor
were teaching Portuguese to the sons of the chiefs,
lords and captains of the court, these three Jads were
amongét their pupils. He who now rules at Bradaxa
is their brother german, so that with his assistance,
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and with the letters of the Great Mogul, it should be
possible to reach Catay easily and safely.”

This is what was written by Father Xauier from the
court of the Great Mogul in the year 1599. Brother
Benoift de Gois has since been sent to discover this
land of Catay; but as he has not yet arrived there, at
any rate so far as we know, we cannot with certainty
say anything further concerning it. There are, how-
ever, many who believe that Catay is no other than the
kingdom of China.
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Lasore To YARKAND

Caravo, of which mention is made in other histories,
is a great empire, of which it is reported, on reliable
information, that the people are for the most part
Chriétians, but that there are amongét them both
Muhammadans and infidels. Although it has not yet
been ascertained what territories and provinces are
comprised in this empire, divers opinions thcreon have
been formed. From the §tories and writings of persons
worthy of credit it seems probable that Catayo, and not
Abexim [Abyssinia], as has been supposed hitherto,
is the real kingdom of Preéte loam of the Eadt, insearch
of whom Dom Ioam 11 of this realm sent men by land
to India, before the Portuguese found their way there
by sea.®

For it is known that when the King of Catayo goes
on horseback, he has carried before him three crosses,
the firét of gold, the second of silver, and the third of
some other metal. His name is Ionas. He has
authority over all both in spiritual and in temporal
matters. The eftablishment of Chriftianity amongét
the people was due to the blessed apoétle St. Thomas:
not that he went in person to these parts, or ever
visited Cambalu (called todsy Cambalab), the royal
city and metropolis where the Emperors reside; but
because some of his disciples went there to preach the
holy Gospel. By these the people were converted;
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and they kept their faith pure until their Emperors,
with the desire of extending their dominions, set out to
conquer the countries round about them. One of
the latter went as far as Syria and the holy land of
Jerusalem, and brought back with him some Chriftians
who had been infe@ed with the Nedtorian heresy; and
it was through them, as we may suppose, that certain
errors took root amonggl these people. By this it is
seen that it is the king of this country, and not the
King of Abexim, who is the real Preste Ioam of the
East. The common error of supposing that it was he
of Abexim originated with those whom, as we have
said above, Dom loam I1 sent to discover Preéte Ioam;
for he commanded them to search for an Eastern King
who was a Chrigtian, and beforewhom a crosswas always
carried. So having come to Egypt and the Red Sea,
and hearing of no other Chridtian ruler in those parts
save the King of Abexim, one of their number made his
way to that King's court; and when he found there
both Christians and crosses, he, and others who went
there afterwards and found the like, were persuaded
that this was none other than Preéte Ioam, and such they
proclaimed him to be; and this belief has been current
throughout Europe, though, as it appears, the real
Preste Ioam is the Emperor of Catayo. Morecover,
the Fathers who are in Mogor, who are continually
receiving information about this country, undertand
that it is in Tartaria, and that it extends to the wall of
China. They say also that it is more easily reached by
way of China than by way of Mogor, which confirms
what we have already said in our account of China in
127



TRAVELS OF BENEDICT GOES

regard to the intercourse of the Fathers of Paquim
[Peking] with these Chridtians.

The person chosen for this perilous mission and
voyage of discovery was a Brother of our Company
named Bento de Goges?® a native of the island of
St. Miguel, a man of great courage and many attain-
ments, and withal of such humility that, though fully
qualified for the priesthood, he could not be prevailed
upon to take that order. It was on account of his
many virtues, and also because he was well versed in
the Persian and Turkish languages, that he was seleted
for this important enterprise, # charge which he bravely
accepted, and which, as will be seen from his letters,
he undertook in willing obedience to the wishes of the
Fathers and Superiors of the Company, and for the
glory of God. It was considered that the best route
for him to follow was that which traversed the kingdom
of Mogor, as he would be able to join company with
others travelling that way. Ie was, accordingly,
sent from Goa, whither he had come with the Mogul
ambassador, to Laor, so that he might commence his
journey from thatcity. Here he made his preparations,
partly with the money which had been given to him
for the purpose in Goa, but mainly with the funds
supplied by the King Achebar, which amounted to
nearly four hundred ousadss of our money, a gift that
was greatly appreciated, and was the more remarkable
as coming from a Moorish king, and one who was
by no means renowned for his liberality. Even thus,
his resources were all too slender for a journey which
was likely to occupy, in the going and returning, at
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least four years; for the camel caravans, with which he
was to travel, move very slowly, traversing always vadt
campos and sandy deserts, and seldom passing any
cities on their way.

Bento Goges set out from Laor in the company of
the ambassador of the King of Caygar, who happened
providentially to be leaving Laor at this time. He
was dressed, not as a Portuguese or a Father, but,
after the fashion of the Moors, in cabaia and turban,
He wore a sword in his belt, and carried also a bow
and arrows; and to be able to journey with less danger
through that vast Moorish region, he assumed the
rile of a merchant. He took with him a man of the
Greek nation, by name Leam Grimam,* whom the
Fathers had chosen for his companion, Besides being
able to speak both Persian and Turkish, Leam Grimam
was a man of affairs and a good Christian. It was
solely on account of his affeétion for the Fathers of the
Company that he consented to go on this long and
hazardous journey, giving up the salaryhe received from
the King, which was a orwsads a day, and, what was a
much greater sacrifice, leaving his wife, to whom he
had only recently been married. '

That the reader may the better perceive the coura-
geous spirit in which our good Brother set forth on his
mission, I shall here quote some passages from the
letters he wrote to the Fathers and his Superiors at
Goa on the eve of his departure from Laor, and after
the commencement of his travels. In a letter to the
Father Vice-Provincial, dated the joth December,
1602, he wrote as follows:
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* It has plezsed God to bring me to this city of Laor, whence
1 am about to §tart for the country of Catayo. T should be
negleéting my bounden duty if 1 departed without firdt writing
to bid firewell to Your Reverence and my beloved Brothers
int the lands of the South, 1 bade farewell to Father Ieronimo
Xauier, and Father Antonio Machado at Agra on the 2gth Oéto-
ber. When I parted from them, I parted also from the dress
I was wearing, exchanging it for the costume of the country,
in which T am now attired. I will not attempt to tell Your
Reverence what my feelings were when I saw myself in these
&range garments, When they came to see me for the last time,
Father Xauier and Father Antonio Machado remained with
me the whole night giving me advice and inftruétion. It was
with a sorrowful heart that I took leave of them and set out for
Laor. On the way, some took me for a Saiyid, which means
4 descendant of Mafamede, and others for a grandee of the
kingdom of Meca; but they little knew the school in which 1
had been brought up. May God be praised for all his blessings.

“ 1 arrived at Laor on the Bth December, the day of the
Conception of our Lady. 1 made my arrival known to Father
Manoel Pinheyro and Father Corsi, but did not go to their
house, as I had been inftrufted not to do so.  Father Manoel
Pinheyro came to see me, being much concerned that he could
not entertain me, as is the cuftom of our Company, I am
{taying in the house of a Venetian named loao Galisco, where
I am playing the part of & merchant. To make my disguise
more complete, | am wearing 2 beard reaching to my breadt,
and long hair, as is the fashion amongst these people.  All this,
my Father, I am doing for the love of the Lord, who so greatly
loveth us, and suffered for us. [ beg your Reverence after
reading this to say & mass for me to our Lady of Victory, that
she may enable me to triumph over all my enemies and diffi-
culties; and I beg the same of all the Fathers and Brothers of
these parts.  They know well that those amongét whom I am
going are walves, the arch enemies of our faith; but I go con-
fident that I have their prayers.
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“1 am now known as Banda Abedula, that is * Servant of
God,"™ a name which Father leronimo Xaujer gave to me
when we parted.  The seal on this letter is made with the ring
which, following the cuftom of the country, I now wear on my
finger. The King has been Very generous to me. He has
furnished me with many of the necessities for my journcy, and
has also paid me for the whole time that T was in Indie® With
this money, amounting to more than a thousand rupees, the
Fathers have paid off some debts, and I have defrayed the codt
of my journey from India to Agra. May God make His
Majedty 2 Chrigtian, which s the greatest good we can desire
for him in this life. It remains only for me to send my greetings
to your Reverence and to the Fathers and Brothers in those
parts.  May the peace of Jesus Christ be with them and with
you. Amen. From Laor, the joth December, 1602."

In ariother letter written before his departure to
Father leronimo Xauler, dated the 24th Februatry,”
1603, he says:

T write in reply to the letter of farewell which your Rever-
ence has addressed to this your Brother, My Father, our Lord
alone knows how my heart overflowed with affeftion as I read
and dtudied your words, Your Reverence does well to en-
courage his weak Brother with such letters and counsels. |
cannot help repeating the words of the Apcstle Paul, * I live,
and yet not I, but Christ liveth in me % for it was by meditating
on the teaching and words of Chridt, that he came to say so many
marvellous things in his Epiftles. Therefore, reverend Father,
I'beg you, who are so learned in the holy Scriptures, that yois
will not cease to water this barren soul of mine which so sorely
needs divine ftrength, so that [ may be able to raise and bring
back fruit from the lands of Carayo, whither my duty calls me 4
and though our Company of Jesus desires to build so lofy
an edifice, with foundations as decp as its great height requires,
yet I shall find support in the words of the haly Scriptures,
* God is able of these ftones, ete.’ Although, my Father, you
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myself, and remain always proftrate at your feet, kissingg them
many times, and asking pardon for my faults. I leave my soul
in your hands, living sacrifice before the moét holy Trinity.
May Jesus Chrift grant that my eycs may yet in_ this life look
upon your Reverence; then shall 1 be able to sing the song of
Symeam, ' Lord, now letteit thou thy servant depart in peace.’
And if it shall be that we do not sce each other again, he who
firdt enters beatitude shall be mediator before God for the
other that the day may quickly dawn when he shall escape from
the trials and tempests of this life.

t As Senhor Leam Grimao, whom I am well content to have
as & companion, has now arrived, we have decided ro take the
road without delay, We have purchased camels and we Start
on Sunday, Today, which is the firit Friday in Lent, we arc
carrying our belongings to the other side of the river,® where
vhere is @ caravan which is about to leave for Cabul. I am
taking with me the memorands and inftru@ions which your
Reverence has sent to me together with my Jetters-patent, and
s letter for those at Catayo, and another for the Fathers at
Paquim in China. Tam slso taking a memorandum from the
Archhishop of Goa trearing about the schisms which have
appeared amongst these people, and in addition I have a paper
on which are written all the moveable fasls down to the year
t620. 1am going very well provided, needing only the offer-
ings and prayers of the Fathers of India and Europe, ro whom
I beg your Reverence to write asking them to commend me to
God. [ carry with me, on my head, the sign and nzme of our
reverend Father General, together with the vows thar I have
made before God and the whole court of heaven, as well as the
signature [ firma] of your Reverence, and of the Father Boba-
dilha, and of our visiting Father, Nicolao Pimenta and our
Father Provincial, Nuno Rodrigues. All these 1 carry in
a kind of Moorish religuary, which I kecp folded in 2 turban.
On my breaft I wear a cross with two evangils, one from
§. Toam, In principic era verbum, and the other from S, Marcos
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Euntes mundsn wniversum. These are the panoply in which
I goarmed. [ beg your Reverence to write and obtain for me
the unceasing prayers of my brother novices, who are very dear
to me because of their fellowship with Christ our Lord.  And
because they are the tender plants in a garden which is conftantly
watered with grace from heaven, it cannot but be that their
prayers and penances will find acceptance in His sight.

“ My Father, it is time that we were on our way, 1 muit
therefore bring this letter to an end. But my thoughts of
your Reverence do not end with it; for my heart can never
lose the memory of the affetion and kindness which your
Reverence has always shown to his brother Bento de Goes;
nor shall T ever lay aside the counsels which, as one experienced
and schooled in the adversities of the world, you havesent to me
at this hour of my departure; for those who have never suffered,
who have never been cold, ar hungry, or forsaken, cannot tell
what such trials mean. Thus, outwardly, I bid your Reverence
farewell, and crave your holy blessing; but inwardly 1 am &l
with you. Written from Laor, the 14th of February, 1603."

In another letter written after he had travelled a
distance of 102 ross (equal to as many Italian miles)
he thus replied to one he had received from Father

Manoel Pinheyro:

* Your Reverence's letter written on the 4th March, con-
taining news of the realm, reached me on the 7th of the month.
I cannot describe the joy and the longings with which it filled
my heart; nor can I help shedding many tears on account of the
love which I have for my Brothers, whom I remember every
duy inmy solitude.  For it is my chief recreation to think abour
them, whereby my spirit is greatly refreshed. Owing to the
difficulties and the turmoil of the journey, I am unable to
observe the regular times and forms of prayer. 1 therefore use
ejaculatory prayers [jaculitorias ], communing with God in my
heart; and thus I gain ftrength to bear this cross, which o others
may seem heavy, but which to me seems light and pleasant,
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since T bear it for love of the Creator of all things. We are
dtill fafting, taking our meal only at night. Though we have
to pay much for it, our fare consiéts only of a little rice with
ghee, some coarse cakes [apas],® and some onions; if we can get
a little salt fish, we count it a treat, though it causes thindl.
The cold is very severe, for we are passing mountaing covered
with snow. But of all these trials, which I bear with serenity,
I make your Reverence, and all who belong to this Mission,
partakers. Trudting in your Reverence’s holy masses, etc.

“ Written from the province of Gagar, 102 ¢ess from Laor.™®

In another letter written after he had been six
months on his way, he wrote that he was amongst very
barbarous and savage people; but that, having God with
him, he had no fear. To a barbarian king, who
threatened to have him thrown under the feet of
elephants, he replied calmly that he was not afraid, and
that he desired nothing better than to die for the love
of the true God and Creator of the universe.
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CHAPTER III*
A1 YargaxD

Recarpina the progress of this mission, the success of
which is so earnedtly desired, there is at this time only
one letter from Brother Bento de Goes who has gone
to explore this Chridtian country. It was written
on the 2nd February, 1604,® when the Brother was at
Hircande [Yarkand] at the court of the King who
rules over Cascar [Kashgar] and other territories sub-
jeét to him. In this letter he writes that as soon as it
became known that an Armenian Rume had arrived,
who was not a follower of their accursed prophet, all
the people of the court were filled with astonishment,
for they could not belicve that the world contained a
man of intelligence who followed any law but their
own. When his arrival had been made known to the
King, the Brother went to pay his respeéls, taking with
him a present, as is cuStomary in these parts. ‘This
consiéted of one large and three smaller mirrors, &
silken cloth to spread on the royal dais [effradb], a
white cloth with coloured étripes, three loaves of sugar,
and some sweetmeats® The King accepted the
present, and at this interview nothing further transpired.
A day or two later he sent for Goes and ordered him to
bring with him the holy gospel and the cross, having
been told about these things by one of his vassals, or
Captains, who had been to the Brother's lodging to
inspe@ his belongings, and to see if he could find
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among#t them any curiosities for the King. Amongst
other things the Captain saw a breviary and a richly
ornamented cross, and he asked what they were. The
Brother said that the book related to the holy Gospel of
Jesus Chriét, and that the cross was the emblem of the
Chriftians, and was a representation of thaton which the
Son of God died to save the world. The Captain wanted
to take these things to the King; but the Brother per-
susded him not to take them away, and begged him to
say nothing about them to the King. The Captain
promised that he would disclose nothing; but the
moment he reached the palace he gave an account of
all that he had seen; and very soon afterwards the
Brother was sent for, as we have already said. In
compliance with this order, he made his way to the
palace, where he found the King surrounded by
numerous gentlemen and lords of his court, all of whom
wore long beards, which gave them a very venerable
appearance. After he had made his obeisance, the
King expressed his desire to sec the holy Gospel, that is,
the breviary mentioned above. With great reverence
the Brother drew it from the covering in which he had
carefully folded it, and having kissed it, placed it on his
head, the whole court watching him attentively. Then
a courtier came forward to take it and hand it to the
King. Before entrusting it to him, Brother Goes
again kissed it and placed it on his head, and the
courtier on taking it did the same, as did also the King
when it was put into his hands. When he opened it,
the King was astonished to see how small the letters
were, and yet so perfectly formed. He asked the
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Brother if he could read the boak; and on his saying
that he could, he told him to read some portion of it
aloud. The first passage on which the Brother’s eye
fell happened to be the antiphony which is sung on the
day of the Ascension of our Lord, Firi Galilei quid ftatis
aspicientes in calum, etc. These words he intoned in a
loud voice, and with so much devetion that tears fell
from his eyes. Observing his emotion, the Moors
too were moved to tears and sighs. They asked him
to tell them the meaning of the words he had recited,
and the Brother, rejoicing at the opportunity thus
given him of proclaiming the name of Christ in the
presence of these infidels, discoursed to them on the
Ascension, on the coming of the Holy Spirit on the
Apostles, and, in particular, on the Day of Judgment.
Then, opening the breviary again, he read the psalm
beginning, Miserere mei Deus, which he also briefly
explained to them. His words made a great im-
pression on the infidels, who looked at one another in
open-mouthed surprise, and the King in his astonish-
ment said, “ What marvellous thing is this ?"

When asked to exhibit the cross, the Brother drew
it forth, and kissing it with great respect, said, address-
ing the King, * Sire, this is the symbol of the Christians;
and when we pray we place it before us.” They asked
him to which quarter the Chritians turned when they
prayed; and he answered, * To all quarters; for God is
in all” They then enquired if the Christians used
ablutions. He told them, not as they did, attending
only to the washing of the body. Our ablutions, he
said, were spiritual washings, cleansing the conscience;
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for we hold that mere outward washings cannot profit
the soul while the conscience is full of sin and un-
cleanness. In the end they were all very satisfied
with what they had heard. But none felt more satis-
fation than the good Brother, who looked on the hard-
ships and perils he had encountered as blessings, since
they had enabled him to make known in the court of
such a King the gospel of Chriét, and His coming
again on the last day.

The King afterwards sent many times for the Brother.
On one occasion he showed him a number of manu-
scripts. Amongst them were some that were very
beautifully illuminated and inscribed in round
charaéters of a red colour. The King asked what these
were about. The Brother finding that they dealt
with the mystery of the Holy Trinity, commenced to
speak on this subject, emphasising in particular, as did
also these writings, the unity of God, and dwelling on
His greatness and amnipotence; how all things that we
see depend upon Him, and He on nothing; how He
was the beginning of all things, though all things are
in Him; and other matters of a like nature as God gave
him utterance. The Moors were again deeply im-
pressed by the Brother's words, and said one to another,
“ Are these the people we call Caffres, and men with-
out a law ? Their knowledge of God is no less than
ours!” And the King said, * Truly this man is a
Mulla.”

Not long afterwards, the chief Moors of the place
took counsel together saying, how excellent it would
be if this man could be forced to accept the law of
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salvation; for it is grievous to think that one so worthy
of réspet must die and go to hell. But others said,
what is the use of talking like this? You may strike
him on the head with a sledge-hammer, but do not
think you will make him abandon his law. There was
one of them, however, who made the affair his own, and
used every means he could devise to carry it through,
until one evening the Brother went to see him in his
house, and said to him, * Sir, why do you take all this
useless trouble 7 You do not underdtand that my law
is the essence of my being. [If it is my property you
want, you know where it is to be found, and you have
only to go and take it. Or here is my body, which,
if you like, you can tear to picces. In either case |
shall count myself as fortunate” After this, the
Moor abandoned his purpose, and never spoke of
it again.

On another occasion he was sent for by Merisachias
[Mirza Ghyas 7], the King's chief minister and a very
powerful lord, who asked many things about the
Chridtians and their ways. The Brother answered
all his quetions, telling him of our customs, and of the
Chriftian practice of self-examination which greatly
surprised him. One of those present, out of pity for
the Brother, asked him to repeat with him the saluta-
tion to Mafamede, so that he might be saved, for there
was nothing else that he needed. He then began, with
much fervour, to intone it [presumably the kalimah],
and was much disconcerted to find that the Brother
did not join in his prayer. The other Moors ground
their teeth in anger, and a tumult arose, in the midst
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of which a sword was called for. In no way dis-
composed, the Brother turned to him who had sum-
moned him, and in a calm voice said, * You ordered me
to come to you, and I am here under your parole. By
replying courteously to your questions, what injury
have I done you ?” This answer completely appeased
the anger of the Moors, and many things were said in
praise of the Brother.

Before reaching this city, the Brother had been able,
in circumétances of which we know little (owing to the
loss of the letters referring thereto), to do a service
to the Queen of this country, who, while journeying
from a certain place, had been robbed of her baggage
containing all her personal possessions, and was thus
left without even the ordinary necessities of life. Bento
de Goes happened to be in the place to which she had
come, and hearing of her plight, assisted her, as far
as his means permitted, with funds for her immediate
expenses. When this became known, there was
great astonishment amongét the infidels, and especially
at the King's court, where all praised the Brother and
thanked him for his service to their Queen, who had
found in him, a §tranger, the assitance she had sought
in vain amongst her countrymen.

The Queen reached the court after the Brother had
arrived there. Many people, with gifts in their hands,
went forth from the city to welcome her. A message
was sent to the Prince, her son, to whose residence
[i.e. Khotan] it was an eight days' journey, and he
came post-haéte to see his mother. Two days after
his arrival, the Brother went to see him, armed with
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his present. On being informed that he had come,
the Prince at once came out to receive him. The
Brother, following the custom of the country, would
have embraced his feet; but the Prince would not per-
mit this, and taking him kindly by the arm raised him
to his feet. He then made enquiries after his health,
and asked how old he was, where he had come from,
and why he had left his own country. He also said
that he had ordered the repayment in full of the amount
he had advanced to the Queen.

This Prince is twenty-six years of age. Heisofa
very amiable disposition, and is well liked by the
people, who will gladly welcome him to the throne
on the death of him who now reigns. He was very
friendly in his behaviour to Brother Goes, showing
him so much favour that, besides always giving him a
seat near his own, he told him that when he wished to
come to his house he need not trouble to send word
beforehand, but that he was to come at once into his

resence and sit down without ceremony. Having
been told of the breviary, he asked that it might be
brought to him. His requeét having been complied
with, he kept the book for so long a time that at |ast
the Brother asked that it might be returned to him.
The Prince at first looked somewhat abashed, and then
said with a smile, “ If 1 do not let you have it again,
what will you do #" * Sire,” said the Brother, “it is
not the cuftom of Kings to use force with their sub-
jeéts:™ & reply which pleased the Prince and those
who were with him. Some of the latter asked him to
send for the book, which they were very anxious to
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see. But he took no notice of their request; and a few
moments later he rose, and took the Brother with him to
his apartment, giving orders that no one else was to be
admitted, He then told 2 servant to bring the breviary;
and when the man was about to deliver it to Goes,
the Prince stopped him, and rising from his seat,
himself took the book from the servant, and kissing
it, placed it in the hands of the Brother, at the same time
begging him to read aloud and explain some portions
of it. By the manner in which he read, the Brother
brought tears into the Prince's eyes. Amongst other
things he spoke to him about the power of the Pope,
the manner of his election, and what he represents on
earth, of the way in which Christians make confession
of their sins, of the hospitals and houses of mercy
which they maintain, of the power and majesty of our
Kings, of the bishops and cardinals, and of the govern-
ment of Christian States: all of which things interested
the Prince so much, that he could talk to his companions
of nothing else.  After some days, he went back to his
estates whence he had come. He tried to persuade
the Brother to accompany him, assuring him that he
had nothing to fear, “My own sword” he said,
* shall proteét you

In the city of Hircande, the residence of the King
of these realms, there are 4 hundred mosques. Every
Friday a Moor comes to the market-place [praca] and
in a loud voice bidsall men remember that it is Friday,
and that it is their duty to attend the principal mosque
and perform the ceremonies and prayers ordained in
therr Alcoran.  Afterwards twelve men come forth
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from the mosque armed with leathern thongs, with
which they chastise all whom they meet who have not
said their prayers; and those who are beaten are ab-
solved from their sin.® Each quarter of the city has
its own mosque, to which all the people of that quarter
are obliged to go five times a day to pray. If they do
not go, they are made to pay fines. As the Brother
did not attend these wamazas [prayers], as they call
them, the cacizes® tried to make him pay the fine,
putting him to much trouble. So at last he went to
the King and told him that the Mullas, who are the
cacizes, would not leave him in peace and demanded
his money. On hearing his étory, the King and those
who were with him laughed heartily; nevertheless, the
cacizes were reprimanded, and the King told the
Brother that he was free to live as he liked, and that no
one should interfere with him.

God gave such grace to this Brother that there was
no one who had any dealings with him who did not
become his friend. There was never a feadt in the city
to which he was not invited. On these occasions they
used to ask him questions about the Christian faith,
which he thus had many opportunities of expounding.
The Moors themselves used to preach every day near
one of their schools. Large numbers of mats were
brought for the people to sit upon, and a high chair
for the preacher. Close to the chair a staff was
stuck in the ground, which from time to time the
preacher grasped, raising himself from his seat and
continuing his harangue with many gesticulations.
The sermons always dealt with stories of their
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false prophet, and were direfted against Caffres and
Chrigtians.

Concerning the continuation of his journey for the
fulfilment of his mission, the Brother made arrange-
ments to travel in the company of an ambassador who
was going from Hirchande to Trufam [Turfan], where
caravans are formed for journeying to Catayo. This
ambassador, who was & much-respeéted person, assured
the Brother that he could both take him and bring him
back safely, and he added that it was many years since
any of our people had been to those parts. It is the
custom for ambassadors to purchase [the leadership of |
these journeys. The price paid by this man was
200 bags of musk, which he delivered to the King
before setting out. As the ambassador can take with
him [into Catayo] only seventy-two persons, merchants
bribe him heavily to be included in this sumber. Those
who pay but little are excluded; but to all who bring
him presents the ambassador pledges his word, which
he afterwards breaks in many cases, since all cannot
enter with him. They ftart from this city, but travel
very slowly on account of the numbers that join the
ambassador, who makes a big profit.

The journey onwards to Trufam takes forty days,
from thence to Camur [Camul] seven days, and from
Camur to the gates of Catayo eleven days.” However
many travellers there may be, they never allow more
than seventy-two to pass in. To each of these a horse
is supplied for every stage of the journey, and two
attendants, as well as expenses for food whilst travelling
through those parts. They say that five hundred mules
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are supplied for each day’s march until the court is
reached.

Here in Hircande the Brother found fans [abanes],
paper, ticks of ink [ pao de tinta], porcelain, and rhubarb,
all of which come from Catayo; and by sea, from the
other side, it is said that seed pearls [a/jofar], cinnamon,
and cloves [eravo], are brought into Catayo, while in
the country itself is to be found abundance of ginger
and loaf-sugar. From this it would appear that Catayo,
though it is not the same as China (since what is related
of the kings of Catayo is quite different from what we
know for certain of the kings of China), is very near to,
and closely resembles it.

The Brother was also greatly pleased and encouraged
by seeing some paintings on paper which had come from
Catayo. Amongsét them was one representing & man
wearing a biretta on which a cross was fixed, and
another man $tood before him with folded hands, This
appeared to be the portrait of some bishop. He also
saw painted on porcelain a Franciscan monk hanging
by his girdle, with what looked like a tonsure on
his head, though he wore the long beard of a
Chinaman,

[n travelling to Hircande the Brother traversed the
worst roads he had met with in the whole of his journey,
his route lying through the deserts of Pamech [Pamir].
The cold was so intense that five of his horses died.
The country was uninhabited and no fire-wood was
obtainable. The air was so bad that men could hardly
breathe, while their horses suffered to such an extent
that many collapsed suddenly, and fell dead for want of
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breath. Againét this their only remedics were garlic,
onions, or dried apricots, which they ate themselves
and applied to the mouths of their animals. This
desert is crossed in forty days when there is snow, and
at other times more rapidly. It is infested with savage
robbers, who lic in wait for caravans and commit many
atrocities.

Since the receipt of the letter of the 2nd February,
from which we learnt the particulars given above, there
has come to hand another written in August of the
same year from which we learn that he was able to make
good arrangements for the continuation of his journey.
The Captain of the caravan with which he was to travel
offered to include him amongst the five who go asambas-
sadars; but he felt that he could not afford to live up to
this position,and was content to go as one of the seventy-
two passengers. He says also in this letter that while he
was in the city of Hircande, the King and all the people
showed him much kindness, and'in particular the Prince
above mentioned, with whom the Brother spent some
days in the citywhere he lived. Chrigtian merchants will
never meet with such friendly treatment in these parts;
but will find the people only too ready to rob them
of their goods and drink their blood. This is well
illuétrated by the behaviour of = certain Moor, who
was the agent of the devil himself, though all the people
looked on him as a Saint. One day, this man, who
gloried in his reputation, and claimed that he had
caused the deaths of many people by his invocations
came up to the Brother, with whom were many other
people, and holding a knife to his breast bade him say

146



AT YARKAND

the salutation to his Mafamede, or forfeit his life. His
countrymen who were étanding around said one to
another, that it must have been revealed to him in 2
vision that he would be doing God a service by slaying
this man; but some foreign merchants came forward
and took the knife from his hands. The Brother,
meanwhile, had merely smiled at the Moor's threats
and violent language; and this drove him to such fury
and indigmation that he swore great oaths that he would
have the Chrigtian merchant’s life. But God proteted
his pilgrim, and caused him to be looked on with such
favour wherever he went that, though he did not escape
the enmity of men like this Moor, there were always
others ready to defend him. But in these and all other
dangers he encountered his only reliance was on the
fountain of all good. Thus, his manner of life was an
example to all at this court, who, despite their false
beliefs, admitted to one another thar they had never
known so righteous a man as the Brother, or any
Armenian like him. It was because of the respeét
in which he was held that a certain merchant who had
come from Moscouia, and who sometimes made the
sign of the cross, came to him and besought him for a
remedy for his little son who for a year past had been
lying ill, with none to afford him relief. As he had
been on friendly terms with this merchant, the Brother
went to his house to see the child, mking his breviary
with him. This he placed on the patient’s head, after
which he read the Gospel to him, and before departing
hung a cross about his neck. Within three days, by
the will of God, the child was cured.
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Before his departure, a caravan arrived from Catayo.
But the Moors who came with it could tell him nothing
of the country except that the inhabitants were cafares,
which means people without a law. Some called them
Franks, which is a name they give to all Portuguese
and Chriétians. The Brother also found at Hircande
a captive king of Tabete [Tibet], who had been cap-
tured by a trick and brought there three years pre-
viously. His name was Gombuna Miguel [Gompo
Namgyal].* The Brother sometimes went to see him;
but he was unable to under&tand his language, and all
that he learnt from him by means of signs was that in
his country they read the Angil [Kanjur 7],° that is to
say, the Evangelho. Amongé those who came with
him, however, there was a doftor by name Lunrique,'®
who could speak Persian, and he told the Brother that
in his land there was no circumcision; but that on the
eighth day children are taken to their Botelhana,''
which is their church, and that their [tolama washes
them and names them after the Saints which are painted
in their churches.  He also said that their chief Father,
whom they call Cumgao,'® wears a mitre on his head and
a robe which resembles a chasuble; that the people
observe a faét of forty days during which they abétain
from food till nightfall, and take neither wine nor flesh;
but at the end of the forty days they make a great feast
and again eat flesh; he said that they have the Angil,
which is the Evangelho; that their Fathers do not
marry; that they believe ina day of judgment, and in
cight hells and three paradises, to all of which names
are given; that each of the hells is for the expiation of
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particular crimes, and each paradise for the enjoyment
of particular rewards. He said further that some of
their grandees were in Catayo, which was 2 month’s
journey from their Tabete, and that those in Catayo
would be very glad to sec the Brather.
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CHAPTER IV?
YAREAND TO SucHou

I the earlier portions of our narrative we wrote all
that we then knew concerning the mission undertaken
by Brother Bento de Goes of our Company for the dis-
covery of the Chritians said to be living in the realms
of Catayo, and of what befell him on his way. As it
has pleased God that he should accomplish his mission,
though the end was not what he had expected, we shall
now tell what we know of the remainder of his journey
and how it ended. But firét, to preserve the thread
of our $tory, we shall briefly recapitulate what we have
already written.

This good Brother, then, left the city of Agra and the
court of the Great Mogor on the 6th of January, 1603.%
In order that he might not be recognised as a European,
he travelled in the guise of an Armenian merchant,
carrying 2 bow and arrows, and wearing a beard and
long hair, but showing by the manner of his dress that
he was a Chridtian. He was accompanied by a Greek
deacon named Ledo, and a merchant, also a Greek,
named Demetrio. He also took with him another
Chriftian Armenian named Tsaac, a married man of that

city, who was his faithful companion throughout the

whole of his journey, and until his death. From Agra

he went to Lahor, which is also the Great Mogor's

capital; and from there he set out for the East with a

caravan of merchants. After a journey of nearly four
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months they arrived at Papur [Peshawar]’ where they
halted twenty days. In Cafriétdo,* which they reached
in twenty marches, they halted for a similar period,
after which they journeyed for twenty-five days to
Zedeli [Jagdalak]’, being much troubled by brigands as
they approached this city. From Zedeli they travelled
in twenty days to Cabul, a large and very busy city,
where they remained for eight months.® Some of the
merchants were left behind here, and with them the
two Greeks who had accompanied Brother Goes.”

In this city the Brother met the siéter of the King
of Cascar [Kashgar], who was also mother of the
ruler of Cotao [Khotan]. She was known by the title,
Ahchanam, which amongst the Moors, signifies “ the
beatified lady from Meca" To this lady, who on
arriving at Cabul found herself in straitened circum-
&tances, the Brother rendered valuable assiétance, in
return for which he afterwards received tokens of
gratitude both from the lady and from her son. From
Cabul the caravan went on to Characar [Charikar],"
where the Brother became seriously ill, and he had not
fully recovered when his journey recommenced. Atthe
end of forty-five days the caravan reached Calcs,®
a land where the people are of a ruddy complexion and
fair-haired [ruinos & Jourss], and proceeded thence
to a place called Talhan [Talikhan], which was reached
in twenty-five days. On leaving here they suffered
much at the hands of brigands. The Brother was
amongét those who suffered loss, as well as much ill-
usage at the hands of the Moors. Once when he was
some distance from his companions, four brigands
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came down upon him. Seeing that they intended to
rob him, he took a coftly turban, and placing a stone
in it, fung it as far away as he was able," anticipating
what actually happened; for whilst the thieves were
quarrelling as to whose the prize should be, he put spurs
to his horse and made good his escape. As they con-
tinued on their way they were repeatedly attacked by
bands of robbers, who inflited many indignities on
them as well as hard blows. They also endured many
hardships on account of the roughness of the roads and
the snow which covered them; while the cold was so
severe that many of the travellers died from its effefts,
and the Brother barely escaped the same fate.

At ladt, however, in the month of November, 1603,
they reached the metropolis of the kingdom of Cascar,
which is a very populous city named Hircande [Yar-
kand]. Ascaravans from Cabul do not proceed beyond
this city, a fresh arrangement had to be made for the
onward journey. The Brother was detained here a
year, waiting for a favourable opportunity to set forth.

In this city he again met the Lady from Meca who
used her influence on his behalf, so that he was well
received by the King, her brother, who also afforded
him assistance in preparing for his journey. On the
14th of November he set out with a caravan, the com-
mand of which the King had sold to one of the principal
merchants, who was given complete authority over
all the others.  After travelling for nearly a year™ they
reached a city called Chalis [Kara-shahr], On this
journey they traversed many wild and rugged tracls
and waterless deserts, encountering hardships as severe
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as any that they had previously endured. The
Brother was often in great peril; but God miraculously
delivered him from the hands of the Moors and in-
fidels, who hate the very name of Christian, and whose
cursed law pardons those who ill-use or slay the followers
of the Christian faith,

Chalis is a small town, but well fortified. Here the
Brother met some Moors who, under the pretence of
being ambassadors, had been to China to sell their
merchandise. These told him that at the court of
Pachim (which they call Hambalac, or Cambuluc),
there were some Chriétian Strangers who had given the
King 2 big present consiéting of clocks, clavichords
[eramos pera taxger], pictures, and other things, and that
they had been well received by the King and the nobles
of the realm. It turned out that these Moors, whilst
at Paquim, which was in the year 1601, had been lodged
next to Father Matheus Ricio and his companions, in
the garden [cerca] where étrangers are quartered, and
had frequent intercourse with them, Being fond of
curiosities, they had brought back with them a piece
of paper with Portuguese writing on it which they
showed to Bento de Goes.* The Brother was very
glad to see this, and felt convinced that these Christian
people must be the Fathers of the Company whom he
knew had gone to China with the intention of proceed-
ing to Paquim.

While in Chalis, the Brother made a present to the
Lord of the country, and asked that he might be per-
mitted to go on in advance of the caravan. This was
granted, though it was contrary to the will of the
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Captain. When making out his passport, the King
asked him how he wished that this should be done. He
replied that he should be described as being of the law
of Jesus, which in the Moorish tongue would be
signified by the words, Abdula issac [Abdullak isawi=
Abdullah the Chritian).** On hearing this, one of the
oldest of the cacizes who were present, removing his
turban and placing it on the ground, said, ** This man
is a true follower of his law, which he confesses in the
presence of your Highness, and before all of us, who,
were we to find ourselves amongét Chrigtians, would
deny our law, and through fear, or for worldly con-
siderations, pass ourselves off as Christians, being
nothing of the kind.”

Having departed from Chalis, the Brother came, on
the 17th of Ottober, 1605, to Camul, where he re-
mained for the space of a month. He then resumed
his march, and in nine days’ time'* reached the walls
of China. Here at la§t—after all the vicissitudes of his
$trange and perilous journey, which he had undertaken
for the love of God and in faithful obedience to the
wishes of his Superiors, as well as on account of his own
carnest desire to discover that remote Chridtian com-
munity in search of which he had been sent—here at
laét he was finally convinced that there was in the world
no other Catayo but the kingdom of China, and that
the information which the Moors had brought to the
court of the great Mogul, and all that they had related
of the grandeur of the King of Catayo, and of the
Chriétians over whom he ruled, were either the out-
come of their ignorance or deliberate fabrications,
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This was confirmed by Father Mattheus Ricio who,
in a letter written on the 12th November, 1607,'* to
the Father Provincial of India, said that Christendom
and the world in general need no longer be under any
misapprehension in regard to the country of Catayo,
which was none other than China, As to the Chriétians
who were reported to be in this kingdom, and more
particularly in the provinces of Xensi [Shen-si] and
Honam [Honan], he said that he had sent Brothers
of the Company, natives of China, to each of these

rovinces to make enquiries and clear the matter up;
and that it had been ascertained by these Brothers
that there had atually been many Christian families
in these parts who had continued to follow their law
up to the beginning of the laét half-century; but that
since then, fearing that the Chinese sought to kill
them, as being descendants of the Tartars who five
hundred years previously had subdued China, they had
all dispersed and abandoned their law, and today they
would not admit that they are the descendants of those
Christians.

But to return to our good Brother Bento de Goes.
Having reached, as we have said, the walls of China,
he was obliged to wait outside them for twenty-five
days whilét a messenger was sent to the Tutam® to
obtain permission for him and his companions to pass
in. When he was allowed to proceed, which was at
the end of the year 1608, the names of all were written
down and a lit was made of the goods which they
carried. The day after passing through the walls he
arrived at the city of Subecheo [Su<chou],™ and he at
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once dispatched a letter to the Fathers at Paquim,’™
of whom he heard further news from some Moors in
this city. Of the companions with whom he had set
out, the two Greeks, Ledo and Demetrio, left him at
Hircande;*® only Isaac remained with him always and
entered China with him., He had also some servants
whom he had picked up during his journey, The
caravan of Moors with which he had travelled arrived
six months later.

The Brother was in this city for fifteen or sixteen
months waiting for the safe-conduét which he had
asked the Fathers to obtain for him, together with the
passport which, as a foreigner, he required to enable
him to pass through China to the court at Paquim. At
the end of that time, there came to him a Brother of
our Company named loao Fernandez, a native of
China, whom Father Mattheus Riccio, on learning
of his arrival, sent in search of him.

For a month past, Goes had been on a bed of sick-
ness; and Fernandez found him completely worn-out
by the hardships he had been through, and so emaci-
ated that he appeared to be a living skeleton. Even
though, during his journey through those vast interiors
which he went to explore, he had suffered no other
diétress but that of finding in the great kingdoms
through which he passed so many millions devoted
to the cursed law of Mafamede, and not a single soul
that knew the true faith, it would have seemed like a
miracle that he lived to get as far as he did. How
much more miraculous, then, does it seem when, in
addition to his agony of mind, we remember the bodily
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sufferings which he endured, and that he was ever in
the evil company of the Moors, who are so full of
deceit and malice that the Brother had good reason for
saying that no Chriétian could make by land such a
pilgrimage as this owing to the treacherous charatter
of the Moors.

No one can imagine, nor can words describe the joy
of Bento de Goes on learning of the arrival of loam
Fernandez, and on seeing once more a Brother of the
Company of Jesus. He welcomed him as though he
had been an angel sent from heaven. Nor did he
rejoice less at the good tidings which Fernandez
brought to him of the Fathers, and of the good work
they had done in China, Taking the letters which
had been brought to him from the Father, he kissed
them reverently, and raising his hands to heaven sang
the song of the aged Simeam, while his eyes filled with
tears of pure devotion and joy. All that night he kept
the letters clasped in his hands, giving continual
thanks to our Lord for bringing him to the end of his
long pilgrimage, which he had undertaken in obedience
to, and for the glory of God, and the salvation of souls.
For although he did not find the Chriftians of Catayo
who were believed to be in exitence, he did, in his
love for them, the utmosét that duty could demand.
loam Fernandez was anxious to make arrangements
forthwith for taking him to Pachim, as he had been
ordered to do by Father Mateus Ricio. But the good
Brother knew that this could not be; and realising that
his hour was faét approaching he desired to be left in
peace. Consoled by the presence of Brother loam
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Fernandez, he spent the few days that remained to
him in earnest preparation for his journey into eternity,
upon which he entered on the r1th of April, 1607;%
for on that day he died, leaving us assured that he had
gone to enjoy the bliss which he had merited by a life
50 holy and so full of good works.

This blessed Brother was a native of Villafranca in
the island of 5. Miguel. He was a member of the
Order for nineteen years, having entered it at the age
of twenty-six. His conversion was marked by a very
marvellous circumétance, and one which clearly be-
tokened the glorious end to which he was destined.
When a young man, and while serving as a soldier
in India, he was sent with the fleet to the coast of
Malauar, and came to Trauancor where, close to
Coleche,™ there is a church dedicated to our Lady the
Virgin. He had hitherto lived a life of pleasure, de-
voting himself to gambling and various other follies
to which youth is prone; but at this time he was seized
with such bitter remorse that he loét all hope of salva-
tion. Happening to land near this church, he entered
it; and secing over the altar our Lady the Virgin with
her child in her lap, he fell on his knees before her,
and implored her with tears to obtain for him from her
blessed son forgiveness for his sins. At the same
instant he lifted his eyes and lol the little Jesus, lying
in the arms of his mother was also weeping. As he
looked, there came forth from the eyes of the little
child a stream as it were of milk, which ran down until
it overflowed the altar. Amazed at what he saw,
Bento de Goes ran to call his comrades that they might
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come and bear witness to this marvel. They came
and with their own eyes saw that it was as de Goes
had told them; and taking a handkerchief they dipped
it in the milk-like liquid, and parted it amongét them-
selves.® Then they went away and fired a salute of
guns and musketry, after which they cut down branches
from the trees with which they came and decorated the
church until it had the appearance of a greenwood.
Moved by this manifeétation of the divine compassion,
our soldier went forthwith to a Father of our Company
and with great devotion made a general confession
covering all his past life. At the same time he took the
vows of religion and joined our Company, in the ser-
vice of which he laboured so unceasingly and died so
nobly.

On his death, the Moors who had come with him,
and who were lodged in the same hostel, wished to
bury him in accordance with the rites of their Alcoram,
But Brother Ioam Fernandez did not permit this;
and he and the faithful Isaac, having placed the body
in a coffin, buried it after the Christian fashion in a
quiet spot, whence on the day of judgment our Brother
will arise glorious to receive a second $tole; and the
guerdon due to his merits.

The Brother had kept a diary in which he used to
write from day to day all that took place during his
pilgrimage. He had also written down in the same
book the acknowledgments which the Moors gave him
for the amounts which he had frequently advanced
to them from his slender resources. Wherefore, the
moment they heard of his death, the Moors came to
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his room and possessed themselves of this book, which
they tore in pieces, so that no one might be able to
compute their debts. loam Fernandez and Isaac the
Armenian were greatly diftressed by the loss of this
diary and journal which the Brother had kept. All
that they could do was to colleét as many of the frag-
ments as they could find, and these they took with them
to Father Matheus Ricio who fitted them together
piece by piece. It was with the help of these, and what
he was able to learn from Isaac, that the Father com-
posed the brief narrative of the pilgrimage of Goes of
which we have previously spoken.®

The possessions which the Brother left included a
breviary, a cross which he wore about his neck, a paper
on which were written in his own hand the vows which
he had taken, the firmas, or subscriptions, of the
letters which our Father General, the visiting Father,
and the Father Provincial of India had written to him,
the patent of Father Ieronymo Xauier, and the chapter
from the writings of the Apostle St. Paul which is
read at mass on his day, in which the Apoétle glories
in the trials he endured for Christ. All these things
the Father guarded with great wveneration, as relics
of this holy Brother, whose piety was such that amidst
all the confusion and turmoil of his interminable
journey he never failed to observe the holy seasons of
the Church, often withdrawing himself for many days
beforehand to perform the religious exercises of our
Company, so that there was none who did not marvel
at his devotion.

The unflagging devotion of Isaac, the companion
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of Brother Bento de Goes, renders it meet that, in
concluding our account of this important mission, we
should say something of what befell this faithful
Armenian ere he reached the end of his travels, After
the death of the Brother he was greatly troubled by the
Moors, who accused him before their justices of being a
Moor who had turned Chridtian. But Brother loam
Fernandez §tood by him bravely; and on the day when
he appeared to answer the charge made against him,
the Brother brought some pork which he made the
Armenian eat in the presence of his accusers. The
Moors, who abominate pork to such an extent that they
cannot bear even to look at it, declared that the Ar-
menian had amply refuted their charge,* and left him
in peace.

The Brother and lsaac set out with their servants,
and after travelling for three months reached Paquim,
the royal city of China. Here they were received by
Father Mattheus Ricio, who rejoiced at their safe
return, while deeply lamenting the death of Brother
Bento de Goes, Isaac was sent well provided to
Amacao [Macao] where the Fathers raised a good sum
for him, which they helped him to inveét in goods that
are efteemed in India. On his way to Malaca the
ship in which he sailed was seized by the Olandeses
[the Dutch], whose Captain questioned him, and
learning from him of the journey which Brother Bento
de Goes had made to discover Catayo, and all for the
sake of the Chritians who were said to be living there,
he marvelled at the Brother's great courage; and when
he heird of the countries he had traversed, and the
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kingdams he had discovered, travelling by land through
the heart of that vast Eastern interior which stretches
from Goa to China (for indeed this must be accounted
one of the mosét daring journeys of discovery, perhaps
the moét daring, that any man has ever made), he
ordered Isaac to set down all the details in writing,
saying that there were Jesuit Fathers in his country
to whom he would show the account, that they might
know how much those of their Company were doing
to spread throughout the East the law of God which
they followed. From the kind manner in which the
Captain treated the Portuguese, Isaac concluded that
he muét be either a Catholic or a man of exceptional
intelligence and good feeling.® He took them safely
to Malaca, where the Fathers received Isaac very
kindly, and made provision for his journey to India.
After touching at Cochim, he reached Geoa. Here,
at the casa professa, he found Father Manoel Pinheiro
who had come from Mogor, and in his company he
set out for Cambaya.®™ The Father Provincial ordered
him to be given a hundred pardass™ for the expenses
of his journey.
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NOTES TO CHAPTER 1
InrroooeToRy

! Akbar moved from Lahore to Agra in the latter part of 1508, prier
mimmng his armies in the Deccan, See Abdor azd tde Femmits, p, B,
This word originally denoted only Northern China, which, at an

early period, was in the possession of a Munchurian tribe known as the
jeai, # neme which was subsequ applied by the of
Central Auas to the whole of Chma. u (Kka 4, " the

city of the Khans™) was the Turki name for the capital of China.
The same Pe-king, or ** North Coart,” dates from the early part of
the fifteenth century when the royal residence, which in the middle
of the jous century had been transferred to Nan-king, or * Sonth
Coart,” was moved back to its ancient seat. It was this double set of
names which gave rise to the belief, so deeply rocted in medieval
Euru)?:. that Cathay and China were wg;:m countries, and Cambaloe
and Peking their respe@ive capiml, the map of Tartary in the
Theatrwme Ordic Terraram of ius, Cathay is shown = & country
lying to the north-weit of China, and in the description sccompanying
the map, which du Jarric evidently had in mind, we read : ** Edt his
Ctui:miu, cuins Metropolis eft Cambely, que vi Nicolaus
mﬁhﬂ: it, duo detrigenta Italica millizria in ambity habes,
ant, vt M. Paulos Venetus scribit, trigenta duo, Quadrats eff forma,
in singulis angulis arces conftrude videntar, quatuor millisriorum
circuitum hsbentes, in quibus continué Imperatoris prasidia sunt.”
Father Ricei’s explanation of the pame * Cambali,' if untensble,
is, at any rale, interefting. In all the Chince books, he says, the
Tartary are called Lu. Pz meany ' the north,' wod coom, both in the
langaage of the Tartar and the Chinese, means * great.’ i-!mn:,m
the Tartar subdued China, he called the city where he edtablished his
court, Campalii, which name the Sarscemn of Pemia, who found &
dificulty in cing the Jetter * p,' chunged to Cambali. Marco
Paolo, Ricei adds, who was with the Tartars when they conguered China,
was the firlt to ’_;m Europe news of this great kingdom, which he
of an * Catuio,’ and ity capital =s * Cambalu *§ snd hence, when
Portugticse who went there by sea, brought hack news of s kingdom
called * * with its capital * Pacchino,' the cosmograpben of Europe
at gnce jumped to the conclusion that ‘ Cina* and ' Cataio” were
different mnﬁ:“wwﬁémmminﬂim
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graphi a fare di un regno doi, I' uno 2 resso all’ altro, senza potersi
sino al giorno di hoggi la veritd di qu " (Op. 8ror., L, 297)-

3 The Mifléria Orientaliy of Haython the Armenian .
Prince of Garigos) was written at the beginning of the ourteenth
century. His account of Cathay occurs in the firft chapter. 1 take
the following from the Latin cdition publithed in 1529 : * Sefla vero
illjus regni gentium vix t aliquo modo enarrari.  Quonizm aliqui
sunt qui colunt idols de metallo, alij vero boues adorant, qa terma
laborant, ex qua crescunt frumenta & alia nutritie. Alij colunt
magnas arbores, slij naturalia, ulij aftronomia, alij Solem colunt, alij
Luna, alij vero nullam habent fidem vel legem, sed sicut bruta animalia,
ducunt beftinliter yitam suam." )

+ As will be seem, the merchant's iences were very similar to
those of Brother Goes on his arrival at Suchou (see p. 154).

* Ghoraghat, in the Dinajpur diftri@ of Bengal, ls about 120 miles
morth of Calcutta.  As Yule pomts out, the * kingdom * muft mean
that of Kuch Bihar, concerning which, and the route through it to
Tibet, see Wessels's Eardy Temit Travellers, p. 134 #f stg.

¢ We see from Father Xavier's letters that it was originally intended
to dispatch a company of Fathers to Cathay with a view to eftablishing
a permanent .r,umnt. The change of plan was no doubt duc to
the uncertainty which prevailed regarding not only the whereabouts,
but the very exiftence of the Chriftians of Cathay. In 1596, Father
Ricel had written to the General of the Society at Rome ftating his firm
conviction, based an his own careful enquiries, that the names * Cathay *
and * China' d'!?\:;;licne mimﬁs:m:mm:d“ Il Camio .la:n?iu
pirere, non & o regno che della Cina; e quel grande re che lui
dice non & altro che ilmdcﬂ:ﬁm;:mh&ua,lg bene pee altro
nome, & conusciute tra Tartari ¢ Peniani ™ (Op. 8ter., I1, 228).  Ricci’s
letter was not regarded a1 conclusive at Goa ; bat it muét have curried
great weight ; and it was evidently in view of his very definite amur-
ances that the Jesuit authorities decided to defer the dispatch of & fully
ﬂq‘nitz:: mission until Cathay and its reputed Chridhian inhabitants
had attually discovered. This is confirmed by Father Pimenta's
Jetter to the General of the Socicty dated 14t December, 1601, in which,
in reference to the Cs Mistion, the Father fhated that Brother
Bento de Goes wa to go firit ' to this ¢t affair.”

In the same report Pimenta ftated that the Kmg of Porrugal had
written to him expressing ftrong approval of the mission, and
he enclosed in his report 2 copy of the King's letter, In reference to
Cathay His Majefty wrote, * [ was pleased to hear of the discovery of
that so ancient Chriftisnity in Catayo of which you give me an accaunty
of which there was no knowledge before. . . , I greatly recommend

you should find the necessary Jabourers for

to you that en your
mamntsining the Chridli ‘qaf&ﬁuro,md!uuﬂthu&l?'w
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wﬂiﬂnywmtﬁn favour and help necessary . . . with him and the
Archbishop of Goa you will discuss this matter, particularly since it
tends so much to the service of God and mine. . . " lglmh:n:

oted from the Rev. H. Hoften's transiation of Fatber Pimenta's

tier ( 7. and Proc. £.8-8.; XXI1I, tg27).
Mq.u'u' Shabrukh, who hed mken

T These were the three som of
refuge st Akbar’s court after having been driven out of Badakshan by

Abdulla Khan, the Usbeg ruler of Bokhara. The children sttended
the school opened at Lahore by the Fathers who condutted the third
Mission to Akbar’s court (see Akbar and the Jemiti, pp. 6g and 239)-
Goes himself served with this Mision, which ru:hn:{ Lhnrc in Muy,
1595, snd was doubtless a mﬁﬂm&ﬁﬂm Abdulla Khmd.iF:
in 1598, having previously is possessions. Soon #
hu&i-ﬂ:ﬂupm of Badakshan contrived to throw off the Usbeg
yoke, and puve allegiance to Mirza Humin, who was, or was
declared mt. the eldeft son of Shahrukh. The latter died in Malwa
in 1607, leaving to Jahangir seven mare children (four sons and three
daughters), * of whom,"” remarks that Emperoar, evidently not over-
ﬁnﬂ with the legacy, * he had made no meation to my father.”

boys, he adds, were amongit his confidentix] servants, and
the girls were put under the care of the sttendants of the zenans.
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Lawozs 1o Yaxzasn

! This chapter is taken (rom Part 11 of the Refetions (fols. 61b-65a).
¥ Guerreito refers to the two travellers Antonio de Payva and Pedro
de Covilham, who, in the year 1487, were sent by King John IT of
Portugal to search for the kingdom of Prefter John in Indin. It should
be remembered that the word * India * had, at this period, a wide,
and & very vague, signification. It s often to denote the Ealt
penerally, including even the eaftern parns of Africa. On hearing at
Aden of a Chriftian king in Ethiopia, the travellers se . Payva
crossing to Africa to invedtigate the y whildt lez:.;' cantinued
his jonrney to Indis. In v Co also made his way to Ethio-
pia, and the reports which he sent 1o Portugal furnished conclusive
evidence that the kingdom of Abyssinia was the kingdom of Prester
!nlm (see Sir Denison Rosy’s valusble monograph on Prefter John in
and Travelicrs of vhe Middle dpes [Kegan Paul, 1926], pp. 173~
194). No one, howeyer, appears to have paid much attention to
% reports, and for many years the erroncous belicf, founded
on the ftatements of Marco Palo, that the kingdom of Preiler John was
to be looked for in Central Asia, continued to hold its ground in Europe.
“ It was not," eays Sir Denison Ross, * until the visit of the Brituh
traveller Bruce in the eighteenth century that the curtain was fully
lified from Prefler John's Ethiopian kingdom.”

* Goses was a member of the third Mission to the court of Akbar,
which arrived at Lahore in May, 1395. The embassy here referred to
maﬂm di u:]maf1 to (gu in My, 1601, Goes nmm—hr

i at Akbar's ipecial requedt, taking with him & num
of Portugnese and half-caite chi who had fallen into the Emperor’s
:i}znd;" after 1hu}nphm of the fortress of Asirgarh (sec Ahdar and the

exmifi, p. 115).

* Foran account of Leon Grimon, see Abbar and the Fesmits, pp. 45-
49, 229. Ricci calls Leon Grimon a prieft, but du Jarric, in his
account of the second Mission to the court of Akbar, 1o him a8
a subdescon. This designation iy donbtless tlie corredt one, as du
Jarric took his account from the report, dated November, 1591, of the
Provincial at Gea.

Father Xavier was the leader of the third Mision, of which Father
Pinheiro was also one of the original members.  Father Frangois
Corsi joined the Mission in 1600 and Father Machado in 1603. The
latter travelled from Goa to Agra in company with Goes.
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NOTES TO CHAPTER 11

" Bawds Is the common Persisn word for a servant or slave. In

du Jarric's Hiffoirs it it misspelt * branda,’ which, strangely enough,
Yule.

 The Portnguese used the word * India * 1o denote only that part of
the country whf:hwiu their possession.  Both the English and the
Dutch used the word it 8 timilasly redtrifled sense. See Hodron-

absom, p.

'T" Thig?mM:h' t4th February * (see the date at the end of
the letter). In Ih;l ru.; Iﬁ-&; Leat began on February 12th, Easter
Sunday falling on March 3oth. _

" .f tha :m Ravi, on the left bank of which Lakore is situated.
Though Gues carried his goods across the river on February 14th, the
caravan did not ftart for some days, probably not until the beginning
of March. See note 10 fxfra. ]

* Known to Euoropeans in Southern India as “hoppers’ The
Tamil name for these cakes is . They are made of rice flour, and
resemble the * chupatties* of Northern India. — >

10 Yule, who used the Latin version of du Jarric’s Hiffeire, in which
the name Gagar appears a3 * Gazaria,' assumed that this diftance of
102 carr 18 to be measured, not from Lahore, but from Kabul, and that
Goes was it this thme crossing the Hindu Kush in the neighbourhood
of the Hazara (Kezarch) tribes (Cavhay and the Way Thither, 1V,

, 183). 1 think, however, there it no donbt that the diftance is to
Eu measured from Lahore 23 Gom himself definitely ftates ; for thoough
we do not know the a&ual date of his letter, he evidently wrote it before
he could possibly have reached Kabul, or even Peshawar. " We ure
#till fafting, taking our food only at night,” he says. This important
little sentence, which da Jarric, who only quotes a few words of the
Jetter, amits, tells us that the season of Lent was not yet padt.  In 1603,
Eafter Sunday fell on e goth March.  The letter muidt, therefore,
have been written before that date, let us say on the 25th March, by
which time the ciravan might be expefted to have covered 102 cosy,
or something over 200 miles. The word * Gagar " 1 take to denofe
the mountainous country of the Ghakkars, lying between the Indm
and Kashmir, through which the caravan wonld have to on jts
Niopl cmpe " iy the safened ¢+ of - Goger 1 o Gealey

. t the so c’of ' Gagar’ isa di i
bnlnftdilq te possible that the cedilla is an error,

Tltminrﬁu the length of the journey from Lahore to Attock as
115 rosr | 80 Goes mudt have been within two or three marches of
Attock when he wrote his letter. In this repion, even in the middle
of March, there might be plenty of snow left on the hills, and the
nighty, especially for those who had to spend them in the open and ill
provided with shelter, would be bittetly cold. Goes's words do not
necessarily imply that snow was adtually lying on the route. The cold,
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he wrote, was ra}?m:m—“purque imos correndo as serras que eftio

cubertas de neve.
mﬁ&tﬁ:&llmﬁmnhhmmthﬁnﬁmm
Goes on the 7th these dates are not given by du Jarric), indicates that
thoagh the B carried his goods aercss the river on the f4th
Fi , some days, puh:puﬁ:rmighturmm. muit have elapsed
before the carmvan ftarted. If it had dtarted on the 14th February,
Pinheiro would hardly have attempted to write to Gocs on the 4th
March ; and had ke done so, the letter would not have overtaken him
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NOTES TO CHAPTER [
At Yarkaxn

! “[his chapter is from Part IV of the Rrwiméfnh. 164a-166b),

% (Joes reached Yarkand in November, 1603 (wide p. 152). We
have no reason to doubt the corredness of this date, which muit have
beets taken from Goes's notes.  Ricd, it is true, mentions it, m Wessels
observes, * very cautiously ” ¢ “ Pare che quefla arrivata fu I' ifteso
amno di 1603 in novembre * (Op. Seer., 1, 536). Ricci's caution, how-
ever, is not surprising, since, by his own misreckoning, Goes was #ill
at Kabul in November, 1603 (see note 6, p. 174).

3 Ricci says the present included a silver watch ; ** i fratello Bene-
detto fu a visitare il re i Cascir per nome Madamerhis, il gli diede un
bello presente di nn hotluolo di ferro per portare al callo, di
vitrio et altri cose di Europa, con che ftette molto contento ¢ fo sempre
stio amico ¢ fautore " (Opers Storiche, 1, §39)-

The identification of * Mahamethan * with Muohammad Sultun, the
son of Abdul Rashid Khan of Kashgar (Caskay and the Way Thizker,
IV, 19t), is doubtien corret.  Muhammad Sultan been
Governor of Yarkand whilét his brother, Abdul Karim, was reigoin
at Kashgar. Adfter his sccession, be asumed the title * Khan,'
appears to have transferred the seat of governmeat to Yarkand. He
Wiks, says Mirza Muhammad Haidar, “ a wealthy pri and a good
Musalman. Hcger&ﬁeﬂinfulhwﬁtgtbtmﬂnf udtice and equity,
and was so umremitting in his exertions, that during his blessed reign
moit of the tribes of the M heumMmﬁmm. It iz well
known what severe messures he had recoarse to in bringing the Moghuls
to be believers in Jalum. lﬂfurinﬂ:nﬁ.lhhmhui]dﬁndlﬂrl
turhan, & horseshoe nail was driven into his : and trestment of
this kind twas common (miy God recompemse him with good) ™
{Terikb-i-Rashidi, tr. Sir D. Ross, p. 58). Goes's description of the
manner in which the people of Yarkand were driven to their prayers
{pp. 142- , is all in sccord with what the suthor of the Teribb-i.
Rardids us of Muhammud Khan, Of the Khan's nephew, the
Prince of Khotan, I can find no mention, either in the Taribd--Raskidi,
or clhewhere,

* This oceurred whilit the Brother was at Kabul (vide p. 150).
E{:ﬂﬂ?‘lﬂlﬂﬂbﬂlﬂ?ﬂﬂﬂdlbﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂph@ﬂ.ﬂhﬂh
raived by selling same of his goods, and that the Queen subsequently
upﬂﬂmhpiumﬂj:ﬂ:,"pinmdiiuzﬁ,mdmﬁm el
migliore mercantia che di Casr o Cima. Ehonn ha
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always been famous for its jade, which was, and is &ill regarded as finer
than that found in any other locality. The Queen was at this time on
her way back to her country after having performed the daff, or pil-
gimqe to Mecea. [t was on this account that she was fiyled Hajji
Khanusm, “ the Lady of the Pilgrimage.” The beft that Guerreiro
cin make of this title is * Acchanam.' Du Jarric follows Guerreiro's
; but in the Latin version of the Hifeire, Mattla Martiner,

to make the disgnise more complete, gives us* S Ricci gets
s little nearer the mark with * Age Hamem®: ' Chiamuvasi quefls
signors e Hanem s Age e soprannomo de’ Saraceni che sono andati
alla Mecca, come sarebbe tra noi beato, e veniva allora dalls Mecca.™
“I'he lady, we are told later, was sidter to the King of Kashgar (whese
uﬂ:;lmuthiuimn?ukmd},mdmmﬂoﬁh:mlﬂofth
subsidiary kingdam of Khotan, who appears to have been regarded a8
heir: t to the throne of Kashgar. Khotan, which Goes visited
before he left Yarkand, lies about 180 miles south-eaét of the latter city.
The Brother went there, Ricci tells us, to get his loan repaid by the
Queen. The trip occupied him a month.

It sppears from Father Xavier's letter of September 6th, 1604, that
the Queen, after reaching Badakshun, attached herself to, and com
her journecy with the caravan with which Goes was travelling, Xavier
wrote that the anly news he had received from the Brother was that be
had pud-&lr:hw;hthnﬂngdmnfhdd:hm.whi;hmmnch
difturbed with wars. He had been sick with fever, s had also the
Armenian Jsac ; but at the time of writing he was sufficiently recovered
to continue his journey, The passage in Xavier's letter is a8 follows :
“ Do Irmio Bento de Gois tenho pouco § escreuer, ¢ ultima nous
ij delle temos he que nod ou hua carta do reyno de Badaciio
que he fora dos reynos deste Rey Acabur, quando chegou uelle reyno
adoeceo de febre elle ¢ hil mogo armenio § lenaus, mas js § eftaus
wo quando escreveo © para partit ¢ yr suante, edtaua squella wrra de-
senquieta com guerros mas passario, ¢ despois nos chegou noua de suer
chegado aguells 5™ que hia em aquells uﬂid(I‘Miqullolmiu
his enmo encoftadn) ao reyno de Casgar donde elia era seu
Irmio. Canﬁmw:m[?qn:cbegily:lrmlnmm com ells,
& daly nio he muito longe 0} 2 do . Os trabalhos que leus D’
n. $* guarde ¢ traga com saude e bom despacho.”

* The manner of enforcing the pradices of lslam had ﬂﬂm
changed when Robert Shaw visited Yarkand in 1864. “The
he wrote, * or religiow magiftrate, always mbulates the freets
with his satellites, fike & Cambridge pro&or with his bull-dogs. They
are armed with a liar kind of broad leather étrap, sttached 0 &
short wooden handle, and with this ftrap they caftigate all men who
are found without turhans, and all women without veils. When
are seen coming everybody scuttles out of the way, ledt some L
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should be found with them ™ (High Tartary, Yerkend, and Keshgar,

P- 466).

* In Portuguese ditionaries the meaning given to * Caciz” (Arabic
I#I'Miiuh'!uhmmdm {eit, or mwlla, and in this sense it i3 used
by the [esuit writers, thou thcpwﬁpiﬂuﬂmnhhhubi:
word s @ ** Chriftian A word is to be met with in
numerous guises, casis, caxis, casdish, cte.  See Hadson-Tedaom, p. 169,
Indﬁ'ﬂ.h; and the ¥ Tﬁ&kﬂ “_".p. 223

T A yery optimidtic citi 1 Goes found out ere he recommenced
his journey. We loarn from Father Xavier's letter of September, 1606,
that en the day before his departure from Yarkand Goes wrole
to his friends in Tndis, In this letter he sad that anothes eight months
muit elapse before he could reach Cathay, He was well, he wrote,
lndthﬁnlhhmnmhl&rﬁﬁu.kmmlhewhnhmﬂ-ﬁh
friendly treatment. In the same letter he expressed his grief &t losing
the companionshi of Demetrins, who, being unable to take his mer-
chandise into Cathay, had returned to Indis. On many occasions he
hail beess a friend in nesd to Gocs, and they had with mutual

Xavier adds that Demetrius reached ore juit after the
desth of Akbar [i.e. at the end of Ofober, 16og]. Insurredlions,
following on the King's desth, had made travelling a dan erous business,
and before reaching Lahore, the carsvan to which triua had
attached himself was obliged to take refuge in & fortress to which a body
of insurgents laid siege. After rendening valusble assiftance to the
Captain of the place, Demetrius munaged to escape, and found his

to Lahore and thence to Agrs, where he took up his abode with
¢ Greek friend who lived near the Fathers, Not many days later be
Hd&,mﬁnﬁu:%lﬂmﬁd ully in his friend’s
ﬂ“huunﬁhviu;md:md 'l;d'l. wi.'lhthcf T;“ hndmad%mﬂu';‘f

rites; his parting sou passige in s
letter runs ax follows ; .

“ Ju tenho escritto os ancs amas da yda do Fr. Bento de Gaoly per o
Elurn,mmoimdﬂmmquﬂnuﬁﬂhmmdﬂhﬂ idade de
Yarcand corte do reino de Casgar que edta ja perto de Catayo [a word,
wmrdnuﬁuinghtqﬂpmmmeqmndumdhupul
putindiag;uintcdayediumqucdnd-hd:npﬂnrnimmm
mmquudqnm&hyoporqulcﬂpm:uqnemmm_uﬁh
do Catayo por essa outra poder pessar,  Elle vai com sude canhecido
por Xitilo & nio mal quidto. Alguns mouros viesio a Agra que o detrer
rlio Ia ¢ nos daulio muitos certos sinais delle & muito boas novat.  Agors
nﬂ-nbmmrhomhﬁ'nqunmmnﬂuuhmqm
panhis, mas ihe&nmmm&nmmqucpmmmnrmgmln
de humana consolagio, Digo que eita mais 5’0 por que hum Grego
mququmdmﬁﬁimenuumm;mhmmudiumlﬂed:
Yarcand e o sjudon muito bem com emprestimos € outras ajudas final”
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como ja nio lhe armaua por sus mercancia passar ao Catayo se despedio
delle undumhummbcmd:uui:dnimumu,ummuu_b:md:m
S dixe gui recipis fulfus in semine fuffi mercedem jaiti accipiet pagolhe
muoito misericordios™ efla bos comp* que ao ditto Fr. fizers, por que
muminhpliindlﬂﬂwuudngﬂmpﬂiguﬂhmddlﬂrmlt:]l
quando estaus perto de Lahor ouvindose 8 noua da morte do Rey Aqbar
muitos se alevantario em muitas partes, e entre elles o figerdo huns de
juumdnpummdnhluild:ﬁrcﬂlﬂ.ﬁhmmqum = vinha, ou-
verfose de recalber a hua fortaleza onde os poseriio de cergo ¢ elle cam
sen gente sjodou muito bem 2o Capitio dells e quando todos cnidauamon
ser aly tomado e morto, escapou € veo & saluamento com seu fato deixa-
ndo boa parte do sen outros que vinhio com elle, veo a Lahor e daly
ate Agra onde eftundo ja como em sua cam descansando 6z de hom
Grego grande seu amigo casado pegado a nos adoeces de hia doenga
vagarosa ordena sus alma & fazends, ¢ morm com todos los smaer™
recebidos com o p™ & eabecein € com teftamento feito em casa de
hum tanto sew amigo que nio awis mais, de tudo im0 carecers em
qualquer outra parte que morrera, mas niio quis o 5% Deos que morresse
entre mourcs desconolado quem tanto bos comp® fizers em tam
teabalhoteos caminhos & sen seruo.”

In his letter of Augndt 8th, 16a7, Kavier Rated that Goes had written
from Yarkand giving an account of his reception and treatment by the
King, and of the good arrangements that had been made for the con-
tinuation of his journey. In the same letter Father Xavier says that
further news had been brought to him by some merchants who had
met the Brother at Yarkand : * Alguns mercrdores vierio aqui que o
mhmhhefurmnrd:ll:mvhhlnbﬁm.cmmih_deﬂn
muitos louvores,” A letter had also been received from & Christian
servant of the King at Kabul, who wrote that he had leamnt from &
Moorish merchant of Goes's safe departure from Yarkand. The same
merchant, he said, was bringing letters from the Brother for the Padres
at Lahore. ‘That numerous lettens, of which we have no knowledge
muoit have been sent to Indis by Goes daring the earlier part of
pilgrimage is evident from the ing passage in Xavier's letter:

As cartas que delle temos sio quusi de annos, ja mandsis V.R.
os que Ihe vinhiio ; com efta mando alguns que vierdo pars mim por
cllas szberio o4 trabalhos que pmtﬂml!ﬂ em que se via. D
n. 8% o guarde e traja com bem.” 'What has become of these latters !
Have they all perished, or is there a chance that some of them may yet
be brought to light? What, again, has become of Goes's mutilated
diary, which Ricel muft surely have preserved ?

* ‘This personage 1 take to have been & brother, and the
successor, of king T'sewang Namgral, who ruled over Ladakh in Wedtern
Tibet, from 1530 to 1560, Twewang Namgyal died childless; but
ke left two brothers, the elder named Gonpo Namgyal, snd the younger
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Jamyang Namgyal (see Dr. A. H, Francke's Hiflary of Weilers Tiber,
. g1). From the dates given in the * records,’ it would seem that
sewang Nam was succeeded by %ﬁng Namgyal, who is said

to have reigned 1660 to 1690, Gonpo did not succeed i

not fated. Gonpo's name is, however, to be foand in what is known

us the Dembdar inscription (see Dr. Francke's L rGyalrade, ot

Chromicler af Ladaktd, pub in the Fewrna! and Precerdingi of

Asiatic Saciety of Bengal, Vol. V1, 1910), and according to this in-

s8ually did come to the

scription: it that Ganpo N

throne in 1mmipdhnhmt ume; How Mh&h.'uh::;
dom, or what subsequently befell him, we are not told ; in fad, the
other information we possess about him is that which is here provided
by Guerreiro, sssuming, that is to sy, that he was the * Gombuna
Miguel* whom Goes met at Yarkand, and there does not seem to be
an else who meets the case. 'The title zamgyal, * the altogether
vidtorions,” wis borne by a long line of kings of Ladakh. The rit
to hald it was Lhachen Bhagan {-u?n-tkim}. who i1 called the founder
of the se=gyeld . In't6og Lada wmnﬂedhyﬂauﬁ:Nmpﬂ.
the son of Jamyang Namgyal, and nephew of Ganpo. reigned,
we are told, from 1590 to 16307 but, a3 Dr. Fradcke observes, little
reliance Is to be placed on the dates given in the Chronicles.

* * Angi 'it;cth:;u for kanfur, the name of ope of the two collec-
tions of the Buddhi@ Canon in ‘Tibetan.

19 In his Mates on Bro. Bewea de Gaes, published in the Fearsal and
Pmrrﬂqp. Aitatic Swciery of Bengal, Vol. XX11I, 1927, the Rev. H.
Hodten gives the translation of & letter written by Father Nicholas
Trigault on December 24th, 1607, in which reference i made 1o onc
of the letters sent to Indin by Goes whilit an his way to * Cathay.’
According te Tri It, Goes says that “he has relisble information
that in that great mpimof&thly;hmmgreurﬂwunfm
tianity ; for they have mitred Bishops, confer baptism, keep Lent, and
the priefts observe celibacy, and other such proofs ufwrzhrﬁﬂhmlg‘;
He t:-ma:l all these things from a physician, who was a captive in

hands of the Turks, sald that he wonld write to e soon mule
cermin and reliable news about it” There caunot, I think, be any
dnqhﬂhﬂth:up&vtphpi:hnhﬂem&ne&tnhmhidmﬁidwﬂh
the Tibetin doftor, Lunrique, mentioned in the text, snd that T
was miftaken in supposing that the information which he gave
related to Cathay. o
1t Botelhana* s & tly a corruption of dut-bhams, the Persian
word for an idol-temple, or pagoda. 1 can offer no explanation of the
word * ito-lama.'
1% This s probably the Tibetan word hewchsg, wignifying * the
Mot High,' or * God.'
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Yanrasp ™0 Sucnou

! “This chapter, taken from Part V of the Relutions (fols. 23a-27b),
is based on Father Ricci's letter to the General at Rome written at the
end of the year 1607 (see Introdudtion, p. xv). )

® This date, evidently taken from Ricci’s , is incorredt; the
same mistake occurs in the Commentary (Op. Stor., 1, 529). We know
from Goes's letter of the s0th December, 160z, which Guerreira liss
himsell quoted, that he lcl”; Agra on the agth of Oftober of that year.

* Guerreiro is following Riccd, who the journey from Lahore
to Attock occupy three and threequarter months, made up as follows :

From Lahore to Attock we 1 month.
Halt at Attock s o3 weeks,
Halt after crossing the Indus ... e 8 days,
Remainder of journey to Peshawar ... ... 2 montht

The time given for the journey tnﬂ.tmckmlrh:mﬂudu:ﬁ
proximately corred ; for we know that before the end of March
caravan was passing through the province of Ghakkar, on the weflern
border of which Attock is situated. But the two months allotted 1o
the journey from the Indus to Peshawar is an obvious error, the diftance
being about thirty milss. Yule su that it may have been
entered in Goes'snotesas* 11 mensil* (Persiun manzi/,a flage or march),
and that this was anderfiood by the lwalians s ' [1 memies "™ (Cavday
and the [WFay Thicker, IV, 181). Whatever the explanation, the

diftance must have been in two or theee duys. We may,
therefore, safely assume that {Foes roached Pashawar n less than two
months after his from Lahore.

* The country of Kafiriftan, for an sccount of which sec Cathay and
the Way Thicker, IV, 204, lies to the north of the Kabul valley, éiretch-
ing to the southern slopes of the Hindu Kush, and ta the barders of
Kashmir. The ftatement in the text that the caravan with which
Goes travelled ::dw K-lﬁl’iﬂ};ﬂ is ]furnhbthu Hinﬂn&. In the
Cammentarf we that, after leaving Peshawar, proceeded to
another :EII town where they fell in w?‘lh & certain pilgrim and devotes,
from whom they leamed that at a diftance of thirty days” journey there
was a ¢ity called Capperétam, &z ‘The exal® spot where this halt
was made cannot be determined.  Yule supposed it to be at Jalalabad
(Cathay, 1V, 206). Riccis narrative, however, suggefls that the
caravan had not traversed more than & third of the diftance between
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Peshawar and Kabul (about 180 miles) § whereas Jalalabad is 8o miles
from Peshawar. We are twoid abio that the caravan bad reached a
# small town " hmpinmln}.whi:hhrdlrmmindim:#ﬁhw.
I should, be inclined to place the halt pearer to Pethawar,
bly at Bazawal. Jahangir halted at Basawal when on his way to

in lﬁnf,mdlhoﬂn:ﬁlhh

¥ Jagdalak is about sixty by road Fops Kabyl  Shahemar AR,
who passed through the place in 1839, saya: * A grove of mulberry
trees denotes this place.  Formetly was a fort, and the
monarchs on their way from and to Kabul used to camp here ™ (87kds
and Afghass, p. 460). Ricci spells the name * Ghideli! For the
identification with Jagdalak, see Cathey, 1V, 206,

* Ricei's figures dre again :::fumbl: Indeed, our main dificulty
in connedion with the travels of Goes is to reconcile the known dates
with the * times * given in the itinerary as presented in the Cemmestory.
We know, for that the Brother left Lahore at the beginning of
March, 1603, and he reached Yarkand in November of the same
year, His journey to that city, therefore, occupied between eight and
nine monthi. And yet, as Yule has pointed out, if we sdd up the times
of the marches and halts given in Riccl's itinerary, we reach a total of
close an two years. Ricel had to rely for his information on the sul-
vaged portions of Goes's diary, and the memory of his servant lmsac.
Now it is impossible to = that Isesc could have kept in his head
the times of all the halts and all the marches in & journey of nearly wo
years, with & gap of ancther two years before be was cross-examined on
the subjet. We mudt therefore conclude that the a&ual figures given
by Ricci were the fi of Beato de Goes; for if not, whose were
they? And being the figures of Goes himself, we are juitified in
gsmuming that they are approximately accurate:  But if the dates on
Goe's letters are corred, whick we cammot doubt, and if the figures
taken from his diary are alio corred, we can only conclude that in niany
cases these latter £ m:{umrdmﬂnwhtihciluppmdrhmm
denote.  Let us look at his time-table of the journey between Peshiwar
and Kabul, The time spent in afual travel was as follows :

Peshawar to the frdt halt e 20 dayy.

Firdt balt to |a e B8

Jagdalak o Kabul ... ... o .. 20 o
Total r e 65 dap

Peshawar B 180 mils from Eabul, so that the rate of travelling

a well under three miles » day, which is abaurd. 1t is manifeft,

, that the shove numbers do not denote days, 1 would po

a flep farcher, and suggedt that ther do not denote time at all, but
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diftance. - Assuming this to be the case, and assuming that Goes cal-
culated his diftances in Jegoay, or Jeagues, our table would mean that
the journey from Peshawar to Kabul was one, not of sixty-five days,
but of sixty-five leagues, which is near enough to 180 miles to be
a8 GppT cotred. And this is not the only seétion of Goes's
journey where the subdtitution of leagues for days supplies what is at
any rate & ressonable solution of Ricei's inexphcable m!iFnra Afies
leaving Kabul, the caravan proceeded, via Charikar and the Parwan
ﬂ.lelikhm.uawnmth:ﬁurAh-mui & branch of the Oxos,
diftance in a dire@ line from Parwan to Talikhan is 112 miles
but, owing to the nature of the country, the route traversed was prob-
ably 8 good deal nearer two hundred miles than one. We da not
know the adual line followed by the caravan; but m any case the
journey can hardly have taken sixty days (not counting halts), as Ricci
would have us believe (Parwan to Aingharan, 2¢ days ; Aingharan to
Caldia, 15 days ; Calela to Gialalabath, 1o days; Gialalabath to Talhan,
1§ days : total, 60 days). On the other hand, it may very well have
been & journey of sixty leagues. Again, we are told that from Iakonich
g’:h-uﬂ]. where the lait halt was made before reaching Yarkand,

e went on in advance of the caravan and, sccording to Ricei, reached
Yarkand in five days. Thndiﬂn‘nminthhmwgfmmmﬂu,w
five leagues.

It may of course be mere coincidence that in the inftances 1 have
given the word * league * suits the context better than *duys’ 1do
not, therefore, claim to have eftablished my theory, which I put forward
oaly & a possible uﬁhuﬁnn of some of the difficulties which Ricci's
!nni:rr presents, Sttty mnGocb: di}fﬂ give :‘h:fkn&m of marches
in days, mare icularly during 1 hal pilgrimage.
Ricoi’s midtake E; in supposing that his figures represented days in

case.

Hne:imn ified for the halt st a particular place is often quite as
puzzling as the time said to have been taken in reaching it. the
g:umry from Peshawar to Kabul, for exumple, we are tald that owenty

_v;wuupmutrhcﬁr&huhmﬁnﬂnd,mﬁnuh:hﬂd;htmthi
at Kabul. A wap-side halt of twenty daw, & similar P:uod having
already been spent ut Peshawar “ for needful repose,” seems very
unlikely ; while cight months st Kabul would take us well into the year
1604, by which time Goes was comfortably wﬂﬁnq letters in Yarkand.
One i llp:ad to suggesl ‘hours” for “days,’ and ‘weeks' for
* months.' fa, as the Brother waa not equipped with an aeroplane,
it is only by some assumption of this kind that we can make head of
il of his wanderings,

" Cf. Op. Swr, 1, 532 “ Di quifto loro ritorno a Laher il prete
Leone Grimano, nen o sopportare i disagi di sl Jungo cammino
e ' altro compagno io ne reitd in quella cith” Demetrios
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subsequently rejoined Goes at Yarkand, but did not sccompany him

beyond that city.
* Charikar is 4o miles due north of Kabul on the southern slopes of
the Hindu Kush.  In his letter of September 6th, 6oy, Father mr.
referring to  letter from Goes written from the kingdom of Badakshan,
which lies on the north of the Hindu Kuuh, says that it was after reach-
mgd:.i: kingdom that the Brother fell sick (adberes o fevre).

Cheparan ¢ Calee terra de homes ruinat £ oures. Tt will be noticed
that Calca is referred to an & ferra, a “ land.”  The , there
fare, mean, not that the caravan halted at a place Calen, but
that it had entered the Calea (Galcha) country. The Galchas are
the inhabitants of the mountainous parts of and the more
eafterly diftrifts of Shignan, Wakhan and Sarikal (eide Sir D. Ross's
translation of the Terikh-i-Rashids, p. 320). The fair hair and com-
plexions of the Galchas have been remarked on by other travellers,
mecluding Sir Aurel Stein, who compares them in this respeét to the
Chitralis (Ruisr of Desers Catbay, 1, 33).  After Talikhan, the next
halting place mentioned i Chescan (Teshkan), about go miles further
exdl. caravan must, therefore, have passed through the beart of
the Galcha country. Trigault wrote * Cheman * for 5hmu in hia
Latin version of the Cemmentary, and it is only since the discovery and
publication of the latter work that the diretiion taken by the caravan
after Jeaving Talikhan has been known, From Chescan enwards our
traveller’s route is a matter of conjelure, until we pick up his tracks
again in the Sarikol diftrit on the esftern side of tﬁ Pumir plat=u.
According to the Commentarf, his route across the platean lay gh
Tenghi Badasclan (the Badakshan defile) to Clarciunar, and thence
over a fteep mountain called Sacrithima to Serpanil, after which Sarikal
was reached in twenty days. But, with the exception of Serpanil
which, a1 Yule ftates, is probably for Sir--Pamir, * The head ar top
of Pamir,” none of these places has been satisfadtorily identified.

W & Tomoy hua toucn de prego, & metendo lhe hua pedra & langoo
wmais Jonge que pode.” In his memoirs Ricci says it was the turban
which he was wearing that Goes threw away : “ I fratello, pighiando il
turbante che nn]lnmih:ph.cﬂgliumijdauhd:l?
India, lo lancit quanto longi potette " (Op. Sror., L 534). Du Jarric
mu{utltlb: epithet ‘.Eglxgtm' from the turhan to th;el‘bmm. and
makes passage run, 1 ciie s toque AVEC N perTe pHT

u'il ¥ suojt" fdﬂmd'c mi:mdhrim,“ff:mkhh
grmmim cap, In which a precious ftone glittered, flinging it, ete.”
The text account seems to me the modt v I Brother
Benedi@ trudging manfully along beside his lagging beadt, the latter
Iaden with his wares, From these, a the robbers come in wight, he
snatches 8 “ coftly turban,™ and folding a bhle in it to give it weight,
flings it far behind him, fn the hope of flaying his purruers. The
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robbers pounce on the prize, and whildt they wrangle over its possession,
the Brother scrambles up behind his , and urging his relufiant
Pegasus into an unaccustomed gallop succeeds in rejoining his fellow-

i This looks like another of Ricc's blunders. We know that by
the beginning of Augudt, 1605, Goes had reached Turfan, some two
hundred miles beyond Chalin (Kara-shahr) ; for we are told (Op. Sor.,
1, 547) that he left Turfan on the 4th September, having flayed there
a month. That being so, he cannot have Jefi Chalis much luter than
the middle of July. He mudt, therefore, have reached that city, where
he spent three manths, before the middle of April, or within five meonths
of his departure from Yarkand.

Chalis was reached after s twenty-five dapy' E;:m:y from Cucia
{Kuchar), where a halt of a month had taken Kuchar mmél,
therefore, have been reached by sbout the middle of February. Be-
tween this city and Yarkand we are surc of only one halting-place,
namely Akwy, which was reached twenty-five days afier leaving Yar-
kand (ic. on Deceniber gth, 1654).  Of the journey from Aksu to
Enchar we have no details beyond a firing of un isable names,

From Turfan (Goes went on to Camml (Kumul or Hami), where he
arrived on the 17th Ofober.  Afier redting for a month, he again set
forth, and eventually reached Suchou st the end of the month of

Thaai akiug. sito. contidarstion: cnly the haltlig-leces that:here

been definitely located, the time-table of Goes's journey between
Yarkand and Su-chou waorks out approximately as fuﬁaﬂ £
Yarkand «se dep. November 14.
Absn .. ... orr. Decemberg.  Halt of 1 days. }lﬁtu
dep. December 24,
Kuchar (Cucia) ... wrr. mid-February, Halt of 1 month.
dep. mid-March,
Kars-shahr (Chalis) arr, mid-April.  Halt of 3 months,
dep. mid-July. '
Turfan ... ;:.; Angust 4 (cfrr.). . Halt of 1 month, 1605
. 4
Hami (Camul) ... am. t7.. Halt of 1 month.
dep. November 17,
Su-chou ... o urr. end of Decamber. J

ding the identification of Chalis with Kara-shalir, the reader

is referred to Yule's convincing note on the subjel (Carhay and tie

W¥ay Thither, IV, 234), and to the Tarikd-i-Raskidi (Introd.,

p- 99). According to the latter work, Kara-shahr, the ancient Chinese

narme of which was Yen-ki, was, in the days.of Mirza Haidar, known as
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Chalis. "This would seem to pug the identification beyond doubt.
Chalis is shown on the map of Trtary in the Theatrus Orbis Terrarus

and alsa af A hete it *Chimlis*;
b o g o Opls m'*ﬂm et

ln is letter of March 8th, 1604, to the General of the Society,
Rieci refers to this incident as follows : ** Nel mezzo del viaggio »' ineon-
trd con certi Mori, che erano venuti dal Cataio, e fettero con noi
quell’ anno chie arrivassimo & Pachin et il scguente 1601 dentre d'un
plhm&w:muumﬁm&nmmdmﬂnwhm-
tori alls Cina, Quelti gli diedero nova di noi, ¢ puhmmgﬂ
mﬁbmuhmmmﬂwmw:hﬂnmﬁnmum
rmuhumﬁhnﬁimhtwqﬂnmnedlnuwmm
ld.hmﬂﬂcnhgnﬁnmmnmcch:il&nhmfﬂhuﬁm"

O Sem 3. p
547 o spedire patente,
dlando presenti ::n?htm.ld e sozind, gli domandd il signore dells
Terra se aveva da scrivere in cssa il nome di chriftiano, ciod della legpe
di Giesh. Repose il fratells Benederto che o, e che scrivesse Affdu/fa
i, clok Abdulld dells legpe di Giesd, perch come chriltiano cra passato
per tutto quc]lu camming e come tale lo voleve finire.” Rica men-
tions this ' patent " in the lidt he gives of the posessions of Goes which
eventually came into his hands. These included, he siys, * le tre
patenti che portava con gli sigilli del re di Cascir, del Signor di Cotim,
e del Signore di Clalis™ (Op. 8tor, 1, 55?].
W The Great Wall was reached at * Cliicnon* (Chiayu-Kuoan, or
the * Barrier of the Pleasant Valley ™), about 23 from Suchou.
Thnmihlcdmhlwbmucmpmdmtmvdhu;fmm Hami to
Chisyu-Kuan is clearly incorre@t. The diflance between the two
Kiu:u is 535 kilometres, or ronghly 335 miles, a journey which: mudt
ve takien nt Jeadt three weeks, and probably more, for we are told that
as the road was infefted with brigands the coravan tmavelled only at
ni Chisyu-Kuan eannot, therefore, have been reached much
before the middle of December. In the next paragraph we are told
that the caravan was kept waiting for twenty-five dayy before being
lllun-ﬁd to the * barrier.’ This mudl llictwuc be a midtuke, sinee
Goes arrived at Suchon before the end of December.
lnbuthﬂmthnﬁgummﬂ.lm" The sentence in the Commenrary
is, ** Di Camil i] in nove giomi arrivorno ai muri settentrinnale
cIr.I regno della Cina, in un lnogo detto Chisicuon, dove thettero mapet-
tando vinticingue giomi, sino che & diede nuova di loro al vieerd o
futane” It almedt looks s though, by some error, the words mame
and ofsriciegee had been interchanged, and that it was the journey
which cecupied twenty-five days, and the halt at Chisyn-Kuan nine.
It will be remem that Goes’s diary veached Riect in fragments.
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T fit these together muit have been sn extremely difficult task, and one
in which s miftake, such as. 1 have bere suggested, might very easily

have occurred. -

18 {p was doubtless with this letter that Ricci sent the Provincial
his firét sccount of Goes's travels, written, as he étates in his Jetter quoted
o p. 1xv, aiter Brother Fernandez had come back from Su-chou.
The Brother, sccompanied by Issac, reached Peking on the 28th of
Oftober, 1607 (Op. Seer., 1, 556) sy 1

1€ jo the Tas-tai, or provincial govemar. Ricci gives his title s
' tutan, which he sys in equivalent to * viceroy r: % E, per quanto tutin
il governo delle provincie foora della corte & subordinato alla corte di
Pacchine, per quedia causa sopra rutti questi mandarini in ogni pro-
vincia, vi sono altri doi magifirati supremi della corte, uno che sempre
resiede nella provincie, che si chinma fusax, I’ altro ehe ogn’ anto vien
di Pacchino ¢ si chiama eiafac, ioat ol

Tl fusan, per avers grande potere sopra | magk i ¢ suddid e inten-
dere ne' uﬁ e cose principali dello statto risponde al noétro offitio
di vicerd, Il tigines & come un commissario " {Op. Béor, L, 43).

2 “I'he town of Su-chou it in the province of Kansu, and is diftant
about 25 miles from Chinyu-Kuan, snd 120 tniles from 3
the head-quarters of the province, where the viceroy resided.  1f Riec
ia to be trufted, both Su-chou and Kan-chou belonged, in his day, to
the Fﬂﬂm of Shen-si.

' Thiy letter, being insufficiently addressed, wai never delivered.
T March, 1606, Goes wrote lnn‘liar. which reached its deflination
cight months later, side Ricer's letter of March 8th, récl : " Came nd
mpeva il Joogo dells noftra cam, 52 Il nome in lingoa cina, non ci
seppe fare il soprascritto che crs necessario § pure scrisse dof o tre lettere
al meglio che potette ¢, volsi 1ddio, che una doppo di otto mesi mi
venisse alli mani, e fu nel principio del mese di novembre dell’ anno
IM {'a?- EWI'I- u.- 3*3}.

In aJetter to the General of the Society dated 18th O&ober, 1607,
Ricch had alresdy mentioned the receipt of Goes's Jetter, and the dis
patch of a Brother to his msidtance ; but at that time he had had no
tidings of the Brother, though nearly a year had since his de-

re, and he evidently wrote in some anziety. e passage in the
tter runa: “ 11 fratello Benedetto Goes, che i superiori dell' India
mandarono sei anni sono [as Father YVenturi points cut in 2 foot-note,
it was actually less than five years ago] ¢ 1a via di Mogor a scoprire
il Cataio, itz gil alle porte della Cina nrﬁ provincia di Xanti, d' onde
la Quaresima del 606 scrise alli padsi di Pachino di non aver trovato
altro Cataio che questo regno, o che gli mandassero iftruttione per
tere andare a rovarli, Fcrch& Ia compagnia, con la quale era venuto,
ovea al solito trattenersi b due anni, avanti che Jascinssero pasaare
s Pachino. Gli mandarono i padri subito un fratello col necessrio
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Fcrﬂriqgioﬂiqulttmmuiull‘mﬂmtilﬁm;jti i
modupnﬁperqul:puﬁﬂhmlhd:}u:ﬁn‘mmuuh
Erﬁu MHP&IJ ietters di Bm.:lrc_;tu v manda per via di”ﬁlt
quei padri mformemnno V.P. pili partic te di q

negotio prupmd.i?;eu: provincia {Op, &ier, I, 337). Fernandez
and Isaac arrived at Peking ten days after the dispatch of thin letter.

¥ This b a miftake. Demtm'ulw:ngﬂuﬁru?uhnd;
biat Grimot, a8 we know, fell outat

# Fernandez reached Su-chou on the 35t March, having set oot
from Peking on the gath December of the preceding year. In his
letter of March 8th, 1608, to the General at Rome, Riccd wrote:
* Dessimo al fratello Giovanni I' ordine di quello che aveva da fare

Parti & 12 decembre, ma quando 11 arrivd, che fu I' uitimo giorno di
marzo dell' anno t6oy, fava il fatello molto inferme di pin di tn mese
de infirmits, causata da travagli che i Mori gli davano in quedta tern,
sopra quei che aveva patito in sl lungo viaggio ¢ da Il a dieci giomo
maritte " (Op. 8w, I, 345). The death of Goes s placed on the
same date, i.e. April 10th, in Ricei's letter of Auguil z2nd, 160l ; but
in the Mesroirs it is dhated to have occurred eloven after Fernandes'
arrival at Su-chou (1844, 1, 533), which accards with the date given
in the text. ’

B Yale (Carhay exd the Way Thither, IV, p. 172) has the following
note an thia&u: * Kaleedi, n small port of Travancore, which Fra
Paolino will have to be the Colchi of the Periplus. It has dropped out
of our modern X

M Tﬁiim{ndeﬁdum‘bﬂl.m'th sdditional details, in the Orderse
Congwiftads of Francico de Souss (Vol. 11, tgl—:_gq},md_th
alio appeans in the Awever Littere Soc. Jers of the year 1583 (of
the Rev. H. Hoften's Notes ow Bro. Bents de Goes, referred toon p. 172).

This paragraph mnimwnﬂiuﬂrﬂlthumimnfﬁndﬁ
Goes prior to has joining the Soclety. In his Early Femit Traseliere
Eg;r],tbuﬂu C. Weszels fiates, on the authority of the Afeswa Litera
HG#ﬁ?ﬂmt‘nnh&yﬁ: thliGu:!:.:Hd lh:rumi::::

[ ebrusry, 1384, being twenty- years of age; but
that before completing his two years® noviceship ** he quitted and went
to Ormuz. Regret soon followed, and on applying he was apain
admitted, and by the end of March or the begimming of April, 1588,
being twenty-six years old, be was 2 noviee once more.” In the [t
al meaibers of the mission-provinee of Goa, duted 318 December,
1588, his name i» entored as follows : * Benito de Goes, Pormigues de
la lula de Sant’ Miguel, de Is Vills Francs, Obispado de Angra; de
26 aflos § robufto ; de nueve meses de In Companhia ** (£8d, p. 7 note).
The quedtion whether * Goes* was a real or an asumed name is ful
discussed in the mote work (pp. !-éa}.
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# This evi means Ricel's letter of the rath November, 1607,
which Guerreiro already mentioned (p. 155), and which con-
ftitated his chiefl authority for this chapter {see Introdudion, p. :“{:h

™ The of the tion is thus described by Ricci in
letter ol An; zand, 1608:" ello che dette il tratto alla bilancia
fu che, iMmichelummMm::h:ﬂmiul'im

ingannato, forno [i.e. Fernandes] un sarno al governatore con pid di
trenta Mori, ¢ portd il fratello came di porco, e, avanti & tutti i Mori
cominciorno & mangiatls, e I' iftesso fece lsaac; con il qual spettacalo
cominciorno tutti i Mori & sputare £t anateti i ¢t &i uscimo
tate dalls sudientia uno dietro all' altro, et il governatore reath chiatito
di nion essere [saac Maro " (0. Sror, 11, 351).

3 These particulars sbout the captain of the Dutch ship are not

iven by Ricci, who merely itates that Isaac’s ship was cip

utch pirates in the ftraits of Singapore, and that he was ransomed by
the Portuguese of Malaees : ** Ex, essndosl Juic imbarcato per passare
all' India ¢ da I ritornare sl Mogore, dove flava sua moglie ¢ figlivali,
fia presa la burca da’ corsari olandesi nello ftretto di Sincapure e, nscatia-
to da quei di Malacea, arrivhy pure al fine all India doppo &i gravi
travagli " (Op. Seer., L 557)- According to Trigault's version,
mmhin;tb:wﬁ!mﬂuflmﬁn,bmd that his wife was dead, so,
inftesd of returning to Mogor, he settled at Chaul.

¥ This was ly in July, 1609, when, a3 we know, Pinheiro
was sent from Goa to Cambsy to negotiate with Jahangir's ambassador,
Mugarrsb Kban (see note 15, pe111)

1" Ap the beginning of the seventeenth century the perdas was
equivalent to about 2. 6d. For a full sccount of this coin and its
value see Hodpen-Tobios, pp. 672-678.
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CHAPTER I’
Tuz Rumw or Prou

Cuaricam [Chittagong] is one of the principal cities
and ports of Bengala.® It is in what is known as the
kingdom of the Mogos,* and is under the sway of the
King of Arraciio, the moét powerful of the rulers in all
Bengala,* who has made a fortress here, and has set
up a king under hishand. Almoét all the port has been
given over to the Portuguese who live there, and to
whom the King is very well inclined, as they have
assifted him in his wars, and have been of service to
him in many other ways. To some of them he has
given étipends amounting to thirty thousand crusados,
and he has declared his intention of making one of them
a king under his hand in Bengala, which he could very
well do, being the lord of many kingdoms, and possess-
ing more than two hundred leagues of coaél-line. His
word is, however, but the word of a Gentile. He shows
the Portuguese these favours now, because, being in
need of their services, he is anxious to content them;
but it is greatly to be feared that when he has no
further use for them, his behaviour will be very different.

This King is the possessor of the celebrated white
elephant, the fame of which is spread throughout the
Eaé, and to which both he and his people pay rever-
ence and make obeisance. This elephant is & mighty
beast. Every time he is taken out there is great
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rejoicing, and bands of musicians accompany him
wherever he goes. Seeing what has befallen the
various kings in whose possession he has been, one
can hardly help believing that this animal possesses
the powers of the Evil One; for five or six of the

erful kings to whom it has belonged have sooner or
later been deftroyed, both they and their kingdoms.
The laét of them, the King of Pegu,”® who was once the
lord of twelve or fifteen kingdoms, whose power was
once so great that he could, whenever he chose, put a
million men in the field, whose subjects were without
number and whase riches no man could compute,
lived. to see himself stripped of all the lands he had
conquered, and his kingdom desolated and deserted,
except by a few miserable beings who roamed like
savages in its jungles.

Before his final downfall, this King was besicged in
his capital, then all that was left to him of his kingdom,
by the King of Tangu, who was formerly his vassal,
and he of Arracam, of whom we have just spoken.
Seeing himself at the end of his resourses, the King
of Pegu made terms with his assailants. To the King
of Tangu he surrendered his person, his wife, and his
children, and all the countless treasure he possessed.
To the King of Arracam he gave five out of the sixty-
seven immense statues of his gods, which his father
had made, all of gold and glittering with precious
Stones, and in addition, five algueires® of precious
stones, amongét which were some of the moét pricc.lﬂs
gems in the world. He also gave him his daughter
to wife, and two of his sons as hostages. Finally, and

186



THE RUIN OF PEGU

transcending all, he surrendered to him the white
clephant, the pride and the glory of his kingdom.”

At the end of the year 1599, the King of Arracam,
ladened with his spoils, left Pegu for his own kingdom.*
He entered his capital in triumph, preceded by the
white elephant splendidly harnessed, and attended
by the brother and the two sons of the King of Pegu.
The daughter of the latter, who had been given to him
as wife, had expeéted to be on the King’s right hand
when he entered the city; and when she found that she
was put on his left side, whilst the old queen was put
on his right, and that the latter was decked out
in the finery and jewels that had been brought from
Pegu, she refused to regard the occasion as a triumph,
and wept bitterly as she entered the city, saying to those
near her, “ Look how that old woman is dressed upl
Everything that she has os her is mine!™  But far more
tragic was the fate of her father; for, after the departure
of the King of Arracam, the King of Tangu, in whose
hands he was left, not only took possession of his
wealth, but put him to death. So wast were the
treasures of Pegu that, to remove them to his capital,
the King of Tangu employed scventeen caravans,
each consisting of eight thousand beasts, horses,
bullocks, buffaloes, and elephants; and these were
loaded only with gold and precious §tones; for every-
thing that was made of silver or of other metals the
King left behind as of no account, His leavings, which
were afterwards tuken by the King of Arracam, were
estimated to be worth three million gold pieces.

When the King of Arracam returned viftorious to
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his capital city (which has the same name,® and is of
great size and more populous than Lisbon in its most
prosperous days), the Fathers Belchior da Fonseca
and Francisco Fernandes'® set out from Chatigam to
visit him. They were accompanied by a Portuguese
gentleman named Hieronymo Monteyro, for whom
the King had a special regard. On learning of their
arrival, the King at once sent for them, and when they
entered his presence he greeted them very cordially,
and invited them to sit near the princes of Pegu who
were with him on this occasion. They had scarcely
taken their seats when news was brought that the
King of Tangu had, in violation of his covenant, slain
the King of Pegu and his wife and his children. This
announcement of the fate of his father-in-law so per-
turbed the King that he asked the fathers to withdraw,
saying that he was unable to talk with them just then,
but that he would be glad to see them at another and
more convenient hour.

The next morning the Fathers received a message
to say that he was ready to receive them. On their
way to him, they fell in with the Coramgarim,** who
is uncle to the King, and the moét powerful lord in
these kingdoms. They exchanged greetings, and
after many compliments on both sides, the Coramgarim
invited them to enter his boat, and they conversed with
him during the remainder of their journey. They
found the King on the river. He was on a splendid
barge, built of wood, and so large that it seemed like
a house. The interior, which was very spacious, was
all painted and gilded, and none of the conveniences
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of a house were wanting. The King, who now waore
a smiling countenance, commenced the conversation
by asking the Fathers what they desired most in this
life. ‘They replied that there were many things that
they desired, but that more than all they prayed to God
for forgiveness for their sins, for grace to serve Him and
exalt His glory, and for the conversion of the whole
world, and especially of His Majedty's subjeéts, to their
holy faith. He then asked them if a Christian could
kill any animal without committing a sin. They told
him that they could do this without sin, since God had
created animals for the service of man, and man for
His own service. They added, however, that they
would be committing a sin if they killed animals that
did not belong to them, for by so doing they would
bring misfortune on the owners. But it was evident
that the King, like Pilate, when he asked, guid o8
veritas ? considered the answering of his queétions a
matter of no importance. At the close of the inter-
view he said that he would be glad to have some Fathers
at Chatigam, and also at Arracam, where he resides,
-and that he would arrange for their maintenance and
make them an allowance, which he would double the
next year, Having been thus kindly dismissed by
this Gentile King, the Fathers took their leave of him.**
Father Francisco returned to Chatigam, and Father
Belchior da Fonseca to his residence at Chandecam.*

The King of Arracam, having been informed of the
fate of the King of Pegu, and that after putting him to
death the King of Tangu had seized and carried off
all his great Store of treasure, as we have narrated above,
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set out without delay for Machao [Macao]'%, which was
the King of Pegu's fortress, and at the same time
summoned thither all the Portuguese whom he main-
tained in his lands of Bengala, that they might assist
him, should the necessity arise, againét the King of
Tangu.

As the Portuguese were very anxious to take a priest
with them, and as the King had himself called for some
members of the Company, it was decided by the two
Fathers at Chatigam that one of them, Father Fran-
cisco Fernandes, should remain in that place, and that
the other, Father Joam Andre, should accompany the
Portuguese to Pegu, a decision which they came to
the more willingly because of their anxiety to find out
how far the étate of affairs in Pegu was favourable
to the introdultion of Christianity into that kingdom.

When the party reached Siriam,'® which is the chief
port of Pegu, word was sent to the King, who was then
at Mauio [ Macao], which is diftant six or seven leagues
from Siriam, where he was collefting the silver and
other remnants of the treasure left in the fortress, in
which he also found more than three thousand two
hundred pieces of artillery of various sizes. He sent
word to the Father and the Portuguese to come and
see him, and he received and dismissed them with
much kindness.

As long as the Father remained at Siriam, he laboured
zealously in the service of our Lord, confessing and
adminidtering the sacraments to the Christians who
were there, and exhorting them to be earnedt in their
prayers and in their observance of the season of Lent,
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which was then in progress. During Holy Week he
made, with much devotion, a representation of the
holy Sepulchre, which both the King and his son came
to see. As to the opportunities for introducing
Chrigtianity, he found that there were none. For the
kingdom of Pegu was now a kingdom of jungles,
haunted by tigers and other wild beadts, and destitute
of human“habitation, save for a few villages of Sapuns,
who are wild people belonging to these parts.

As the plight of this kingdom was the most terrible
and pitiful that the world has ever known, and as it
shows in 2 wonderful manner how the justice of heaven
overtook these Gentile peoples, on account of their
abominable sins and idolatrics, and the evil deeds of
their King, a brief account must be given, though it
would be possible to tell a long story, of the evils which
led to it.

The desolation and ruin of this rich, populous, and
fertile country was brought about by the greed, the
cruelty, and the evil adminiftration of the ladt king whe
possessed it. So great were the sufferings which this
tyrant inflited, both on his own vassals and on the
peaple of the twelve large kingdoms which conquest
had brought under his sway, that at la&t, unable to
endure their miseries, his subjects, now in one part
and now in another, rose in revalt againét him. At
the same time other countrics made continuous war
upon him, killing thousands of his soldiers, until his
armies were completely destroyed, and the wretched
King, powerless and dedtitute of resources, was driven
to make terms with, and surrender himself to his former
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vassal, the King of Tangu, who, as we have narrated
above, seized everything that he possessed, and put
him, and his wife and his children, to death.

The warfare which the King of Pegu made against
his own subjefts could not have been more ruthless
had it been waged by their worét enemy, or the most
inhuman tyrant that has ever been known. Seeing
that, on all sides, he was regarded with ill-will, and that
in consequence of the defeat of his armies many refused
to go to war, while others fled from the enemy, or took
up arms against him, his rage and ferocity knew no
limits. To punish the Pegus, he ordered their right
hands to be cut off with a sword; others he sent to the
kingdoms of the Bramas, to be sold or exchanged for
horses. In the case of those who had rebelled against
him, he punished with death not only the culprits
themselves and their leaders, but all who were depen-
denton them. Thus, on one occasion, he caused to be
apprehended forty of the chicf nobles of his court;
men who had aided his father in the conquest of many
lands; and though they had never before committed
any offence againét him, he caused them with their
wives, their children, and all their dependents, who
were innumerable, to be placed in the midst of a great
circle of wood and faggots, which was then set on
fire, and they were burnt to death, Those who tried
to escape from the fire were killed by the soldiers who
had been placed round it. Many times he deftroyed
in this manner the families and dependents, men,
women, and children, old and young, of those who
fled from his enemies. Others he ordered to be
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drowned in the rivers, which became so blocked
with corpses that even small boats could not pass
along them.

But even these unheard-of cruelties failed to appease
his fury, which increased to such a pitch that, to
complete his vengeance on his rebellious subjeéts, he
prohibited them from sowing their fields, so that they
died in thousands from sheer hunger. By this in-
famous decree, unparalleled in the history of human
tyranny, the Pegus were reduced to the direst extremity
of misery and want. Driven by the fear of death in
its most agonising form, they took to devouring one
another., Mothers devoured their children, and chil-
dren their parents. The Stronger preyed on the weaker,
Human flesh was publicly sold in shambles. . . '
In this manner were the countless inhabitants of
Pegu destroyed, as well as those of Aua, Prum,
Martabam, Murmulam,'” and other adjacent kingdoms,
so that there are now no people left in all this region,
which is in a $tate of utter desolation, its cities in ruins,
and its fields §trewn with human bones.

Seeing the condition to which Pegu was reduced,
and that it was useless to think of introducing Christi-
anity into the country until it had been re-peopled,
which could not be for some time to come, Father
loam Andre left Siriam and returned to Chatigam.
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Puiue or Brrro Estanusues Himserr aT SyriaM

Tuers was at this time in the service of the King of
Arracam a Portuguese named Felippe de Brito Nicote,*
a rich and honourable man, and the Captain of many
Portuguese, whom he had brought with him to Pegu.
He had already rendered the King valuable service,
having twice restored him to his throne, when he had
been driven from it by his rebellious subjects, and inall
his wars had proved himself the ablest of his Captains.
As a reward for all that he had done, the King made
him Governor and lord of the kingdom of Pegu,” such
as it was, with permission to build at Syrido (which is
a4 port on the shores of the same kingdom, where its
rivers, including that which flows from Tangu, empty
themselves into the gulf which is called Machario®)
a fortress and $tockades as a defence against his
enemies, and to gather around him all the Pegus
who came to him from the jungles or elsewhere to live
under his proteétion and rule. Felippe de Brito made
the moét of his opportunities. He began by ereéting
that year, 1599," a Stockade of wood, and before the
end of the year 1602 he had completed the building of
a §tone fortress, well equipped with guns and munitions,
and very favourably situated for defensive purposes.
At the same time he laid out a town and buile houses
for the people of the kingdom of Pegu, who began to
come from divers parts to live in peace and security
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under his rule. In Ofober, 1603, the town con-
tained fourteen or fifteen thousand inhabitants, all
engaged in cultivating the land, Their numbers are
increasing, and there is good hope that the town will
become a populous city, and that this will lead to the
re-peopling of the whole kingdom.

Seeing the rapid growth of the fortress and city of
Siriam, the King of Arracam began to be alarmed at the
power which Felippe de Brito was acquiring. His
fears were fostered by a certain Rume who was then
much in his favour; and also by the ambassadors of the
King of Massulapatam, and by other Moors who came
to his court, all of whom told him that it was unwise
to place so much truét in the Portuguese; for they werea
people whom it was very difficult to dislodge from a
place where they had once taken root. They also
told him that they would undertake in less than two
years' time to place twenty thousand Moors in Pegu
who would pay him a yearly tribute of two bares® of
gold. The country, they said, had loét its population,
but not its mines of gold and silver and precious stones,
and the rivers which enriched its soil still ran to the
sea. His Majesty should, therefore, consider well
into whose hands he delivered this port. The Moors,
he knew, would always be garibes,” that is very sub-
missive, with no other desire but to live under his
protection; and furthermore, by taking the port from
the Portuguese and giving it to them, he would make
the King of Massulapatam his friend for ever. The
latter, it should be mentioned, had, through his am-
bassadors, promised large presents to the nobles of
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Arracam if they should persuade their King to this

course.

About this time, Felippe de Brito visited Arracam,
and learning what the Moors had been contriving

in& him, he went to the King and told him that if
he caét aside the friendship of the Portuguese his
overthrow would be certain. He could not hope to
uproot the Portuguese since they were lords of the sea,
and if he killed fifty of them, a thousand would come
to take their place; so that there would be perpetual
warfare until he was deétroyed. He added that the
support of the Portuguese had never been more neces-
sary to him than at that time; for the Moors, who were
conquering everything in Bengal, were already at his
gates,® and their general, Manasingua, had promised
Achebar [Akbar), the great Mogor, that he should be
lord of the white elephant, which was then in His
Majesty’s possession.

By this the King was to some extent disillusioned;
and when Gaspar da Silva, who came at this time as
ambassador from the Viceroy of India, reached his
court, he gave him a very friendly reception, and granted
all his requests. He also expressed his willingness that
Felippe de Brito should go to India to obtain ships to
help him againét the Great Mogor. But when the
ambassador and Felippe de Brito had departed, the
former to Bengala on his way to India, and the latter
to Pegu to proceed with his fortifications, the King
again gave ear to his counsellors, and at their indtiga-
tion, sent a message to Felippe de Brito to say that it
had been brought to his notice that he was building
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a Stone fortress in Pegu, and that it was his will that he
should proceed no further with the same, but that he
should pull down all that he had built, otherwise he
would send his armies to do it, and that he, de Brito,
was at once to come and see him.

To this messagede Brito sent a cautious but courteous
reply. At the same time he bribed the messengers that
they might tell the King that he would certainly lose
his kingdom if he broke with the Portuguese. He also
sent large presents to his counsellors that they might be
well disposed towards him; while he sought to appease
the King himself by a present worth seventeen thousand
erusadss, which included a girdle of gold worth fifteen
thousand. Meanwhile, however, he was procuring
from Bengals munitions and other supplies for his
fortress.

The King had left behind in Pegu a Banka,® which
corresponds to a duke, with an armed force, for the
purpose of making a display, and keeping a check on
the power of Felippe de Brito. The Banka was a
native of the country, and a regular brigand to boot,
That he might be treated with respeét, the King had
many times commended him by letter to Felippe de
Brito. However, many quarrels took place between
him and the Portuguese, who resented the presence
of his troops. On this account, and to prevent the
Pegus from forming a connection with their country-
man, de Brito determined to rid himself of his
troublesome neighbour by making war on him.
Accordingly, on the 27th of February, with a large force
of Portuguese and people of the country, he attacked
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the Banka's Stockade, which was very étrong, and
having forced an entry, slew thirty of his men and
took ninety prisoners. Seeing that he had gained
the vidtory, the rest of the defenders came over to
his side.  In the meantime the Portuguese captured
twelve of his vessels, twenty of his horses, and 2
quantity of provisions. They were also left in
possession of all the fields he had sown. The Banha,
whose wife had been killed, escaped with only fifteen
followers.

After this the fortress and city enjoyed a time of
prosperity; for the natives were able to cultivate the
land in peace, which they did so extensively that there
was soon no need to import rice from outside; and it
wis hoped that rice would soon be so abundant that
more of it would be exported to India from Pegu than
from Bengala. As the people enjoy peace and are well
treated, there is no doubt that all the Pegus who are
at present living in Tangu, Prum [Promc], langoma
[Jancoma],'® Auaa [Ava], Syam [Siam], and Arracam,
and they are very many, will come to us, not only
because of their love for their country, but because they
will no longer have to fear the oppression they endured
under their late King, and which they are now enduring
in other lands. All are disposed to receive baptism,
so that by God's grace this land will become a strong-
hold of the Christian faith.

Having provided for the security of his fortress and
city, Felippe de Brito sent ambassadors to the neigh-
bouring kings to make treaties of peace and friendship
with them, and to dissuade them from alliances with
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the King of Arracam, the common enemy of all.  Inhis
message, which was sent to Tangu, Prum, langoma,
Syam, and other minor #tates, he asked the kings to
accept his friendship, to promise, in times of necessity,
to assiét him with supplies for his fortress, and to send
their ambassaders with him to the State of Indis. All
sent favourable replies, except the King of Syam, who
was advised by a certain Portuguese named Martim de
Torres, who was at his court when the ambassador
arrived, to have nothing to do with Felippe de Brito.
The latter, de Torres told the King, would surely
deceive him, for he was nothing more than the King
of Arracam’s slave, while the dispatch of an ambassador
in his company was out of the queétion, since the State
of India did not recognise him. Nevertheless, though
the King of Syam did not send an ambassador like the
other Kings, he replied very courteously, as to a prince,
and sent back forty Portuguese who had been captives
in his hands.

Accompanied by the ambassadars of these kings and
princes, Felippe de Brito went to India, to make over
the fortress and the kingdom of Pegu to the State, and
to tender his submission and devotion to His Majesty.
He saw to it that the fortress was well supplied with
men, guns, and provisions, and all else that was likely
to be needed during his absence, and left ships for its
proteétion. He returned from Goa in the month of
December, 1602,"* having been very honourably
dispatched by the Viceroy, bringing with him sixteen
rowing vessels manned by three hundred Portuguese.
This fleet, with the ships that are already in these
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parts, namely a hundred and seventy at Sundiua
[Sandip L], thirty in Arracam, ten at Chatigam,
and others elsewhere, will, God willing, make the
Portuguese undisputed masters of all the ports of
Bengala and Pegu.
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CHAPTER HI'
Tex Reasons vor Houping Tae Ports oF BEncara

(1) Mone than two thousand five hundred persons,
pure Portuguese and half-cadtes [mesticos], who are
living in these parts as outlaws or refugees, serving
various Gentile and Moorish kings, can be reclaimed
to the service of God and His Majesty. They will be
able to live together in our cities and fortresses, where
also can be sheltered many orphan girls with whom
they will be able to marry, the King granting them
lands for their maintenance.

(2) By the establishment of custom-houses in these
ports and fortresses the revenue of the State will be
increased, and His Majeéty will have the wherewithal
to §tock his magazines, and supply his fleets, both here
and in India.

(3) From Pegu, as from Bengala, can be obtained
all the timber required for the armadas of India, for it
grows very abundantly in these parts. Formerly
it was much used by the Turks for building their gales.
They used to transport it to Suez, whither it could be
conveyed more easily than timber from Alexandra.
Here, too, can be built very cheaply as many vessels
as are required for all parts of the State of India, both
in the North and in the South.

(4) From these ports of Pegu and Bengala supplies
and munitions can be sent to Malaca, and other places
in the South, very easily and at all seasons. Thisisa
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very important consideration; for from India they can
only be sent with difficulty, and that but once a year,
on account of the monsoons.

() From Pegu it would be an easy matter with our
fieet to subdue Martabam, Reytauai [Tavoy], Tanacari
[Tenasserim], Tunsalam [Junk-Ceylon],* and Queds,
all of which are now in the hands of the King of Syam,
who wrongfully took possession of them, they being
all in & deserted &tate; for twice the King of Syim
attacked Pegu, cach time compelling the people of these
kingdoms to accompany him by sea with supplies that
could not be brought by land, and in these journeyings
the greater part of them perished; so that these kingdoms
are now so destitute of people that there is not in all of
them as much cultivated land as there is round our
port and city of Siriam.

(6) Our possession of Pegu puts an end to the
pretensions which the King of Syam has to this kingdom
and to Tangu, which latter country he covets on
account of the treasures of Pegu which the King of
Tangu seized and took there, after capturing and slay-
ing the King of Pegu, his father-in-law. So greatly
does the King of Syam desire this conquest that, since
his failure to take the city of Tangu in 1599, when
seventy thousand of his men perished from hunger,
and when he lost many elephants and horses and all
the guns he had taken with him, he has refused to enter
his capital, and declares that he will not do so until he
has conquered both Tangu and Pegu; and with this
object in view he is busily collecting supplies and
munitions of war, He has asked the Olandeses [the
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Dutch] whose ships are at Patane,® to supply him with
ten or twelve artillerymen., They have already sent
him two, who came to him when Felippe de Brito was
about to set out from Pegu for India, in 1603.

(7) By being maéters of this port, the Portuguese
will be able to perform another valuable service for His
Majeéty; for, with their fleet they can intercept the
many ships which come yearly from Surrate [Surat]
to Martabam, Reytauai [Tavoy], Iunssalao, Tanacri
[Tenasserim], and Queds, to load cargoes of pepper
and other goods for Meca, and can make them come to
our fortress and pay duty at the cuftom-house which
is to be eétablished there, both on the goods they bring
from India, and on those they take back from these
parts. ‘This also is a very important consideration,
as it willadd much to His Majesty’s revenues; for there
is no way of escape for these ships, except by sea; so
that if the Portuguese are masters of the sea they will
have complete control over them, for they can patral
all this coadt with their fleets, just as they patrol the
coaét of Malabar in India, and none will have power
to resist or moleét them.

(8) One of the most important of the worldly
advantages belonging to our occupation of this fortress
of Siriam is the opportunity which it presents for
laying hands on the trcasures of Pegu, which, as we
have said, are in the possession of the King of Tangu,
whose kingdom is distant but six days’ journey by land,
and nine by water, Felippe de Brito, when he was
sent there by the King of Arracam,* saw all that there
was to be seen in it, and carefully observed its situation,
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and the site and disposition of the royal city, of which
he took the measurements, and made notes of every-
thing within its walls. He says that it is 1,4 5o fathoms
[#racas] in length, and 1,400 in breadth. It has
twenty gates. From gate to gate there are five watch-
towers [guaritas], and between each pair of these,
forty embrasures [ameas). There is a good-sized
moat, measuring about twenty-five fathoms across.
The walls are not very high, and are about twenty-five
spans in thickness. There are no gun-platforms
[bataria], the walls being nothing but rubble with a
brick facing ; the latter is not more than six spans thick,
and often crumbles away in the winter season. The
houses are made of $traw, and the population is scanty,
At the time Felippe de Brito was there, the King had
twenty thousand Pegus; but today he has not more
than three thousand, large numbers of them having
come to our fortress under contra with Felippe de
Brito; for the land there is barren, and the people can-
not get any silver; whilst here they can get abundance
of everything. These were the pick of his people,
for though they had been conquered by him, hardship
had made them étrong and courageous. The King
has some fifteen thousand Burmese soldiers [Bramas];
but they are a weak and poor-spirited lot. He has eight
hundred horses of the country, and a large number of
guns, including even camelets, which he took from the
kingdom of Pegu; but he has no powder beyond a small
quantity given to him by the King of Arracam. His
chief constable is 4 lascar, or common seaman, who was
once in our pay. In the account which he sent to the
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Viceroy, Felippe de Brito wrote that, in two years'
time, with the troops already available in Bengala, and
others which he could raise there, and with the people
of the country, of whom he had twice as many in his
service as the King of Tangu, and of better quality,
he would be ready, if His Majesty gave his approval,
to attack this country; for the king who ruled it was a
despot. Without incurring any great risk it would be
possible to gain possession of his vast treasure, and,
once the Portuguese were masters of Tangu, they would
be able to subdue other kingdoms bordering on that
coast and the gulf of Machareo, which has a coast-line
of cighty leagues, He wrote also that, outside the royal
city of Tangu, the King has no forces; and, as far as the
King of Arracam is concerned, even the Pegus in our
fortress go out and seize his cattle, there being none to
protect them.

(9) By means of this conquedt, the Portuguese will be
able to hold in check the Olandeses, and prevent them
from setting foot in Pegu and in many other kingdoms,
from which they are not far away. The governor of
the King of Syam, who is at Martabam, sent two ships
to Achem® with an ambassador who took presents to
the Olandeses, and offered them these ports, telling them
of the commodities they could obtain in them. They
replied that though at that time they were unable to
accept his offer, they haped to be able to do so in the
near future. In March of this year, 1603, he sent
another ship; but when Felippe de Brito arrived,” he
gave orders that the vessel, with the message it brings,
was to be captured on its return, which was likely to
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be in September. The journey by sea from our fortress
to Martabam takes twenty-four hours; but by land, on
account of the bay, it takes five days.

(ro) Of far more account than temporal gains or
wealth, or aught that can be done to serve His Majeéty,
is the work that can here be accomplished for the glory
of God, by the winning of countless souls for the king-
dom of heaven, for the people are by nature docile and
easy to convert. This can only be done with the help
of God, and if those who govern here and in those parts
are zealous for His honour, and hold His glory, and the
welfare of souls, as of more concern than worldly success
and prosperity, If He grants us the latter, it is that
we may make His service, and the care of souls in

these lands, our firft duty.
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CHAPTER IV*
Dereat oF THE ARARANESE ARMADA

In the previous chapters we have told of the fortress
which the Portuguese noble, Phelipe de Brito of Nicote,
built at his own coét, at the entrance to the port of Siriam,
which is the chief port of the kingdom of Pegu. This
kingdom, which was now so wasted and deserted that
it contained little but jungles and wild beasts, had been
conquered by the King of Aracao, who had given it to
Phelipe de Brito as a recompense for his many and great
services.

This Portuguese noble was induced to take charge of
this kingdom, and to build in it this fortress, by the
hope that he might be able to restore, at least in some
measure, its former greatness and beauty, and lay in 1t
the foundations of a great Christian $tronghold, so
that it should becomie a source of §trength to the State
of India, and a crown of these realms. He hoped alsoto
revive its commerce, which, indeed, began Steadily to
develop from that time. Another Strong reason which
he had for building this fortress was that it would
enable him to prevent the landing of the Turks of
Mecha, who always desired to come there on account
of the timber which grew abundantly in those parts;
This they required for the building of their ships and
gales; and in former days they used to take it to Sucs,
whither it could be carried more cheaply than wood
from any other country. IF the Portuguese had not
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prevented them in time, and if God had not inspired
Phelipe de Brito to undertake this enterprise and carry
it through at his own cost, there is no doubt that the
Moors and Turks would have stepped in and possessed
themselves of this region, to the lasting detriment of
the whole State of India®

To render his position secure, Phelipe de Brito, in
the year 1603, went to Goa to mike over the fortress,
and declare his fealty to His Majesty, and to consult
the Viceroy in regard to its management. The same
year, having settled all these matters, he returned to
Pegi. On his way, he stopped at Cochim, where
he spoke with the Father Provincial, and begged his
permission to take back with him some Fathers of the
Company; for though at first they would, he said, find
it difficult to clear the soil, they would in the end gather
much sweet fruit. Encouraged by such hopes, the
Father Provincial wrote at once to the four Fathers®
who were in Bengals, direéting that two of them should
proceed to Pegii; for in the kingdoms of Bengala the
gates were being closed more and more resolutely
againét the holy Gospel. It seemed as though our Lord
had inspired the Provincial to take this course; for the
Fathers of Bengals, owing to the unsatisfaftory étate of
affairs in those kingdoms, had already determined to
return to India; and after receiving this letter; two of
them came back to Cochim, whilst the other two went
to Pegil, where they arrived in February, 1604, to the
great contentment and consolation of the Portuguese
who were in the fortress. As soon as the latter had
news of their arrival, which was at night, they showed
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their joy by dancing and playing musical instruments,
They said that God had come amongst them, and that
now they knew that their fortress was secure, since the
Fathers had entered it. As soon as it was dawn the
Captain-General, Phelipe de Brito, and all the Portu-
guese, sought the sea-shore, where, with unbounded
pleasure, they feafted and made holiday. A house
had already been prepared for the Fathers, in which
they were now hospitably entertained. They com-
menced without delay to perform the duties proper
to their calling, preaching, hearing confession, ex-
pounding the doétrines of their faith and seeking for
converts, doing all with gladness and to the comfort and
benefit of those amongét whom they laboured.  All the
Portuguese, as well as the Christians of the country,
made confession, and were thus Strengthened to resist
the temptations to sin which abound in these lands.
Not only the soldiers of the fortress, but the merchants
of the country, as well as many others, came fo seck
the Fathers' help and advice, and all alike came to
regard them as their sole comforters.

Our Captain-General, Phelipe de Brito, greatly
desired to sec all the needs of the Fathers abundantly
supplied; but on account of the heavy expenscs he had
been obliged to incur in conneftion with the fortress,
and because of the losses he had suftained, he was
unahle to do for them as much as he wished. Never-
theless the Fathers wanted for nothing; for they had a
house to live in, though it was only of wood, and also
a little church which, pending the eredtion of a larger
building, had been provided for them. The latter
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had coft only four hundred pardass; but a thousand
would not suffice for such a building in Portugal, so
abundant is timber in these parts.

The marvellous favours which heaven has bestowed
on this enterprise have encouraged all to hope that in
this kingdom the gate will be opened wide to the holy
Gospel, On many occasions when the fortress has
been reduced to the direst étraits by hunger, God has
miraculously succoured it with supplics from many
quarters; but above all He has given us 2 viftory over
the Moors of Arracam, the completeness of which can
scarcely be realised, except by those who actually
witnessedit. The étory of itis as follows. The Moors
who were at the court of the King of Arracam, seeing
the increasing étrength of the fortress which Phelipe
de Brito had built, and resenting his possession of this
portion of the kingdom of Pegu, in which they so greatly
desired to set foot, promised to pay the King 2 yearly
tribute of many dares of gold if he would expel the
Portuguese; and give the fortress to them. They
urged him so persiétently, and put such fear into his
mind of the evils that were to be expeéted if the Portu-
guese were left undifturbed, that they completely
destroyed his friendly feelings for Phelipe de Brito,
and the trust he had formerly placed in him. Thus:
worked upon, the King at firét tried to lure our Captain-
General to his court with persuasive messages,
when these proved ineffectual, he sent word to him
with many threats that the fortifications he had
erected were to be razed to the ground. Finally
he determined to send all his forces to capture the
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fortress, and wipe out the Portuguese name in those
parts.

And so, not content with what he had done to us
in Ratiguam,* a great port of Bengala, in November,
1602, and the many other injuries he had inflifted on
us, dedtroying many Chridtian places, burning churches,
and slaying and taking captive many people, including
Father Francisco Fernando of our Company, and after
having taken from us in March, 1603, the island of
Sunduia,® he now determined to remove that other
thorn which was till left in his flesh, and which was
beginning to cause him such discomfiture, namely the
fortress of Pegu.

Accordingly, at the end of the year 1604, he put on
the sea an armada of nearly five hundred and Afty
ships, carrying a force of fifteen thousand men. He

laced his eldest son in command of it, and sent with
him his Captain-General and all the chief captains of
his kingdom. The Prince was not only to deétroy the
Portuguese in Pegu, but to subdue other kingdoms and
fortresses in those parts of which the King desired to
have possession. Before the fleet set sail, the King
cansed it to be made known in Pegu that it was being
sent against other Gentile kingdoms; but its real object
was to deftroy our fortress and afterwards to capture
the ports and cities of Martauam, Teua [Tavoy] and
Tanacari. This was learnt subsequently from the
orders which the fleet carried. But our Captain-
General, Phelipe de Brito, was not deceived. He knew
the treacherous nature of the King, and was fully alive
to his designs. Nevertheless, remembering his obliga-
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tions to him, for it was from the King that he had re-
ceived this kingdom, he sent a message begging him
not to send his fleet to Pegu, since, if it came there, he
would be obliged to resist it.

The King ignored this message, and his armada put
to sea. It consiéted of five hundred jaleas and forty
catures® with many guns, Very small in comparison
was the fleet which the Portuguese made ready; for it
comprised only eight ships, but all very well equipped,
and a hundred and eighty Portuguese soldiers. They
put to sea as soon as it was known that the enemy’s
armada was on its way. The two feets met off a point
of the land which is called Negrais,” and a desperate
battle took place. Three times the enemy retired and
three times returned to renew the &truggle. With God's
help the Portuguese gained the advantage in each of
these encounters, in the course of which they sank
many of the enemy's jaleas and casures, killing more
than a thousand men, and capturing five hundred.
Of their own men, not one was killed, and only three or
four were wounded.

Seeing how ill it had fared with him in this sea fight,
and as it was his intention to disembark his forces and
attack our fortress by land, the Prince now kept his
fleet close in to the shore. Accordingly, the Portu-
guese ships, which were larger and of deeper draught
than those of the enemy, and which now §tood in need
of repairs, were taken back to the harbour, and the
men returned to the fortress,

When it was seen that the enemy's armada had
entered the river, and with such precipitancy. that
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several of their vessels which were near the shore had
become $tranded on shallows or sandbanks, the Portu-
guese immediately manned their ships, and took up a
position at a point which they knew the enemy must
pass if he came to attack us. A few days later, the
Prince likewise having repaired his damaged ships,
the armada advanced up the river; and on the 28th
January, 1603, the two fleets met, and a fourth engage-
ment took place in front of the fortress.® For a time
neither side gained any advantage, so Stubborn was the
contest; bur at ladt, by the grace of God, the tide of
battle turned in our favour, and the enemy’s ships were
driven into a narrow channel from which there was no
outlet to the sea, and on that and the following day,
the Portuguese captured all that great and numerous
armada, of which not a single ship escaped to carry the
news of the disaster to the King.

When the ships entered this channel, the Prince,
who was heir to the throne of Arracam, and his captains,
who were the greateft in the kingdom, and all his
soldiers, secing that escape by water was impossible,
abandoned everything, and leaping ‘ashore sought
refuge in the jungles, hoping to save their lives and to
find their way by land back to Arracam. But the
Prince’s followers, driven by hunger and the many
other hardships which they had to suffer, soon began
to desert him. Some came over to us, others made
their way to Tangu or Param [Promc]; till at last,
out of fifteen thousand men, only three thousand re-
mained with their Prince. Aware of this, Phelipe de
Brito made his way with all speed to a spot where he
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knew that the Prince’s force could be intercepted, and
there he fell on it with fifty Portuguese soldiers and two
hundred Pegus who were in his service. The fugitives
at firét offered some resiftance, thinking that they had
to deal only with Pegus. But on secing the Portuguese,
the greater portion of them surrendered, while the re-
mainder took to flight. Amongst the former were the
Prince, his Captain-General and other captains, and a
bastard son of the former King of Pegu. All were
conduéted to the fortress as prisoners, to be dealt with,
more especially in the case of the Prince, as the Viceroy
should dire@. The King offered a great sum of money
as ransom for his son, as he could well afford to do,
seeing that he was the richest and most powerful king
in all those parts and in Bengala.”

Tt would be difficult to estimate the great importance
of this vitory. As far as temporal affairs were con-
cerned it did much to $trengthen the hold which the
Portuguese had already secured on this kingdom,
and laid the foundations of a great eftate in these parts,
which may one day be the crown of our realm. But
more than this it paved the way for the eftablishment
of a great Church, which may lead to the conversign
of the infidels in all these kingdoms, where up till now
only the devil is worshipped.

The booty obtained on this occasion was enormous;
for, leaving out of account the ships and prisoners,
the Portuguese captured more thana thousand pieces of
artillery, large and small, as well as great quantities of
munitions and supplies, all of which they used to
furnish and equip their fortress.
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The Jesuit Father Natal Salerno, one of the two who
had been sent from Bengala, was present in all these
battles. He was always to be found in the thick of the
fight, animating the soldiers, hearing their confessions,
and aiding them with his prayers. It was to the Father
that the soldiers attributed their victory, so great was
their belief in the power of his virtues and prayers.
Our Captain-General commended him no less to the
Father Provincial; for he took no credit to himself for
the victory, but gave all the glory and honour to God,

from whom all blessings come.
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CHAPTER V*
Ix wuicn a Treaty 1s MADE AND Broxew

As has been said in previous relations, our occupation
of Pegu is one of the most important of our eastern
enterprises, not only on account of the material advan-
tages which our kingdom derives from it, but because
of the opportunity it offers for the extension of our holy
faith by the preaching of the Gospel. For although the
country of Pegu itself is almost devoid of inhabitants,
there are in the neighbouring regions, and along all the
coast of the bay of Bengala, vast numbers of Gentiles,
who are able to find refuge from oppression under the
shadow of the Portuguese fortresses, where it is possible
to convert them to our faith, and thus greatly to extend
the Church of God in these parts.

As to things temporal, there is not in all the East
a country so rich, or which preduces the necessitics
of life in greater abundance. Apart from mines of
gold, and silver, and precious stones, which are to be
found in all these lands, so fertile is the soil of Pegu
that, if it is well irrigated, it will produce three rich
crops of rice every year; and it will yield equally good
crops of wheat, vegetables, and indeed of anything
that is sown in it.

Not far away is the kingdom of Tangu, where are now
the immense &tores of gold and precious Sones which it
took the kings of Pegu centuries to amass, and among#ét
which are the richest gems in the world. The Fathers,
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and other Portuguese; declare that this kingdom could
be taken with a force of a thousand men. Then there
is the kingdom of Pru [Prome], very rich in timber,
elephants, lac, and pepper, both the long and the short
kinds, of which His Majeéty could easily become the
lord, as he could also of the kingdom by the gangas,®
or upper river, which is the kingdom of Vua [Ava],
where is abundance of precious étones, such as rubies,
sapphires, and spinels, as well as benzain, lead, copper,
lac, silk, and amber. These three kingdoms are all
on the river, and can be reached by our ships which go
from Siriam. Only the city of Tangu is to be reached
by land, being ditant from the water's edge about the
range of a falconet. On the coadt of the lower portion
of the gulf, which extends to the south, are the cities
of Tauay [Tavoy], Tanassarim, Martabam, and
Luncalam® [Junk-Ceylon]. Theseareon the outskirts
of the kingdoms of langoma, Siam, and Langam
[Luang Praban], and in all of these are to be found
many valuable commodities, including gold and other
metals, both those which the land produces, and those
which come from outside. They are not far away,
and could be conquered, as could all Bengala, from this
fortress of Siriam; so that when those who are in the
South have need of assistance, it would no longer be
necessary to send it from India, whence it goes with so
much risk and difficulty; for it would be able to go
from Bengala and Pegu, where are all the necessary
facilities, and the voyage along the coadt is very €asy.
In addition, His Majesty will have many rich lands for
di@ribution amongét his poor subjeéts, for whom in
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India there is not a span, Also a ship can come from
the Kingdom direét to Pegu which will help to render
our conquest secure and permanent. Nor is there any
fear that it would have to return without a cargo, as
many wrongly suppose; for every year it could take back
the pepper which comes from Queda and Dachem
[Achim], as is done at Cochim, and here could be
done very easily.  There will also be for cargo the com-
modities of the country and of Bengala which can come
here every year more easily than they go from Bengala
to Cochim, there being only eighty leagues of coast
berween Bengala and Siriam, and the voyage can be
made both in the winter and summer seasons. At
Negrais there is a very splendid harbour, as large as
the city of Goa,

Farmerly, in the time of the last King of Pegu and
his predecessors; all those commodities which 1 have
said are obtainable in Martauam, Tauay, Tanasarim,
Lunculam, and other neighbouring parts and kingdoms,
used to come to this port of Siriam. And the reason
of their coming was that the cotton goods of Choro-
mandel were brought only to this port; and hither
came many ships from Meca to load the goods which,
on account of this cotton, were brought here. The
Portuguese also took many freights, so that the trade
of the kingdom of Pegu was very lucrative and exten-
sive. But today these goods no longer come to Siriam;
and this is because the cottons of Choromandel are now
taken to Tauay, Tanasarim, and Martauam, from
whence they go to Siam, Langiao [Luang Praban],
Camboja, and other neighbouring kingdoms, and even
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to Tangu. These same cotton goods reach the
kingdom of Vua [Ava] by way of Arracam, and precious
itones are sent the same way, which formerly were
brought to Pegu, Hence the trade of our port is much
diminished, and His Majeéty is losing the profit which
he ought to be getting from it; all of which could be
remedied by observing the usage which the State of
India formerly eftablished with the barbarous King of
Pegu, by which it was ordained that the cottons of
Choromandel should be brought to Siriam, and to no
other port, and that the Portuguese on their part
should take it only to the part of Goa, and that no other
voyages should afterwards be made with it. By the
consequent advent of our ships to this port, our trade
and His Majeéty's profits would &eadily increase, and
the arrival here of many Portuguese would render our
fortress more and more secure, and our fleet powerful
enough to control all these seas, and to overawe the
Kings who are our neighbours, so that none of them
would dare to raise a hand againét us.*

Although our fortress is not at present in a étrong
or prosperous étate, yet God has so marvellously helped
our Captain-General, Felippe de Brito, the founder
of it, in all the difficulties which from the beginning he
has had to encounter, that it is manifeétly His purpose
to use it for the advancement of His holy faith.

We must now resume the thread of our narrative..
After the great and marvellous victory described in the
previous chapter, our Captain-General asked Father
Natal Salerno of our Company to go to Arracam to
negotiate terms of peace, and, having accomplished
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this, to remain there as a hoftage, until the Prince had
been reftored to his father, as he soon was.” Then,
trufting in the promises which this faithless King
swore by his Pagodas that he would fulfil, Felippe de
Brito sent his son, Marcos de Brito, with a party of
Portuguese, to take possession of the island of Sundiuz
which, according to the treaty, belonged to him. But
the King, by treacherous means, slew Marcos de Brito
and nearly all who were with him. He also seized
more than five thousand Christians who were in his
territories, treating them with barbarous cruelty, and
subjecting the women to the grossest insults. Amongst
others, he captured three priests, in addition to which he
profaned their sacred vessels, and desecrated and tore
down a crucifix. He also tried to seize by treachery
a number of Portuguese who were then in his ports,
whither they had come, as was their custom, for purposes
of trade; but having been warned of his hodtile in-
tentions, they were able to withdraw to a place of
safety, with the exception of one galliot, which had
proceeded some ditance up a river, where it was
attacked by a hundred and fifty vessels of the enemy.
The thirty Portuguese who were on the galliot resisted
the attack with great determination, and after killing
many of their assailants, succeeded in saving both
themselves and their ship.®

Not content with these outrages and insults, the
King determined to deétroy the fortress of Siriam, and
all the Portuguese who were within it; and for this
purpose he began to muster all the forces he possessed.
While he was in the midst of his preparations, a great
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Sarm burét over his capital, and the lightning étruck
not only his royal residence, but the étall of the white
elephant, and the chief temples of his idols. This so
terrified his falapojos,’ who are his priedts, that they
besought him to look to his ations, for these things
were & sign that de§trudtion was to overtake him, on
account of the injuries he had done to the Gods of the
Chriétians, and to the Chriftians themselves and the
Portuguese, by breaking the treaty of peace he had made
with them. The blinded King replied that if he had
to perish, he would see to it that they perished first,
so that they should have no chance of glorying in his
death. And without more ado, he had thirty of his
chief priests put to death. Meanwhile, Felippe de
Brito, greatly as he felt the loss of his son and the other
Portuguese, turned his thoughts from grief to ven-
geance; and as soon as he heard of the great force
which his enemy was making ready to bring against
him, he commenced his preparations for meeting the
attack. Having good reason to fear that when the
King of Arracam came to attack him by sea, other
kings, who were his neighbours and confederates,
would lay siege to hig fortress by land, he dispatched
Father Natal Salerno to Malaca to obtain assistance
from the Viceroy, who was there at that time. The
State of Malaca was not what the Father had expected
to find it; nevertheless, the Viceroy was able to send
Felippe de Brito two gales and six sailing vessels
[wauios), with which, and those he already possessed,
he felt that he could face the whole of Bengala.

Up to this point our information is from letters that
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have come to us by sea from Moncao® [Macao]; but
news, which is regarded as trutworthy, has since
reached us by land that the King of the Mogos set
forth with a very powerful fleet, said to have consisted
of more than a thousand ships; and that on his way to
our fortress he had three encounters with our ships,
:n all of which he was woréted, and especially in the
lat, in which the Prince, his son, was again captured
with many of his people. [t is reported that the Prince,
though severely wounded, managed to escape in one of
their boats; but that our vessels were gone in pursuit,
with good hopes of taking him. It is also said that our
Captain-General, encouraged by this victory, is pur-
posing to go on to Arracam. But of these cvents we
shall, God willing, be able to write more fully and
clearly in our next relation.

There are at present two Fathers of the Company
at Siriam, where they are labouring with much zeal.
One of them §tays there continuously, attending to the
church and the duties conneted therewith, confessing,
preaching, teaching the doftrines of our faith, and
fulfilling the various other duties belonging to his
office. The other is almoét always at sea, for the men
of our fleet are never willing to go forth to battle unless
he is with them, so confident are they that his virtues
and prayers will bring them viétory. Little is at
present being done towards the conversion of the in-
fidels, This is not because there are not many who
desire to be baptised, but because the people are stall
in a very unsettled $tate owing to the continual wars
which are taking place, and the Fathers think it best to
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&pone this important work until the country is ina
more tranquil étate, which will enly be after their chief
enemy, the King of Arracam, has been destroyed; for
it is he, and his desire, to expel the Portuguese from all
these parts, that difturbs the peace of our fortress and
city. Nevertheless, a certain number of persons have
received baptism. These have been for the modt part
sick children, of whom the Lord has taken many to
himself. Among# the conversions made at this time,
the moét important was that of a wealthy Jew, who was
a dealer in precious étones, and who was also a man
of much learning, and well versed in the holy Scriptures
and in the Hebrew tongue. After wandering over
the greater part of the world, he had found his way to
Syam, and being told that there were Fathers of the
Company in Pegu, he came to the fortress of Siriam to
see them, He said that he had been led by the Scrip-
tures to see the truth of our holy faith, but that he
desired enlightenment on certain points which #till
troubled him. The answers which the Fathers gave
to his quedtions completely satisfied him, and he begged
so earnedtly to be baptised that it was evident that he
had been illumined by the Holy Spirit, and had heard
the voice of God. He was baptised with great solemnity,
the service being witnessed by all the Portuguese,

of whom had known him before, and who

marvelled to see him thus changed from what he had

been, like Saul who became Paul and 3 preacher of

Jesus Chriét and his holy law, He died a few days

after his baptism, from a discase which he had con-
tratted before he left Syam.
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CHAPTER VI
Tue Barrie or NEGrAIs

Ix the kingdom of Pegu, and in the city and fortress of
Siriam, which is the seat of Philippe de Brito, the
General of that kingdom, there were residing two
Fathers of our Company; but, by the will of God, one
of them, namely the Father Natal Salerno, lost his life
in a desperate naval engagement between the infidels
and the Portuguese. And because this was one of the
moft memorable encounters which have taken place
in India between the Portuguese and these Gentios,
and because itwas entered upon for the sake of the Faith,
and brought so great glory to God, it seems fitting, for
the consolation of the faithful, and to give them cause
to praise our Lord, that some account of it should here
be set down, For it is not out of place in an ecclesi-
astical history to refer, when it seems appropriate to
the matters of which we are treating, to the wars
which the Christians waged in the defence, or for the
propagation of the Christian religion.

It was through the King of Prit [Prome] that Philippe
de Brito received intelligence of the treachery of the
King of Arracam, and how the barbarian had, with
great energy, prepared a vast armada, on which he had
embarked all his power, with the intention of coming,
as soon as the winter season was ended, to besiege the
fortress of Siriam: how, in short, he was bringing with
him a fleet which in ships, men, guns, and munitions
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of war, was the most powerful that had ever appeared
on the Indian seas. His ships were 1,200 in number,
and each one was propelled by cars, because of the
inlets and lagoons which break up all the coaét of the
Gangetic gulf, and which are only to be navigated by
vessels of shallow draft. Of these ships, seventy-five
were galliots® of very large size, each carrying a dozen
pieces of heavy artillery, such as esperas, camelets,”
and falcons. They were also well equipped with
screens [paueses] and network [xaresa]® and were fully
manned, The other vessels were jaleas, which are
smaller than galliots and very light, with fifteen oars
oneachside. The fleet carried 3,500 pieces of artillery,
big and little; and the soldiers, amongst whom were
Moors, Patans, Persians, and Malabars, numbered
about thirty thousand, including ecight thousand
musketeers, The King himself came with the fleet,
accompanied by the Prince, his son and heir, the flower
of the nobility of his kingdom, and all his fighting men.
The King of Chocoria® with his men also joined him.

Before this armada set sail from Arracam, news of
its coming reached our Captain-General, who, with
great determination and energy made preparations for
intercepting it on the high seas. Though greatly
inferior to the enemy both in ships and men, our little
force was rendered étrong by the cause for which it was
to fight, which was the defence of the Faith, and by the
spirit and courage of our soldiers. It consifted of
but eight galliots and four sanguicels,® which are boats
of & much smaller size and very light. Our soldiers
numbered two hundred and forty. The chief com-
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mand of this tiny armada was given to Paulo do
Rego, who was one of the braveét soldiers in India,
and who had served in the same capacity in previous
battles.

This gallant Captain set out with his armada in
search of the enemy, being determined to give battle,
As he coadted along, he made descents on the enemy's
shores, destroying with fire every maritime town which
he entered, and putting the inhabitants to the sword.
After a time, having received information of the course
which the enemy’s fleet was taking on its way to our
fortress of Siriam, he awaited its approach in what is
called the channel of Negais [Negrais], Here he
offered battle; but the King declined the challenge,
and taking shelter under the land, placed himself
amongst rocks and sandbanks, & position which gave
him security whilst it was full of danger for our ships,

Seeing that the enemy did not intend to come oufy
our Captain caét anchor in front of his position, at the
diétance of a falcon-shot, Presently, a number of the
King's provision ships arrived; and when our Captain
fell upon these to deftroy them, the lighter vessels of
the armada came to their assitance. A close fight
ensued, in which we captured the jalea of the Captain
who was leading the attack. The Captain himself,
whose name was Maruja, was killed, He was a person
of high rank, and much thought of by the King.
Finally, after other skirmishes had taken place, our
Captain, on the laét day of March, 1607, decided to
give battle at two o'clock in the afternoon. But at
that hour there came on a violent §torm of rain, which
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ladted for one and a half hours, so that he was unable to
commence the attack before four o'clock,

Although the very sea seemed to be hidden by the
multitude of the King’s ships, for, for each one of ours
he could count 120, whilét his men outnumbered ours
almodt to the same extent, nevertheless, this speétacle,
so far from daunting our soldiers, served only to inspire
them with new courage; and calling on the name of the
Lord, and of our Lady the Virgin, and trufting in the
arm of God which had been their support in the padt
in the battles they had fought againét the infidels both
in India and jn Europe, they assailed the enemy with
the utmost impetuosity. Flinging themselves on that
forcst of ships, they penetrated it from van to rear,
dealing deétruétion as they went. There was nothing
which came in their way that they did not destroy, and
many of the King’s galliots were left burning, or
Stranded, or sinking. Panic seized his soldiers, and the
barbarian King, overcome with fear, quitted his royal
ship, and embarknig on a lighter vessel which had been
kept in readiness for such an emergency, took to flight.
Finding they had reached the rear of the cnemy's fieet,
our ships turned about and renewed the attack with
the same vigour as before, passing through the midst
of the King's ships and destroying all that lay in their
path, which they continued to do until night fell,
when our Captain judged it would be unwise to pro-
long the encounter, At ten o'clock in the evening he
withdrew his ships, greatly regretting that there were
not left a few hours of daylight to eaable him to sccure
the victory which was already in his grasp, and which,
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could he have made it complete, would have been one
of the most glorious the world has ever seen.  So great
was the confusion amongét the enemy's ships, that for
two hours after we had retired they continued fighting
amongét themselves, mistaking in the darkness of the
night their own vessels for ours.

In this battle the enemy’s losses amounted to one
thousand eight hundred persons killed, and two
thousand wounded. Amongst the former were many
of the King's relations, his chief Sea-Captain [Capitam
mor do mar], the chief Captain of all the Moors, and
many other captains of note. Besides the havoc
which was wrought among#t his jaleas and light vessels,
five of his great galliots were sunk, three were set on
fire, and fourteen were driven ashore.

Six days later, that is on the 4th April, there was a
second battle. For the King, having repaired the
losses his armada had suffered in the previous engage-
ment, came to search for our ships, which in good
order, and divided into two squadrons, went boldly
to meethim. Thearmadaadvanced in four squadrons,
and our Captain-in-chicf, Paulo do Rego, immediately
engaged the leading squadron, and such was the fury
of his attack that he speedily gained the upper hand,
dispersing both galliots and smaller vessels. But as he
turned to engage some of the enemy who &ill resisted
him, it happened that his ship ran upon some piles
which were below the surface of the water, and could
not be dislodged. Seeing his plight, the enemy
attacked him on all sides, and there was a desperate
confli®t. Our men defended themselves with the
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utmo#t courage; but as they could not maove their ship,
they could only fight and die where they were. One
of our Captains went to the assistance of our Captain-
in-chief, and with many entreaties urged him at least
to save his life and the lives of those who were with
him, which he could have done by abandoning his ship
for the other. But he would not be prevailed upon,
answering, like the brave Machabeus of old, “ God
forbid that we should behave in such a manner, and
make the enemy think we fly from them. Since it is
His will, let us dic like Chri€tians and faithful cavaliers.”
And so he continued to fight with marvellous heroism,
surrounded by great numbers of the enemy, who from
every side bombarded our ship with grenades and
caniters of gunpowder. These ar laét set firc to our
own powder, of which the Captain’s ship carried o
large quantity, being the magazine of the flect. This
completed the deftruction of our ship,” and with it
perished our Captain-in-chief and all his company,
without the escape of asingle man.  The Captain of the
ship who went to his succour also perished.

When it was seen what had befallen our Captain,
the redt of our fleer, which in another quarter was
engaging and had almoét overcome the enemy, wi
fighting and in good order to the fortress, where the
ships arrived all badly damaged by bombards, and full
of water. In this battle there fell on the enemy's side
the chief Captain of the King of Chocoria, and many
other Captains and men, whose number 15 not known.
On our side, besides the Captain-in-chief and his
company, there fell, as has been said, the Captain of
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the ship that went to his aid, with whom also fell four
soldiers, whilét others were wounded.

Our losses also included Father Natal Salerno of our
Company, who was on the Captain-General's ship.
This good Father was a Sicilian by birth, and of a
very noble disposition. By his piety, his gentleness,
and the sweetness of his discourse, combined with a
child-like simplicity such as is very rarcly met with,
he captivated the hearts of all with whom he came in
contaét, He was so beloved by the soldiers, and so

eat was their faith in his virtue, that they would not
embark unless they took him with them, believing that
with him, and through his merits, they were sure of
viftory; for such had been their experience in their
pait battles, in which the good Father had always
accompanied them. At this time, he had only just
returned from Malaca, whither he had been sent by the
Captain-General on business pertaining to the safety of
the fortress, Without allowing him a moment's rest,
the Captains and soldiers had insited that he should
accompany them, though he needed little pressing, so
great was his zeal for the Faith, and so earnest his desire
to aid them in their glorious enterprise. His death
was sincerely mourned by all, and particularly by our
Captain-General, Philippe de Brito, by whom the
Father had been greatly respeéted and loved.
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Tue Sigce oF SyRIAM

Tux King of Arracam thought thar the Portuguese,
having loét their chief Captain, Paulo do Rego, would
no longer have the courage to defend themselves,
especially as there had now come to his assigtance, the
Prince of Tangu and his two brothers, and also a brother
of the King, who, with sixteen thousand fighting men,
six hundred horses, and eighteen elephants were ready
to lay siege to the fortress by land, whil&t he himself
with his armada attacked it from the sea. Accordingly,
both he and the Prince his son sent messages to our
Captain-General, Philippe de Brito. The Prince in
his message said that the General would do wisely,
seeing that Paulo do Rego was dead, to come and speak
privately with his father, and that he himself would
intercede for him, in return for the kind treatment he
had received whilét a prisoner in his hands in the
fortress of Siriam. The King's message was to the
effeét that, as he had been joined by a large force from
Tangu, our General could no longer escape defeat,
and that if he would come and throw himself at his feet
he would pardon him, and would give him the fortress
and make peace. In response to the Prince, Philippe
de Brito said that he appreciated his desire to oblige
him, but that he would reserve it for greater things;
and that if he thought that the loss of one Captain would
prevent him from holding the fortress, the issue of the
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war would very soon undeceive him. To the King
he replied that his promises of peace were only made to
be broken; that it was unnecessary for him to receive
the fortress at his hands, since he held it for His Majesty
the King of Portugal, to whom, as his vassal and Cap-
tain, he had given his allegiance; that of the coming
of the Princes of Tangu he made no account, for
experience had taught him that their forces, like those
of the King himself, were of little worth; that he would
be only too pleased if he would summon other friendly
kings to his aid, so that there might be some credit in
holding the fortress, within which, he said, he had every
expectation of entertaining His Majeéty, as on a
previous occasion he had entertained his son.

This answer roused the King to such indignation
that he called his soldiers together and made them an
oration, in which he told them in plain words that if
they did not avenge the insult he had received, not one
of them should ever return to Arracam; for if they
escaped the swords of the Portuguese, his own was
ready to fall on their necks. And they had good need
of such warning; for so great was the fear with which
our soldiers had inspired them, that if he had not dis-
played this resolution, nothing would have induced
them to stand their ground and fight. And, in faét,
in all the engagements which followed, it was only the
threats and presence of the King, and the naked sword
which was always in his hand, that made them go into
battle or turn back when flying.  After this there were
three more naval fights, in all of which God aided our
soldiers, so that they came out viCtorious, having
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detroyed the armiada of Magua, and having slain
many of the enemy, as in the first two battles.

As we, too, had lost a number of men, chiefly cap-
tains, as well as three ships, and as it seemed to be the
enemy’s intention to destroy our force little by little,
though with great loss to themselves, our General,
to prevent this, and to ensure the safety of the fortress,
had all our ships drawn up on the shore, and having
disembarked the men, made preparations to meet the
enemy henceforward in the field. The King also
landed his soldiers, but kept his flect manned, after
which his forces on the one side, and those of Tangu
on the other, besieged the fortress by land, whilét he
with the remainder of his armada bombarded it from the
sea; and for thirty days so continuous and fierce was
their attack that there was not a day or a night during
which the defenders had any respite from the unceasing
fire of their guns, Many times our little garrison,
though so greatly outnumbered, sallied forth to fight
in the open with sword and lance; and, by the will of
God, not once did the enemy get the better of the
encounter, but was always defeated with great slaughrer,
and with the loss of his stockades and shelters, which
our men deftroyed. It would be impossible to describe
in detail the various incidents of this siege, and the
feats of arms which our soldiers performed, recalling
those early days in India when God so miraculously
helped his servants, and fought for them againét the
enemies of his faith, It was a marvellous spetacle,
and one that was often witnessed during these days,
to see a large body of troops so completely routed by a
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handful of men that, despite the dreadful threats of the
King, and though the Prince his son slew many with
his own hand, nothing could &ay their fight.

On one occasion our General sent two Captains with
sixty Portuguese soldiers and two hundred Pegus to
attack a $tockade which the enemy had ereéted less
than half a league from the fortress, and which played
an important part in their operations. It was manned
by a $trong force of musketeers under a great Captain
named Mauia. At great risk, and passing by many
dangerous places, our men reached the étockade at
daybreak, and falling on the enemy with great courage
and vehemence, put seventy of their best men to the
sword, including four Captains. They then went in
pursuit of the others who had fled as they entered the
fockade, and coming up with them on the bank of
the river, drove them into the mud, many including
their chief Captain being wounded, the latter very
severely. Whilst the Portuguese soldiers were following
ing up their victory, the Pegus, with none to hinder
them, set fire to the Stockade, killing ot capturing any
whom they found concealed within it. Then, having
collected a large quantity of arms, the whole party,
in full view of the armada and of another Stockade
which was occupied by the enemy, withdrew to the
fortress, without a single person being either killed or
wounded.

After other battles, in which the enemy greatly out-
numbered us with his elephants, horses, musketeers,
and light artillery, the King one day decided to make an
attack both by sea and by land with the whole of his
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power. A number of vessels loaded with ftraw and
fuel were sent to set fire to our ships, which had been
drawn up on the shore, but were well barricaded and
all in readiness for battle. These vessels were closely
followed by the reét of the armada. The King was
on his royal ship, and, ftanding where he could be seen
by all, urged and encouraged his men to fight. He
had given orders that, at the same time, all the land
forces, both his own and those of Tangu, were to make
an assault on the fortress, belicving that, with our
small numbers, it would be impassible for us to defend
our ships from an attack by sea, and at the same time
hold the fortress againét his land forces.

By sea, then, came the whole of the enemy's naval
power, the ships making étraight for the shore and the
quay where our General with thirty men had taken his
dtand, in order to defend the quay itself, and our ships
which were near it, They were received with artillery
and musketry fire which caused terrible deétruétion,
shattering their galliots and other vessels, and killing
many of their braveét Captains and soldiers, who fought
with such determination that it seemed as if they chose
to be vanquished and killed, rather than be seen alive
by their King. The latter was himself in great danger;
for those in the fortifications, recognising his ship,
turned a piece of artillery on to it, and the shot so nearly
reached its mark that the ship was obliged to retire.
It was only the person and presence of the King that
had maintained the fight; and the moment his ship
withdrew, the entire armada followed suit.

Nor were our men less successful by land where,
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during the same hours, that is from midday till night,
they engaged in the field the combined armies of the
King of Tangu, and of the Mogos. In this battle
the enemy's forces were completely defeated, and
driven back with heavy losses to their encampment.
After the events of this day, the King, realising at laét
how little chance he had of overcoming the Portuguese,
decided to abandon the siege.  So, on the gth of May,
the Prince of Tangu sent some three hundred of the
beét men he had with him towards our étockades to
keep our troops engaged, so that he might be able to
leave his camp, and march away unmolested. But a
party of our men moved out and fell upon them, driving
them back to their camp with great loss, The state
of panic in which they returned quickly infected the
other troops, who, believing their camp was no longer
secure, leapt over the pallisades and took to flight,
Our troops were unable to pursue them owing to the
lateness of the hour. The same night the King of
Arracam embarked all his land forces, and the next
day, which was the roth of May, departed for his own
country, leaving our men so worn out by all that they
had been through that they were unable, to their great
disappointment, to go in pursuit of him.'

During the siege much damage was done to the fort-
ress and in the city by the enemy’s guns. Numbers
of houses were deftroyed, and churches, and many
were wounded, But very different were the losses
of the enemy. For of that vast armada which the
barbarian King brought againét us, consifting as we
have said above of one thousand and two hundred sail,
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he took back to his country only two hundred and
sixty-two vessels (twelve galliots and two hundred and
fifty jaleas); of the remainder, some were burnt or sunk
by us; others he set fire to and sank himself, or ran them
ashore; not having sufficient people to man them and
take them away. Of his artillery the greater part was
left behind buried on the sea-shore; and from informa-
tion which afterwards reached our General from
Arracam, it was learnt that he lost as many as ten
thousand of his men, among$t whom were many of his
chief Captains, mostly Moors, for it was these who
themselves where the danger was great. The
King of Tangu lost six elephants, forty horses, and
fifteen hundred men including his chief Captains,
On our side eighty-six men were killed, including ten
Captains and our Captain-in-chief, Paulo do Rego.

When the enemy had departed, our General repaired
the fortress as well as he could, and when the men had
enjoyed some reét after their past exertions, he ordered
the fleet to put to sea, partly to show that the ftrength
of the Portuguese was not exhausted, and also to go in
search of provisions and plunder. The Lord delivered
into their hands some Moorish ships very richly
ladened; and though one of these resited in a very
determined manner, they boarded it and slew those
who defended it.  Our soldiers were well satisfied with
the hooty they secured.

On the 12th of the following January, the Portuguese
suffered a calamity as heavy as any they had experienced
in the past; for a fire broke out in their fortress and
burnt with such fury that the entire &rufture, which
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was mainly composed of wood, was deétroyed. By the
mercy of God, the General escaped from the flames
but with one leg half burnt, His wife also had a very
narrow escape. All the goods and the treasure which
were in the fortress perished. Houses, churches and
their ornaments, provision stores, munition Stores—
all were deftroyed. Apart from these losses, the
seriousness of which it would be impossible to ex-
aggerate, the fortress was now rendered completely
untenable. But the General, Philippe de Brito, being
a man of dauntless spirit, set to work with great energy
to rebuild it, but in a higher and more defensible place,
anticipating that the King of Arracam, on learning
what had happened, would soon be returning to attack
it. ‘This the King soon determined to do; but while
he was preparing an armada for the purpose, God con-
founded his designs; for at this very time news reached
him that a Portuguese Captain, by name Belchior
Godinho, having come from India with four ships, and
having been joined by another bold Captain named
Badtiam Gongaluez,® who with some jaleas and a few
Portuguese had made himself greatly feared in those
parts, had descénded upon Dianga, a port of this same
Mogo King, completely detroying it and capturing
sixty pieces of artillery, and that he intended to do like-
wise to the fortress at Chatigam, which is a very richand
busy city. Godinho had already destroyed the adjacent
villages and suburbs, but had not yet attacked the
fortress, because his men, knowing that the assault
would be a very perilous affair, and being unwilling
to risk their lives without firét having made eonfession,
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which, there being no priest with them, they were
unable to do, had begged him to poétpone the enter-
prise until o prie& to whom they could confess had
been obtained, so that they might die, if die they
muft, like Chriftians and like the good Catholics
they were.

These tidings greatly alarmed the King, and having
to defend his own kingdom he abandoned his intention
of going to Siriam, and recalled his ships which were
already on the rivers, Belchior Godinho with all the
supplies he could get went to the assistance of the
fortress; and having seen that it was in a position to
defend itself, sailed for India in search of further
assidtance, doing all at his own expense. After this
our General learnt that when the Mogo was in the midét
of his preparations for bringing an armada to Siriam,
by the will of Providence, and as a just judgment on
him, his royal palace was completely deétroyed by fire.
Three hundred of his concubines were in the building,
as well as a large $tore of munitions of war; and the fire
spread to some of the ships which he had intended to
send againét the Portuguese. Besides this, a ship
which was bringing him six hundred Moorish mer-
cenaries from Masulapatam was Struck by lightning
and sunk. All who were on board were drowned
except ten, who escaped in a small boat. This news
made our General all the more eager to dispatch the
armada which he had made ready to send againét this

nt. As our Captains and soldiers were reluliant
to embark unless sccompanied by a Father of the
Company to whom they could confess, and who would
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encourage them in times of peril, their wishes were
granted, and the Father, Manoel Pirez, the Superior
of that Mission, who was much beloved and respected
by all, was sent with them, Father Ioam Maria, who
had come from India to be his companion, remained
in the fortress.®
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Tue Forrriss Carrurep

Tuis viftory, gained at so little cost over two such
powerful kings, added greatly to the reputation of the
Portuguese amongét the surrounding peoples, to whom
it seemed that the little fortress of Serido, under its
captain, Philippe de Brito, was able to hold its own
again@ the forces of any king whatsocver. But
Philippe de Brito, whose energy and determination
seemed to triumph over everything, attempted to build
beyond the Strength of his foundations.

It happened at this time that the King of Ova,
having collefted a force of a hundred and fifty thousand
men, which included thirty thousand cavalry, three
thousand fighting elephants, and two thousand vesscls
great and small, attacked and casily subdued the king-
dom of Porao [Prome]. He left a small force in the
principal city, and carried away as captives the King
and the Queen and the chicf nobles of the kingdom.
He then went to attack the kingdom of Tangu. After
he had besieged it for two months, the King of Tangu
accepted his terms, which were, that he should become
his vassal, and give up to him all his clephants, and the
famous rubies and other precious ftones which he had
taken from the Emperor of Pegu. When everything
had been handed over, the King of Ova, carried on a
high throne, made the circuit of the walls of the city,
the King of Tangu mounted on an afia,® which is a
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female elephant, riding on his left side. At the con-
clusion of his triumph, he handed his vassal the keys of
the city, after which, leaving him a few elephants of
little worth, some pieces of light artillery such as dergos
and rogueiras,® and a small body of horsemen under a
Captain whom he could trut, he returned to Ova,
taking with him all the Captains and other persons of
consequence in the kingdom of Tangu, which he thus
left an easy prey for anyone who might come to scize it.

The opportunity presented by the defenceless state
of this kingdom, and that of Porao, was not loét on
Philippe de Brito; and in the year 1610 he attacked
Porao with his armada, and meeting with little resiét-
ance, entered the city and plundered it of the lictle that
remained init. Then, bringing some Pegus with him,
he returned to the fortress at Serifio; for the King of
Ova had already sent much people, with cavalry, to

relieve Parao.
At this time, Philippe de Brito allied himself with

the King of Martavio, which is ten leagues from Serido,
marrying his son Simfio de Brito with the daughter of
this King, under the direétions of the Father Frei Fran-
cisco da Annunciaciio, of the order of the Dominicans,
whom we have mentioned before. After the lady had
been catechised and baptised, the betrothal took place
before Philippe de Brito, who was embarked with all
his soldiers on a big fleet which he had near to the walls
of Marmuldo® (a kingdom contiguous to Martavio).
It was arranged between Philippe de Brito and the
Banhadel4, who was the King of Martavio and father
of the bride, that the Banhanoy, the King's son, should
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go with Philippe de Brito to live at Syriam, and that
Simdo de Brito should remain with the king his father-
in-law. As soon as the Banhanoy had come on board
the fleet, Philippe de Brito and the Banhadeld ex-
changed pledges of friendship, vowing that they would
be brothers in arms, that the friends and enemies of the
one should be the friends and enemies of the other,
and that if either should be in danger or in need, the
other should come to his assistance with all the means
at his disposal. Philippe de Brito sent the Father
Francisco to adminiéter the oath to the King, and he
himself took the same in the name of His Majefty.
The King was in the presence of his people when the
Father arrived with an interpreter. The Father asked
His Majesty to order something higher to be brought
to hold the image of our Lady, on which he was to
swear. The Banha, without a word, had a golden
§tool brought; seeing which, those present began to
say to one another, “ Either the Banha is mad, or he
is in great fear of the Portuguese.” Hearing their
murmurs, and looking on the beautiful image of our
Lady, which was that which the Viceray, Aires de
Saldanha, had given to his niece, the wife of Philippe
de Brito, the Banha said, * I know what I am doing;

for so beautiful a lady cannot be any other than the
mother or the daughter of God.™ He then laid before
the image an offering of betel and areca nut, which
greatly amazed all who were with him,

Having made their vows, Philippe de Brito and the
Banha arranged to make a combined attack on the
King of Tangu, vassal of the King of Ova, Philippe de
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Brito saying that his vow of friendship to the King of
Tangu (which he had adtually sworn)" had been taken
before that King became the vassal of Ova, and that he
was not, therefore, under any obligation to comply with
it, and that, moreover, it was not the King of Tangu that
he was going to make war upon on this occasion, but
the vassal of the King of Ova. Accordingly, at the
end of the year 1610, Philippe de Britoand the Captains
and people of the Banhadeld set out for Tangu with 2
great fleet of more thana hundred vessels, of which the
Portuguese supplied twenty with two hundred men,
the remainder of the force consisting of Christian and
Gentile Pegus, and the people of the said King of
Martavio. When Philippe de Brito appeared with his
flect before the city of Tangu, the King sent word to
him that he would become the vassal of His Majesty,
if nothing more was demanded of him. But Philippe
de Brito looked for much more than this, and paying
no attention to the message, lid siege to the city.
After five days, sceing how few the defenders were, he
ordered seventy of the beét soldiers he had brought with
him to scale the walls. These men, and others who
followed them, bravely attacked the King of Tangu,
who met them with two hundred mounted soldiers
which the King of Ova had left in the city, and who
were led by Mareco Joab, the King's brother, and
general of the kingdom. Mareco Joab, who was
mounted on a huge elephant, fell upon our men with
such vigour that he almoft succeeded in driving them
out of the city. But Francisco Martins, a captain

great spirit, discharged his musket at him, and killed
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him, The elephant thercon turned and took to flight,
followed by the horsemen of the King of Ova, and all on
account of this lucky shot. The King of Tangu
Straightway sounded his trumpets, and sent word to
Philippe de Brito that he was the vassal of the great
King of Portugal, and that he was ready to surrender
his person and all that he possessed. A truce of three
hours followed the receipt of this message, during
which the Queen of Tangu and the wife of Mareco
Joab, taking with them the moét valuable of the jewels
in the King’s treasury, made their escape from the
city by a postern gate which our men had left un-
guarded; for the city was so great that they had not
enough men to surround it. Although these ladics
took away with them the most precious of the King's
possessions, the treasure found by Philippe de Brito
and his soldiers amounted in value to nine hundred
thousand crusadss. It included, besides silver and gold,
two martevanas® filled with precious étones, but not
of very fine quality, two rubies which adorned the
door of the King's oratory, each, it is said, the size of 2
bullet, as well as many $tones of immense value which
the King of Tangu and his sons wore on their persons.
With these princes, and the riches aforesaid, Philippe
de Brito entered Serido in triumph, having the King
of Tangu on his right hand. He provided 2 residence
for the King in some fine houses near to his own, where
formerly the captive prince of Arracio had been
lodged. Thus again the treasures of Pegu brought
disadter on their possessor. And there was yet to be
another victim, as we shall see.
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The King of Tangu, besides being related to the King
of Ova, was his vassal, and under his protection. The
latter, puffed up with pride on account of his recent
viftories, thought that none could venture to oppose
him. When, therefore, he heard what Philippe de
Brito had done at Tangu, he was filled with rage;
and, cafting aside his cabaia and throwing his. turban
on the ground, which amongét these people are the
highest manifeétations of displeasure, he left his city
and took a solemn oath before his idol, Biay de Degu,
that he would not again enter it until he had avenged
the death of his cousin Mareco Joab, and the insult
he had received from Philippe de Brito, Accordingly,
he sent peremptory orders to all parts of his kingdom
summoning every man of twenty years of age and over
to join him; and in a short time he had collefted an
army such as we have described above, consisting of a
hundred and twenty thousand men, and four hundred
ships, on which he embarked, besides his own fighting
men, six thousand Moors de carapuga’ With this
great force he came to attack the fortress of Syriam.

The King of Ova with the above-mentioned force
reached Syriam on the 19th February, 1613. On the
next day his men set fire to everything that was outside
the fortress. The following night they placed many
ladders againét the bastion of Francisco Mendes, which
was held by a captain named Agoétinho de Sousa;
but those who made the attempt met with so hot 2
reception that they withdrew, and did not repeat the
experiment, preferring to wage war in some other
tashion.
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The fortress was at this time in a very weak state;
for Philippe de Brito had allowed most of his peaple
to go to India. Nor was there any gunpowder, except
what was made each day, which scarcely sufficed for
loading the muskets; so that not a single bombard was
fired on the enemy, who, in consequence, did not
hesitate to come near to the walls. So little foresight
had been used, that when large quantities of gun-
powder came into their hands at Tangu, the Portuguese
regarded it as of no value and set fire to it; and after-
wards, when it would have been possible to send a
married resident of the fortress to procure powder in
Bengals, a soldier was sent inétead, who not only did not
procure any, but made off with the money that had been
entrusted to him for the purpose, giving no thought
to the needs of the fortress, nor to the sufferings which
his treachery might cause. A galliot belonging to
a resident of Seriod was sent to San-Thomé for the
same purpose; but it was the will of God that no
succour should reach the besieged from any quarter,
Within the fortress itself insubordination was rife, and
justice and reason were banished. Murders were
committed on the smallest provucatinn;md such out
rages Philippe de Brito had not the courage to punish,
for in their growing unruliness the Portuguese trampled
upon all authority. At the commencement of the
siege, Philippe de Brito had at his disposal ninety-seven '
Portuguese and more than three thousand Pegus.
Though they had nothing to fight with but boiling oil,
tar, and water, they placed themselves on the walls to
make a show of ftrength.  On the firft night our men
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themselves slew Gomes da Codta, who had been ap-
pointed Captain-in-chief of the troops; for, by their con-
trivance, a soldier discharged a musket at him from
behind, and he fell dead. In the morning they chose
as Captain-in-chief one Agoftinho Fernandes, who had
come from Banguela, and besides him another, nick-
named “Dominus-tecum,” who with a portion of the
defenders was to render assiftance wherever it should be
moét necessary.  All else they did was to étrengthen the
walls on the inside with a lining of earth, the women
assifting them,

During the third night, the enemy surrounded the
fortress with a §tockade. Whilét they were engaged
on this work, not a single piece of artillery was dis-
charged again&t them, and thus our shortage of gun-
powder was disclosed. From the stockade on the
castern side they made tunnels up to the walls,
which they undermined with a work of forty mines.
They then began to bombard the badtion of Sdo
Domingos. During this attack a cannon-ball pierced
the bastion of the Captain-General, and fell on the
oratory, causing great panic amongét the women.
This gun was one which the enemy, who had no
heavy artillery, had taken from a ship which had
arrived from Bengala, and which, unable to defend
itself againét the large number of vessels by which it
was attacked, was captured,

Seeing that the fortress was undermined, and that
its walls were already breached, our men held a council
of war, and decided to send three ships to attack the
enemy's feet, believing that all their men were on shore.
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They had scarcely set out when one of the three was
attacked by many vessels of the enemy, who boarded it,
and passing ropes to the land, dragged it up on to the
shore, and there évery man on board was killed. The
other two were similarly attacked as they came back;
but though those on board were all wounded, they
succeeded in returning to the fortress, and took their
places on the walls,

At the end of the third week of the siege our men,
who had not ceased fighting day or night, were almost
worn out.  The Pegus cried out to them, * Fight on,
Portuguese: for you do not know what it means to fall
into the hands of the Bramas." But, as has been said
above, they had nothing to fight with but boiling oil
and tar, so that the enemy grew more and more daring
in their attempts to reach the walls. The Portuguese
did not now number more than fifty; for seventeen of
them had been burnt to death in & ftockade which had
been made to proteét a shattered bastion; while the
Pegus were beginning to show signs of disaffection.

On the thirty-fourth day, our men took counsel
together as to whether they should surrender them-
selves to the Bramas, if the Pegus surrendered ; for they
daily expeéted that they would do so. They decided
to ask the King if he would grant them their lives, and
allow them to depart in a ship. Accordingly, they
sent him an o/a,® which is the same as a letter, begging
him, with all the eloquence at their command, to grant
them these terms. The letter was taken by a Portu-
guese named Sebadtiio Rodrigues Panchina; but the
enemy refused to receive it, and would not permit our

249



THE MISSION TO PEGU

envoy to enter their Stockade. His arrival was made
known to the King, who sent word to him that he had
best get back whence he had come, for he was deter-
mined to spare no one; and with this answer Sebastiio
Rodrigues returned sadly to the fortress.

At this junéture, the Mogo king of Arraciio, who was
now on friendly terms with Philippe de Brito, taking
alarm at the near approach of his powerful enemy the
King of Ova, who, he knew, was not likely to leave him
unmolested, sent a fleet of fifty jaleas to the assiStance
of our fortress, hoping thereby to avert the danger
which threatened him. But this only added fuel to
the fire; for the King of Ova's flicet speedily overcame
and captured all the vessels of the Mogo king, and the
few who escaped from them sought refuge in the

fortress.
For three days more our men continued to fight.

On the evening of the thirty-sixth day of the sicge, the
enemy attacked them on all sides, both by sea and by
land. By daybreak modt of ours had been killed, and
all were wounded. At eight o'clock in the morning,
seeing that the grenades thrown by our men contained
nothing but lime, which did little harm, the whole of
the King's guard advanced in a body. At the same
inétant the captain of the Pegus, who was called Ban-
halao, leapt from the walls and joined the besiegers,
who thereupon rushed into the fortress, where there was
now none to resist them. By the King's orders no
quarter was given either to men or women, At the
well of Francisco Mendes, and in other parts of the
fortress, they slew more than seven hundred persons,
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including Pegus, Canarins,” and Portuguese. At four
o'clock in the afternoon the Prince, who is now the King,
entered the fortress with his younger brother, and
ordered the slaughter to cease. Philippe de Brito and
his wife were made prisoners and at midnight the
former was tied up and étrangled to death. A §ake
was then fixed in the ground on which his body was
impaled.'

Such was the end of Philippe de Brito and the fort-
ress of Syriam. The King of Ova took away as
captives five thousand Christians of the country (who
did not renounce their faith in captivity),” and a hun-
dred and sixty Partuguese, including twenty-two white
women, which shows how populous and prosperous
this settlement had become. Indeed, had Philippe
de Brito been content to extend his power little by little,
inftead of embarking on such difficult enterprises
and making such powerful enemies, the fortress of
Syriam might have become the greateét of His Majeéty's
possessions in the East, both for the acquirement of
riches and for the conversion of souls.
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NOTES TO CHAFTER 1
Tre Rumy or Prou

! From Part 1 of the Relativas, pp. 62-71.

E The name * Bengals® was loosely used by the Jesuits, and other
Portuguese writers of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, to deoote
the Gangetic delts and the surrounding diftrids, including Orissa on
the western side of the Bay of Bengal, and the kingdom of Arakan on
the eaftern side, At the end of the reign of Akbar, the river Meghna
may be said to have marked the esttern lmit of the Winm of
Bengal ; for though Akbar appears at timet to have ised, or at any
rate to have claimed, some sort of jurisdiftion over Chittagong, this port
remained in the possession of the Kings of Arakan unui the reign of
Aurangzib, It was fnally conqu end anneved to the Mogal
empire in 1665. The Bengal ince was always a trouble to Akbar,

ﬁ:rmryﬂnhhmmth:hwu portinn, that is to my,

the trat between the eftuaries of the Hooghly snd the Meghna, was

little more than nominal. Ralph Fitch, who went to Siripur in 1586,

“They be all hereshout rebels agiindt thair king Zelabdim

Echebar **; and it is plain from Father Pimenta's letters of the years

r;zg and 1600 that at that time the various * kings ' of this trat were,
to all intents and purposes, independent.

The name Chittagong (to be derived, according to Yule, from the
Sanskrit Clatargrams, “the four willages') is to be met with in
numerous disguises, In the Peyages of [bn Batuta it appears xs * Sud-
kiwan" De Barros, and moft of the Portuguese writers, spell 1t
* Chatigam.' Limschoten has * Chatigan,’ and Orme °* Chittigan.'
‘The town is alio frequently referred to us Porto Grande, the Portuguess
name for the eftuary of the Meghna, of which Chittagong is ﬂ:{_pnn—
upnl;;oﬁ In the same way, town of the Satigam is erred
to a1 Porto Pequeno, the name given to the eftuary of the Hooghly
(see Mr. W. H. Moreland's note on the seaports of Bengal on PP- 3079
of his Judia at the Death of Abbar). ‘That the word perse in each of
these cases fa used to denote, not 1 town, butmu&waincludin bath
the tidal ?amm of the river and the guif into which it ) I 5§awn,
as Mr. Moreland points out, by such expressions as, *' Ein‘pur,gm edt
une demeare des Portugais des appartenances du grand pert™ (I
Jarric, Hiftaire, 1, 610) 3 ** De Siripur il rent & Chatigam, qui «ft
le nom de la ville, situde an grand pore™ (/8d., |, 611} “ Fomaos &
Chatigao bandel do porto grande ™ (Pimenta, Letter of November 26th,
1599)- The Portuguese not infrequently named cities after the
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countries or localities in which they were situated. A notable example
is their frequent reference to the “city of Bengals,' by which name

designated the city of Gaur (side Mr, Longworth Dames's note
in Val. II, pp. 135-144, of his translation of Duarte Barbosa).

4 Megwis for * Magh * or * Mugg,’ & name commonly to the

of Arakan. The otigin of the word is obscure, A, Phayre
H 8f Burers, p. 48) derives it from Mage, the nume of the ruling
race of the ancient hn;gom of Magadha (Behar), to which the early
Kings of Arakan are szid 10 have belonged. Another suggedied deriva-
tion 18 the Persian word mapd; meaning a fire-worshipper, and the name
is supposed to have originated with the Muhammadans, who some-
times i}:onfund B ifts with fire-wonhippers (see Hobrow- Fobion,
P- 594)-

* The name of this King was Meng Rajagyi, sometimes known by
his Mishsmmadan title, Salim Shah, who reigned from 1503 to 1612,
Meng Rajagyi's kingdom included, on the north, the whole of the

r:h;l.n& of Chittagang, and portions of Noakbali and Tippera.

o the south It extended as far ux cape Negtals, while what are now
known as the Arakan Yomas constitated its ill-defined caftern boundary,
The Portuguese made their firft appearance in Arakan in the year 1517,
After this they came in increasing numbers, and at the end of the six-
teenth century there was @ comiderable European population, tmders,
adventurers, und scamps, scattered sbout the country. The two
B'_lnnpd Portuguese settlements were st Chittagong [Chatigam] and

ianga, the former simated on the northern side of the eftuary of the
River Kurnaphuli, and the latter, some twenty miles difiant, on the
southern side of the eftuary. A thriving , sayy Sir A. Phayre,
was curied on with the ports of Bengal, “ but the Portuguese made
themselves odious to their Asiatic neighbours by their piratical steacks
on the naove vessels which their galleys fell in with at ses.”

# The name of this king was Nands Bureng. He was the son, and
the unworthy successar, of the famous Bureng Naung, the conquering
bero of Burmese hiftory. Bureng Naung's assamption of the magni-
ficent title * King of Kings” was no idle boadt; l‘uFr in the course of
his thirty years reign (1551-1581), he extended his sway not only aver
the n_ﬂghbmnnlg kingdoms of Tangu, Prome, and Martaban, but over
the kingdoms of Ava, Mogaung, snd Monyin, in the north, Siam in
the south, and the eastern kingdoms of Laoé and Chieng-mai. Only
the maritime kingdom of Artkan remained ansabdued ; and it was while
sttempting fo complete his Burmese empire by the conguedt of this
kingdom that Bureng Naung met his dutﬁ

Nands Bureng war av unworthy as he was unfit to succeed to 10
splendid and so perilous a heritage. Posessing neither the adminifirse-
tive ability nor the military genius of his father, nor indeed any other
kingly quality, he was incapable of raling his own people, much less an
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empire. One by one the tributary kingdoms recovered their indepen-
dence, and before he had been eight year on the throne his territories
were bounded by the walls of his capital city. The remainder of his
misetable flory i told in the text.  * Thus,” to quote the words of
Sir Arthur Fhayre, “ the great empire of anited Pegu and Burma,
wiiicha generation before had excited the wonder of Eutopean tra
wu:tm-g-;mlm up i and the wide delta of the Irawadi, with a soi
fertile as Egypt, and in u geographical position commanding the outlet
of & great natural highway, was abandened by these who might claim
to lthnmdmt%mdhﬁhhpmdhdmlkypmyhﬂi
chiefs and European adventorens.” ,

* The Pottugoese alpnier it equal to aboat two English gallons:

" Ralph Fitch, who was at in 1586, says thas the King then had
four wiute elephants. “ This King,” he says, “ in his title is called
the King of the White Elephants. 1fany other king have one, and will
not sead it him, he will make warre with him for It for he had rather
lose-a great part of his kingdome then not to conquere him.  They do
very great sérvice unto these white elephants ; every eme of them
flandeth in an house gilded with golde, and doe feede in vessehi
of silver gilt.  One of them when he doth go to the river to be washed,
a1 every duy they do, goeth under 2 canopy of golde or of silke carried
over um by six or eight men, and eight or ten men goe before him
pliying on drummes, shawmes, or other inflroments ; and when he @
w tnd commeth out of the river, there is 4 gentleman which doth
wash his feat in 2 silver basin § which is his office given him by the King.
Thm"iimn:h sccount made of any black elephant, be he never so

great.
* This is not in sccordance with Bocarro®s sccount (see note 1,

p-173)

'zfx‘beu;:iul of Arakan ar this time was Mrsuka or Myohsung,
situated on the river Lemro, some sixty miles to the north-east of
Abysh. The city, as is evident from the fiatement in the text, and
from the King's letter quoted in note 12, was abio known ax Arakan,
a name which i often given to it today.

1 At the end of the year 1599 the Jeait Misiion to Bengala was in
charge of the Fathers Francisco Fernandez, John Andrew Boves
(loam Andre Boues), and Melchior Fonsecs. The two former re-
tided st Chatigam, and the laft named at Chandican. In 1601 Melchior
Fonseca went to Goa ™ msk for further amidhance. This
Father Pimenta, the visitor in India, was agzinit ing with, &
the Mission to Japan had greatly exhaufted his supply of workers.  But
the Viceroy, Ayres de Saldanha, peremptori -:u:iﬂ:hhu:ju&ium.
end ardered him, under pain of his severe leasure, to send at Jeadl
ruurmidiﬁmxll’llhcrlmﬁph. In his Annoal Letter to the General
of the Society, dated 1/t December, 1601, Pimenta wrote : ** Let yoar

255



THE MISSION TO PEGU

Paternity know that the ¥ of India went so far a1 to tell me before
the Archbishop and the Bi of Angamale and others that he
would requeit me with chains (gee & grifher mo pedirid). 1 was
surprised and exid that the Company was his, but that His Lordship
could order, dispose, ctc, The Father was not satisfied with fewer
than four companions, He left Goa with three, quite picked subjechs:
Fathers Andre de Nahais, Bras Nunez and Natal Salerno, and the order
was sent to 5, Thome that Fr. Simfo de S should start from: there;
however he did not go, becsuse the galliot of Pegu had left the very
day when the order arrived.” The Viceroy had evidently been greatly
impressed by an optimiétic sccount he had received from Philip de Brito
of the pros of the Portuguess in those parts. In his letter to
Pimenta ing the dispatch of the Fathers he wrote, * By letters and
informations which 1 had from the kingdoms of Bengals and Pegu,
I learmed of the great fruit and notable service to Our Lord which
the few Fathers of the Company residing in those parts obtain and
render by tezching, and inftréing, and the example they give to the
Portupuese, and by the conversion of the Infidels, and that they are
exrnestly invited by the infidel Kings and Lords, who promise to give
thmhw:m'gr.udmhnl; Gospal and build churches smong them,
even offering the needful for their expenses. . . . I therefore requeit
and charge your Paternity (thus discharging my own comscience in the
matter) to send to those parts many Religious of the Company that
they may satisfy the desires of those Kings and Lords, and by presching
the holy Gospel may spread Holy Church throughout all Pro-
vincss, chiefly throughout Aracio, Pegu and Martavis,”

Of the Fathers mentioned sbove, Francisco Fernandex died at
Mfm in 1602, and the following year Melchior Fonseca died at
Chandican. Andrew Boves and Andress de Nubais returned to India
in 16c4. Blassius Nunes and Natal Salerno resided in Arakan rill
16oy, when they joined Philitede Brito at Syriam. Further demils
regarding these Fathen are to be found in the Rev. H. Hodten's notes
to his translation of Pimenta's Annual Letter (see note 2, p. 259)-
It is from this translation Hat the extrads I have quoted are taken.

" According to Manriqoe (eide Colonel Luard's translition, Vol I,
p- 90) this was “ & fitle corresponding to that of Captain-General af
sex and land forces” Bocarro says the King's * corangary® wa
“eapitao gernl de mar ™ (vide Decada 13, p. 126). In 2 mbsequent
pasmge he speaks of * O prind de Armacio com o su general ou
corangarim.” The comed word is Kerangri or qumgr-'lr the lettert
¢ and ‘y” being interchangable in Burmese. It is made up of the
thr::e words &z =" body,' raw or yar =" to surround,’ and gri of gyi=
‘chief" or ‘hesd (as in chu-gyi, ‘a villige headman’). The title,
therefore, means literally * the chief of the dsyax or body-guard.”

** The circumdtances which led to this visit may be gathered from
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Father Pimenta's letter to the General of the Society, duted Decem-
‘ber 1#, 1600. We learn that before the visit took plice a letter had
been received from the King swying that he would welcome

the tesidence of Fathers of the Company in his kingdom, that he would
make provision for their maintenance, and that they would be frec to
build churches, and to baptize any who desired to become Chriftians.
This was i reply to a letter which Father Fernandes, who was then at
Chittagong, had sent to him. It had been the Father's intention to
take the letter himself, but illness prevented him from doing so, and it
wat entruited to leronimo Monteiro (que he homem muito honrado
& amigo da Companhia & cabe muito ceom el de Arracio). On
the receipt of the King's reply, the Fathers decided to go and pay their
to him, and thank him in person for the favours he had shown

them. Pimenta's letter contuins nothing further on the mbjed ; but
it was evidently this visit of thanks which (Guerrcire here describee
The King's letter, which Pimenta quotes, was us follows : * O muito
alto & poderoso Rey de Armacho, Tiparas, Chacomm, & HBenpuls,
Senhor dos reines de Pegu &c. & vos Padres da Companhia de TESY,
Folguey muito com a vossa carta, por vir chea de palauras encaminhadas
a0 seruico de Dews, alem da informasso que Manoel de Matod &
leronimo Monteiro me derao'de vossa virtude & partes boas,  Folgarey
muito de virdes a mim asentarmos o pegocios dot Portugneses,
& sonde poderels fuzer Igreja & Chrifting aquelles que de sua vontade
se quiserem fazer, pera lunrmducycnmﬁiﬂ,ﬁl;cnw de seruico
Erﬂf’w Dada & feita neéta cidade de Armacio com men
¥ Chandican was at this time one of the moét imporunt of the
muniatare kingdoms of Bengala. Itis ently mentioned by writers
af the ‘hﬁm and seventeenth cen u,mdhn}u"::dmm m]my early
muaps, often a1 an jsland, 23 on John Ogilby's map o ogal Empite,
whmhhulhd“!nudn-&mdoagnb; ! o bo no
modern town with which the capital of the kingdom can be identified,
In all probability the site of Chandican, like that of Siriput &nd other
ance towns of the Ganpetic delm, hes vanished In consequence
olfthe that have taken place in the courses of the delta rivers.
We are, however, told enough about Chandican to enable us to deter-
mine it on. Father Pimenta refem to it in his
leter #o the General o &Mm&uﬂﬂmh:ﬁ&,:ﬁg-
being midway between Parto Pequeno and Porto Grande, and can-
veniently situsted for visiting all parts of Bengals (Estd efte Chandecio
no meio do caminho do pequeno pema O m Eitancis
acamodada pera acudir dells = todas 20 partes de ). In his
Jletter of December, 1600, Pimenta ftutes that when Father Fernandez
armved ar Siripur, which was about eighteen miles south of Senergaon
{Fitch calls it sz leapues), he was in that the Raya, or King,
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of Chandican was seriously annoyed with him for not visting him,
This suggests that Chandican and Siripur were not a great diftunce
apart, Aguin, Father Melchior Fonseea, writing on anuary 2oth,
1600, relis us that, on his way from Chatigam (Chittagong) to Chandi-
can, he ¥isited Bacala, a town in the diftri& of Bakarganj, of which
;{Bmh ¥oor *Bakla' was the ald ;;:;MMI. H. Bmm;ge],{m

ol of the Bakarganj diftriét, sa tvillage
on the river Temmli, s ﬁ:z site of the town Jﬁ:i.. Father Fonseca
says that the remainder of his journey was through cultivated fiekds and
rich re lands, watered by many freams.  He reached Chandican
an the zoth November, huving left Chatigam the previous month.
He does pot mention the length of his fay at Bacals. Taken col-
letively, these flstements indicate some spot in a diredtion north-wedt
mmI(::hunu the #ite of Chandican. In the sketch map on page 233
1 have shown iton the River Haringhata ; but this is merely 1 suggestion,
There is nothing to indicate the extent of the kingdom of Chandican.
Colonel Luard {Traveli of Mearige, 1, El.mﬂ] gays that ** the rrad of
country lying eadt of the Higli river was known as Chandekhan in the
fificenth century and after.”” In his sketch map (f&id., Tntrodudhion,
Eu iv) bie shows the town of Chandekhan to the south-cadl of Siripur.

tnexther of these towns is corredtly placed on this map, which
Liard evidently had no o ity of revising {cide his lit of correc-
o st tha s GLRM Bot

" Macao was the name of a town on the Pegn river, situated, sc-
carding to the Venetian traveller, Cesare Federeci, t twelve miles
from 3 city, of which it was the port {Im: Hubson-Fobsom, p. £27).
It was wisited by Ralph Fitch, who sys, * From Cirion [Syriam] we
went to. Macao, which is a pretie town ; where we left our boats, and
in the morning taking delingeges [dhoclies] . . . came to Pegu the
same day.” uerreirn is of course wrong in describing Macao ss the
K’f‘} of Pegu'y fortress.

In & letter written fram Syriam an March 23rd, t6o0, Father
Andre wrote thar he st out in :mn'pm[{“whh Philip de Brito on the
25th February, and reached Syriam in fifteen days : hmmw
Francisco Fernandez que fosse eu pelo seruico que se faris 2
nosso Seahor, FE asi ams 35 de Fevereiro me parti em hua
com o mesmo Felipe de Brito, & Fivorecendomos Deus muito na
viagem, chegamos em quinge disy & efia barrs de Sirido."

" Here fullow a number of gmesome aad revolting details which
I have taken the liberty of omitting.
i1 See miote 4, p. 275,
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Priur ox Brimo sSrascisies sisseir ar Symram

' From Part 11 of the Relatiens, fols. 458-47b.

* There are various accounts of the onigin of Felippe de Brito de
Micote. According to Sir Whn was “a young Portuguese,
originally a shipboy who had served as & menial in the King of Arakan's
palace.”  Fana y Souts smys that the King * had raied him from 2
vile codlier to his favour and efteem.”  “The Fathers, an the ather hand,
lead un to suppose that he was, as his name implies, a persan of some
tank ; and this view is supported by the Grasd Dicciawaire Univeriel,
in which it is fared that he was born about 1550, and was the nephew
of Jean Nicot, s diftinguihed diplomutift, and the introducer of tobacco
into France. In a footnote on page 159, of his edition of Hocarrs,
S, J. de Lima Felner remarks on * the similanity of names and coinci-
dence in dates,” and asks, * Was Philippe de Brito, who wis born in
Lisbon, related to Jio Nicot who was French ambassador in Porrugal
till the year 1560, and became celebrated by giving his pame to the
tobacco plant introduced [into Pottugal] by a nephew of our hiftorian
Damillio de Goes " 5r. de Lima Felner commends his queftion to
the attention of * the genealogical expert,” and the reader will doubt-
lets be content to do likewise.

If de Brito had no claim to noble birth, he was evidently, at this
time at any rate, & person of coni megns.  Father Piments,
in his Annual Letier to the General of the Society written on the 1ét De-
cember, 1601, quotes a Yetter be had received gi;nw? of that year
from de Brito containing an offer to endow the ge 8t Quilon, and
ssking what sum would suffice to provide for the maintenance of that
inftitition.  “ This man,” the Father wrote, * i very rich and can
found many colleges ; and to our residence of Negapatao he has given
big alms” The major portion of Pimenta's lener, with an English
tramlation and notes by the Rev. H. Hoften, 5.]., was recently pub-
lished In the Fourna/ and Preceedings of the Auiatic Society of
(Vol. XX11I, 1937, No. 1)

3 Eee note 2, p. 264-

* The name Macaren, which is here given to the Gulf of Martaban,
way the term spplied by exrly navigators to the bore, or tidal-wave,
which is 2 p t feature of the of the Sittang river, and alio
of the Gulf of Cambay. The origin of the word has pot been stis-
falorily determined. It has been derived from the Samkrit word
madory, meaning ' sea-mondtes ' ; but the suggedtion appears to have
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little to suppert it jts plausibility. 1t has also been suggedted

macrie P{]I::n' wkj'um}. meaning ' & mﬁﬁm
upeddlyshcbm:ntheﬁmﬂme,mr have given s fo
' macarco’ s but Mgr. D:lg:ﬂda, in his Glossario-Laso-Asiatice, ssps
that he has little doubt that the French borrowed the word ' macareo,’
changing it firft into meerde, nd afterwards into the more polished
waicarer, For a full discssion of the subjeét the reader is referred to
the work mentioned above, and to Hobyon-Foksex (p. 527).

% This ia & migtake on Guerreira’s part.  De Bnito joined the King
in Pegu in the early part of 160c (see nth. 263) 1 it mud,
lhr:l‘f:t, have been in that year that he comme to fortify himsell
&1 Syriamm.

#' Bare' i for the Sansknr dedar, the name of an Indian measure
of weight. According to Barboss (1516}, daker was uivalent to
4 guintalr, or roughly 400 Ibs, But the baker varied in different
Jocalitics, and at different peri 5, &0d also according to the nature of

the article weighed (vide Hoboon-Fodsom, E. +8)

¥ The P word gharié mens * humble,' * lowly.' The ex-
pression  gharib-parcear, * Cherisher of the poor,’ &t much uted in

* Man Singh was appointed Governor of the province of Bengal in
1585, and he held the appointment almodt without intermission until

bar’s death twenty years luter. ‘The danger to which de Brito

ted ‘wan far from being an imaginary one. At this very time Man
ingh was at Daces, where he already reduced * Canderray,” the
ul Raja of Siripar, to submission. In his account of this yesr
1602), the suthor of the supplement 1o the Akéarzama says 4 Varioud
items of news from Bengal brought joy. In the firit place, Rajsh
Man Singh csme to Dhaks [Dacca] and by means of hopes and fears
brought the ruler Kedar Rai on the right road ©f service ™" (S kbarmama,
tr, Beveridge, p. 1213).

Early in the following year (1603) the King of Amkan himself took
the offensive by sttacking Somargaon ; but the sttempl was a eodtly
failare (idid., p. 1231). He then proceeded with & fieet and a large
army, in which were many Portugaese, to attack i (about twenty
miles south-eaft of Dacca), This time he was ined by Kedar Rai;
but their cambiried forces were besvily defeated. Kedar Rai wad
killed und the * Magh " retreated to his own country. “ One of the
occurrences,” says the authar of the supplement, *' was the succest of
the royal arms m Bengal, the downfil of Kedar Zamindar, and the
retreat of the Magh Rajah. News came that Kedar—who was a noted

oprictor in Bengal—had jained the Magh zamindar with a |l-'3:

cet, and used force againét the sAawa of Srinagar. On hearing of
Rajah Man Singh sent an army provided w artillery IFEIR that
presumptuous man, Nest Nagar Sur () the latter appeared with &
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h:p[m:ﬂng:xhtﬂcm&phu. The enemy was defeated,
and many were shin, Kedsr wan wounded with bullets and was
Hying mhnuuwpﬁﬂnnﬁﬂmnﬂupmrdhim.
There was a litle life in him when he was brought before the Rajah,
but he soca died.  With his dexth the fames of diturbance in Bangal %
were extinguished ™ (1644, p. 1235)-

* ¢ Banha ' appean to be for L{:ﬂgﬂi *lord of the land.’
The title was borne by many of the kings princes of Pegu. The
mphuduip:ﬂmpfthhpnmhr‘dnht’mmhgm

the name of & town and diftriét of the lrawaddy delta. The town
was close to where the city of Rangoan now ftands, but an the opposite
side of the river. A further reference to the * Banha * will be found in

note 2, p. 264,
W Jancoma [Jangomay, Jamahey, Zangomay, m:.! yas the ‘P%
name for Chiengmai (called by the Burmese *£i '{:ﬂm

time the largedt of the numerous Lao, or Shan, kingdoms Iying
the Bormese and Chinese frontiers, and to the north of Siam. The
English wraveller Ralph Fitch visited * Jumahey,” which he describes
13 % a yery falre and great towne, with faire houses of fane, well peopled.
.wl?;thn come many marchants out of China, and bring great
fore of muske, golde, silver, and many other thingy of China worke.
Here s great ftore of victuals: they have such plenty that they will
not milk the buffies, a# they do in other pluces. Here is great fore
of and benjamin [benzoin]."

1 “Tliis is clesrly n mistake for 1603, for it was in that yesr, not in
1602, that de Brito went to India. Whildt at Goa the enterpriomg
* King of Syriam " marsied Dona Luiza de Saldanha, a nicce of the
Viceroy, Ayres de Saldanha.  According to Faria y Sou, the lsdy
was aficewards unfaithful to him, and responsible, to a large extent,
for his nltimate crash. Bocarro saps nothing of this.
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Tex Reasoss pox nocpive Tz Porm or Bewoara

! This chapter ( ing to Part 11 of the Relasiens, fols. 47b-49b)
contafns the subétance of & report written by Philip de Brito whilst at
Gos in 1603, The report was forwazrded by the Viceroy, Ayres de
Saldanha, to the Kj-an' Portugal, together with a petition from
de Brito praying that he might be appeinted for Life of

the fortress of Syriam, that 2 portion of the revenue from the cullom-

house should be asigned to him for his mﬁ;m. and for the support
of his wife, Dona Luiza da Saldsnha, sfter his death, and that his san,
smuming that he left one of an age for service, should succeed him a3
Commuander of the fortress.. The King reccivesd the report in rfog,
and on March 2nd, 1605, he sent a letter 1o Don Alfonso de Cadiro,
who had in the mesn time succceded Saldanha as Viceroy, asking for
fuller information in to the varfous matters dealt with in the
report. He had, His Majelty ftates, alresdy rewarded de Brito's
connpicuous services by making him a Knight of the Order of Chnidt,
and & Gentleman of his Household, and he asks the Viceroy's upinion
as 1o what further should hxi?&mhdgz lrhm'l\? iﬂ:;ii Mpi

23rd, 1607, the King oW e Viceroy's reply.
:Lhich ;:rgoﬁwdanl}mmhumh. 1603, and informed him that the
command of the fortress was to be given to Philip de Brito for life,
and afterwards to his son, supposing him to leave one fit to yucceed him.
De Brito was to receive a third part of the revenue of the cuftom-hoose
during his life-time; bot this was not to be continued to hus son, who
would receive anly so much as should subsequently be deemed expedient.
No allowance would be made 10 de Brito's widow.

The lettens of King Philip 111, from which the above particulars are
taken, can be rend in Antonio de Bulhao Pato's Documentor Bemettidsi
da fadiz, 'The letter of March and, 1605, & on pp. 23-26, and that
of January 23rd, ¥607, on pp. 173-178 of Vel L. )

o receive the dedire de Chriflo was a high honour, The Knights
of Chrift were originally & purely religious company, admision to
which could only be granted by the Pope, and ranked us the highedl
of papal honours, Gradually, however, the monadtic charaéier of the
Ori:dj.tppu.md.mdh}rfhcmd of the fifteenth century the power
to ereate knights passed from the Pope to the King, Every subsequent
King of Portugal has been s Grand Master of the Order.

® Junk-Ceylon is an iiland off the weit coudt of the Malay Peninsuls,
about 8 degrees above the tqutmré For suggedted derivations of the
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name, see Hobra-Fobrem, p. 473 eddah (probably from the
Hhﬂiwm&frﬁl,mnln; 1&:;&1:!?“& entrapping elephants), the
pll&uﬂmﬁunud.hnpoﬂuhnunﬂmwﬂuﬁbthhhy?mhﬂh
and sitaated sbout 6 degrees above the equator. Barbosa described
' Quedas * &3 » very Hoorishing sesport. is is," he sayw, ' & place
ufwhalm#{umd:.mdﬁmhhi ﬁaf:mchilhﬂ lh!;n;m vers
ere grows abundunee pepper which carry 1o
mlﬂl C]:Fl,::“ (Berdusa, r. Longworth Dames, 11, p. 165).
The port, sy Mr. Lon Dames, was tributary to Siam
1909, when the suzerain were transferred to the British Govern-
ment.
¥ The Siamese port of Patani was situated on the eadl coadl of the
Malsy Peninsula, It had been an important Dutch trading centre
gince 1602, by which year Dutch merchant were eftahlished at Banmm,
Achin, and alo in the Spice Iulands (see Marelnd's Frese Abbar b

Aurangeeb, p. 16).

* This was st the end of the year 159g, after the sege of Pegu.
Bocarro (tates (Decads, p. 126) that the King of Arakan, owing to
didturhances in his own country, withdeew from the siege before it was
endod, and that after the fall of the fartress he sent de Brito, sccom-
panicd by kis * corangary,’ to Tangu, to claim his share of the &
and to condu& the princess and the two princes of Pegu to Arakun.
It was, sayz Bocurro, wh:npn.ninih‘yrhm an kis way to Tangu that de
Brito observed the suitability of the former place s & site for & fartress
and cuitom-house. The date of de Brito's retum to Araken b not
dated ; but, according to Guerreiro, the trinmphal eatry took
before the end of the yerr. Nor do we know the date of the

King's subsequent departure for Pegu ; but it mudt have besn before
the 25th February, 1600, for de Brito and Father Andre, who had

been ardered to follow him, commenced their journey on that dute
{see note 1 .p.:?ﬂ).

% The H’utz Achin, mous for it pepper and is in the
north-wedt of Sumatra. The Portuguese frequently called it Dachem
(d"Achem), The Dutch eitablished & trading settlament there in 1602,
M!h:ﬁmcm‘king‘nrhcﬁnwth::hidpwﬂinrhthhd.nd
an inveterate enemy of the Portuguese,

¥ This evidently mesns, when de Brito returned to the fortrem afizr
Jis visit to the King of Arakan, recorded in the provious chapter. Soon
after his retumn he set out for India. He remsined ot Goa during the
mmnmmlh.mﬂmbmtmﬁﬂhmlukmdufﬁlrw
(1623).
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Dierzar or Tin Arazamme Anmana

b From Part 111 of the Refasions, fols, 1o2a-104b.

 The text sccomnt of the circumfances which enabled the Porty-
guese to eftablish themselves in Pegu s throughont a g}uﬁﬁuﬂm of
Fhitip de Brito, who, though he was doubiles & fine fellow in many
ways, doss not seem to have been @ suitable subje@ for 4 halo, The

rights which the King of Arakan conferred ot this time on his Poriu
favourite are nowhere very clearly fated ; but we may safely m
that ke did not, a5 Guesreiro would bave us believe, make him & present
of the entire kingdom of Pegt.. We gather from Faria y Sousa and
Bocarro that the King's grant included nothing maore than the port of
Syriam, and that in the means he sdopted to secure his supremacy and
enlarge his possessions, de Brito was thoroughly unscrupulous. Faris
¥ Sousa’s secount, showing de Brito sises hn halo, runs us follows
I quote the translation by Captain ]. Stevens, 1693): * Xilimiza
Shah], King of Armeam, to express his gratitude to the Portu-
guese who hed served him, gave them the port of Siriam at the mouth
of the river of the sime name. This grant was obtained of the King
by Philip de Brito and Nicote, who moft ungratefully proved falie to
that Prince, that had lifted him from a vile collier to his favour and

nﬂm“ ; hm:l;hu manner af it wai thus,
ilimixa, confiding in Nicote, was by him persuaded to ercét 2 cos-
tom-house ut the mouth of that river for the merease af his revenue,
and his [de Brito's] design was to seize upon it, and baild & fort there
to give footing to the Portugasse for the conquedt of that kingdom.  The
King, who suspefed not the design, baving finished the work, put it
into the hands of one Bannadals, who fortified himself, and suffered no
F-x_mugqu fo enter there except F. Belchior de la Luz, 2 Dominican.
Nicote seeing that design fil, resalved 1o it out by other meand
before the works were too far advanced. Ho had with him three
Portuguese officers, viz., John de Olivs, Panl del Rego, and Salvadar
Rebeyro, with fiftr men ; these he ordered to murprise the fors, and tum
out the Bannadala, not doubting his great credit with Xilimixa would
bear him out in it. The three captaint so well performed Nicote's
orders that they gained the name of founders of the Portugnese dominion
in the kingdom ; and Rebeyro was like to carry the whole fime of this
action, same affirming he was the real suthor of it.” Bocarro tells &
similar flory, but at much greater length ( Decade, 13, pp. 128-131).
Guerreiro makes no mention of the part played in these transactions
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&Mvﬂuﬂequ;yuitmmdwmhﬁmupmd respurce
the Partaguese owed the preservation of the Syriam fore. i
de Brito's absence at Goa in 1603, Rebeyro, who was left in com
was for elght months closely besieged by the Anikanese under the leader-
L:'Eofﬂmmdlh.mditwmthth:mmﬁdilﬁmkythuhe‘m’
able to hold out until de Brito returned with reinforcements at the end
of the year. The defence of the fortress was very gallantly conduéied ;
but Rebeyro's services seem to have met with little recognition,  Accord-
ing to Partuguese records, when Philip de Brito returned to Syriam,
ro resigned to him the crown with which the inhabitants of
Pegn had invested him,and returned to Porrugal, " where he is supposed
to have pussed the remainder of his diys at his native village in the
Frwi:nr.a of Minho; but his body lies in the chuptes-house of a xmall
ranciscan convent near Alemquer, some 30 miles from Lishon, where
an fnscription records his name and hi . Dortuguese writers call
kim the Marcos Aureliuy of the Decadence of India, and more than
one poet hus sung his praises " (Repors on tde Porruguese Rrcords refating
1o the Balt Indies, by F. C. Danvers, pp. 20-21),

% Thewe were the Fathers Andrew Boves, Andre de Nahais,
Blasius Nunez snd Nutal Salerno (see note 10, p. 255).  The two former
returned o Indis, and the two latter went to Syri

¢ Evidently o miftake for Chatigam.

* The firlt artempt to eftablish Portuguese authority in the island
of Sandip was made in 1603 by an sdventurer mmed Dominico
Cavalhe, who had taken service with Chand Rai of Siripur, to whom
nominally the island belonged. Cavalho was expelled the following
year by the King of Arakan, who held the island until it was tzken from
him by the Magnl general Fateh Khan in 1607. In t6og, Sebadtian
Gongalves, the foremodt of the Portugnese pirates, recaptured Sandi
which he contrived to hold for about eight years, when it was
taken by the King of Arkan.

At the end of the yesr 1602, when the King of Amkan was making
mnﬁw for the capture of Sandip, the Portuguese dandel, or

cat, 1f Chatigim was ’:\Iundnrud. and many of the inhabitanty
were scined and imprisoned, amongit them the Fathers Francisco
Fernandez and Andre Boves. The former, who was an old man,
and jn feeble health, died In consequence of the ill-ussge to which be
was subjedted. These events are described in detall in Pant [1 of
Guerreiro’s Relatiens, lols, 418-44b. An English translation of this
chapter by the Rev. H. Hoflen, 5.]., was published in the Carde/ic
Herald of India (November 11th, tgoB).

* The term catar was applied by eatly Portuguese navigators to
certain light rowin, ';vmhuudmth_ntﬁ:u&ufdﬁfgnﬂy
for warlike pur The word is probably to be derr the
‘Arabic dueyired, ' 2 small cu.l"t.“mg iy pomibly be the parent of our
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English word * cutter * (see Hobson-Fodson, p. 165). For jales, sec

note :. p- 371,
‘pe Negrais forms the southern limit of Arakan, The aSual
point,’ en reunding which the Bassein River s entered, 15 known as
Pigadu Point. By the Jderrr, ot harbour, of Negrais, so frequently

G WL F
OF

MARTABAN

Skefch Map showwg positiorn oFf SYRIAM
s

0 ; "o : so.ﬂ‘

Mar IV

mentioned in Portuguese works, is meant the eftuary of the Bassein
River. The port of Bawsein, formerly known a3 Cosmin (see Hodson-
Todsow, p. 2593 is' situated some To miles up th the river., As to the oripi n
of the name * Negrais,' Yuole ftates that v o "o Portugoese corru
probably of the Arab or Malay form of the native name w
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‘Burmese express a8 Nagavrit, * Dragon’s whirlpool.! The set of the
tides here is apt to carry vessels ashore, and the locality is famous
for wrecks ™ (i4d., p. 6a2).
¥ The port of Syriam is 24 miles from the ses.  Irissimared on the
left bunk of the Pegu River and about 3 miles above its junftion with
what is now called the River, which forma the eadlern arm of
the Irrawaddy delta. Owmg to the of the currents, and to
ﬂ:t i of numerous ‘wp!hntlr_rnd.;.;ﬁuh;;hmwm
roon River is very intricate. , CVery iprnmd:ﬂ‘
mﬂmgnmau;nbnspﬂnthfummmhgthw.mtﬁ ¢ the mou
of which a brig, with 2 staff of pi mbuml.hfcrmm{rmchwd.
_* According to Bocarre, the Archbishop of Goa, then adling m
Governor, sent de Brito definite inftruflions that the Prince was to be
set wt libérty without ransom : ** que mnmpedrm
& seu pae, sem por isso lhe pedir couss alguma.™ de Brito,
net to be halked of his plunder, subflitoted the word indemnity For
ransam, ind demanded plymntdmhundmd thousand fesges
to cover the damage hin thips hod softained in the recent naval en-
counters, After endlen happling, the King suffered himsell to be
mulfled of one hundred thoussnd srewper (abour [4.400), bitrerly
ﬂ-lmdﬁng that it was nothing more nor fess than & ransom that he was
ing forced to pay.. When this sum had been handed over, de Brita
placed the Prince in a royal fafea, and sent him home, penonally con-
dudting him & far a3 the island of Chedubs, which wa one of his
fishing-grounds. As he miled away from the island, he gaive his re-
leased captive a parting salute.  But, mnfortunately, a pellet from one
of the guns élruck the helmymen of the jolra, who fell desd beside his
lord. ‘This circumslance, says Bocarro; arcused the suspicions of the
Prince to such an extent that, from that moment, he never cessed con-
triving meaps for the deftruftion of de Brito and his fortress (see

Decada 13, p. 144)
According to Archbishop Menezes (séde note 5, p. 370) the sum
paid by the King of Araksn wai 30,000 pardass, of 1 taxgar,

ane pardes being equal to five fempas. At the end of the sixteenth
centory a wai worth from 48, 2d, to 4o, 6d. A sesge at the
same period was equal to 6o} reis, or about 10jd. (kee Heodrw-Tedren

under Pardas).
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In wimicw a Teearr 10 Maoz awo Broxsx

! From Part IV of the Relations, fols. toga-104b.

# To the Portuguese all the nivers ind ftreanw in Bengals were
“pangar’ " Gangas chamio o8 rios de que toda Bengals efta cortada ™
(Relatiens, V, Tol. g5): “ A terra he muito fresca, & nan partes que
canfinio com o mar efta repartids em muitas ilhas que se naueglo
por rios que chamio gangss, &5 quaes se tem pot certo serem bragos do
rio Ganges" (Piments’s letter of 26th November, I;gﬂ:‘ The
Porropuese apparently became so used to the term in Bengala thar they
:Hpﬁn& it, a1 ﬁn:. to rivers having no connedlion with the Ganges.

called the River Subarnarekha, which divided Orisas from
Bengals, the Gangs, and itissonamed on Levanha's map of the kingﬂm
of Bengala, In it the word geage may denofe either the River
Ganges, or a river in general j but this, a3 b evident from Pimenm's
letter, does not account for the uie which the Portuguese made of the
word. Mgr. Dalgada, in his Glesigriv, quotes the fallowing from the
Cﬂfxiﬁlj{:qfﬂ, pe 31 " Edta palanma ganga em toda efla Indin
he genetica, ¢ sgnifica rio de agos doge, porque he tio celebre o rio
Ganges, que parece, que tomario | occassifn para splicarem a
todos o outfos sen nome, posto que tenhio outros particularss.”

* Luang Praban, at this time one of the moft im t of the Lao
dtates, is situated to the north-eait of Chiengimai, on the Mekong River.
It was known to the Siamese a1 Lan-chan, signifying, sccording ta Yule
(Hobson-Todwe, p. 501), “o million of elephants.” Fitch called it
* Lange-jannes.” Other variations to be met with are *Lan John,'
* Landjam," * Langiens," etc,

* Up 1o this point Guerreiro has used av his authority s letter, dated
Odtober 17th, 1608, from de Brito to the King of Portugal, giving an
account of the defeat of the Arakancee flect and the caprure of the
Prince, and containing a farther report on the advantsges Tikely 1o
accrue from the possesion of Syriam. The King was evidently much
impressed by de Brit's report, and especially by his proposls for
compelling all merchant vessels to trade enly at the port afgymm- On
the 4th January, 1608, His Majety sent a long dispatch to the Viceray
at Gon { Decumenror Ressettider da India, 1, p- 173-178) reproducing
the subftance of de Prito’s letter, and direching that, in view of the
commercial value of the fortress, and the facilities it afforded for com-
municating with the ports of the South, =1 well #s on account of its
position at the mouth of the Pegu River, all measures necesary for its
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tion thould be taken, and that to this end Phifip de Brito should
E: given whatever assiftance he required, on the undenftanding that
the expente involved, or the major portion of ity could be defrayed out
of the revenues of the Syriam cuftom-house. * E porgue, conforme
a cftas informagles e outras ?uu ha per outras vies, tenho )
importante conservar-se & dita fortalezs, asi pels boa commedidade que
eom elle s slings nu navigagio ds India parn Malaca e mais partes do
$ul, cama por ficar em hua das boccas do rio de Pegu, vos encommendo
fque com tudo o calor devido tratein de sua conservacio, & que para izsn
se deem a Filippe de Brito todos o9 favores ¢ ajudas necéssarios, pre-
smippondo que ﬂ: rendimentos da alfandegn da dita fortaleza sim
MSI ot 4 maior parte da despeza n'isso se houver de fazer.”

* In a letter dated December 20th, 1606, Archhishop Menezes
informed the King of Portugal that the Prince of Arakin had been
redtored to his father, and that the latter had undertuken to abdtain in
the fature from making war on Syriam, to cede to the Portugnese the
islend of * Sundiva’ and alio a third part of the revenues of the cuflom-
house at Chatigam, and to pay an indemnity of 30,000 pardses. The
.'a;:o:hilbnp‘s letter in quoted in the King's dispatch of the 4th January,
r6iof. .

* On this oceasion it was chiefly on the Portugnese settlement at
Dianga that the King of Arskan wreaked his vengeance. Amonglt’
those who escaped in the galliot was Sebafhan Gongulves (sec note 5,
p- 265), the Portugucse adventurer whose daring escapades and villain-
ies make up one of the mofl romantic chapters in hiftory of the
Portuguese in the Eaft. ‘The mid on Dianga took place at the end of
the year 1606, )

T The word felagel was in common use smongft European writers
of the scventeenth century to denote a Buddhift pricdt.  Its origin i
probably to be found in the Sanakeit word se/e-pativa, d:ﬂm‘ﬁh: leaf
of the fan-pahn, or Talipot, of Southern India and Ceylon, the name
being given to Buddhidt priefts on sccount of their habit of carryin
8 palm-leafas a protedtion from the san.  Yale (Hodson-Tobson, }:ﬁ?:

uu:: mTLty {‘hsm] he h : f - ik!,hf'T'l.ﬁ 5
| = the pri have the honour of earrying pot
'w?h the broad end over their heads foremest ; which none but the
King does.” Sce abo his tiot from Pallegoix on p. Bgo,  Ac-
cording to Sir W. Fofter {Earty Travellers in Indic, p. 36), the word
rdap:r' is ** the Talving safs pee,* my lord," s form of addpess to Buddhid
monks."

* Macao, at the mouth of the Canton River, had been occupied _hj'
the Portuguese since 1557, and was at this time an important trading
and misionary centre,
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Tux Barrie or Nocuats

H:‘ "This and the following chapter belong to Part V of the Reluticas,
72a-7o4.
® The Portuguese word is palests, from which ceme * gallivat’ and
alio, probably, our English * jolly-boat " (see Hodion-Jodiomy p. 161),
The name was applied to craft of various sizes ; but was always used
to denote a smaller vessel than a galley. Bluteau, in his Facadalarie
Portagues Latino, etc., defines galeota ;™ 4 sl galley with one maf,
and with fifteen or twenty benches a side, snd ane aar to each bench.,”
According to Orme, = * gallivat' was 2 lirge rowing-boat built like
2 grab (a kind of Arab galley) but of smaller size, the largeit marely
exceeding 70 tons ; ** they have 40 or 5o ftout cary and may he rowed
four miles an hour ™ (Wil Military Tramadions, 1, 409). The arigin
of the word i1 obscure. Y ule favours the suggeftion of Friedrich Diex
(Erym. Warterd., 198-199), that it ié to be derived * from the Greek
. & shirk, or from yalesrns, s sword-fish—the latter very

sugeedtive of 3 galley with its aggressive beak.”

he word jalea appeans to be another member of the numerous
* galley * family, Bocarro defines it as a vessel * that is wed for fighting
and trading at once” The word generally denoted a small enaft;
bat there does not seem to have been any particular type of vessl to
which it was applied. Very often there seems to be no diftinétion
drawn between & galewts and a jefea.

3 All thit the Portugnese diBionaries have to ssy about the words
caméles and = is that they are the names of * pieces of ordnance
formerly used.” According to Pagés’ Diccipnaris de la Lingua Caliel-
Jama; & camells (of which camelet is the diminutive) was & short, heavy,
and not very effedive gun, used mainly for siege purposes, 2nd Ering
a ball weighing sixteen pounds. An epera was a staller gun Fring
a ball of thirteen pounds. Pup‘:awmmﬁﬂhwh;ﬁml.!-.d:

:" Aotrodia se trujo della I
dmurnn,qu:uhhmmlihmd:hh; camellos de 4 diex
y seiv

* A pavise s & shield covering the whale body. * Peveset de pavie
are what our seamen eall the ' B 'hin;uﬂ:duthlwl_mhhnﬁ
round ‘about a ship to hinder the men from being seen m fight
Disclamaria), X.-rgmwntummn:h;:mtﬁqw{u
used to prevent ahi ing boarded enemy.

emall depmdmtp:im of '(.*Jnvr‘n' K:hhnb}. whose
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Chief it dignified by Guerreira with the title * King,' liy to the south of
Mrauky, the Arakanese capiml, and to the exdt of Akysb.

‘ﬂmgﬂlu!mulmﬂlndmh;hrvmlmm!yuud tor
pursuit. It derived it name from Sanguicer [Sangameshwar ?], a ‘m
nf&n.ul where many vesels nfthu were built. Yule (H

1771) quotes Albuguerque, Eﬂt was Nuno Vaz in m ship,

E&n which was built in Camguicar,” and adds, * thergbare

ml.njot passages in thuum:wntezwhmhmh:lpn&mﬂymm
that Sanguicels wers the vessels buile at Sangnicer,

? Both Furix y Sousa and Bocarrn fiate t tPtuluduRegahmﬂdf
blew op'lis ship, to avoid filling into the hands of the enemy. The
latter writer says : * E vendo Panlo do Rego mua perdicio certa, eftando
ja atracada de grande quantidide de embarcagiies, nio conhecends mem
vendo outro modo pari ok poder defirir ¢ livrar se anim, por se nio
e gt e e S o 8 Cnh R

Com gue Voo em e quantos com
vinham " (Decads; p. 145).
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NOTES TO CHAPTER VIl
Tie Stxct oF SyaIAM

Fi umy;jﬂ'mtmntufmmtphiurm
Syriam. King of Arakan, be says, having decided
d,m::lmﬁmiumkmrhnfwﬂu,mnm tnth'::h'..ing
Tangu to gcquaine him with his | “The hing .
Ww“tﬁuﬁingu{m decided i!ﬂ.brmd an;
t [] L]

3?
i

of Tan
to fearing that
ogos * would leave him to condad the siege himlf.&uu-
mined to out them. Accordingly, he sent buck word that he was
; and that if His Majefty would let him know the day
and hour when he intended to begin the aloge, he oo would attack at
the same time. But that night, at the beginning of the firlt watch, he
gilently ftruck his cam mdwithm:amdulnihinmﬁmn.muhﬂi
with all speed back to his country.  In the morning there was not 2 soul
to be seen in the place which the army of Tangu had ied. As
saon @ they became aware of this the Pegus, with shouts of joy, sallied
forth to seize upon any arms of supplies which the troops of the Kin
of Tangu, to avoid impeding their movements, might have left behi
them. On Bading that the King of Tanpu had given up the siege of
the fortress by land, Philippe de Brito ordered his poldiers and captains
to march out with hanners, nnd drums snd fies, and the Bring of guns,
a1 though they had put the King of Tangu to flight. The King of
ﬁmmuhmrriu;l.{i':n ed movement of the Pegus along the
‘bank of the river, and that others were kiunching thips as thmn%h they
meant to come out and fght, and sceing no trace anywhere of aither
the King of Tangu or his camp, became even more scared than the
latter had been ; and imagining that all that Philippe de Brito had
warmed him of was about to be fulfilled, he i to his ships 1o
weigh anchor, and sailed 'lg:m"{ﬂrr 15 t47-8).

Faria 7 Sousa is less explicit; but he too attributes the en raiting
of the siege to dissensions in the enemy’s camp.  * The siege,” be sy,
“ continued so long, until the besieged were ready to surrender, when
an a sudden upon some suspicion the King of Tangu quin the feld by
night, and he of Arracam found it to no purpose to lie longer npon the
sea ™ (Aila Portugatta, 111, 159). C —

How the siege alually mudt remsin & matter of conjecture.
Faria y Souss and Bocarro are, buwever, a ftrong combination ; and
their teffimony, such as it is, muft be held to outweigh that of Guerreiro,
whose sccount In very based, fike his references to the fate
of Hawkins and the crew of the Awcewsion (pide note 20, p. 114),
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and Lis firlt gccount of the battle of Negrais (p. 232), on Tumours
which found their way to Goa, and thence 1o Enrope, before the
arrival of anything in the way of an official report.

* After hit escape from Dianga (note 6, p.279), Gangalves Tived by
piracy, and became the recognised leader of the Portoguese * sea-wolves *
who infefted the Bay of Bengal. For a time he cultivated the friend-
ship of the Raja of Bacals, and made that place his nfrd':rge. His

made him the terror of the Bay, and the King of Arslan

redson 10 be alarmed at his growing power.  His descent on
1608 ; and another year had barely

Dianga took place early in thﬁw
elapsed before he had expelled Fatel Khan from Sundiva and eftab-
account of his

lished higiself in that iland (note 5, p. 265), An
subsequent career can be resd in Sir Arthur Phayre's Hidory of Barma,

174-177-
P Here again Guerreiro seems to have been misled by letters based
on mere rumour. 'The dispatch at this time of an armada againgt
Amakan it not mentionod by either Faria y Sousa or Bocarro, nor can
I find any reference to it elsewhere.
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Tue Formazss CarTusio

k M!hualrﬂyﬁ:ﬁ..:kﬁmtuﬂhe?fmnﬂhtﬁfﬁm
fortress is taken from the Decads of Bocarro (Menseensar Inediter,
Vol. VL, pp- 149-158). Without & plan of the Syriam fort (which
I have not able to procure) it is impossible to follow Bocarro's
detailed, and very confused account of the aftual siege operations.
lhmthq!ﬁupﬂpmhdthigﬂﬁmdhhmﬂhum:mdud
farm, The viftory mentioned in the firft line refers to the defeat of
the combined forces of the Kings of Arskan snd Tangu deseribed by
Guerreiro in the ladl chapter,

* Aliya is the Singhalese name for an elephant, The Ceylon
species is a5 a general rule tuskless ; and this may possibly have led to
» hi;ﬂugum spplication of the term aliye to the female Indian

E

P Lacerda’s Diccionarin defines  derge as ™ an ancient short piece
nfuﬁn,:g: and a regusira as * a sort of cannon which i loaded with
fones indtead of bullens.”

. Mmlin&[lhfwlm:in} i situzted on the southern side of the
eftuary of the Salween River, opposite to Martaban, which 1 on the
northern side of the eftuary. According to Yule (Hedsew- Faboon,

. 591), the original Taking nsme was Mar-wwoa-lem, which the

urmese corrupted into Mas-/a-yaing, * whence the foreign (probably
Malay) form Mawidwein,”

* De Brito's treaty of friendship with the King nmeFlg had been
made under dired orders from the Viceroy, Lorenco de Tavora. In
reply to a Jetter from the King of Portu in which reference is made
to t{e kingdom of Tangu, Tavora fated that de Brito had sent some
Partugnese 10 amift the King of Tangu againd! his enemies, and that

shown himself very grateful for the same. I myself,"

an being informed of these things sent an ambasmador to
Tangu with & present to the King of a horse, & suit of armour, some
wine and other things, and urging him to take up his residence in same
help could be sent to him more readily,
lndﬁnmwhmmhﬁmu.ifhdgrﬂd,mlufnpﬁathmlﬂfmd
hh i fortress. IIII.“

tain friendly correspondence with
rém
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Tangu no doubt the t, but declined the invitation fo
m&%mhﬂﬁﬂdpxhnn mﬂmuhmad.hcmigh: uit ay
well have accepted both, The mck of Pegu was 2 scandalous reach
ufﬁith“nndehﬂ;:ltn’:plﬂ. “ Let m inmindhi;nﬂt:‘lu'h_r
Souss, * these hin unjuét proceedin in it place we shall see
ﬂ:mmddndw:ydwu.. E': Indeed it is to be admired,
a Chriftian government should support such unchriffian proceedings ™'
(Arie Portugnesa, 111, 140).

® ¢ Martabans * or Pegu jars have been famous in the Eaét from very
carly times. They are mentioned by Ibn Batuta, Corres, Barbosa,
and many other writers. Barbosa, in his description of the city of
Marmaban says: “ At this town sre made many great porceluin jard
mrrhi;,i‘hmgaudﬁhmm;th:mmmmonhnmw' wiil hold
& pipe of water, Thqlrtghudinbh:kmd%mth':ﬂmedmd
highly prized among the Moors, who take them rom this place with
great dtore of benzoin in Joaves ™ (Bardera, 11, p. 158).

' The Portuguess diftionaries define rerapupe as o conical cap,

of some blue or reddish material. Can the soldiers in quedtion
have Kizilbashes, who were diftinguished by their red caps, and
many of whom were to be found in the Mogul armies ?

* An *ola, or * ollah,’ generally denotes s letter written on 2 palm-
lesf. The leaf used is that of the Palmyra tree, which is specially
wahepurpou,nﬂnfwhich!hnTmﬂnm:ildd.

* Canarins " was the name given by the Portuguese to the Kenkoni
pmrh of the territory of Goa (sce Hobsen-Fabsan, m 152:4).
~ % Faria y Sousa fates that de Breito was impaled ive, and lingered
in' agony: for two diys.

U M. | P. Hardiman has sent me an interefting confirmation of
Bocarro's dtatement: * In 1897, in the Sagaing diftrid,” he writes,
1 was shown some Burmese who were sid to be descendants of
prisoners nﬁdlmg:ﬁmdwhniﬁﬂmﬁsthrkmﬂuhnﬁn
nJ.:Emn." has alo drawn oy attention to the following &mﬁ
in the Gezesseer of Upper Burms(Vol. 11, p. 46y The Roman tholi
Missian in Myinmu has at present two ftations, st Nabet and Chaungu.
They do not do much ytizing. They look after the nafrve
Chridtians, descendants of the Porra and othes carried off 2
prisoners on the capture of Syriam by Dhamng Yaza in 1613 A,
and again on its sack by Alaung-pays in 1756 A"

N.B.—Some sdditional notes on this chapter will be found in the
Appendiz.
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Same Anprrioxat NoTes

Page 62, fliar 15. “The word * darure " is for the Persian darwerh,
denoung & uuﬂm devotee, urtﬁrHr,nhe latter being the term more
generally used in Indin. feats " ascribed to these devotess are
without number, In the Emmi—ﬁk.ﬂ (Herklon), p. 297, we
md:“TluEr:mmnll;r bed in religious reverie, that they
not discern between things lawful snd unlowful, and regard no sed
or religion, Somstimes xhr&gnlbwl in a ftute of nudity, and lie down
wherever it may chance to be, regardless of every kind of dirt ot filth,
Some among these become such ful workers of miracles, that
whenever they choose, they can indtantly effedt what they please ; snd
what is ftrange, though some of them lie in one spot for months =nd
yedrs together, and there abey =-.-.?- call of nature, there is not the
jeadt affenisive smell about them. They are, moreover, neither afraid
of fire nor of water ; for when they please, they fland aa hot emben, of
it in a large frying-pun, or @ boiling ¢a/dras, for hours topether : snd
thet dive and temain under water for two or three houns.’

After the break up of the Roman E

Page 195, fine 10, ms];'n. the
name Rus, the Arabic form of * Roma,' was given to the jakizn
kin in Asia Minar, and later to the Ottoman Empire [ulj&m—
Lm, p. 767). Hence the word * Rume* or Ruesei was used to

ignate & 1'urk, whether Asiatic or Furopean. By cerain wniters,
however, including Guerreiro, the name was reitri@ed to the Turks of

Europe.
Page 231, fine t. ' Magus® was the name, presumably, of ane of

the King of Arakan's allies.
Page 343, fime 30, According to Sr. de Lima Felner, the sditor
nfth:hﬂnﬁ.lh:umtﬂmhdchﬂjwuhﬂm
Though Bocarro does not actual aay so, thit king of mﬁ:‘ﬁpm
¢ none other he Communder whom Philip de

i previoatly, expelled from Syriam. That a

of Syriam, the Bana fartified himielf in

island of Dals,’ and that, o sgain defeated

ortuguese, he withdrew to Prome. OFf bis subsequent adven-

we nothing until we meet with him again in B,
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Page 246, Jine 1. 'That the fortress was so inadequately mamed at
this jun&iure has been attributed to the machinations of de Brito's wife.
How far this §s true it is dificult to zay. The circumélunce is not
mentioned in the llj)«ﬁ:l’:. Bocarto, however, mmdt lnim hc;:d the

» but enitly he attached no importance to it. . In & foomote
T 1 ;m Derada, Br. de nmP‘;’dm itutes the case againdt
Dona Luizs as follows ; “* It is said that one of the chief causes which
contributed to the loss of the fortress of Seriam, or Serbng, was the
wanton conduét af Doni Luiza de Saldanha, wife of Philippe de Brito
de Nicote. She was, as we have seen, the daughter of Manuel de
Saldanka, brother of the Viceroy, Airés de Saldanha. Her mother,
according to Faria y Souss, was & native of the island of Java, She
was brought up in Juzury at Goa, where she was born, and was of
handsoine appearance, and vain of her looks. She married Nicate;
the son of & F:m:h father, who had raised himself from the meanedt

to the position of a king, to whom she proved unfaithful, com-
mitting sdultery witha Pormuguese Captain. The soldiers of the fortress
openly protested againit thisscandaliand the foolish woman, todiminish
thie number of her aecusers, prevailed upon ber husband to reduce the
garrison of the fortress, which, she said, was larger than he required,
and very coitly, Nicote took her fatal advice. He denuded the
fortress of its defenders, and paved the way for it conquedt by the King
afAva, The King cansed de Brito to be impaled, and though suffering
this erael punishment, be remained alive for two days. i‘?il wife the
King erdered to be washed In the river, intending to tike her &y hit
concubine ; and when, with onlooked-for courge, she refused 1o
gratify his desires, he gave orders that her legs were to be flayed (or,
wecording to others, that one ofhukpmtubepinrmdtﬁ:m{ijg
and reduced her to the condition of a slave. These parti whi
are not given by Bocarro, an be read in Faria y Sousa’s Aiia Perte-
wera, tom. iil,, part iil., cap. if., and in the Fearsal of Poter William
loris, from which an exirad will be found in tom. v. of Provodt's
Hitlaire Ginbrale des Veyages, g2and 3237

Page 2446, fine 10. NIr. l E Z!udimn m that the word
* biny " is the Burmesc paya, used to denote sny objed of worship, and
that *degil* is for tigew or feduw, 8 word which, according to Profesor
Fncrrfuhhlmmﬂ.m: intouse in the sixteenth century to denote a pagodi
or stupa.
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Abdulls Khan, Usbeg, 165
Abdnr Rahim, Khar, 4, B-19, 99,
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Amg. 218, 263
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Ahasuerus, King, §1
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Alsu, 178
Akyub, 333
261

Alia, 341, 575

Ali Khan, g9

Aigwi m-aﬁm 186, 255
BT .

ah:m:!?nhujuhn, 15

Amacao, see Maczo

Amir-sl-Unara, title, 97

Andre, Father ], o Bove,
Father ]. Andre

Amkan, 198, 200, 216, 252, 254

,i::] of, 185; secks P

= w -1 1

B ainat by Fetherh
188-18g; Eﬂ to , 150%
leaves ite in »
194 moipedhs de Brio’ de

signs, 195 ; viited by de Brito,
t1oh | g:s.upln:hd Armadd to
armada

Syriam, 210-2137 his
defested, 112§ renews hodtili-
ties, 320 ; prepares and armada,
231 ; tmkes command himsell,
235 ; is defeated, 227 ; renewl
the conteil, z28-2130; offen
termy to de Brito, 237-3335
besieges  Syriam, 232-33§3
abandons the tiege, 235 ; sends
belp to de Brito, 250

— Prince of, 211,313 ;¢
by de Brito, 315-314
230, 2675 222, 235, 231 245
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Arjon, Guru, T1-13, §3
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TE 114115273
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Bugals, 257,274
Badakshan, 'ga, 124, 165, 170

177

Badukehis, go

Bahar, weight, 260

Bakarpanj, 258

Banha, tide, 197, 198, 261,
264

Banhadala, 242-244, 361, 265

. 350

Banhanoy, 144, 243

Batitam, 26

Barbosa, Du.ll‘tl‘:, 54 263, 276

Barros, |. de, xxiv, 251

Basawal, 175

Bassein, 266

B-mph, :;;: rgb, rg8, 200
chief ports of, 201-2063 214,

21}, 252, 256,268

Herpe, 247, 278

'Bﬁ:ll;:wai, battle of, 5-6, go-91,
o

Biay d¢ Degs, 246, 277

Bihar, g7

Bocarro, Antonio, mu—ulr

— Decaday 13, zxiii-xxiv, 255,
256, 261, 263, 264, 267; 372,
373, 2744 275, 276

Bokhare, 165

Botelhane, 148, 173

Boves, Father |. Andre, 190, 193,
255, 236, 255, 263

Bremar (Burmese), 193, 304,

49

Brite, Philip de, xxii, zxv;
edtablishes himself at Syriam,
194-1g5; visits King of

Arakan; 196 ; defests the Ban- .

ha, 197-198 ; goes to Goa, 198- |

tgg, 208 his description of
'1?1.,;1@, 204 ; welcames Fathers
to Syrigin, 200-210; caplures
Prince of Arakan, 2rz-313;
makes u treaty with the King
which iz broken, 21g ; prepares
for war, 223§ re peace
gﬂ'-:m 231- :3!; besicged in
yriam, 232-336; narrow e~
eape from fire, :;E: rebuilds
his fortress, :;3 ; ascks Prome,
2 5 allies himseli with King
Martaban, 243-243; sacks
Tangn, 244-245; besicged by
King of Ava, 246-250; cap-
tured and put to death, 2513
arigin of, 25g-200; hia letiers
to the King of Portugsl, 263,
268; his uwnscrupulous be-
lviour, 264, 276 ; his marriage
with Dona Luiza Saldanbas,
26i-262, 278
— Marco de, 220
— Simzo de, 242-24%
Bureng Nuung, King of Pegu,
242, 254

Cariter, 143, 154, 171, 179

Cafres, tee Kafirs

C.kl'l 151, l?i

Cambalu, 119, 126, 153, 163

Cambay, 77-79, 83, 84-86, 102,
108, 162

Cemelel, 225, ::rr

Camul, jea

Cuanaring, 251, z;r&

Cape of Good Hope, 82

Carapara, 245, 276

4 bee
Cidftro, Affonso de, 111, 362
Cathay, 1tot, 11g-tam,

143, l49r 154 155
163-164
Caturet, 301y 265
Cavalho, Dominicn, 265

Tigqe
161,
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Caxemir, see Kashmir
Ceylon, 270
Chain of Judtice, 13; 94
Chalis, see Kura-Shahr
Chandican, 185, 255, 256, 257
Chiand Rai, 260, 361, 265
Charakar, 151, 176, 177
Charemelas, 45, 103, 132
 BEE mﬂl
Chaul, 182 s
Cheduba, 267
Chescan, see Tt
Chisyu-kuan, 178, 179
‘Chieng-mai, 254, 361, 268
Chins, 125, 127, £33, 145, 154
1£5, 162, 164
Chitralis, 177
Chittagong, 165, 185, 188, 189,
193, 208, 252, 257
Chocaria, 335, 229, 271
Chufﬂmadp ,'!B! 119
Chridt, Order of, 262
Chriftmas, celebration of, 44-45
Cochin, 162, 208, 218
Culﬂ{ﬂ. Father Ao, x
Caleche, 1535, 181
@;@ﬁm title,
-
Cordier, M. Hens, sviii-zix
Carpus Chridi, feaft of, 34 97
Corsi, Father R, g1, 101, 103,
130, 166
Coryat, Thomas, 95
Cosmin, see Hauemn
Codta, Gomas ds, 248
Cmtnrniﬂiﬂiiﬂh“i".
Covert, Robert, 112, 114
Coyilham, Pedro de, 166
Cugis, see Kuchar

Cusmgee, pricit, 148, 173

Dacca, 260
Dachem, see Achin
Dala, 260

Dashin, 83, 85, 112

188, 256,

Dames, M. Longworth, Deeree
Buarbosa, 354, 263

Danduﬂ'ﬂzjguﬁ. A5, 113, 114

Daniy. nee,

Danu, H:ﬁ - &

Danvers, F. C., Partguesz in

R

4550, |

, 85, 98,96, 163
De la Luz, Bjchmt?grﬁd-
Deémetrias, coni to Goes,
Dh:ﬂ;q, Isﬁi 171-2, 176, 187
238, 254, 270, 274

DI’IHF' It
m’j;;f:’ 112, 714
D= imeription, 17
Documentos Remertisdel 3 Ixdia,

2fiz, 268
Da larric, Father P., x, xvii, xix
— Hifwire, %, xvil, xix, 119, 166,

167, 168, 169, 177, 252
Dutch, the, 161, 167, 263

Eafter Dy, celebration of, 33

Egypt, 137
a, 338, 271
Ethiopia, 96, 166

Furia y Souss, Aiia Pertugueia,
rxili, 261, 264, 2373, TN
arh

Futeh Khan, 263, 274

Federicd, Cesare, 172

Felner, Sr. de Lima, xxi¥, 259,

277
Fernandez, Father F., 188-18g,
9o, 311, 256 257, 265,
373
Fernandez, John, Brother,
157, 159, 161, 180, 181
Feyea, Count de, 77, 117
Figueroa, Sgares,
Finch, Willam, 108
Fitch, Ralph, 252, 235, 258,
261

156,
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Fonsecn; Father Belchior da, 188-
189, 256, 257

Fortescue, Adran, Ceremenies of
the Roman Rite, o7

Fodter, Sir W., znr{v Travely
ts ledia, 95, 108, 113, 114,
270

Francisco, Father Frei, 242-243

Francke, Dr. A. H., Ladoagr
riTyalrads, 171

Gagar, 133, 167, 174

Galchas, 151,177

Galises, John, 110

Galliot; 325, 271

Gangar, 217, 368

G 217, 268

Gm 195, 160

Guronne, river, 360

Gaur, 254
araria; 167

Gentiles {Gensiar), 88

Ghakkars, 167, 174

Ghora Ghat, 123, 164

Gaa, 44, 96, 101-102, 108, 113,
11§, 138, 163

Gﬂdin-hﬂ. Md:l.i.or- :Ijﬂ, 239

Goos, Benedi, wir-xuii, 101,
127 ; departure from Goa, 128;
prepares for his travels, 128-
129 ; firft letter of, 150-131;
sccond letter, 131-133; third
letter, 133-134; journey to

a v L50-1%1; sojourn

at Yarkand, 135-749; journey
to Suchou, 152-155; wckness
and death, 156-158 ; his youth-
ful follies and conversion, 1358-
159; diary of, xx, 159160,
175

Gﬂnﬁ!?ﬂ, M“, st| :ﬁs:
270, 274 i

Goopo Namgyal, 148, 172-173

Emﬂ J‘.t-&if; 3

Graverner, Stephen, t12

Grimon, Leon, 129, 132, I50,
156, 166, 176, 181

Guerreiro, Father Fertao, x

— Relstims, ix-xi, xix, 88, g4,
97: 191, 106, 166, 169, 174,
252, 258, 262, 364, 205, 268,
7o

Gujarat, 98, 117, 112

Gwalior, g9, 103

Hajfi Kkanwm, 151, 170

Humi, 144, 154, 178, 179

Hardiman, J. P., 276, 277

Hsringhats, river, 258

Hawkms, Wiltlam, Bo-8z, B3,
85-6, 110, 111, 112, 114, 273

Haytan, The 11g,

1
Hazara, 167
Hindu Kush, 167, 174,177
Hircande, see Yarkandd
Honan, 155
Hoagly, river, 252

H (Apam), 124, 167
ngc:]: Rev, l‘g:. works of, g5,

101, 108, 165, 173, 181, 256,
250, 26§
Husin Beg, Badakshi, 4, 9o, 9t

lakonich, see Yaku-arik

Ibn Batuta, 252, 376

*India," carly meanings of the
name, B3, 166, 208

Indus, river, 167, 174

Istac, servant to Goss, 150, lg:
lég, 16c-163, 170, 175, 1
182

ltolama, 148

agdalsk, 151, 175
shangir, xiit-xy; mecends the

throne, 3, 88; in pursuit of
Khu.}:r‘u. 4 88 ; meeting mmH:
the Fathers, 7; puanishes

rebels, B-10 sets up chain of
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judtice, 13; penecutes two
Mnﬂm. 16-24,1013
;f:mt;thc Chriftians end the
e §o, 3§ ; accepts a copy
of the Goapels in Persian, 31,
324 goes to I_u!:ul,h;:: his
edminifiration of jufbice, 36~
38 ; punishes Aziz Knil.
38-39, 99 ; returnd to Lahare,
43 i ends embasny to Goa, 444
77, 102, 110} gocs to Agm,
46, 102-10%; cawses Khusru
:&H‘iﬁh L #47-48, 103-103§
49-62; his regard for secred
pittures, 66; his views on
marriage, 67-6g; hit reception
ol William Hawkins, 82; makes
1;:5“: with the Portuguese, B5-

— mﬂjﬂ‘ HE. gal 93| Qb qllh
98, 103, 105, 108, 110
Jalalebad, 174, 175
alea, 213, 225, 271
amyang Namgral, 173
encoma, 198, 199, 257, 261
anjira, 174
emisalem, 127
ohn 11, King of Portugal, 126,
1

7
ones, Thoies, traveller, 115
purdain, Johm, 113, 113 114
1I%
Junk Ceylon, 203, 201, 217, 362

Kabul, 5, 23, 32, 35, 37, 43, 9%
g7, 101, 151, 167, 165, 173-
175 177, 181

Kachua, 258

Kafiriftan, 174

mﬂl is'w?ll¢| TJE

Kalimak, 18, 20,3, 139

Kan-chou, 180

Kanfur, 148,173

Kansu, 180

Kara-shahr, 152183, 154, 164,
179

Kashgar, 120,123,139, 135,151,
169, 178, 179

Eushgar, Prince of; 141-142

— Queen of, 140-141, 151, 169

Kashmir, 37, 123, 167: 174

Kedar Rai, see Raj

Khitai, the, 119, 163

Khotan, 140, 146, 151, 166, 170,
178, 179

Khusru, Prince, fiics from Agra
to Lahore, 4-5, g1 & defeated
and captured, §-8; p
ment, 11; mecting with Gum
Afj'“ﬂ; B .ﬂ' Hiﬂdd, +Mﬂ.
167-103

Kuchar, 178

Kuek Bikar, 164

Kurnaphuli, river, 254

Ladskh, 173

— Chromicler of, 173

Lahore, besi by Khosra, §,
g1 ; Jahangics eatry mio, g-19,
g2 ; church and &ty 141
97. 192, 128, 130, 158, 163,

167
Laos, the, 2154, 263
Lari, coin, 42, 99
Leiteira, ous berb, 103
Lemro, river, 255

Lhachen Bhagan, 173 ;
i g:m Tl'mﬁn ﬁi

Linschoten,
100,252
Luang Praban, 217, ar8, 268
Lnutf. Cal. E., Manripae, 236,
158
h?: de Saldanha, Déns, 238,
243, 261262
Luke, Saint, pamting by, 04, 107
Lunrique, 148, 173

Maczo, 161, 230,370
— in Pegu, 192, 238
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Machade, Father A, 1o1, 103,
MI 30, Idﬁmﬂf ;
achareo, of; 194, 205, 359
Magadha, 354
Maghs, 185, 254
M_;ai. Ida::nm of, piftare, 64-
S 77T
Mihs Dhiammit Yaza, King of
Ava, 276
Mahava, 112
Malabar, 203
Malscea, 123, 161, 163, 182,
201,221,203
Manchuria, 163
Manrique, Fray Sebastian, 236,
B

15
Man Singh, 196, 260
Manucei, Nicolaa, 95
Mareco Joab, 244-245, 246
Maria, Father Jobn, 240
Matmulao, 153 275
Martaban; 193, 303, 205, 211,
217, 218, 2§2-244, 354, 256,
275
— King of, 242-244
Mariabans, 245, 376
Martins, Francisco, 244
M:;ln]ia, 226
Musulipatam, :-?ii' 238
Mai Tharsday, eclebration
Mnﬂ 32-33
ecca, 1io, £70, 303, 207, 218
Medafaval, 82, 112 i
Meghna, niver, 253
Mekong, river, 268
Mendoga, Furtado de, 81,
112, I14, 115
Menezes, Alexive de, 111,
268
Meng Rayagri, 254, 264
Merigda Mor, 4, 28, 38, 72
Middleton, Sir Henry, 112
Migal.lt‘-i. St,’ i'll.ﬂnl! u‘ﬁ ‘zst
181
Miria da Gells, 45, 102

i,

267,

158,

Mirza Ghyas, 1369
1

Mirza Husain,
Mirza Muhmuu.u? Haidar, 16g
ﬂoﬂhn. B1, 113
oRNNL, 254
Mogos, see Maghs
Monserrat, 104
Monteyro, Hitranymo, 188, 357
Manyin, 254
Moars (Mesrsr), 88
Mosambique, g6
Moulmein, 193, 242, 275
Mrauku, 255
Muhammad Sultan, 16¢
Mundy, Peter, 95
Mu Khan, 77-79, 835-
» 102, 108, 110-111, T14,
182
Murtaza Khun, sec Shaikh Farid
Muttra, g1

Nabet, 276

Najib Kban, 52-54, 105

Nampyal, title, 173

Nands Bureng, King of Pegu.
dnwn.&]llng:lﬂthbﬂlﬂs-l 7o
;;4-:55: atrocities commiited

s 191-10%

Nanking, 163

Negrais, cape, 213, 218; bartle
of, 226-228, 274 354, 266

Nicot, Jean, 259

Nicote, see Brito, Philip de

Noakhali, 254 _

Nuﬂ.ﬂ_ﬂumt von, Kaltar Abdar,
1

Ogilby, John, 179, 257

Oz (Olish), 349, 276

ﬂh.udm.mg’utch

Orisia, 252

Orme, Robert, 252, 271

Ormuz;, 181

Ortelivs, ThAearrsar Ordis Terras
ram, 164, 179
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Ova, see Ava
Oxu, river, 176

Pamir, 145, 147, 177

Panjab, o8

Paquim, see

Pardso, coin, 163, 182, 270

Parwan Pas, 176

Parwir, Prince, 98

P@p 193. zﬁ; )

Paerel, 225, 271

qugnmindt. ;Fﬁ- Tk

Pegu, etrullion of, 186187,
190 ; desolstion of, 191-194,
197, 200; Wrategic import-
m_l:i- of; 201-205; 210, 216,
21

— kings of, wee Bureng Naung
and Nanda Buren,

Pegu, river, 258, 26

Peking, 128, 133, 153, 156, 161,
163, 180, 181

Peshawar, 751, 174-170

Phayre, Sir A., Hilfery of Burma,
24, 255, 180, 274

I"hi]:F Hfj’;ing of Portugal, 164,
=£. 268, 170, 275

Piments, Father N., 132, 164,
252, 255-256, 257, 259, 268

Pinligirn, Father Manoel, xiii,
441 kecompanies  embassy ta
Goa, 44, T7-79 B4-87; 101,
108, 113, 114, 135, 133, 162,
166, 182

Pircz, Father Mancel, 240

Polo, Marco, 114, 163, 166

Porto Grande, 242, 257

Porto Pequenn, 263, 357

Predter John, 126, 127, 166

Prome, 193, 198, 199, 215, 117,
241, 242, 254

Purchas, Pifprimes, 115

nedds, 201,203, 318, 263
250

I R“m‘:'r?;'tgftﬁf

Kan

Rmmﬂ, 167

Rebar, see Tibet

Reberro, Balvador, 264-a265

Red Ses, 127
226, 22B-320,
331, 237, 304, 373
Reytavai, pee Tavoy:
Ricei, Father M., =viil, xxi-zxii,
153, 155, 156, 157; 160, 161
— O sriche, zvii-zxii, 163,
169, 174, 175, 176, 177, 179,
(180, 181, 182
Rivett, William, 112, 114
Rodrigues, Schastian, 50
Rohtis fas: g0 349 35
Roputire, 341, 37§
Rioas, Sir Denison, 166, 169

Sacrithitna, mountain, 177

Sagaing. 276

Elidmfi, bay of, see Table Bay
Salerno, Father Natal, 215, 216,

331, 214 .-u-;, 256, 265
Salim Shah, sec Meng Rayagpi
Salween, river, 275
Sambhar, g4, 95

Snudzé:\, iiland, 200, 211, 205
z6b, 274

Saxguicel, vmall vemel, 233, 373
fan Thomé, 247, 250
21111:11;;1?7
Sen ampyal, 17
scqfnu {Sﬁi-}‘m?ﬂ. 177
Shahrukh, 163
Shalkh Farld, 37, 9% 08
Shaikh Hasen, wee Mugarrab
Khan
Sharif Khan, 25, 07
I!L ﬁ-kﬂ'l‘lﬂ-ﬂ, 12
Shaw, Robert, 170
Shensi, tgﬁ, 180
Siam, 198, 169, 121, 205, 207;
218, 261
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Siddi:é 1 lh

Sikacder, Mirzs, 24, 94. 123

Silvs, Gaspar de, 190

Siripur, 252, 257, zfo

Sittang; river,

Socotra, 82

Sodr, g1

Sonargaon, 257, 260

Stein, Sir Aurel, Rains ¢f Desert
Cathay, 177

'.iurlécn, 150, 155, 178, 179, 180,
181

Suez, 201

Sulanpur, gr

- battie o, 99

Sundiva, see Sandip

Surat, 82, 83, 83, 06, 111, 112,
114, 115

Syri, 127 !

Syriam, 199, 193 ; occupied by
de Brito, 194-195,203; Futhers
RITIVE A, 209-2103 217, 2193
besieped by Kings
and Tangu, 232-230 : captured
by King of Ava, 246-351 ; 256,
258, 262, 268 ; cuptives taken
to Ava from, 251, 276

Table Bay, Bz, 112

Talapet, 221, 270

Talikhan, 151, 176

%'n‘;-d, coin, 267
angw, 198, 199, 202, 104-30%,
213, 216-217 ; macked by King
of Ava, 241-242; end by de
Brito, 244-245; 354, 263

— King of, mcks Pegu, 186-187;
slays King of Pegu, 188, 192,
204, 204 ; joins in sege
Syrinm, 233-235: shandom
the siege, 236, 2733 submits
to de Brito, 245; 273, 275-
276

Tas-Tai (Tumm), 155, 180

Taribhei-Rashidi, 169, 177

Tartars, 163

‘Tartary, 137, 164, 17

Tavora, Ruy Lorengode, 86,111,
113, 275

Tavernier, Jean Baptifie, 167

Tavoy, ‘302, 20§, 211, 1217,
218

Tennsserim, 262, 103, 111, 217,
2118

Terry, Edward, g5

Teikhan, 177

Tetulia, river, 258

Tibet, 123, 148, 149, 164, 172
173

Tippera, 254, 257

Torres; Martin de, 199

Tsffas, coin, 42, 100

Travancore, 158, 181

Triguult, Nicolso, xviii, 1x, 173,

7 £77 IE;T ol
sewang Namgyal, 172-173

Turfan, 144, 178

Tuzyd-i- Fakangiri, see Jahangir,
Memairs

Tsewang Namgyal, 172-173

Uﬂch Nlt.hulll‘. 113
U'sian, English ship, 112

Valle, P. dells, Travels, g9
Venturi, Father Tacchi, xviii
Villafranea, 158, 181

Wessels, C., Early Feinit Travel-
ders, 164, 169, 177, 181
White Elephant, 185, 187, 166,

355

of | Xavier, Father Jerome, xi-xii,

xvil, 75,77, 101,103, 110, I'L 1,
119, 121-125, 130, 151

_.L:r:‘:s.n-ns:. 89,91, 9% 93
94, 96, 97, 98, 101, 102, I
1o7-108, 110, 164.' 170, 173,
172
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Xarera, 355, 271 Yen-ki, 178
Xetay, see Khitai | Yule, Col. H., Cathay andtbe Way

Xilimixa, see Sulim Shah Thither, viil, xxak, 167, 17T,

174, 178, 181
Yaka-arik, 170
Yarkand, xxi, 126 ; Goesat, 135- | Zedeli, see Jagdalak
1475 153, 156, 16g-172, 175, Zu--{Qarnain, Mirzs, 04, 95
176, 179, 181 Zimme, see Chieng-Mai
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